

LUND UNIVERSITY

Towards sustainable water use in industry: a case study of the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan

Radelyuk, Ivan

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Radelyuk, I. (2021). Towards sustainable water use in industry: a case study of the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan. Water Resources Engineering, Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Towards sustainable water use in industry: a case study of the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan

IVAN RADELYUK FACULTY OF ENGINEERING | LUND UNIVERSITY

Towards sustainable water use in industry: a case study of the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan

Towards sustainable water use in industry:

a case study of the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan

Ivan Radelyuk



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Engineering, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at the Faculty of Engineering, V-building, John Ericssons väg 1, Lund, room V:C. Date 21 May 2021, at 13:15 a.m.

> *Faculty opponent* Dr. Mattias Bäckström Örebro University

		DOCTORAL THESIS report	rt T\/\/R 1089	
Water Resources Engineering		Date of issue		
Box 118, SE-221 00		April 26 th , 2021		
Lund, Sweden				
Author		Sponsoring organization		
Ivan Radelyuk				
Title and subtitle: Towards sustaina Kazakhstan	ble water	use in industry: a case study	of the oil refinery industry in	
Abstract				
requires an adequate response, as industrial activities are recognized as one of the major sources of water pollution, what leads to deterioration of environmental safety and wellbeing of the society. This thesis aims to understand to what extent the water use in the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan is sustainable and to assess its impacts on the environment. A system approach was used to evaluate the current status of legislation, the treatment methods, the discharge process, and the effect on the environment in the sector. The weakness of the existing framework was identified by its lack of unlifed and transparent legislative standards for treatment processes, wastewater quality, and assessments of groundwater contamination, based on a seven-year monitoring program from one of the refineries, showed that groundwater has been affected, containing anthropogenically and naturally occurred contaminants, e.g. average exceedance for total petroleum hydrocarbons was 4 times, for total dissolved solids - 5 times, for cholrides - 9 times, for sodium - 6 times and total hardness was more than 6 times compared with World Health Organization and Kazakhstani standards. The analysis made it possible to specify the contribution of each contaminant to the overall pollution and to identify the most polluted sites. These pollutants are likely spreading towards areas with substantial groundwater use. The following investigation included performance of potential spreading of the TPH plume, based on historical observations. The results showed that zone at 2-6 km downstream the source of pollution could be affected by contaminated water, where concentrations of TPH exceeded permissible value. Based on performed investigations, this study highlights importance of implementation of suitable legislative standards with requirements for efficient water-axing techniques. Comparison with developed countries showed that Principles of Circular Economy (CE) (reduce pollution and reuse water) have been neglected in Kazakhstan. However, th				
Classification system and/or index ter	rms (if an	y)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language: English		
ISSN and key title			ISBN	
1101-9824			978-91-7895-851-1 (print) 978-91-7895-852-8 (pdf)	
Recipient's notes	Numbe	er of pages 168	Price	
	Securit	y classification	L	
L	l			

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

SUBAT

Date 2021-04-12

Towards sustainable water use in industry:

a case study of the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan

Ivan Radelyuk



Coverphoto by Ivan Radelyuk

Copyright 2021 Ivan Radelyuk

Paper 1 © by the Authors (Open Access, Published by MDPI)

Paper 2 © by the Authors (Open Access, Published by Springer Nature B.V.)

Paper 3 © by the Authors (Open Access, Published by Springer Nature B.V.)

Paper 4 © by the Authors (Open Access, Published by Elsevier)

Faculty of Engineering Department of Building and Environmental Technology Division of Water Resources Engineering

ISBN print: 978-91-7895-851-1 ISBN e-version: 978-91-7895-852-8 ISSN: 1101-9824 Report: TVVR 1089

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001:2015 certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



Dedicated to all staff, who works for kids with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD): doctors, psychologists, psychiatrists, therapists, teachers, tutors, nurses, scientists, et al. To all parents, who struggle for the future of their kids with ASD

> Посвящается всем тем, кто трудится для детей с Расстройством Аутистического Спектра (PAC): врачам, психологам, психиатрам, методистам, терапистам, логопедам, тьюторам, исследователям, и др. Всем родителям, которые сражаются за будущее их детей с PAC

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	i
Popular summary	. iii
Abstract	v
List of publications	vii
1 Introduction	1
1.1 Thesis objectives	3
2 Methodology	5
2.1 Study area	5
2.1.1 Oil refinery sector	5
2.1.2 Case study description	8
2.2 Methods applied	.12
2.2.1 Policy and literature review (Paper I and IV)	.12
2.2.2 Data preparation (Papers I-III)	.13
2.2.3 Multivariate statistical analysis (Paper II)	.14
2.2.4 Heckman selection model (Paper II)	.14
2.2.5 Environmental fate assessment (Paper III)	.16
2.3 Limitations of this study	.19
3 Results and Discussion	.21
3.1 Status-quo in the sector in Kazakhstan (Paper I)	.21
3.2 Groundwater contamination (Paper II and III)	.23
3.2.1 Groundwater quality parameters (Paper II)	.23
3.2.2 Multivariate statistical analysis (Paper II)	.26
3.2.3 Heckman selection model (Paper II)	.28
3.2.4 Groundwater modeling (Paper III)	.29
3.2.5 Contamination transport modelling (Paper III)	.30
3.3 Lessons and implementation (Paper IV)	.35
3.3.1 Circular Economy	.36
3.3.2 Environmental Impact Assessment	.36
3.3.3 Operational monitoring	.37
4 Conclusions	.39
5 Final remarks and future outlook	.42
5.1 Future outlook	.43
References	.44

Acknowledgments

I am standing up and applauding to all of you. I am blessed by all of you. This work could never be done without your thorough support, your incredible belief in me, and inspiration to not give up. Thank you! Thank you very much!!!

First of all, my deepest gratitude is to Dr. Kamshat Tussupova for providing care from the first talk by Skype in 2016 until now, when your doors are always open for me. For your deep involvement in my problems, struggles, for your encouragement, and of course, for our productive discussions, which contributed to this work a lot. To Prof. Magnus Persson, for giving me a chance, for an experienced guiding in the world of hydrology, and for delivering very beneficial reviews and comments. I hope that I have satisfied your expectations. To Dr. Hossein Hashemi, for your patience during the detailed explanation of any step, where I could not succeed. To Prof. Kulshat Zhapargazinova for your constant support and care, and for the invitation to develop a career in academia five years ago. To Prof. Madeniyet Yelubav for productive collaboration. It has been very pleasant to work with you. To Prof. Kenneth M. Persson for a lovely trip to France, for fruitful discussions and ideas, and for your thorough support in preparation for this day. To Prof. Ronny Berndtsson for sharing your wise advice and opinions. To Prof. Peder Hjorth for fresh and critical views on the work done, which always help to make it better. Many thanks to Prof. Magnus Larson for your amazing answering questions and sharing experience. I am grateful to Prof. Jiří Jaromír Klemeš for introduction of the SPIL world and for supportive ideas during the final period of my study.

My special deepest appreciation is going to Mehran Naseri-Rad. I've got a friend in you. I will always remember all your help and understanding, and I will always be thankful to you for everything. Best of Luck to you and your family!

To all TVRL society. I have found here experts and professionals and will always recommend you as high-quality persons in the field. Moreover, I have found here friends, who always have been supportive, inspirational, and encouraging. I will always wish to come back and to enjoy a unique atmosphere for both work and fika. Special warm appreciation is going to Carina, your positive shining always gives optimism and I was very lucky to occupy the office near you! Thank you Görel for managing all the issues, which were extremely important for me!

To my guarantors for your trust. To Bolashaq International Scholarship Program of Kazakhstan and Åke och Greta Lissheds stiftelse for this opportunity to rapidly develop my scientific career.

To Mr. Ilari Möller, for your kind hosting and warm conversations during the evenings and weekends.

To the members of the "Hope for Christ" church, to all friends and relatives, especially to Tatyana Ortner, Artem Kulkov, and Ruslan and Olga Fatakhovy. Your prayers, your empathy, and your constant compassion have given me the power to move forward, especially when it was tough. To my beloved grandma. Sometimes I feel that you have dreamed about this day since the day when I was born.

To my kids: Alexey and Sofiya. I am proud to be your father.

To my wife. I can not find all the words, which may express my love to you. Thank you for your existence in my life. For your strengths and weakness. Sorry me for being not the best husband in the world.

Many thanks to decades (or, maybe hundreds) of unnamed people, who supported with your kindness, encouragement, and inspiration.

And finally, to Almighty. For His Holiness, Sovereignty, and Grace.

Popular summary

Kazakhstan officially declares concern about environmental protection and promotes the "polluter pays" principle. Simultaneously, loopholes in the local law allow the discharge of improperly treated industrial wastewater into artificial or natural ponds, which potentially causes fate for environment and society. One example is that permission is based on the requirement that the initial concentration of pollutants in wastewater's recipient is exceeded. Historically, there has been a time gap between when the discharge started and when the monitoring of the recipient started. Thus, the industry receives a legal permit for environmental pollution and does not have any motivation to invest in the improvement of treatment techniques, or into modernization of already obsolete treatment equipment. Moreover, the situation is deteriorated by the facts that industry consumes a huge amount of water, the population is growing, and climate change leads to the reduction of available water resources. Hence, it is projected that the mismanagement of freshwater resources would lead to a national water deficit by 2030. There is only way to improve the situation - rational use of available resources, coupled with assurance of water safety via eliminating pollution. This concept is defined as "Sustainable water use".

This thesis investigates potential consequences of the current system of industrial water use in Kazakhstan based on an example of groundwater pollution, caused by the oil refinery industry. The most basic biological treatment method, activated sludge, which is used by refineries in Kazakhstan, cannot efficiently treat the industrial wastewater. Petroleum hydrocarbons are potentially toxic substances, which are practically ubiquitous in groundwater, usually low degradable, and may move over several km. Analysis of groundwater characteristics surrounding a recipient of effluents from the refinery showed that the groundwater quality has been affected by an unacceptable level of man-made contaminants, which are directly linked to refineries' activity. Rural residents of the studied area use groundwater from the shallow aquifer for drinking and domestic purposes. The current investigation considers the potentially affected sites where to avoid the consumption of unsafe water. The results show that, depending on initial loading, agricultural areas might be affected at a distance 2-6 km downstream the contaminated site.

The situation can be turned on 180 degrees if the pollution stops. Experience from developed countries shows that implementation of advanced wastewater treatment techniques ensures a good quality of the effluents. Moreover, the current trend is

one step ahead – to consider potential wastewater reused, such as alleviation of the stress on freshwater supply, recovery of resources, and elimination of environmental pollution. Also, the current Kazakhstani system of establishing requirements for maximum allowable concentrations of the pollutants in wastewater should be changed and based on the respective investigations of the toxicity of effluents. Specific potentially toxic contaminants are subjected to be controlled in the effluents to get a fair picture of the real harm for groundwater caused by oil refineries in Kazakhstan.

Strong political will is needed to translate concrete actions. This research presented in the thesis is important to show that "zero waste" approach for the industry in Kazakhstan is barely visible and the joint effect of governmental regulation, scientific approach, and industrial implementation can contribute to less impact and the precaution activities for Sustainable water use.

Abstract

The concept of "Sustainable water use" (SWU) aims to assure three pillars of sustainability related to the water sector: the social, environmental, and economical. Industrial development, especially in developing countries, requires an adequate response, as industrial activities are recognized as one of the major sources of water pollution, what leads to deterioration of environmental safety and wellbeing of the society. This thesis aims to understand to what extent the water use in the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan is sustainable and to assess its impacts on the environment. A system approach was used to evaluate the current status of legislation, the treatment methods, the discharge process, and the effect on the environment in the sector. The weakness of the existing framework was identified by its lack of unified and transparent legislative standards for treatment processes, wastewater quality, and assessments of groundwater contamination with potential negative impact on public safety. Analysis of chemical characteristics of groundwater contamination, based on a seven-year monitoring program from one of the refineries, showed that groundwater has been affected, containing anthropogenically and naturally occurred contaminants, e.g. average exceedance for total petroleum hydrocarbons was 4 times, for total dissolved solids - 5 times, for chlorides - 9 times, for sodium - 6 times and total hardness was more than 6 times compared with World Health Organization and Kazakhstani standards. The analysis made it possible to specify the contribution of each contaminant to the overall pollution and to identify the most polluted sites. These pollutants are likely spreading towards areas with substantial groundwater use. The following investigation included performance of potential spreading of the TPH plume, based on historical observations. The results showed that zone at 2-6 km downstream the source of pollution could be affected by contaminated water, where concentrations of TPH exceeded permissible value. Based on performed investigations, this study highlights importance of implementation of suitable legislative standards with requirements for efficient water-saving techniques. Comparison with developed countries showed that Principles of Circular Economy (CE) (reduce pollution and reuse water) have been neglected in Kazakhstan. However, these principles have a potential to become a response to existing pressure of industrial activities and to achieve Sustainable Development as Driving force. Implementation of the CE for refineries in Kazakhstan requires firstly, the usage of advanced wastewater treatment techniques, and secondly, the introduction of the optimization scheme for water reuse, where regeneration units are established after each technological unit. Establishing criteria

for water fees, wastewater quality, and recipients' characteristics should follow respective and fair practices of the Environmental Impact Assessment, instead of looking for legislative loopholes. These practices include a detailed assessment of a real level of effluents' toxicity and strict requirements to avoid the transfer of pollutants from one environmental media to another. Also, it is strongly recommended to update the list of contaminants for operational monitoring with inclusion of specific indicators of toxicity, such as PAHs, BTEX and others. It will let to understand the real harm caused by the ineffective systems of wastewater treatment and disposal from oil refineries in Kazakhstan.

This thesis can be used as a trigger to drive and engage all stakeholders into a transparent dialogue about potential consequences of non-sustainable wastewater management in the industry in Kazakhstan. The potential actions might include development of new efficient monitoring programs, stimulation the industry to innovative and water-saving treatment methods, and a creation of a site remediation program.

List of publications

Appended papers

- I. Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Zhapargazinova, K., Yelubay, M. & Persson, M. (2019). Pitfalls of wastewater treatment in oil refinery enterprises in Kazakhstan—a system approach. *Sustainability* 11(6), 1618, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061618</u>
- II. Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Persson, M., Zhapargazinova, K. & Yelubay, M. (2020). Assessment of groundwater safety surrounding contaminated water storage sites using multivariate statistical analysis and Heckman selection model: a case study of Kazakhstan. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10653-020-00685-1</u>
- III. Radelyuk, I., Naseri-Rad, M., Hashemi, H., Persson, M., Berndtsson, R., Yelubay, M. & Tussupova, K. (2021). Assessing data-scarce contaminated groundwater sites surrounding petrochemical industries. *Environmental Earth Sciences* (accepted for publication)
- IV. Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Klemeš, J.J. & Persson, K.M. (2021). Oil refinery and Water Pollution in the context of Sustainable Development: Developing and Developed Countries. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126987</u>

Author's contribution to the appended papers

The process of the research was based on collaborative principles via constant discussion of the methods and results with supervising and other co-authors.

- I. The author together with supervising co-authors planned the whole study, and on his own collected and analyzed the data, produced initial results, and wrote the first draft of the paper. The other authors equally contributed by commenting on the first draft of the paper.
- **II.** The author with other co-authors planned the idea of the research and on his own gathered data, performed the analysis, and wrote the first

manuscript. Kamshat Tussupova conceptualized the idea of using the Heckman method. All authors commented on the first draft in an equal manner, helped with ongoing discussions and advice.

- **III.** The author together with supervising co-authors planned the whole study, collected data, performed groundwater modeling, and analysed the initial results, and together with the second co-author wrote the first draft of the paper. Mehran Naseri-Rad conceptualized the idea of the semi-analytical contamination transport model and applied it together with the author. Co-authors contributed by discussing and editing the last version of the manuscript.
- **IV.** The author conceptualized and performed the study, discussed the initial results, and wrote the first draft. Co-authors contributed by discussing, reviewing and editing the final version of the manuscript.

Other related publications

- 1. Radelyuk I., Tussupova K. (2018). Assessing wastewater processes at oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan. In: SETAC Europe 28th Annual Meeting, Rome, Italy.
- Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K. & Zhapargazinova, K. (2019). Assessment of groundwater safety around contaminated water storage sites. In: 11th World Congress on Water Resources and Environment [EWRA 2019], Madrid, Spain.
- Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K. & Zhapargazinova, K. (2020). Impact of oily wastewater for public health in rural area: a case study of Kazakhstan. In: EGU General Assembly 2020, Online. https://doi.org/10.5194/egusphereegu2020-11235
- 4. Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K. & Klemeš J.J. (2020). Oil refinery and Water Pollution in the context of Sustainability and Circular Economy. In: The 4th Sustainable Process Integration Laboratory (SPIL) Scientific Conference "Energy, Water, Emission & Waste in Industry and Cities", Brno, Czech Republic (Online).
- Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Klemeš J.J. & Zhapargazinova, K. (2021). Sustainable Water use in Industry in Developing Countries – Reasons, Challenges, Response. In: 24th Conference on Process Integration for Energy Saving and Pollution Reduction - PRES'21, Brno, Czech Republic.

1 Introduction

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (SD) calls all people, from individuals to crucial stakeholders, such as governments, corporations, and international organisations to take actions for solving the current challenges, formulated in the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (UN 2015). One of the common definitions of Sustainable Development is "Enhancing quality of life and thus allowing people to live in a healthy environment and improve social, economic and environmental conditions for present and future generations" (Ortiz et al. 2009). The concept of "Sustainable water use" (SWU) brings several SDGs, related to water, together. The SWU aims to assure three pillars of sustainability: social, environmental, and economical. Social aspects of the SWU include, firstly, public safety by consumption of available and safe drinking water, and secondly, relevant regulation. Environmental aspects of the SWU consider good ecological status of water bodies, where the water is supplied from and discharged to, including groundwater (GW). Economical aspects of the SWU include efficient and fair pricing for water use, which considers costs to obtain water, treat it and discharge or reuse it in a respective manner (USEPA 2012).

The SWU is a complicated system. It is clearly presented within related Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). When one of the elements does not work, it affects the success of the other goals and crashes the whole system of SD (Figure 1). The group of SDGs 8, 9, 12, and 13 belongs to the sustainable industry. This group is directly connected with the industrial processes related to water use. The processes should be innovative to achieve rational and efficient resource use (SDGs 8, 9, 12) and eliminate impact on the environment through sufficient treatment systems, which lead to the deceleration of climate change (SDG 13). The SDG 6 "Clean Water and Sanitation" requires, firstly, eliminate potential hazards of inappropriately treated wastewater; secondly, to adopt water-saving techniques to reduce the consumption of fresh water to address water scarcity (Jia et al. 2020); and, thirdly, protect water-related ecosystems, including rivers, lakes and aquifers. The SDG 14 "Life below Water" specifically focuses on the consequences of any kind of pollution for the aquatic world. Healthy environment (water, soil and air) is directly linked with the quality of life of people, which belongs to SDGs 3 and 11.



Figure 1 The interactions between SDGs related to the SWU (Paper IV)

Industrial activities are recognized as one of the major source of pollution worldwide (Hossain 2011). Fast industrial development, aiming economic growth, however, puts pressure on environment, which in turn may jeopardize wellbeing of society (Li 2016). Currently, water consumption by industry ranges between 10% and 57% of total water consumption in different countries (Voulvoulis 2018). This range mainly depends on the efficiency of collaboration between key stakeholders: under governmental regulation via implementation of water-saving technologies by the industry with the support of research-based decisions.

According a UN "World Economic Situation and Prospects 2019" book, Kazakhstan has been rated as a fuel-exporting country with transitional from developing to developed economy (UN 2019). This type of country is characterized by applying efforts to diversify the economy from just exporting resources to build advanced technological infrastructure. This process includes accelerated industrialization and growth of an already existing manufacturing capacity. Although, Kazakhstan shows an increasing trend of gross national income per captia for the processing industry, a changing world requests new challenges and adaptation rules for society. The productive economy should not only meet monetary benefits; safe environment and social issues must also be brought to the forefront.

The refining enterprises also give a significant contribution to the structure of industrial development (Kazakhstan 2009). Kazakhstan is the second biggest oil producer after Russia among the Commonwealth of Independent States countries. The petroleum industry is the major actor and accounted for about 10% of the country's GDP in 2016 (KASE 2017). Kazakhstan is one of the key suppliers of hydrocarbon raw materials for the world economy. In 2016, Kazakhstan was rated number 16 in the world with a production volume of 79.3 million tons of oil and gas condensate (representing 2% of the global production). The refinery throughput in Kazakhstan is 339 thousand barrels daily, a number that is growing by 4.6% every year. The refinery capacity is estimated to be 350 thousand barrels daily (BP 2019).

Water is a very important reagent in petroleum and petrochemical production processes. Distillation, extraction, preparation of solutions, cooling systems, and washing processes are some examples of industrial water use, leading to large consumption in the current fuel and electricity production (Walker et al. 2013). The total water consumption for those purposes is projected to increase by 55% between 2000 and 2055 globally (Wangt and Zimmerman 2016).

The problem of the water use in the industry is twofold: huge amounts of water are consumed, while the quality of the wastewater is poor and does not satisfy the principles of the SWU. Up to 65% of all fresh water in Kazakhstan are lost due to wasteful and polluting activities. Simultaneously, the industry consumes about 25% of all available freshwater in Kazakhstan (Karatayev et al. 2017). This would lead to a national water deficit by 2030 (Thomas 2015). The oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan consumed 77.8 mln m³ water in 2016, while only 3.5 mln m³ of it has been re-used, the rest has been discharged into the environment. According the Environmental Performance Review for Kazakhstan (UNECE 2019), three oil refinery factories in Kazakhstan are one of the biggest sources of water contamination, despite attempts to control the pollution by both the government and the industry. This thesis is the first attempt to investigate the industrial water management system in Kazakhstan from the perspective of the SWU concept on the example of the oil refinery sector.

1.1 Thesis objectives

Sustainable water use in the industrial context covers several factors of three dimensions of SD and their interactions, as shown in Figure 2. Economic factors are represented by the processes inside the industry. The industry uses technologies to treat supplied and processed water, and to utilize it in a safe manner. These technologies are associated with respective costs. Environmental factors consider water quality in water sources and wastewater recipients. Interactions between economical and environmental factors are characterized by attempts to decrease the impact of industrial activities on water bodies and make water viable for other consumers by the use of efficient treatment technologies. Social factors are represented by ensuring public safety (e.g., health), and are mainly regulated by government. The government assures the availability of safe water by respective legislative and environmental tools. Economical and social factors are met by establishing the idea of equal rights of different water users. Thus, appropriate legislation ensures responsibility of the industry to apply respective efficient and water-saving technologies.



Figure 2 The Sustainable water use in industry framework used in the thesis

The general aim of this work was to understand, to what extent the water use in the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan is sustainable and to assess its impacts on the environment. Respectively, three objectives related to interactions between dimensions of the SWU were identified for related investigation:

Objective A was aimed to investigate water and wastewater management at oil refinery factories in Kazakhstan in accordance with respective national and international legislation. This objective is mainly addressed in **Paper I**, and covers the efficiency of implementation of Kazakhstani regulation and practices of the refineries of water use, treatment, and discharge, using a system approach.

Objective B was aimed to assess groundwater safety affected by the current system of wastewater treatment in refineries. Statistical tools were used in **Paper II** to assess the contribution of each contaminant, both natural and man-made. **Paper III** evaluates the effect of pollution by developing respective groundwater and contamination transport models.

Objective C was aimed to define possible solutions for industrial water and wastewater management system in Kazakhstan to ensure the SWU. This objective is mainly presented by **Paper IV** that offers available mechanisms to achieve the SWU. **Paper III** highlights a possibility for usage of analytical modeling tools for better governmental regulation of industrial waste management with limited data availability. Also, **Paper I** discuss the importance of suitable regulative standards for improvement of industrial water use management.

2 Methodology

2.1 Study area

2.1.1 Oil refinery sector

2.1.1.1 Technological processes

Modern refineries are sophisticated complexes for separating and modifying crude oil into different products. The general scheme of it is presented in Figure 3. The main objective of the refineries is production of fuel, residual fuel oils, lubricants and many other petrochemical and chemical products. The initial refinery configuration was the topping refinery, which was designed to distil crude oil into a limited range and yield of products. It was composed of different units such as tankage, atmospheric and vacuum distillation units, recovery facilities for gases and light hydrocarbons, and the necessary utility systems such as steam, power, and water-treatment plants. The addition of hydrotreating and reforming units to this basic configuration resulted in a more efficient hydroskimming refinery, which produced desulfurized distillate fuels and high-octane gasoline. At the same time, refineries processed up to half of incoming crude oil. During the last 30 years. refinery complexes have been modernized. Initially, a gas-oil conversion plant and a catalytic cracking unit were added. In the last five years, an olefin conversion plant, a polymerization unit and coke calcination units were implemented in the existing scheme of plants. The changes allow enterprises to increase processing depth and thereby produce large outputs of gasoline with the remainder of their products distributed among liquefied petroleum gas, jet fuel, diesel fuel, and a small quantity of coke. Additionally, refineries also supply different substances, such as propylene, benzene, toluene, xylenes, etc., for further processing into polymers (Kent et al. 2017).



Figure 3 General scheme of an oil refinery plant (P.R.Robinson 2011)

2.1.1.2 Water use and sources of pollution inside the factory

The oil refining process starts in the atmospheric and vacuum distillation units. Those units are associated with the consumption of a number of by-products and reagents, including water, which is used for various purposes. For instance, as a cooler of process units and equipment, and a cooling agent of the final product. Water is also used as a solvent for the preparation of reagent solutions as well as a source of steam or condensate. Furthermore, other reagents are added during a technological process, such as demulsifiers for dehydration of oil, ammonia to neutralize organic acids and sulphur compounds for purification of light distillates.

There are three main sources of wastewater contamination at the refinery. Firstly, recycling of sulphurous oil and purification of petroleum products with alkalis, which gives highly concentrated sulphurous alkaline wastewater. Secondly, complex processing of oil and gas to produce synthetic products generates wastewater with organic acids, alcohols, phenols, etc. Thirdly, processes of desalination and dehydration. In the final source, wastewater contains demulsifiers and sulphonaphthones. All these substances are sources of harmful chemicals, which lead to environmental pollution (Yu et al. 2017).

It is necessary to emphasize the harmfulness of some chemicals. Oily wastewater consists of hundreds of organic and non-organic compounds, some of them may severely jeopardize the environment. Effluents include aromatic hydrocarbons which have high toxicity and have a stable structure. One of those are polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), which are characterized as persistent and have carcinogenic, teratogenic and mutagenic properties (Alegbeleye et al. 2017). Other group of hydrocarbons in contaminated water is BTEX (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes). High concentration of those compounds can be rapidly absorbed by the human body. They can lead to damage of the brain and nervous system, rapid heart rate, dizziness and unconsciousness (Leusch and Bartkow 2010). Phenols are considered very hazardous for human health (Huang 2007). Potentially toxic metals like chromium, iron, nickel, copper, molybdenum, selenium, vanadium and zinc can also be found in wastewater from oil refineries (Wake 2005).

2.1.1.3 Treatment methods

Conventional purification schemes for oil refineries include a broad variation for each step of treatment: pre-treatment, primary, tertiary (secondary) and posttreatment (or polishing). Figure 4 presents a general scheme of a wastewater treatment unit with the list of commonly used techniques for each step, which aim to enhance the efficiency of contaminants removal. The specific method chosen for any individual case will depend on the content of the pollution and local characteristics.



Figure 4 General scheme of wastewater treatment processes at oil refineries (Paper I)

2.1.2 Case study description

2.1.2.1 Treatment and Utilization strategy in Kazakhstani refineries

All factories in Kazakhstan use the same wastewater treatment system, consisting of an on-site mechanical (as a primary step) and a biological (as a secondary step) treatment. The biological treatment facilities of the refineries were built during the Soviet Union period, and are in need for modernized. They include a basic system of activated sludge treatment, which is not adapted for an efficient removal of heavily degradable fractions of petroleum hydrocarbons. The technology of wastewater treatment at the studied refinery is presented as an example of the same work of treatment facilities in all Kazakhstani refinery plants in Figure 5.



Figure 5 The block diagram of wastewater treatment processes at the studied refinery (Paper I)

The studied refinery uses a pipeline to deliver effluents to the special recipient pond. The pond is located 14 km to the north-west from the plant and covers the area of 606.1 hectares. The pond is originally a natural bitter-salty pond that now is used for receiving and storing biologically treated wastewater from the nearby located petrochemical industry. According to Kazakhstani legislation (Kazakhstan 2012), this pond is not a source for drinking, domestic and irrigation water. The annual volume of received wastewater amounted to 1.63-2.21 million m³ for the period 2009-2019, instead of designed 4.12 million m³. The water volume and water

surface for the same period are maintained within 3.6-6.7 million m^3 and 2.45-3.73 km², respectively, instead of the designed 23.5 million m^3 and 5.23 km², respectively.

Observation wells are located outside the barrier for groundwater quality monitoring. The wells belong to a permanent control from governmental bodies. The concentration of contaminants should not exceed the permissible limit for drinking water at the boundary of a sanitary zone (1000 m from the source) (Kazakhstan 2015). The installation procedures followed appropriate installation techniques in case of required installation materials and methods and planning of the location of the monitoring system (Houlihan and Lucia 1999). The depth of the wells varies between 10.1 and 24.6 m below ground level. The groundwater table in the wells varied between 1.1 and 4.9 m below ground level. There are two villages around the pond: Berezovka village 2.5 kilometers to the north and Michurino village 8 km to the north-west. The main water source in Kazakhstan, Irtysh River is located 9 km west of the pond. Agricultural fields with potatoes and carrots are also located nearby, where irrigation water is supplied from shallow groundwater.

2.1.2.2 Geographical and hydrogeological area characteristics

The Pavlodar region is one of the largest industrial centres in Kazakhstan. Metallurgical, chemical, and petrochemical cluster activities deteriorate the environmental situation of the region. The local petrochemical cluster is a major actor in the industrial activities and the main taxpayer in the region, which contributes for about 50% of the city budget (Neftepererabotchik 2019). The residents of the rural area near the industrial zone use the groundwater from the shallow aquifer for their drinking and domestic purposes (Tussupova et al. 2016). Hydrocarbons, originated by the petrochemical industry, are practically ubiquitous in groundwater, usually low degradable, and the plume scale might be spread out to km scale (Balderacchi et al. 2013).

The industrial site of this study belongs to the special economic zone and is located in the north-eastern part of Kazakhstan (Figure 6). The region is located in the continental zone, where mean monthly temperatures range from -19.3°C in January to +21.5°C in July, with an annual mean of 3.5°C, absolute maximum of +42°C and absolute minimum of -47°C. Annual precipitation is around 303-352 mm, including 264 mm in liquid phase. The driest months are May, June and July. Annual evaporation is reported around 957 mm (Heaven et al. 2007). Average relative humidity equals 82% and 45% for the coldest and the hottest period of the year, respectively. Around 70-85 days of the year have a relative humidity of 80% or more.



Figure 6 Study Area. Green triangles show location of wells sampled

The hydrogeological cross-section is mainly represented by three formations. The formation of Upper-Quaternary deposits of the first supra flood plain terrace (aQ_{III}), which is distributed along Irtysh River, 4-5 km wide. The water-bearing sediments consist of quartz-feldspar sands. The top layer is composed of sandy loam and loam, the bottom layer is composed of gravel and pebbles. The thickness of the formation is up to 20 m. The groundwater in the aquifer has a free surface (unconfined). The aquifer complex in Upper-Miocene Lower-Middle-Pliocene deposits of the Pavlodar suite $(N_{1-2}pv)$ is distributed over the entire region. The thickness varies from 2-7 m in the northern and northwestern parts of the study area, and increase in a southeasterly direction to 80 m. These sediments are characterized by uneven distribution and the occurrence of sand among the clays. Water-bearing sediments in these aquifers consist of quartz-feldspar and micaceous sands. The sands are coarse-grained with gravel and pebbles in the south, and a fine-grained, sometimes clayey texture, in the north. Groundwater is mostly confined and occurs at a depth of 2-28 m to the surface. The formation of the Kulunda formation (N₂kln) is partly included in the Pavlodar formation. The thickness varies between 5 and 26 m. The water-bearing layer is characterized by alluvial sand, mixed with gravel and pebbles, with clayey and loamy lenses. The Pavlodar formation covers the Tavolzhan formation (N_1tv) . This layer (N_1tv) consists mostly of clay that constitutes a bottom for the upper formation. The lithology of the area is presented in Figure 7.



Figure 7 The lithology of the study area

2.2 Methods applied

2.2.1 Policy and literature review (Paper I and IV)

Principles of Environmental Impact Assessment (UNEP 2019) were used for investigation the potential effects of the existing scheme of industrial water use in the oil refinery sector in Kazakhstan to provide information about adverse impact on environment and people health.

The present study implemented the DPSIR (Drivers-Pressures-State-Impact-Response) framework (EU 2002) for the respective search, as is shown in Figure 8. Nowadays, principles of the SWU have become the *drivers* to meet socioenvironmental awareness; and to decrease the *pressure* on water resources. The hypothesis is that the *pressure* is caused by improper wastewater treatment. The resulting *state* (as an indicator of the *pressure*) is used to evaluate potential *impact*, which may differ, including deteriorated or destroyed ecosystems, unsafe drinking water, or the waste of water in the regions, where the water scarcity exists. The related *response* aims to improve the situation.

As a starting point, available "first-hand" information from governmental and representative bodies about the current status of water use in the oil refinery sector was analyzed. The sources of information included Kazakhstani legislative documents, such as laws, orders, reports, guidelines, and standards; documents, and reports from responsible authorities, such as Environmental Protection Agencies and oil refinery operators, and statistical datasets. The same sources from WHO, EU, and USA were compared with Kazakhstani analogues. The criteria for consideration of the information as relevant were 1) existing effluents conditions, including a description of the contaminants and their concentrations and 2) description of ways of effluent disposal and characteristics of wastewater recipients. Together with the analysis of official information, an extended literature review was carried out. The above criteria were used for consideration of the relevance of the reviewed literature as well.



Figure 8 The DPSIR framework for this study

2.2.2 Data preparation (Papers I-III)

Data needed for empirical investigations have been collected from personal communication with representatives from the refineries and governmental offices. The dataset from the monitoring program consisted of a total of 117 groundwater samples from observation wells in the shallow aquifer near the recipient, collected and analyzed between 2013 and 2019. Sampling was made two times per year, in spring and autumn. The groundwater depth was measured regularly from March to November each year. The procedures of the sampling and measurements are controlled by Kazakhstani legislation and were adapted from international standards. Before sampling, the groundwater in the well was evacuated several times (at least three times) by pumping. The pumping equipment was also flushed before sampling to avoid unwanted pollution. After establishing a static water level, the sampler was immersed to a depth below the water table by 0.5 m or less. Water samples were collected in one-liter dark glass bottles. The vessels were placed into a transportable fridge for immediate delivery and analysis to the licensed factory laboratory. Extra samples were collected for the analysis of metals with acidification by HNO₃.

The investigations of the hydrogeological conditions, used for contamination transport modeling, have been conducted during the Soviet and post-Soviet periods (Kosolapov et al. 1993). Several recent available field surveys confirm the information from the previous investigations, which provides quality assurance of the data.

2.2.3 Multivariate statistical analysis (Paper II)

Correlation analysis, principal components analysis (factor analysis), and hierarchical cluster analysis were applied to identify the multivariate relationships between different chemical variables and samples in groundwater belonged to the study area. The dataset was normalized for elimination of the effect from differences in units.

The relation between each pair of variables was measured by Pearson's correlation coefficient to determine the geochemical associations among different variables. Correlation coefficients greater than 0.5 were considered significant. PCA recognizes the most significant parameters from a big dataset of inter-correlated parameters and created independent variables (Eqn. 1).

$$z_{ij} = a_{i1}x_{1j} + a_{i2}x_{2j} + \dots + a_{im}x_{mj}$$
(1)

where z is the component score, a is the component loading, x is the measured value of variable, i is the component number, j is the sample number and m is the total number of variables.

Cluster analysis was used to assemble similar groups of observed wells due to similarities between their variables. Hierarchical agglomerative CA provided Ward's linkage distance, reported as D_{link}/D_{max} , which represents the quotient between the linkage distances for each case divided by maximal linkage distance. Produced dendrogram enables analysis of similarities in an easy way. Ward's linkage, the Euclidean distance as similarity measurements and Q-mode were used for cluster analysis for assessment of groundwater quality.

2.2.4 Heckman selection model (Paper II)

The Heckman selection model was adapted from the original work of Heckman in the economical science (Heckman 1979) and from the application of this method in other fields. The method in this thesis was used to assess unobservable variables, that potentially impact on the total contamination rate. The idea of this assessment was not just to look at several contaminants and their concentrations, but also to consider and evaluate impact of other important factors such as location of the sample, percent of exceeding of the target values of each contaminant and individual characteristics of the contaminant. Selected variables were divided into two categories. First: chemicals seriously affecting health (rated as sanitary-toxic due to Kazakhstani standard (Kazakhstan 2015)); second: other hazardous materials (rated as non-toxic). It was aimed to compare potential effect of contaminants with high and low level of toxicity (or toxic and non-toxic contaminants in the following text). The focus was, on the one hand, on several pollutants with elevated concentrations, such as chlorides or sulphates, which are not rated as significant impact on health,

but can be dangerous for other cases, for instance, for corrosion of pipes, or for irrigation properties of soil; on the other hand, on the contaminants, rated as dangerous for the health, or toxic (for example, hardness or petroleum hydrocarbons).

This model includes two-step equation, which is assumed as a regression model equation:

$$Y_i = \beta_1 S_i + \beta_2 X_i + u_i \tag{2}$$

where Y_i is considered as total contamination, S_i represents the concentration of chemicals, and X_i shows several contaminants as a set of control variables. The effect of the exceeded concentrations on the total contamination is given by the parameter β_i . Parameter *i* represents each individual observation.

Eqn. 2 does not consider other potentially important independent variables which can affect final result. For example, it could be location of the well or individual characteristics of different contaminants such as their toxicity and exposure level in case of influence of chemicals for people's health. There could be a different input of high exceeding of non-toxic contaminant and low exceeding of toxic contaminant. The latter would be much more dangerous for health. Thus, more attention should be paid to the level of toxicity. To consider that, Eqn. 2 can be specifically re-written as:

$$\begin{array}{l} Y_{i}^{*} = \beta_{1}S_{i} + \beta_{2}X_{i} + u_{i} \\ D_{i} = 1(\gamma_{1}S_{i} + \gamma_{2}Z_{i} + \nu_{i} > 0) \\ Y_{i} = Y_{i}^{*}D_{i} \end{array} \tag{3}$$

where $(Y_i, D_i, S_i, X_i, Z_i)$ are observed random variables and 1(.) is an indicator function. The first equation represents the total contamination of all contaminants. The second equation is the selection equation, where D_i is added as a dummy variable indicating whether value *i* represents a measurement of toxic/non-toxic pollutant. A set of variables Z_i includes additional parameter such as a well value i. Set of control variables Z_i must include at least one variable which is not included in X_i (Sartori 2003).

In the studied case, the first dependent variable (D_i) represents toxicity of the chosen parameter (1 if the pollutant is toxic and 0 if not). The second set of dependent variables (Y_i) includes percentage of exceeding. This characteristic mathematically represents the rate of contamination. Mean percentage of selected (toxic or nontoxic) exceeding was calculated. For example, TPH has a standard value of 0.1 mg/L, if the measure concentration of TPH was 0.25 mg/L, then the dependent variable equals 250%. This variable includes only exceeded values, if the value is below the permissible limit, the cell in the matrix is empty. Set of control variables (X_i) includes chosen contaminants, their concentrations, and locations. Thus, Eqn. 2 and Eqn. 3 were adapted as:

% of exceeding = β_1 chemical + β_2 concentration + u_i (4)

and we assumed that "% of exceeding" is estimated if

```
 \begin{array}{l} \gamma_1 toxicity + \gamma_2 number \ of \ well + \gamma_3 chemical + \gamma_4 concentration + \nu_i > 0 \\ (5) \end{array}
```

where u_i and v_i should have positive correlation ρ .

2.2.5 Environmental fate assessment (Paper III)

The method proposed in this thesis aimed to evaluate the risks, by firstly: identification of the potentially affected territories by the spreading of the contamination plume in space, based on historical observations; and secondly: to assess the potential hazard from spreading of the contamination under potential scenarios of varying loading of the contaminants. For this purpose, a two-step procedure was used. The first step included the numerical groundwater model using MODFLOW to define the groundwater flow direction, as it is a necessary prerequisite to any contaminant transport modelling undertaken as part of the analysis of the pollution *pressures* on that body (EU 2002). In the second step, a semi-analytical contamination transport model was applied for general investigation of plume development in the aquifer. As a result, the potential fate of contaminants can be assessed under consideration of different scenarios, depending on local conditions.

2.2.5.1 GW modeling

A conceptual model is an efficient tool for simple presentation and understanding of transport processes (Todd and Mays 2005). One of the most popular and efficient models is MODFLOW-2000, which has been developed by McDonald and Harbaugh (Harbaugh et al. 2000). The principal equation is based on the three-dimensional groundwater flow equation for porous medium using a finite-difference method. The Groundwater Modeling System (GMS 9.0) software was used to perform the modelling at steady-state condition (Eqn. 6).

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(K_{xx} \frac{\partial h}{\partial x} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left(K_{yy} \frac{\partial h}{\partial y} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left(K_{zz} \frac{\partial h}{\partial z} \right) \pm W = 0 \quad (6)$$

Where K_{xx} , K_{yy} , and K_{zz} are hydraulic conductivities along the *x*, *y*, and *z* coordinates assumed to parallel to the major axes of hydraulic conductivity (L/T); *h* is the potentiometric head (L); and *W* is a volumetric flux per unit volume, representing

sources and/or sinks of water. Steady state modeling is the optimal option to calibrate the boundary condition as well as simulating the general GW flow. Thus, the steady-state conditions were assumed for the model, as the best option under data unavailability, such as lack of information about temporal changes of groundwater level, recharge, and discharge rates.

The PEST package (Doherty et al. 1994) was used to calibrate the results of the modeling by minimizing the difference between simulated and observed groundwater levels, as those measurements were available and chosen as the core of the calibration processes. The values for hydraulic conductivity, conductance, and drainage were assigned with ranges based on reported data. The process of calibration is considered successful when the root mean squared error (RMSE) residual of head is less than a certain value relevant for local conditions (1 m, as default) (Fienen et al. 2013).

When GW modeling and calibration was done, a tool of particle-tracking for MODFLOW, MODPATH, was used to assign the required coordinates for contamination transport modeling via displaying the groundwater patterns in a study area (Pollock 2012).

2.2.5.2 Analytical contamination and fate transport modeling

The transport model incorporates a steady-state solution for groundwater flow as a starting point to compute how concentrations of dissolved contaminants from a plan source change over time as they are transported in groundwater by advection and dispersion. This accounts for the role of varying hydraulic conductivity and other spatially variable hydraulic parameters that accompany aquifer heterogeneity. The transport model used for this purpose is based on partial differential equations for dispersion that have been developed for homogeneous and isotropic media, where Darcy's law is valid (Bear 2013).

According to Sauty (Sauty 1980), if a tracer is continuously injected into a uniform flow field from a point source, contamination will spread as it is shown in Figure 9. In this case, flow is governed by Eqn. 7, where mass transport can be calculated in two dimensions:

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = D_L \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial x^2} + D_T \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial y^2} - v_x \frac{\partial C}{\partial x}$$
(7)

where v_x is down gradient fluid velocity, D_L is longitudinal dispersion coefficient (L²/T), D_T is transverse dispersion coefficient (L²/T), and *C* is solute concentration at (*x*, *y*) (M/L³).

An observation point with the known concentration is assumed at location x=0, y=0 with a uniform flow velocity at a rate v_x parallel to the x axis. Then, a solute is represented by a concentration C_0 at a rate Q over the aquifer thickness, b. The
equation to calculate the concentration on a distance from the observation point can be found from a Green function (Bear 2013) for the injection of a unit amount of a contaminant, under consideration of steady-state conditions, as:

$$C(x,y) = \frac{C_0\left(\frac{Q}{b}\right)}{4\pi (D_L D_T)^{0.5}} \exp\left(\frac{v_x x}{2D_L}\right) K_0\left(\frac{v_x^2}{4D_L}\left(\frac{x^2}{D_L} + \frac{y^2}{4D_T}\right)\right)^{0.5}$$
(8)

Where K_0 is the modified Bessell function of the second kind and zero order, Q is the rate that the contaminant is injected, b is the thickness of the aquifer over which the contaminant is injected



Figure 9 Conceptual framework of the analytical contamination and fate transport model (Paper III)

The analytical solution of the contaminant transport problem (Eqn. 8) in 2D may be calculated via Plume2DSS() add-in (Renshaw 2013) in Excel. However, this add-in requires exact values of transport parameters, which are unavailable at the site. Thus, an optimizer using Macro in Visual Basic for Application (VBA) in Excel was developed (Naseri-Rad et al. 2021). This Macro runs the Plume2DSS() together with the optimizer multiple times with the given range of transport parameter values to minimize the absolute error (the difference between measured and calculated concentration values at each specific point) for each measurement event. The model was assigned by the following characteristics: the exact locations of sampling points (x, y, and dL), obtained from the groundwater model; contaminant concentrations; hydraulic gradients between any two wells; and ranges of value changes for transport parameters, i.e., T, b, K, dh, p, α_L , and α_T . The developed code then calculates the concentration at any point downstream by optimizing the calibration parameters in the given range to minimize the error. Once optimal parameters are determined, the model is validated by using these in the Plume2DSS() add-in, and subsequent comparison between C_{calculated} (a concentration, obtained without running the code) and C_{measured}. Thus, optimal transport parameters are numerically obtained via minimization of the absolute error.

As a final step of the procedure, a fate transport modeling was carried out. After all parameters of the case study were defined, new coordinates $(x+x_i, y+y_i, \text{ and } dL_i)$ were assigned via extension of already used pathways (an example is shown in Figure 9 for the pathways BD and/or BC) and running a solver for Eqn. 8 to obtain $C_i (x+x_i, y+y_i)$ in the place where consumers exist.

2.3 Limitations of this study

The main limitations belonged to accessibility and availability to the study area, including investigation of the wastewater treatment unit performance, detailed investigations of effluents and groundwater characteristics via potential measurements performed by the author. Official requests to the head offices of enterprises were ignored; while the informal agreements to perform field tests were later terminated.

There is a limitation in the assessment of the presence of phenol in the case study, as it is important to pay special attention to toxic substances. The limit of the concentration of phenols is 0.25 mg/L according to Kazakhstani standard for the parameter named "phenol index". The same value is established in the standard of the factory for the observed wells. At the same time, protocols of GW quality measurements name this parameter as "volatile phenols". This type of phenolic compounds is limited by 0.001 mg/L according to Kazakhstani standards. Thus, there is an unclear situation of which parameter should be used to evaluate the related fate.

The study of groundwater was affected by the relevant lack of data, and multiple assumptions had to be used instead. The fluctuations of the groundwater table were given only for boreholes around the pond. Other fluctuations were not accessible, what limits to build of a transient model. The boundary conditions were manipulative. The values of hydraulic conductivity and conductance from the report varied significantly over the study area. The formation-aquifer is complex, however, for simplification the layer was assumed as one-layer.

There was no critical information available on the initial concentration of TPH in the pond and such an important parameter for contamination transport, as longitudal dispersivity. Also, there were no opportunities to perform respective investigations and measurements, and to obtain detailed data about TPH characteristics and to identify their degradation properties, etc. Thus, there was no opportunity to perform very accurate contamination transport modeling.

As the detailed content of TPH in this certain case study was not known, there was decided to follow the example from Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon Criteria Working

Group and to assume that TPH are not degradable (Gustafson et al. 1997). Consequently, degradation characteristics were assumed as negligible.

Parameter uncertainty will always be a major concern. But the purpose of this study was to provide a tool that gives a picture of contaminant transport and fate by illustrating the patterns of change in contaminant concentration in space with the following assessment for potential fate for environment and people. A detailed discussion about sensitivity and uncertainty analysis, calibration, and validation of the model was beyond the scope of this study.

Finally, all research is limited by time and resources. Some important parts of interest were not covered in this study, e.g., detailed investigations of suitable treatment methods, modeling of water re-use schemes for refineries, cost-benefit analysis for potential modernization and remediation activities, etc.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Status-quo in the sector in Kazakhstan (Paper I)

It is clearly seen from Figure 10 that legislation and related standards regulate all water use processes in the oil refinery sector in Kazakhstan. Despite this, the problem of environmental pollution exists due to refinery activities. It was found that mismanagement loopholes exist on each step of water use in the industry. Discharge limits for each oil refinery are established separately between the plant and the government. It allows a factory to determine the quality parameters of wastewater (Table 1). When the permissible concentrations of pollutants in discharging wastewater are established, the calculation approach is based on the following: 1) projected and actual purposes of the recipient - reception and accumulation of wastewater from the plant. It means that if the pond is not used as a source of water for agricultural and domestic purposes, 2) it is possible to discharge polluted wastewater with existing concentrations of different contaminants if those concentrations do not exceed the permissible values in the pond. The reason with already high concentrations of pollutants in the recipient is a result of a time lag between the start of contaminated water discharge by the factories and start of the work of treatment units.



Figure 10 An existing framework for water use in oil refinery in Kazakhstan (Paper I)

PARAMETER	UNITS	REFINERY X	REFINERY Y	REFINERY Z
Ammonia (NH₄⁺)	mg/L	55.18	8.0	4.53
Total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH)	mg/L	3.02	8.0	2.03
Biochemical consumption of Oxygen (BOD)	mgO ₂ /L	17.82	16.6	11.6
Nitrates (NO₃⁻)	mg/L	19.2	7.8	8.96
Nitrites (NO ₂ -)	mg/L	7.7	0.5	-
Sulphates (SO4 ²⁻)	mg/L	643.0	500.0	471.1
Phenol's index	mg/L	0.25	0.05	0.182
Chlorides (Cl ⁻)	mg/L	169.8	350.0	678.8
Suspended solids	mg/L	20.98	25.75	6.05
Surfactants	mg/L	0.52	2.80	1.27
Phosphates (PO ₄ ³⁻)	mg/L	1.05	2.0	6.89
Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)	mg/L	Existing concentration	6000	-

Table 1. Maximally permitted concentrations of different parameters in effluent of three Kazakhstan oil refineries (Paper I)

"-"- not controlled

Table 2 presents the characteristics of wastewater effluents discharged from the studied refinery during the period between 2014 and 2017. Factory discharges wastewater with an ammonia concentration of approximately 50 mg/L, whilst the normal concentration of ammonia for municipal effluents is equal to no more than 2.0 mg/L. The same situation is found for TPH. The concentration of TPH in effluents is about 1.2 mg/L, while the limit for the concentration in treated municipal wastewater is 0.1 mg/L. The concentration of BOD is about 10.6 mgO₂/L, while the allowed concentration for municipal wastewater is 3.0 mgO₂/L.

PARAMETER	UNITS	RANGE	MEDIAN	MEAN	STD. DEVIATION
Chlorides (Cl ⁻)	mg/L	49.80-135.04	70.61	82.48	26.47
Nitrites (NO ₂ ⁻)	mg/L	0.08-4.37	0.43	0.10	1.27
Sulphates (SO42-)	mg/L	238.3-588.7	469.5	449.0	91.0
Nitrates (NO ₃ -)	mg/L	1.77-16.41	13.23	12.49	3.96
Ammonia (NH₄⁺)	mg/L	38.56-54.34	52.36	49.26	5.97
Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH)	mg/L	0.68-2.15	1.23	1.30	0.40
Phenol's index	mg/L	0.01-0.03	0.02	0.02	0.01
Suspended solids	mg/L	4.40-9.10	7.69	7.29	1.35
Surfactants	mg/L	0.20-0.45	0.36	0.34	0.08
Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD)	mgO ₂ /L	8.51-13.12	10.56	10.60	1.48

Table 2. Concentrations of different parameters in effluents from the studied refinery (Paper I)

3.2 Groundwater contamination (Paper II and III)

3.2.1 Groundwater quality parameters (Paper II)

Table 3 presents the results of measurements of groundwater quality from the wells surrounding the recipient pond. Kazakhstani and WHO standards for drinking water were used for assessing all parameters.

Table 3. Water quality parameters for groundwater samples from the observed wells. All units are in mg/L, excluding pH (pH unit) and total hardness (mmol/L) (Paper II)

PARA- ME- TERS	WHO LIMITS	KZ LIMITS		W1	W2	W3	W4	W5	W6	W7	W8	W9
рН	6.5-8.5	6-9	Range Mean SD	7.2-8.8 8.3 0.4	7.5-9.0 8.2 0.5	8.0-9.1 8.6 0.4	7.9-9.3 8.8 0.4	8.5-9.5 8.8 0.3	8.7-9.5 9.0 0.2	6.9-9.1 8.6 0.6	8.3-9.1 8.7 0.2	6.9-8.7 8.1 0.7
ТРН	0.1	0.1	Range Mean SD	0.16- 1.04 0.44	0.11- 1.40 0.41	0.09- 0.60 0.29	0.11- 0.84 0.39	0.08- 1.20 0.40	0.14- 0.67 0.41	0.23- 0.78 0.51	0.11- 0.99 0.45	0.26- 0.84 0.52
TDS	1000	1000	Range Mean SD	846- 1582 1156	4728- 7727 6307	1346- 2224 1779	643- 2919 2072	899- 1450 1218	683- 1402 1046	1244- 1933 1485	1157- 1927 1470	28202- 36392 31848
CI	250	350	Range Mean SD	98-211 158 32	952 2450- 4410 3285	299 150- 520 256	56-715 425 165	172 160- 4410 549	203 110- 200 172	205 150- 370 256	298 180- 798 322	2922 10000- 24757 14797
SO4 ^{2.}	250	500	Range Mean SD	94-210 164 33	577 544- 1300 974 190	90 252- 520 379 85	127- 1100 670 231	89-284 208 46	24 150- 849 298 179	62 214- 296 260 22	305- 443 351 39	4126- 9400 7040 2086
Phe- nols**	-	0.25/0. 001	Range Mean SD	0.00- 0.04 0.01 0.01	0.00- 0.01 0.00 0.00	0.00- 0.06 0.01 0.01	0.00- 0.06 0.01 0.02	0.00- 0.06 0.01 0.02	0.00- 0.06 0.01 0.02	0.00- 0.05 0.01 0.01	0.00- 0.05 0.01 0.01	0.00- 0.12 0.02 0.04
NH₄⁺	1.5	2	Range Mean SD	0.0-1.0 0.4 0.3	0.0- 27.1 2.8 7.4	0.0-0.8 0.3 0.3	0.0-0.6 0.3 0.2	0.0-8.6 0.9 2.3	0.0-5.6 0.7 1.5	0.0-8.8 1.0 2.4	0.0- 10.9 1.2 2.9	0.0- 25.8 5.6 7.9
NO ₂ °	3	3	Range Mean SD	0.0-0.6 0.1 0.2	0.0-2.0 0.2 0.6	0.0-1.1 0.2 0.3	0.0-0.7 0.1 0.2	0.0-0.4 0.1 0.1	0.0-0.4 0.1 0.1	0.0-0.7 0.2 0.2	0.0-0.9 0.1 0.3	0.0- 14.5 1.5 4.2
NO3 ⁻	50	45	Range Mean SD	0.0-7.5 2.3 2.9	0.1-4.3 1.7 1.2	0.1-3.0 0.9 0.9	0.0-5.0 1.5 1.6	0.0-5.3 1.8 1.9	0.0-4.9 0.9 1.4	0.0-4.3 1.3 1.6	0.0-4.1 1.5 1.6	0.0- 21.0 7.7
PO₄ ^{3.}	-	3.5	Range Mean SD	0.00- 0.75 0.11	0.00- 0.26 0.04	0.00- 0.20 0.05	0.00- 1.00 0.10	0.00- 0.68 0.10	0.00- 0.41 0.06	0.00- 0.21 0.06	0.00- 0.76 0.10	0.00- 0.08 0.03
CO32-	-	-	Range Mean SD	0-48 15 15	0-15 6 5	0-87 30 28	5-59 32 17	6-36 20 8	13-84 31 18	0-137 39 37	0-73 26 19	0-45 11 13
HCO3.	384***	-	Range Mean SD	189- 494 375 92	14-391 119 126	329- 709 537 100	43-514 326 110	262- 512 343 74	201- 346 277 42	9-578 374 176	210- 329 264 37	66-464 201 138
тн	-	7.0	Range Mean SD	3.7- 12.5 7.6 2.0	6.2- 67.9 54.0 15.6	3.2-9.8 6.8 1.7	3.0- 12.0 7.6 2.6	2.1-5.0 3.9 0.9	2.0-4.8 3.8 0.9	2.4-9.3 6.5 1.7	2.8- 15.1 6.5 3.5	219.0- 390.0 272.0 55.0
Ca²*	100	-	Range Mean SD	14-116 39 30	15-625 135 154	6-73 21 17	8-138 29 34	6-44 14 10	5-43 13 10	3-137 27 36	9-72 20 16	97- 2844 497 714

Mg²⁺	50	-	Range Mean SD	17-92 63 20	65-680 499 196	5-330 88 78	31-130 78 32	14-88 42 18	12-61 39 13	25-110 66 25	21-200 66 44	382- 4422 2697 940
K⁺	12	-	Range Mean SD	0.1-3.0 1.5 1.0	0.0-6.4 1.7 2.1	0.0-5.0 1.4 1.6	0.0-6.0 1.6 2.3	0.0-5.0 1.5 1.7	0.0-4.0 1.4 1.2	0.0-6.0 1.8 2.2	0.0-4.0 1.6 1.4	0.01- 42.0 14.3 16.2
Na⁺	200	200	Range Mean SD	140- 230 190 27	605- 1414 1136 272	390- 685 480 85	66-775 545 181	220- 540 348 94	200- 500 296 77	290- 560 390 79	220- 680 412 135	5100- 9200 7093 1377
Surfact ants	-	0.5	Range Mean SD	0.1-0.7 0.4 0.2	0.2-0.6 0.3 0.1	0.1-0.6 0.4 0.2	0.0-0.4 0.2 0.1	0.0-0.4 0.2 0.1	0.0-0.8 0.2 0.2	0.3-0.9 0.6 0.2	0.0-0.4 0.1 0.1	0.3-1.4 1.0 0.3
CO2	-	-	Range Mean SD	0-37 5 11	0-22 5 7	0-29 4 9	0-15 1 4	0 0 0	0 0 0	0-23 2 6	0-2 0 1	0-32 7 12

- non-described

* WHO does not cover all chemical contaminants in the guidelines, but only those, which pose a risk in a high level (Gadgil 1998).

** EPA, EU and WHO present a range of phenol-derivatives according their toxicity rate. Kazakhstani standard assumes "phenols" as phenolic compounds, which evaporate under high temperature (Angelino and Gennaro 1997) *** from WHO Guidelines for drinking water quality (1984)

As shown, all wells had exceeding concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons (see also Figure 11). While the permissible concentration of TPH is 0.1 mg/L, the concentrations of TPH varied between 0.08 and 1.20 mg/L with the mean value 0.42 mg/L, which exceeded the norm 4 times. Although low concentrations of TPH in water might be considered harmless, researchers found that long-term exposure to TPH causes carcinogenic diseases (Pinedo et al. 2013). Table 3 also shows that dangerous concentrations of phenols were identified in all nine wells. This pollutant has been defined as very toxic and was included in the list of priority pollutants by Environmental protection agency (EPA 2012). The number of disorders has been discovered by acute exposure of phenol: muscular convulsions, hypothermia, muscle weakness and tremor, collapse, and coma etc. (Nair et al. 2008). Measured TDS values exceeded the KZ and WHO maximum permissible levels of 1000 mg/L in most cases on average 5 times (Figure 11). Further, the total hardness in the groundwater samples ranged between 2 and 390 mmol/L with a mean exceeding the standard 6 times (Figure 11). According the Todd classification, almost all samples might be categorized as very hard water. Hard water may cause cerebrovascular and cardiovascular diseases (Stambuk-Giljanovic and Stambuk 2005). The chloride ion presence were between 56 and 24757 mg/L, with most samples elevated WHO's 250 mg/L recommended limit (exceeding 9 times on average) (Figure 11). There are possible health-related concerns regarding Na⁺ content in the groundwater because the mean elevated concentrations in the wells were 6 times over the permissible KZ limits and WHO indirect recommendation (Figure 11). Consumption of high amount of sodium has been correlated with cardiovascular disease, such hypertension and stroke (Lucas et al. 2011). Finally, individual exceedings of surfactants were identified. Such high levels of surfactants are related to several potential problems. The presence of some surfactants in connection with other contaminants may decrease the biodegradation rate of contaminant or stops the process at all. Moreover, special focus should be paid to Well 9 which had extremely high values. For example, TDS had a value 37 times above the limit, chloride 99 times higher than limit, sulphate exceeded the limit 38 times, total

hardness with associated cations by 56 times as well as highly elevated concentrations of ammonia, nitrites, nitrates, potassium, sodium, and surfactants (Table 3). The water containing such levels of those substances would normally be rejected by consumers for any reasons.







Figure 12 Temporal variation of (a) pH, (b) TPH, and (c) TDS (Paper II)

3.2.2 Multivariate statistical analysis (Paper II)

The correlation matrix was employed for all 117 measurements for determining the loads of the principal components (PCs) shown in Table 4. The first six PCs were selected for the following reasons as variables of dimensionality reduction: the six PCs together gave a cumulative contribution of 78.34%, which is typically regarded as being sufficiently high; the eigenvalues of these PCs are all greater than 1.0 and, according to the Kaiser criterion these PCs must be chosen (Kaiser 1958). The factors can be conditionally divided into two groups. First group accounts to 52.34% of the total variance and is represented by Factors 1 and 2. Usually, the parameters, belonging to those factors, characterize natural conditions of the groundwater. Factors 3-6 contribute to 26% of the total variance and can be categorized, as anthropogenically appeared factors. The natural factor is characterized by high weight values of TH, Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , TDS, Na^+ , K^+ , Cl^- , SO_4^{2-} , pH, CO_3^{2-} , and CO_2 . These results show that the groundwater has suffered serious mineralization process from the natural condition of the salt pond (Allen and Suchy 2001). Also, the correlation matrix indicates the existence of non-carbonate, or constant hardness, $(MeSO_4, MeCl_2, where Me - Ca, Mg)$, which is difficult to remove in the study area. The anthropogenic factors are characterized by NO_2^- , NH_4^+ , TPH, phenols, and PO_4^{3-} . Nitrite ions are semi-product of the natural denitrification/deammonification processes in the groundwater environment (Hiscock et al. 1991), occurred by high concentrations of ammonia in discharges). The amount of ammonia is not degraded during the saturation processes and some traces still presence in the groundwater. TPH and phenols are directly related to the specification of petrochemical wastewater. As the rocks and fertilizers are absent in the study area (Rao and Prasad 1997), phosphate ions are associated with a vast number of washing processes, which leads to big consumption of different detergents, which contain phosphate substances. Hence, the loading of the contaminant is an indicator of anthropogenic impact on the groundwater.

	NATURAL		ANTHROPOGENIC			
VARIABLE	FACTOR (1)	FACTOR (2)	FACTOR (3)	FACTOR (4)	FACTOR (5)	FACTOR (6)
pН	-0.233	-0.900	-0.045	0.042	0.023	0.014
TPH	0.102	-0.034	-0.267	0.746	-0.024	-0.201
TDS	0.924	0.205	0.171	0.158	-0.002	-0.058
Cl-	0.888	0.251	0.203	0.146	-0.086	-0.058
SO42-	0.927	0.086	0.203	0.063	0.041	-0.046
NH₄ ⁺	0.289	-0.045	0.198	0.783	-0.051	0.162
NO ₂ -	0.254	-0.059	0.797	-0.075	-0.173	-0.004
NO3 ⁻	0.514	0.012	0.500	-0.031	0.363	0.121
PO4 ³⁻	-0.100	0.041	0.012	-0.039	0.027	0.886
CO32-	-0.140	-0.692	-0.074	-0.010	-0.023	-0.337
HCO3 [−]	-0.297	-0.159	-0.120	0.026	0.460	0.208
ТН	0.927	0.160	0.147	0.188	0.053	-0.033
Ca ²⁺	0.729	-0.069	-0.382	-0.182	-0.231	0.092
Mg ²⁺	0.798	0.215	0.326	0.313	0.085	-0.050
K⁺	0.807	-0.032	-0.375	-0.106	0.008	0.039
Na⁺	0.931	0.150	0.196	0.133	-0.004	-0.045
Surfactants	0.732	0.131	0.107	0.165	0.085	-0.116
CO ₂	0.094	0.845	-0.133	-0.025	-0.013	-0.165
Phenol	0.196	0.078	-0.015	-0.077	0.873	-0.086
Eigenvalue	7.984	1.960	1.458	1.307	1.160	1.015
% of Variance	42.023	10.315	7.676	6.881	6.105	5.340
Cumulative %	42.023	52.337	60.013	66.894	73.000	78.339

Table 4. Factor loadings (Varimax normalized) (Paper II)

Based on the performed CA and results above, the study area was divided into three clusters. Cluster 1 combines observed wells W9 and W2. These wells are recognized as highly contaminated with the highest exceeding of many chemical parameters. They have similarities in the distribution of pH, which is followed by host geology. The wells are situated on the south-west site from the pond and probably approve an assumption about direction of groundwater flow. Cluster 2 is formed by wells W7, W8, W1, and W3. These wells are located on the south and west sides of the pond and characterized by twofold characteristics: firstly, significant pollution rate, including the same concentrations of the TDS and TDS related chemicals, and secondly, the equal temporal distribution of pH. It means that groundwater on that site is affected by pollutant transport from the pond in the same manner. Finally, Cluster 3 is represented by Wells W6, W4, and W5. All wells are located north of the pond and are characterized by lower concentrations of the pollutants compared to other wells.

Thus, the results of the multivariate statistical analysis indicate that pollution spread out of the sanitary zone to the west direction from the recipient pond and potentially could create hazard for rural inhabitants. Moreover, the trends of TPH pollution tend to rise in time (Figure 12). It potentially says that the pollution problem is growing in the area.

3.2.3 Heckman selection model (Paper II)

Table 5 shows the selected variables used in this analysis and their descriptive statistics. According the Kazakhstani sanitary and epidemiological requirements (Kazakhstan 2015), TH, TPH, and Na⁺ are considered hazardous for public health and rated with value 1.0 for the variable D_i . TDS, sulphates, and chlorides are considered as non-toxic and were rated as value 0.0 for the variable D_i . TDS, Cl⁻, SO₄²⁻, Na⁺, TH, and TPH were encrypted in the matrix of variables as "1", "2", "3", "4", "5" and "6", respectively.

VARIABLE	TOXIC	NON-TOXIC				
Number of observations	324	351				
	48.0%	52.0%				
Number (%) of exceeded values (Std.Dev.)	255 (78.7)	248 (70.7)				
Dependent variables						
Toxic contaminant	1.0	0.0				
% of exceeding	664 (1042)	862 (1526)				
the control of the second dependence of the second dependence of the second dependence of the second dependence						

Table 5. Selecte	d variables	characteristics*	(Paper	II)
------------------	-------------	------------------	--------	-----

*descriptive statistics of chosen chemicals is available from Table 3

Table 6 presents the results of the Heckman selection model. Rho has a positive value, which means that it is possible to estimate relationships between chosen variables and final contamination. All variables, excluding number of well (which represents location of the wells), are considered significant. The concentration of pollutants has the greatest influence on the total contamination. A positive value shows a high likelihood of potential hazards for people's health. Obviously, high concentrations of pollutants might lead to deterioration of health, especially during long-term exposure. In the studied case, 503 of 675 values exceed acceptable limits by 7-8 times in average. The variable of toxicity rate is the second significant factor. This variable reflects to lower percentage of exceedings for toxic contaminants than for non-toxic, instead of higher number of exceeded values for toxic contaminants than non-toxic. The hypothesis is that even if the concentration of the toxic contaminant exceeds the standard by just a few units, the toxic properties could be much more dangerous for human health, compared to the consumption of highly polluted water by non-toxic contaminants. The independent chemicals represent the third significant variable. Individual characteristics of chosen chemicals are explained in sub-section "Groundwater quality parameters". The location of the well is rated as a non significant parameter. Nevertheless, the investigation of hydrogeological characteristics deserves attention to determine the spread of contamination.

VARIABLE	COEFFICIENT	STD. ERR.	Z-STATISTIC
Chemical	-0.156	0.074	-2.11
Concentration	1.576	0.260	6.07
Toxicity rate	0.789	0.245	3.22
Number of well	0.020	0.025	0.83
Rho		1.0	

Table 6. Estimated results of the Heckman selection model (two-step) for selected chemicals (Paper II)

Thus, the results of the Heckman selection model indicate that particular focus should be paid to the distribution of toxic contaminants.

3.2.4 Groundwater modeling (Paper III)

The groundwater flow was modeled to identify the pathways of TPH plume movement and to assign the required coordinates for contamination transport modeling. Figure 13 shows the simulated water level contours for steady-state conditions. Results of the calibration reflect the lithology of the area. The higher HK belongs to the territory along the Irtysh river and Upper-Quaternary deposits (aQ_{III}), as they are formed by soils with a high level of water permeability (quartz, sand, gravel, and pebbles, instead of more clavey soils in the eastern direction). The following decrease of HK from northwest to southeast is explained by the local topography, as the groundwater is located deeper, and the clay content variation in the aquifer. The conductance of the drain (river) (50 m^2/d) and boundaries (125 m^2/d) were approximately equal to available data after calibration. The RMSE of modeled groundwater level against measured was 0.64 m and the R² coefficient was 0.68. Hence, the model was considered as sufficiently accurate. The MODPATH software was used in this step to evaluate potential flow of the contaminant specifically from the source of the pollution. It showed that the plume moved in a western direction with some displacement towards the southwest. Particle tracking, using MODPATH, showed the potential transport towards agricultural fields, where groundwater is used for irrigation (4.5 km from the pond) and nearby rural areas (Michurino and Pavlodarskoe villages, 8 km from the pond).



Figure 13 The groundwater flow model (Paper III)

3.2.5 Contamination transport modelling (Paper III)

After calibration of the groundwater model, two pathways, located downstream from the source of pollution, were chosen for the contamination transport modeling. Pathway 1 and 2 (P1 and P2) originated from the monitoring wells W1 and W3, respectively, where coordinates x, y, and measured concentrations of TPH were established as initial conditions (x=0, y=0, and C_0). The W2 and W4 are located at the boundary of the sanitation zone (1000 m from the pond), where the concentration of TPH should not exceed a safe limit (100 µg/L) for drinking and domestic purposes according to Kazakhstani legislation (Kazakhstan 2015). Coordinates for W2 and W4 and measured concentrations of TPH were used for calibration of the parameters T, b, p, K, α_L , α_T , and dh for Pathway 1 and 2, respectively. Figure 14 shows the results of the calibration. The R² coefficient was equal to 0.9 and indicated good performance of the model. Calculated means for values of Q, b, p and dh were similar in both models: semi-analytical transport and groundwater.



Figure 14 Results of transport contamination model using unified values of the parameters (Paper III)

Figure 15 presents the potential results of the fate transport of contamination, based on measured concentrations in the monitoring wells, and unified transport geological parameters for individual cases and historical scenarios. The distance (dL_i) step was assumed as the square root of x+100 and y+20 m from the starting observation points. The dh_i was estimated as 0.01 m for each dL_i step, based on the GW model. Obviously, the plume width correlates with the starting concentrations. The potential maximum distribution during the spring season in 2019 and 2018 was 6 and 3 km for Pathway 1 and 2, respectively. The starting concentrations (C_0) showed maximum historical values in those years. The same situation was found for the autumn periods when the potential maximum spreading of the contamination was 4.5 and 2.6 km for Pathway 1 and 2, respectively. The calculated distance is higher during the spring seasons compared to the autumn. Lower values of the calculated plume fit the lower concentrations with a resulting shorter distance from the origin of pollution. However, even for these cases, the distance was relatively large, almost 1.2 km from the source of the contamination.



Figure 15 Modeled contamination depending on distance (in m) from a) W1 and b) W3 (Paper III)

The final step of the application is the analysis of parameters' sensitivity. The ranges for K, T, b, and p were changed several times in an equal manner: they were decreased by 25% and 50% and increased by 25% and 50%. For the investigation of the relationships between dh and dL_i , the range for dh was considered between 0.01 and 0.1 m. The C_0 was assumed as 500 µg/L for all scenarios. To assess the potential spread of plume, depending on the initial load of the TPH, the range for C_0 was considered between 50 and 1000 μ g/L. After establishing new values, dL_i was calculated to the extent, when the concentration of TPH is considered safe. The results are presented in Figure 16. While all parameters show relevant changes in the resulting dL_i within the range of change, longitudinal and transverse dynamic dispersivity together with plume width were considered as the most sensitive parameters in this study. This is explained by the fact that these parameters might be changing over time depending on contamination characteristics, while parameters describing geological characteristics are constant. The increase of dh causes significant increase in the distance of plume spreading, as it is related to enhanced linear velocity, and consequently, enhanced injection rate of the contaminant. The parameters may vary significantly depending on the scale and characteristics of contaminants. If the C_0 is equal to 1000 µg/L, the affected zone can spread 5 km for P1 and 2.5 km for P2. The highest rate of the spreading belongs to the area near the source of pollution, e.g., the growth of the initial concentrations from 100 to 150 μ g/L causes extension of the plume spread corresponding to 0.25 km (from 1.30 to 1.55 km) for P2, while the following dL_i is changed for 120-50 m for each 50 μ g/L.



Figure 16 Sensitivity analysis for a) Pathway 1 and b) Pathway 2 (Paper III)

Thus, the results of environmental fate assessment show that the contamination likely has spread out 2-6 km from the recipient pond of wastewater from the studied refinery. Future data acquisition for the most sensitive parameters is required to better control the situation of the GW contamination in the region.

3.3 Lessons and implementation (Paper IV)

The problem of water contamination by petroleum refineries is not unique for Kazakhstan but exists worldwide. Currently, there is still not full confidence in the "safety" of partly treated wastewater for two reasons. Firstly, the fate of hydrocarbons has not yet been fully explored. For example, the recent study of PAHs degradation shows that the products of degradation also are hazardous (CONCAWE 2020). It means that even low concentrations of persistent substances discharged into the environment can create a hazard. Secondly, several refineries still show high concentrations of contaminants, permanently or accidentally, which requires additional investigations. For instance, while there is a positive trend of decreasing of hydrocarbons in refineries' effluents in Europe, the mean annual concentration of TPH among the refineries equals 1.4 mg/L for all European refineries with maximal concentration 16 mg/L.

This study identified that effective policy is an efficient *response* to achieve the sustainable water use in the oil refinery sector in Kazakhstan (Figure 17). The best option to assure safe water is efficient water and wastewater management of water users, instead of post-factum attempts to clean already polluted sources. The management includes appropriate technology standards coupled with sufficient operational monitoring, which aims to prevent contamination. Thus, the *response* includes implementation of 1) the concept of circular economy (CE) (via 1a) water reuse and 1b) Best Available Techniques (BAT)); 2) Improved methodology for Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), aiming to toughen the requirements for wastewater quality and characteristics of their recipients; and 3) Improved system of environmental monitoring.



Figure 17 The DPSIR framework for this study

3.3.1 Circular Economy

The core of the CE is the transition to circular form, or 4Rs ("reduction, reuse, recycling, and recovery") approach, when the wastes, generated during the manufacturing process, are recycled, and all resources are re-used again as much as possible (Smol et al. 2020). The importance of wastewater reuse has been highly emphasized in the context of CE with the promotion by relevant legislation (EU 2020).

In comparison with developed countries, refineries in Kazakhstan do not aim to reuse water. Achieving sufficient re-use water quality is impossible without appropriate treatment techniques, which is the core of the BAT approach. The principle of BAT is to find the most efficient and cheapest way to meet the requirements for safe or re-used water. While the industrial processes and content of generated WW are the same for refineries in USA/EU and Kazakhstan, the significant difference between developed countries and Kazakhstan is the usage of the "in-plant control" principle and BAT. It means that there are the requirements not only for finally treated effluents but for the quality of generated WW after each technological unit either. It leads to additional preliminary treatment, which reduces the burden on the final (or "end-of-pipe") treatment system and enhances the efficiency of it. As the generated wastewater consists mainly of salty unprocessed heavy oil-water emulsions, and even after primary mechanical treatment, there is a challenge to remove hydrocarbons from wastewater (Bruno et al. 2020). The basic biological treatment method (activated sludge), which is used by refineries in Kazakhstan, cannot efficiently treat for two reasons: firstly, the petroleum hydrocarbons are heavily degradable, and, secondly, salinity and toxicity of wastewater inhibit the efficiency of biomass. Refineries in the other countries solve this issue by using advanced techniques on each step of treatment: pre-, secondary, and post- (or polishing) treatment.

3.3.2 Environmental Impact Assessment

There are different approaches in Kazakhstan and EU/USA to make the process of implementation of the EIA efficient and transparent. Related decisions are taken by respective policy standards in both cases. However, both the USA and the EU, base their decisions and develop their strategies on the scientific approach (Zijp et al. 2016). The design of policy implementation in the EU has been based on the relevant scientific investigation through the possibility of integrating the respective technological development (Voulvoulis et al. 2017). Winans et al. (Winans et al. 2017) have emphasised, firstly, that policy actions should be well designed, clearly explained and regularly evaluated; and secondly, experts must be involved in the process of the decision-making to achieve the successful implementation of the EIA.

Furthermore, that is a common situation worldwide when the results of investigations of the impact of oily effluents become available and transparent. Usually, the content of hydrocarbons in the effluents from refineries have been

mainly subjected to detailed evaluating their toxic and cancerogenic properties. As a result, it is considered, the effluents are safe if toxicity tests show reasonable results. The current conditions of discharges in the USA and the EU have shown a positive trend in general, as requirements for their content are established based on reliable techniques of the EIA.

In Kazakhstan, the current system of the Environmental Impact Assessment, which establishes the criteria for maximum permissible concentrations of contaminants in wastewater, has obvious gaps. The formal eligibility to pollute already contaminated sites and to establish the MPD equal to a background concentration of the pollutant in the recipient causes environmental and social fate. Also, there is an unusual practice, when the wastewater releases into the ponds with the following affection on groundwater, like in the Kazakhstani case. In contrast, the EU directly forbids the transfer of pollutants from one environmental media to another. Also, it contradicts with the actions needed for safe environment, such as liquidation and remediation of historical contamination, reduction in pollutant emissions, and an increase in volume or recycled and reused water (Naseri-Rad et al. 2020).

3.3.3 Operational monitoring

One more reason, why the contamination still exists is a lack of sufficient operational monitoring. During use and following emission to the environment, petroleum hydrocarbons can be metabolized and degraded to transformation products. Thus, the environment is exposed to an even greater number of chemicals, while only fewer of them are regulated (Van den Brink et al. 2018). While the developed countries identified certain indicators, with the detailed list of pollutants in oily wastewater, such as PAHs (including total PAHs, and individual compounds), benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylenes (BTEX), etc., for better estimation of the toxic effect of their existence in wastewater; Kazakhstani oil refineries monitor only the sum of TPH, without detailed investigation of the resulted effect on the environment. Still, mentioned petroleum compounds are not degradable, which might cause risks even at low concentrations. Continuous update of the list of substances for operational control during the wastewater treatment and environmental monitoring in developed countries ensures environmental safety and follows the sustainable development principles positively affecting the monitoring system. For example US EPA carries out permanent control of the quality of wastewater and recipients to detect any accidental or other exceedance of permissible values for contaminants. In the EU, any operator of pollution monitors their emissions under the directives on industrial emission and integrated pollution prevention and control.

Multiple barriers, such as perception of the industry of pricing and technological changes, slow down the process of implementation the suggested *responses* in the oil refineries in Kazakhstan. Currently, the price of water is very low for the industry, as well are the penalties for the violation of the current version of the law. Thus, there is no engine to initiate the transition towards the circular economy for industries yet. Also, a jump into the modern variety of new technologies for treatment can give the options to choose efficient and cheap treatment approaches.

Changing the policy, which has not been updated for years, is a real necessity for today. Identified gaps in the legislation, which lets to discharge inappropriately treated wastewater, should be revised via implementation of suggested principles.

4 Conclusions

The results, presented in this thesis, address the established objectives, as follows:

Objective A: to investigate water and wastewater management at the oil refinery factories in Kazakhstan in accordance with respective national and international legislation.

This study identified the imperfections of the existing framework for water use in the sector in Kazakhstan. It was found that there is no incentive by current law in Kazakhstan to shift towards the SWU, as there is in developed countries where enforcement of legislation was the first step towards the SWU. Formally, environmental regulation in Kazakhstan promotes the *polluter pays* principle and follows the World Health Organization (WHO) recommendations for ensuring drinking water quality, including groundwater. Simultaneously, the weakness of legislation was identified by lacking unified and transparent standards for treatment processes, and wastewater quality. Low water fees, low penalties for pollution, and legislative loopholes, such as a possibility to establish permissible values for concentrations of the pollutants in wastewater equal to background concentration of the pollutant in an already polluted recipient, allows the situation to remain unchanged. Thus, Kazakhstani standards are not sufficiently adapted for international guidelines, which causes the release of potentially toxic substances together with wastewater into environmental media, where those substances migrate into another, e.g. groundwater. The situation creates a hazard of presence of toxic chemicals, and subsequent transport of contamination with a potential negative impact on public health. The water-saving potential in Kazakhstan is ranked as one of the major opportunities in the water sector, especially for the industry, where the aim is two-fold: reduce pollution and reuse water for technological processes. Thus, this is the only effective way to prevent potential damage to the health of people who use contaminated water.

Objective B: to assess groundwater safety affected by improper treatment of refineries' wastewater.

This study identified that groundwater surrounding the wastewater recipient pond has been affected and containing high level of some chemicals, such as total petroleum hydrocarbons, total hardness, total dissolved solids, and sodium. These pollutants are likely spreading towards areas with substantial groundwater use. Multivariate statistical analysis showed that there is twofold origin of pollution:

anthropogenic and natural. Even though anthropogenic load might be controlled by respective decrease of contamination via effective wastewater treatment, this study showed that man-made chemicals with a high level of toxicity, such as TPH, exist in concentrations exceeding permissible limits on the boundary of the sanitary zone. Heckman selection analysis identified that toxic substances reflects to lower percentage of exceedings for toxic contaminants than for non-toxic, instead of higher number of exceeded values for toxic contaminants than non-toxic. It means that even if the concentration of the toxic contaminant exceeds the standard by just a few units, the toxic properties could be much more dangerous for human health, compared with the consumption of high concentrations of non-toxic contaminants in contaminated water. Thus, special attention should be paid on toxic substances during the related investigations. The development of groundwater flow and contamination transport models is a viable part of the assessment of the pollution pressures on that body. This study focused on potential impact of groundwater contamination by total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) in the region. The models were developed to investigate behavior of the plume of TPH inside the aquifer and to give respective recommendations for environmental managers and local habitats. The results, based on historical observations, showed that the risks for residents in the potentially affected rural area of Kazakhstan can be avoided, as the plume has not reached the villages considered to be within the risk zone. However, agricultural areas at 2-6 km downstream the source of pollution could be affected by contaminated water. Moreover, a future growth of the industrial capacity in the region, with expected increase of industrial pollution, does not promise improvement of the groundwater status. As it is shown, the increase of initial concentration of TPH, caused by high loading of TPH from the industry, significantly extends the affected area. Thus, the adverse effect of the possible contamination in connection with the poor monitoring system of such contamination might consider the careful usage of groundwater from the shallow aquifer for irrigation purposes in this area.

Objective C: to define possible solutions for industrial water and wastewater management system in Kazakhstan to ensure the SWU.

In order to achieve the SWU, the system of industrial water and wastewater management relies on legislative and normative standards. In Kazakhstan, the system is weakened not only by gaps in legislation, but also by the absence of appropriate environmental tools (such as operational monitoring, and environmental assessment). The defined criteria to ensure equitable access of different water users and viable mechanisms to achieve water safety are 1) implementation of concept of Circular Economy (CE), via implementation of Best Available Techniques (BAT) and water reuse, 2) improvement of current system of Environmental Impact Assessment, and 3) improvement of the existing scheme of operational monitoring for wastewater quality. The suggested potential solutions should follow the requirement to control the amount of contamination inside the technological

processes before final discharge. The performed investigations showed that decision-makers in Kazakhstan, unlike developed countries, do not follow scientifically approved techniques and mechanisms to prevent pollution, which guarantees a good-status of receiving water bodies. The current trend is a transition towards "closed-loop" systems – choosing sufficient treatment methods specifically for each factory, considering environmental conditions, facility size, age of facility, equipment, etc. Refineries in Kazakhstan do not aim to re-use water despite the risk of water scarcity in the region. It is recommended to use an "in-plant control" technique, i.e. installation of extra regeneration units for processing water before the final (or "end-of-pipe") treatment system to supply regenerated water for secondary use within industrial processes. The result is twofold: decreasing freshwater consumption and enhancing efficiency of the final treatment. It was also found that the current wastewater treatment scheme at oil refineries does not use efficient advanced techniques on each step, including pre-, secondary, and post- (or polishing) treatment. Thus, it is highly emphasized to improve the wastewater treatment systems via implementation of the BAT.

The current scheme of Environmental Impact Assessment in Kazakhstan is weakened by the respective legislative loophole. The adjusted new unconditional requirements for effluents safety assessment, such as a detailed investigation of effluents characteristics using, e.g., Parameter-Specific Approach, Whole Effluent Toxicity (WET) Approach, or Bioassessment Approach toxicity tests have showed high efficiency worldwide. The ban for potential transfer of toxic substances from one environmental media to another (for example, from surface water to groundwater) in many countries has contributed to the environmental improvements and promote the both the governments and the industries to follow the SWU.

Kazakhstani oil refineries monitor only the sum of TPH, without detailed investigation of the resulted effect on the environment, while the developed countries identified certain indicators, with the detailed list of pollutants, including toxic, such as PAHs (in total and individual compounds), benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylenes (BTEX), PFAS, etc., for better estimation of the toxic effect of their existence in wastewater. Still, the mentioned petroleum compounds are not degradable, which might cause risks even at low concentrations. Continuous update of list of substances for operational control during the wastewater treatment and environmental monitoring in many countries ensures the environmental safety and follows the sustainable development principles positively affecting the monitoring system. Thus, unconditional requirements for effluent safety, continuous update of the list of the potential pollutants and implementing BAT are the current requirements for the industrial management to follow the SWU.

5 Final remarks and future outlook

This work was to understand, to what extent the water use in the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan is sustainable and to assess its impacts on the environment. It was found that the current "*status quo*" includes formal approval for polluting activities by the industry, which causes risks for environment and public safety. This situation violates the principles of equitability and bearability of the SWU.

Delivery of SDGs requires a healthy and productive environment. In order to achieve the SWU and to decrease the environmental pollution the following recommendations should be considered:

- This study identified a severe status of the contaminated recipient pond for wastewater from the studied refinery, and a related extended groundwater pollution, which likely will exist for decades and spread out on a km scale. The main action from the government should be to accept that the problem exists, instead of accepting the problem itself.
- Legislative loopholes in the methodology for establishing the requirements for effluents from the refineries is one of the major contributor for the resulting pollution. The government should take a leading role in the development of sufficient requirements for industrial wastewater treatment and disposal systems. The core action is the development of unified, transparent, and fair regulative standards for the procedure of the Environmental Impact Assessment.
- The lack of integration of a scientific-based approach weakens water management practices both at the governmental and industry levels. Detailed investigation of wastewater characteristics, and the application of new tools for environmental monitoring, such as developing groundwater and contamination transport models, will assist the Environmental agencies to assess and control industrial impact and related risks.
- The implementation of the principles of Circular Economy, particularly "water reuse" and "best available techniques", can contribute to preventive activities and reduce the risks for environment and society.

In order to achieve efficiency of the described activities above, communication of the risks to key stakeholders in the government-industry-science is needed.

5.1 Future outlook

Kazakhstan deals with the implementation of suitable legislation. The government of Kazakhstan applies efforts to improve the situation through policy strengthening. A new ecological code has been adapted in the beginning of 2021. The law claims the implementation of BAT, increased penalties and investment of industry into environment protection. The implementation of the law aims the transition to sustainable development and "green economy", with a focus not only on resource efficiency and waste prevention but on human well-being and ecosystem resilience as well. However, there is still concern about its efficiency. A law does not act by itself, but via relevant guidance documents. Special attention in the future should be paid to control mechanisms of implementation of new rules for industrial effluents.

The main focus for future work in the studied area should be paid on characteristics of contamination, such as identification of individual substances, toxicity analysis, and ability to persist in the environment. It is suggested to perform additional investigations of TPH's plume spreading, based on the results of this study, and especially on the results of sensitivity analysis. The persistent and hazardous hydrocarbon fractions and types, such as PAHs and BTEX, should be identified in both wastewater and groundwater for better understanding of the existing impact on environment and public safety. Fieldwork aiming to better understand the characteristics of groundwater flow and transport contamination is considered for future investigations. Also, the recipient pond requires investigations as it has been in operation for more than 30 years. The sediments might potentially contain high concentrations of many dangerous contaminants. The ways of their transfer from one environmental media to another also have to be studied for consideration in the following remediation programs.

Additional epidemiological studies should be conducted in municipalities nearby and downstream the pond to assess potential connections between the high concentrations of some pollutants, such as TPH, phenols, Na⁺, Cl⁻, SO4²⁻, TDS and TH and cardiovascular and oncological diseases in the region.

The method of contamination transport modeling, developed and used in this study, is proposed as an environmental tool for assessment of industrial impact on groundwater and related risks not only in the studied area, but for other similar potential cases with limited data, which is also one of the major weaknesses of the system.

References

- Alegbeleye, O. O., Opeolu, B. O., & Jackson, V. A. (2017). Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: A Critical Review of Environmental Occurrence and Bioremediation. *Environmental Management*, 60(4), 758-783, doi:10.1007/s00267-017-0896-2.
- Allen, D., & Suchy, M. (2001). Geochemical evolution of groundwater on Saturna Island, British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences*, 38(7), 1059-1080, doi:10.1139/e01-007.
- Angelino, S., & Gennaro, M. C. (1997). An ion-interaction RP-HPLC method for the determination of the eleven EPA priority pollutant phenols. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 346(1), 61-71, doi:10.1016/S0003-2670(97)00124-4.
- Balderacchi, M., Benoit, P., Cambier, P., Eklo, O. M., Gargini, A., Gemitzi, A., et al. (2013). Groundwater pollution and quality monitoring approaches at the European level. *Critical reviews in environmental science and technology*, 43(4), 323-408, doi:10.1080/10643389.2011.604259.
- Bear, J. (2013). Dynamics of fluids in porous media: Courier Corporation.
- BP (2019). BP Statistical Review of World Energy. <u>https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-</u> <u>sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/statistical-review/bp-stats-</u> review-2019-full-report.pdf. Accessed 14 December 2020.
- Bruno, P., Campo, R., Giustra, M. G., De Marchis, M., & Di Bella, G. (2020). Bench scale continuous coagulation-flocculation of saline industrial wastewater contaminated by hydrocarbons. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, 34, doi:10.1016/j.jwpe.2020.101156.
- CONCAWE (2020). Assessment of Photochemical Processes in Environmental Risk Assessment of PAHs. Brussels.
- Doherty, J., Brebber, L., & Whyte, P. (1994). PEST: Model-independent parameter estimation. *Watermark Computing, Corinda, Australia, 122*, 336.
- EPA (2012). Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Phenol. <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2019-03/documents/ambient-wqc-phenol-1980.pdf</u>.
- EU (2002). Common Implementation Strategy For Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC). Guidance document no. 3: Analysis of Pressures and Impacts. Communication and Information Resource Centre Administration Brussels.
- EU (2020). European Parliamentary Research Service. Water reuse. Setting minimum requirements.
- Fienen, M. N., D'Oria, M., Doherty, J. E., & Hunt, R. J. (2013). Approaches in highly parameterized inversion: bgaPEST, a Bayesian geostatistical approach

implementation with PEST: documentation and instructions. US Geological Survey.

- Gadgil, A. (1998). Drinking water in developing countries. *Annual Review of Energy and the Environment, 23*, 253-286, doi:10.1146/annurev.energy.23.1.253.
- Gustafson, J. B., Tell, J. G., & Orem, D. (1997). Selection of representative TPH fractions based on fate and transport considerations (Vol. 3): Amherst Scientific Publishers.
- Harbaugh, A. W., Banta, E. R., Hill, M. C., & McDonald, M. G. (2000). Modflow-2000, the US geological survey modular ground-water model-user guide to modularization concepts and the ground-water flow process. *Open-file Report. U. S. Geological Survey*(92), 134, doi:10.3133/ofr200092.
- Heaven, S., Banks, C. J., Pak, L. N., & Rspaev, M. K. (2007). Wastewater reuse in central Asia: implications for the design of pond systems. *Water Science and Technology*, 55(1-2), 85-93, doi:10.2166/wst.2007.061.
- Heckman, J. J. (1979). Sample Selection Bias as a Specification Error. *Econometrica*, 47(1), 153-161, doi:10.2307/1912352.
- Hiscock, K. M., Lloyd, J. W., & Lerner, D. N. (1991). Review of Natural and Artificial Denitrification of Groundwater. *Water Research*, *25*(9), 1099-1111, doi:10.1016/0043-1354(91)90203-3.
- Hossain, M. S. (2011). Panel estimation for CO2 emissions, energy consumption, economic growth, trade openness and urbanization of newly industrialized countries. *Energy Policy*, *39*(11), 6991-6999, doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2011.07.042.
- Houlihan, M. F., & Lucia, P. C. (1999). Groundwater monitoring. In J. W. Delleur (Ed.), *The Handbook of Groundwater Engineering*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Huang, J. H., Wang, X. G., Jin, Q. Z., Liu, Y. F., Wang, Y. (2007). Removal of phenol from aqueous solution by adsorption onto OTMAC-modified attapulgite. *Journal* of Environmental Management, 84(2), 229-236, doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2006.05.007.
- Jia, X. X., Klemeš, J. J., Alwi, S. R. W., & Varbanov, P. S. (2020). Regional Water Resources Assessment using Water Scarcity Pinch Analysis. *Resources Conservation and Recycling*, 157, doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.104749.
- Kaiser, H. F. (1958). The Varimax Criterion for Analytic Rotation in Factor-Analysis. *Psychometrika*, 23(3), 187-200, doi:10.1007/Bf02289233.
- Karatayev, M., Kapsalyamova, Z., Spankulova, L., Skakova, A., Movkebayeva, G., & Kongyrbay, A. (2017). Priorities and challenges for a sustainable management of water resources in Kazakhstan. Sustainability of Water Quality and Ecology, 9-10, 115-135, doi:10.1016/j.swaqe.2017.09.002.
- KASE (2017). Kazakhstan Stock Exchange. Oil and gas industry of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 2017. <u>http://kase.kz/files/presentations/ru/Oil gas november 2017.pdf</u>. Accessed 6
 - March 2019.
- Kazakhstan (2009). Kazakhstan's Second National Communication to the Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. 2009. <u>https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/natc/kaznc2e.pdf</u>. Accessed 6 March 2019 2019.
- Kazakhstan (2012). Order №110 of the Minister of the Environment "On approval of the methodology for determining emission standards for the environment" (in

Russian). <u>http://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/V1200007664</u>. Accessed 14 December 2020.

- Kazakhstan (2015). Sanitary and Epidemiological Requirements for Water Sources, water intake points for household and drinking purposes, domestic and drinking water supply and places of cultural and domestic water use and water safety. http://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/V1500010774. Accessed 02 December 2020.
- Kent, J. A., Bommaraju, T., & Barnicki, S. D. (2017). *Handbook of Industrial Chemistry and Biotechnology* (Thirteenth ed.): Springer, Boston, MA.
- Kosolapov, Y., Shaimerdenov, N., Adaskevich, N., Konev, Y., & Sultanov, M. (1993). Report №16613 on the results of detailed groundwater search for water supply to settlements of Krasnokutsk and Ekibastuz districts and irrigation lands in Pavlodar, Uspensky, Shcherbaktinsky and Lebyazhinsky districts of Pavlodar region for 1988-1993.
- Leusch, F., & Bartkow, M. (2010). A short primer on benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes (BTEX) in the environment and in hydraulic fracturing fluids. <u>https://environment.des.qld.gov.au/management/coal-seam-gas/pdf/btex-report.pdf</u> Accessed 6 March 2019.
- Li, P. Y. (2016). Groundwater Quality in Western China: Challenges and Paths Forward for Groundwater Quality Research in Western China. *Exposure and Health*, 8(3), 305-310, doi:10.1007/s12403-016-0210-1.
- Lucas, L., Riddell, L., Liem, G., Whitelock, S., & Keast, R. (2011). The Influence of Sodium on Liking and Consumption of Salty Food. *Journal of Food Science*, 76(1), S72-S76, doi:10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01939.x.
- Nair, C. I., Jayachandran, K., & Shashidhar, S. (2008). Biodegradation of phenol. African Journal of Biotechnology, 7(25), 4951-4958, doi:10.5897/AJB08.087.
- Naseri-Rad, M., Berndtsson, R., Persson, K. M., McKnight, U. S., & Persson, M. (2021). INSIDE-T: A Groundwater Contamination Fate and Transport Model for Understanding, not Prediction. unpublished manuscript.
- Naseri-Rad, M., Berndtsson, R., Persson, K. M., & Nakagawa, K. (2020). INSIDE: An Efficient Guide for Sustainable Remediation Practice in Addressing Contaminated Soil and Groundwater. *Science of the Total Environment*, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139879.
- Neftepererabotchik (2019). There is crude oil, there is fuel too (In Russian). <u>https://www.pnhz.kz/upload/iblock/c7d/Neftepererabotchik-3_4.pdf</u>. Accessed 08 December 2020.
- Ortiz, O., Castells, F., & Sonnemann, G. (2009). Sustainability in the construction industry: A review of recent developments based on LCA. *Construction and Building Materials*, 23(1), 28-39, doi:10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2007.11.012.
- P.R.Robinson (2011). Hydroconversion processes and technology for clean fuel and chemical production. In M. R. Khan (Ed.), *Advances in Clean Hydrocarbon Fuel Processing* (Vol. Woodhead Publishing Series in Energy): Elsevier.
- Pinedo, J., Ibanez, R., Lijzen, J. P. A., & Irabien, A. (2013). Assessment of soil pollution based on total petroleum hydrocarbons and individual oil substances. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 130, 72-79, doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.08.048.
- Pollock, D. W. (2012). User guide for MODPATH version 6: a particle tracking model for MODFLOW: US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey.

- Rao, N. S., & Prasad, P. R. (1997). Phosphate pollution in the groundwater of lower Vamsadhara river basin, India. *Environmental Geology*, 31(1-2), 117-122, doi:10.1007/s002540050170.
- Renshaw, C. (2013).

http://www.dartmouth.edu/~renshaw/gwtools/functions/plume2dss.html. Accessed 18 November 2020.

- Sartori, A. E. (2003). An estimator for some binary-outcome selection models without exclusion restrictions. *Political Analysis*, 11(2), 111-138, doi:10.1093/pan/mpg001.
- Sauty, J. P. (1980). An Analysis of Hydrodispersive Transfer in Aquifers. *Water Resources Research, 16*(1), 145-158, doi:10.1029/WR016i001p00145.
- Smol, M., Adam, C., & Preisner, M. (2020). Circular economy model framework in the European water and wastewater sector. *Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management*, 22(3), 682-697, doi:10.1007/s10163-019-00960-z.
- Stambuk-Giljanovic, N., & Stambuk, D. (2005). Information Subsystem of Total Hardness (Ca + Mg) as a Database for Studying Its Influence on Human Health. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 29(6), 671-678, doi:10.1007/s10916-005-6135-z.
- Thomas, M. (2015). Social, environmental and economic sustainability of Kazakhstan: a long-term perspective. *Central Asian Survey*, *34*(4), 456-483, doi:10.1080/02634937.2015.1119552.
- Todd, D. K., & Mays, L. W. (2005). Groundwater hydrology edition. Welly Inte.
- Tussupova, K., Hjorth, P., & Berndtsson, R. (2016). Access to Drinking Water and Sanitation in Rural Kazakhstan. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 13(11), doi:10.3390/ijerph13111115.
- UN (2015). Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. <u>https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld</u>. Accessed 14 December 2020 2020.
- UN (2019). World Economic Situation and Prospects.
- UNECE (2019). Environmental Performance Review for Kazakhstan. <u>https://unece.org/environment-policy/publications/3rd-environmental-performance-review-kazakhstan</u>. Accessed 18 August 2020.
- UNEP (2019). Guidelines for conducting Integrated Environmental Assessments. <u>https://wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/33498/IEA_2017_02_17.</u> <u>pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y</u>. Accessed 13 January 2021.
- USEPA (2012). Planning for Sustainability. A Handbook for Water and Wastewater Utilities. Seattle.
- Van den Brink, P. J., Boxall, A. B. A., Maltby, L., Brooks, B. W., Rudd, M. A., Backhaus, T., et al. (2018). Toward sustainable environmental quality: Priority research questions for Europe. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 37(9), 2281-2295, doi:10.1002/etc.4205.
- Voulvoulis, N. (2018). Water reuse from a circular economy perspective and potential risks from an unregulated approach. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science & Health, 2*, 32-45, doi:10.1016/j.coesh.2018.01.005.
- Voulvoulis, N., Arpon, K. D., & Giakoumis, T. (2017). The EU Water Framework Directive: From great expectations to problems with implementation. *Science of the Total Environment*, 575, 358-366, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.228.

- Wake, H. (2005). Oil refineries: a review of their ecological impacts on the aquatic environment. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science*, 62(1-2), 131-140, doi:10.1016/j.ecss.2004.08.013.
- Walker, M. E., Lv, Z., & Masanet, E. (2013). Industrial Steam Systems and the Energy-Water Nexus. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 47(22), 13060-13067, doi:10.1021/es403715z.
- Wangt, R. R., & Zimmerman, J. (2016). Hybrid Analysis of Blue Water Consumption and Water Scarcity Implications at the Global, National, and Basin Levels in an Increasingly Globalized World. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 50(10), 5143-5153, doi:10.1021/acs.est.6b00571.
- Winans, K., Kendall, A., & Deng, H. (2017). The history and current applications of the circular economy concept. *Renewable & Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 68, 825-833, doi:10.1016/j.rser.2016.09.123.
- Yu, L., Han, M., & He, F. (2017). A review of treating oily wastewater. Arabian Journal of Chemistry, 10, S1913-S1922, doi:10.1016/j.arabjc.2013.07.020.
- Zijp, M. C., Posthuma, L., Wintersen, A., Devilee, J., & Swartjes, F. A. (2016). Definition and use of Solution-focused Sustainability Assessment: A novel approach to generate, explore and decide on sustainable solutions for wicked problems. *Environment International*, 91, 319-331, doi:10.1016/j.envint.2016.03.006.

Paper I



Review

Pitfalls of Wastewater Treatment in Oil Refinery Enterprises in Kazakhstan—A System Approach

Ivan Radelyuk ^{1,2,3,*}, Kamshat Tussupova ^{1,2,4}, Kulshat Zhapargazinova ³, Madeniyet Yelubay ³ and Magnus Persson ¹

- ¹ Department of Water Resources Engineering, Lund University, Box 118, SE-22100 Lund, Sweden; kamshat.tussupova@tvrl.lth.se (K.T.); magnus.persson@tvrl.lth.se (M.P.)
- ² Center for Middle Eastern Studies, Lund University, SE-22100 Lund, Sweden
- ³ Department of Chemistry and Chemical Technology, Pavlodar State University, Pavlodar 140000, Kazakhstan; gul_0859@mail.ru (K.Z.); madik_chimik@mail.ru (M.Y.)
- ⁴ Department of Public Health, Karaganda State Medical University, Karaganda 100004, Kazakhstan
- * Correspondence: ivan.radelyuk@tvrl.lth.se; Tel.: +46-790-582-168

Received: 28 January 2019; Accepted: 12 March 2019; Published: 18 March 2019



Abstract: The present article is an assessment of wastewater treatment processes in the oil refinery sector in Kazakhstan by comparing relevant experience of developed and developing countries. The legislation in this sphere, the treatment methods, the discharge process and the effect on the environment were evaluated following international and national regulations. In our study, the wastewater systems in three factories in Kazakhstan were assessed. Results show that, even though the environmental regulation in Kazakhstan promotes the *polluter pays* principle and follows the World Health Organization (WHO) recommendations, the oil refinery plants in Kazakhstan still contain exceeding concentrations of pollutants in their effluents. One issue is that the local legislation allows disposal of wastewater to natural or artificial ponds as long as the concentrations of pollutants in effluents are less than the already existing concentrations in the pond. Consequently, the factories can use ponds with an initially high concentration of contaminants. The high initial concentration of pollutants in the pond water is due to wastewater discharged before the implementation of current environmental regulations. This issue in the current legislation leads to the situation where there is no incentive for efficient wastewater treatment. The national law also lacks regulations regarding which methodology should be used to assess the pollutants in the wastewater. Thus, the control by national environmental office for each enterprise is negotiated separately between the factory and the governmental body. This gives the factory a strong position to define the parameters assessing the effluents. This has led to none of the factories measuring, e.g., heavy metals in discharged wastewater. Total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) concentration in wastewater is often exceeded at each factory and there is no analysis done for different hydrocarbon fraction. To overcome the issues described in the present study, we strongly recommended a unified and transparent methodology for the country's oil refinery industry to assess important pollutants in discharged wastewater.

Keywords: industrial wastewater; groundwater; water pollution; oil refinery; legislation; Kazakhstan

1. Introduction

Modern Kazakhstan is a country with a constantly developing economy and industry is Kazakhstan's economical base, with stable growth during the last 20 years. The refining enterprises also significantly contribute to the structure of industrial development [1]. Kazakhstan is the second biggest oil producer after Russia among the Commonwealth of Independent States countries. The petroleum industry is the major actor and accounted for about 10% of the country's GDP in 2016 [2]. Kazakhstan



is one of the key suppliers of hydrocarbon raw materials for the world economy. In 2016, Kazakhstan was rated 16th in the world with a production volume of 79.3 million tons of oil and gas condensate (representing 2% of the global production). The refinery throughput in Kazakhstan is 339 thousand barrels daily, a number that is growing by 4.6% every year. The refinery capacity is estimated to be 350 thousand barrels daily [3].

Water is a very important reagent in petroleum and petrochemical production processes. Distillation, extraction, preparation of solutions, cooling systems and washing processes are some examples of industrial water use [4], leading to a large consumption in the current fuel and electricity production. The total water consumption for those purposes is projected to increase by 55% between 2000 and 2055 globally [5].

The total water consumption in the Republic of Kazakhstan in 2016 was estimated to be 24.7 km³, including 5.23 km³ (representing about 20%) for industrial needs. The largest share of the industrial water use is found in heat power engineering, non-ferrous metallurgy, and the oil industry [6].

Historically, the oil refinery industry has been associated with groundwater pollution. Effluents from factories contain numerous hazardous toxic pollutants, which have mutagenic properties, leading to carcinogenic disease through groundwater [7]. Contaminants may easily reach groundwater as a result of discharge to surface water bodies and subsequent infiltration down to the groundwater [8].

The current scheme of water cycle in Kazakhstan's industrial sector is presented in Figure 1. It is clearly seen that legislation regulates all water use processes. Despite this, the problem of environmental pollution exists due to refinery activities. This study aimed at investigating a situation in the sphere of water use by the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan.



Figure 1. The existing framework for water use in oil refineries in Kazakhstan.

Thus, the study had the following objectives:

- (a) Overview and compare national and international regulations in the case of water use, treatment and discharge.
- (b) Investigate advanced wastewater treatment techniques as well as methods of rational water use.
- (c) Assess the efficiency of wastewater treatment processes at the oil refinery factories in Kazakhstan and evaluate their influence on the environment in accordance with national and international safe water guidelines.
- (d) Investigate experiences of other refineries reported in the literature concerning their implementation of tougher legislation and advanced water use methods.
- (e) Suggest recommendations about possible ways to enhance each step of legislative control functions to prevent pollution and thus protect the environment and public health.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. International and National Regulations on Water Quality

2.1.1. World Health Organization

World Health Organization (WHO) is the main international office of public health and water quality. They are responsible for preventing waterborne diseases around the world. Their goal is twofold: On the one hand, they recommend suitable health care regulations to governments, which is based on a scientific approach. On the other hand, they suggest general principles of effective risk management to householders and water suppliers. WHO produces a number of water quality guidelines, including on drinking-water quality, safe use of wastewater and safe recreational water environments [9]. The authors focused on two main documents that present solutions to identify and prevent risks before water is contaminated.

The main document is the "Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality" (GDWQ). The primary purpose of the GDWQ is the protection of public health. The guidelines should ensure the safety of drinking-water supplies through recommendations for controlling hazardous constituents in water, such as waste from agriculture, transport, industry, etc. National or regional standards should be developed from the scientific basis provided in the GDWQ. The guidelines describe reasonable minimum requirements of safe practice to protect the health of water consumers. Usually, legislative and regulatory frameworks adapt the guidelines to address local requirements and circumstances.

According to the guidelines, Chapter 8.5.2 entitled "Chemicals from industrial sources and human dwellings" [10], chemical substances from industry can reach drinking water directly from discharge systems. Another way of contamination is infiltration of materials and products through the soil. In some cases, unsuitable handling and removal of industrial wastewater may lead to groundwater pollution. The high-priority approach to prevent this pollution is to use the encouraged good treatment practices.

Moreover, there is another document from WHO on "Safe use of wastewater, excreta and greywater". The aim of this document is, firstly, to provide public health care and, secondly, to regulate the rational use of wastewater and excreta in agriculture and aquaculture. The guideline states that "in many developing countries, wastewater treatment is not a feasible option, and non-treatment approaches need to be considered to prevent transmission of pathogens or exposure to hazardous chemicals. This is more demanding on regulators, as the measures entailed vary in time and space" [11].

2.1.2. European Union

The following three directives are main documents about providing safe water to consumers and water environment protection in the European Union (EU): The Drinking Water Directive (98/83/EC), The Directive Concerning Urban Wastewater Treatment (91/271/EEC) and Industrial Emissions Directive (2010/75/EU). EU states that protection of the environment is based on the precautionary principle. It includes, firstly, priority treatment preventive actions and, secondly, the compulsory rule that the polluter should pay. According to the Directive Concerning Urban Wastewater Treatment [12], the process for treatment can be very expensive. Therefore, enterprises must provide development of innovative water treatment technologies to achieve safe water.

The objective of the EU Urban Wastewater Directive is to protect the environment from negative effects from urban and industrial wastewater discharges. The Directive, in Section C, Annex 1, states that industrial wastewater must be subject to such pre-treatment. This requirement ensures the environment from adverse effect of discharges from the treatment plants and prevents receiving polluted water. In accordance with other Community Directives, wastes must be safely recycled in an environmentally acceptable manner [13]. The industrial wastewater that flows to sewage systems should be subject to general regulations of treatment similar to that of urban wastewater, whereas
discharges from certain industrial sectors of biodegradable industrial wastewater should be subject to suitable regulations before entering the recipients.

2.1.3. Kazakhstan

Legislation in the sphere of water resources use is regulated by four documents: (1) the "Law on the Protection of the Environment of the Republic of Kazakhstan"; (2) the "Water Code of the Republic of Kazakhstan"; (3) Order No. 209 of the Minister of National Economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 16 March 2015, "Sanitary and Epidemiological Requirements for Water Sources, water intake points for household and drinking purposes, domestic and drinking water supply and places of cultural and domestic water use and water safety" with the generalized list of maximum permissible concentrations and approximately safe levels of exposure for harmful substances for water; and (4) Order No. 110 of the Minister of Environmental Protection of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 16 April 2012 "On Approval of the Methodology for Determining norms of emissions into the environment" [14,15].

The method for calculating the maximum permissible discharges (MPD) of substances discharged from the wastewater of enterprises into storage tanks was developed for the industry. This technique contains a system of mathematical equations that allow calculating maximum concentration of pollutants for different types of wastewater. This water is discharged into special natural or artificial water storage facilities. The calculation algorithm considers the natural, climatic and hydrogeological conditions of the recipient. It also pays attention to background characteristics. According to the methodology, effluents may contain pollutants if the concentrations do not exceed the already existing concentration in the recipient [15].

2.2. Description of the Area and the Industry

Kazakhstan's refining sector is represented by three large oil refining enterprises. The plants were built during the Soviet Union period in different parts of the country. These factories are presented in Table 1 and Figure 2.



Figure 2. The locations of refinery plants in Kazakhstan.

Name	Oil Refining Volumes, Million Tons per Year	Oil Refining Capacity, Million Tons per Year	Processing Depth (Conversion Ratio), %
"Atyrau Refinery" (AR)	4.491	5.0	65.2
"PetroKazakhstan Oil Products" (PKOP)	4.272	5.3	75.4
"Pavlodar PC Plant" (PPCP)	4.036	5.1	76.6

Table 1. Oil refining volumes in Kazakhstan's refineries in 2016 [16].

Modern Kazakhstani refineries are sophisticated complexes for separating and modifying crude oil into different products. The general scheme is presented in Figure 3. The main objective is production of fuel, residual fuel oils, lubricants and many other petrochemical and chemical products. The initial refinery configuration was the topping refinery, which was designed to distil crude oil into a limited range and yield of products. It was composed of different units such as tankage, atmospheric and vacuum distillation units, recovery facilities for gases and light hydrocarbons, and the necessary utility systems such as steam, power, and water-treatment plants. The addition of hydrotreating and reforming units to this basic configuration resulted in a more efficient hydroskimming refinery, which produced desulfurized distillate fuels and high-octane gasoline. At the same time, refineries processed up to half of incoming crude oil. During the last 30 years all three refineries were modernized. Initially, a gas-oil conversion plant and a catalytic cracking unit were added. In the last five years, an olefin conversion plant, a polymerization unit and coke calcination units were implemented in the existing scheme of plants. The changes allow enterprises to increase processing depth and thereby produce large outputs of gasoline with the remainder of their products distributed among liquefied petroleum gas, jet fuel, diesel fuel and a small quantity of coke. Additionally, refineries also supply different substances, such as propylene, benzene, toluene, xylenes, etc., for further processing into polymers [17-19].



Figure 3. General scheme of an oil refinery plant [20]. LPG, Liquefied Petroleum Gas; FCC, Fluid Catalytic Cracking Unit.

2.3. Use of Water for Technological Purposes

The water supply system of an oil refinery is a whole complex of several different sub-systems. The scheme depends on the technological units' purpose and the quality of the incoming water as well as the composition of the generated wastewater. The amount of water consumed by the process units depends on the specific technology of the oil processing or crude oil fractions [21,22].

The supplied water must be suitable for production needs and satisfy the requirements by qualitative characteristics. Usually, water is received from available open sources or from the drinking water pipelines. These types of water can be easily adapted to appropriate quality. The incoming water quality indicators often exceed the permissible values, e.g., turbidity, suspended solids, iron, manganese, etc. Thus, pre-cleaning is needed to produce an adequate water quality. In Kazakhstan, factories obtain water for technical processes from the large rivers: Irtysh River (PPCP), Ural River (AR) and Badam River (a tributary of Arys River, PKOP).

The oil refining process starts in the atmospheric and vacuum distillation units. Those units are associated with the consumption of several by-products and reagents, including water, which is used for various purposes, for instance as a cooler of process units and equipment, and a cooling agent of the final product. Water is also used as a solvent for the preparation of reagent solutions as well as a source of steam or condensate. Furthermore, other reagents are added during a technological process, such as demulsifiers for dehydration of oil, ammonia to neutralize organic acids and sulfur compounds for treatment of light distillates.

There are three main sources of wastewater contamination at the refinery: (1) recycling of sulfurous oil and treatment of petroleum products with alkalines, which gives highly concentrated sulfurous alkaline wastewater; (2) complex processing of oil and gas to produce synthetic products generates wastewater with organic acids, alcohols, phenols, etc.; and (3) processes of desalination and dehydration. In the final source, wastewater contains demulsifiers and sulfonaphthones. All these substances are sources of harmful production, which leads to environmental pollution [23–26].

It is necessary to emphasize the harmfulness of some chemicals. Oily wastewater consists of hundreds of organic and inorganic compounds, some of which severely jeopardize the environment. Effluents include aromatic hydrocarbons, which have high toxicity and a stable structure. These include polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), which affect both the environment and human health. Carcinogenic, teratogenic and mutagenic properties were investigated and presented by different authors [27]. Degradation of PAH is a very difficult process, which leads to their high persistence in the environment. Another group of hydrocarbons in contaminated water is BTEX (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes). High concentration of those compounds can be rapidly absorbed by the human body. They can lead to damage of the brain and nervous system, rapid heart rate, dizziness and unconsciousness. The long time effect of consumption of even low concentrations may cause cancer [28]. Phenols are considered very hazardous for human health [29]. Heavy metals such as chromium, iron, nickel, copper, molybdenum, selenium, vanadium and zinc can also be found in wastewater from oil refineries [30].

2.4. Wastewater Treatment Technology Review

In an oil refinery, wastewater treatment cleans processed water, stormwater, and sewage. Contaminated water flows from every technological unit. Water can be polluted in the facilities that produce wash water, condensate, liquids from stripping unit, and caustic and neutralization acids. The wastewater contains suspended solids, dissolved salts, oil and grease, nitrogen compounds, organic sulfides, and other substances [26].

Conventional treatment schemes include broad variations for each step of treatment: pre-treatment, primary, tertiary (secondary) and post-treatment. The following reviews and investigations show innovative ways to enhance each part of the whole process. Figure 4 presents the conventional scheme of wastewater treatment unit at refinery enterprises.



Figure 4. General scheme of wastewater treatment processes at oil refineries.

2.4.1. Primary Treatment

Settling ponds are used as a first step in the treatment process. Here, a majority of suspended solids are separated from the wastewater under the action of gravity and settle on the bottom. Oil and grease are floated on the surface and removed with the sludge. Heat is supplied to accelerate the removal of insoluble heavy oily emulsions. After that, precipitation of different chemicals is used for removing dissolved solids. Wastewater with high concentration of acids is treated by ammonia, lime, or sodium carbonate. Alkaline wastewater is treated with acids (usually sulfuric or hydrochloric), or carbon dioxide gas. Sometimes additional treatment of suspended solids is needed. Precipitation of flocculation agents (aluminum or iron salts) is used to agglomerate small particles and make them heavier or lighter, depending on the treatment method: sedimentation, filtration or air flotation. Soluble organic matters are removed with activated sludge digests. It is possible to decompose sulfides and ammonia by vaporization. Soluble hydrocarbons and their derivatives, especially phenols, are removed by solvents.

To enhance the efficiency of this step, Santo et al. [31] suggested using dissolved air flotation (DAF). This method was first used in the oil refinery industry in Egypt [32,33]. Spraying air into water or bubbling air through the water removes remaining traces of volatile chemicals such as petroleum hydrocarbons and ammonia. Significant removal of total organic carbon (TOC), chemical oxygen demand (COD) and turbidity was achieved. Advantages of this application are easy operation and low space requirement.

In addition, electrocoagulation–flocculation has been combined with the traditional method for primary treatment. Several different industries have successfully applied this method [34–37]. As a result of electrolysis, charged particles are neutralized in raw wastewater and subsequently form flocs. It is possible to remove phenol, anions such as nitrate and nitrite, cations such as ammonia, and metals as well as COD, TOC, color and turbidity [35,38–42]. This method has been implemented for a pilot project at Shazand Oil Refinery in Arak, Iran [43]. This method is recommended as a high-speed, non-expensive and environmentally friendly.

2.4.2. Secondary (Tertiary) Treatment

Some reviews describe tertiary treatment methods [26,44,45]. Traditional activated sludge system with aerobic and anaerobic zones are usually enhanced by different applications. One common application is MBBR (Moving Bed Biofilm Reactor). An aeration tank is filled with wastewater after pretreatment and consists of special plastic carriers with growing bacteria on their surface. The biodegradation process is resistant to toxic and shock loads. Drawbacks of this method are hard to operate a process and high cost. In addition, high energy requirement and production of polluted sludge may affect to the environment. However, this method shows high efficiency for removal COD, TOC and nitrogen compounds. Several scientists reported about using this method at petroleum refineries in Sweden, USA and India [46–48].

2.4.3. Post-Treatment

Additional treatment removes specific pollutants, including salinity, organic matters, BTEX and other partially soluble hydrocarbons, such as PAH. Recently, sustainable schemes of wastewater treatment also implement a post-treatment step, including membrane technologies, advanced oxidation processes and wetlands [18,26,49–53].

Munirasu et al. [54], Alzahrani et al. [55] and Gong et al. [56] presented detailed reviews of the use of membrane technology. Depending on pore size, different membrane technologies are defined: microfiltration (MF), ultrafiltration (UF), nanofiltration (NF) and reverse osmosis (RO). Different methods are chosen for specific demands of raw water quality and output water requirements. The authors of [57–60] showed the effectiveness of these process for oily wastewater, even at large industrial scale. On the other hand, high amounts of contaminants clog the membrane, which leads to high cleaning cost for constantly changing them. A refinery could use this method if potential benefits from implementation are higher than expenditure.

Advanced oxidation processes (AOP) are suggested to solve the problem of removing hard-degradable organic matters. Hydroxyl radical (\bullet OH) is produced to provide a high oxidation potential, which destroys organic molecules in wastewater [61]. To initialize this reaction, ultrasound, ozonation, photocatalysis and peroxide oxidation are used [62–65]. One of the most popular AOP methods is Fenton's reaction, based on using Fe²⁺ in an acidic aqueous environment to produce hydroxyl radical [66–68]. Recently, this treatment method has been enhanced by different authors to overcome existing disadvantages: the pH dependency and temperature variability [69–72].

Finally, probably the most famous post-treatment method is wetland use. Currently, oil refinery countries use wetlands for wastewater post-treatment. Previously, wetlands were constructed only for domestic water treatment. Therefore, for the last 20 years, wetlands have been applied to industrial wastewater treatment [73]. There are many examples and many reviews of successful application of wetlands for oil refinery wastewater treatment [74–83]. However, certain climatic conditions are required to sustain the wetland systems, e.g., Wang, et al. [84] showed that wetlands do not function well during the cold season.

2.4.4. Wastewater Reuse

Application of advanced treatment methods assumes that treated wastewater has to be reused. Different variations of water saving techniques are proposed for refinery enterprises in Brazil [85,86], Iran [87,88], Netherlands [89], Mexico [90], USA [91], Romania [92], China [93] and Australia [85]. There are two main approaches, which should be combined: modeling of sufficient water network allocation and suitable treatment methods for each case.

Historically, El-Halwagi and Manousiouthakis [94] were the first to analyze systems of mass exchange network in the industry. Later, Wang and Smith [95] described a detailed system of optimization water use in some specific cases using graphical method. This technique includes measurement of wastewater flow generation, water consumption index and contaminants mass

transfer within the industrial processes. It allowed only minimizing wastewater flow generation. Later, Mann and Liu [96] proposed that, in some cases, it is possible to establish regeneration units before wastewater treatment step and supply regenerated water again to the process. Bagajewicz et al. proposed modeling investigations for the implementation of water reuse system towards zero discharge policy [97,98]. Alva-Argaez presented conceptual work about cost and optimization efficiency for oil refineries [23]. Finally, an appropriate treatment method has to be suggested for each case. After treatment, recycled water can be reused again as a process water for every unit inside the factory.

2.5. Wastewater Treatment Technology in Kazakhstani Refineries

All factories in Kazakhstan use the same wastewater treatment systems, consisting of on-site mechanical (as a primary step) and biological (as a secondary step) treatment. It should be noted that the biological treatment systems of PPCP and PKOP were built during the Soviet Union period and now are in urgent need of modernization. Moreover, there is a significant time gap between when the plants started to operate and the implementation of the biological treatment: PPCP started production 1978, while the biological treatment facilities were built in 1981; and AR started its production in 1945, while the biological wastewater treatment plant was not built until 2006.

The existing scheme in Kazakhstani factories includes two unrelated systems, divided by the content of the contaminants. The first system is represented by conditionally "neutral" effluents contaminated with oil products and mechanical impurities from the primary processing unit, deep processing oil complex, hydrogen production plant, sulfur production plant, bitumen production plant, washing and steaming station, commodity-raw parks, and stormwater from the territory of the plant. This water is considered conditionally clean, and after treatment is reused in the cooling towers. The second system includes wastewater from effluents of desalination and dehydration units, sulfurous alkaline wastes from the blocks of alkalization, drainage from the pits, discharges after flushing from the loading piers, wastewater after flushing and steaming station, and process condensate. After treatment, this water is fed to the evaporation storage tank. Both waters pass through the same steps of treatment but in parallel processes [99].

The technology of wastewater treatment at PPCP is presented as an example of the treatment facilities in Kazakhstani plants in Figure 5.

Mechanical wastewater treatment is designed to separate undissolved mineral and organic impurities by the method of settling wastewater. Initially, wastewater flows through the sand trap for filtration. Oil floats to the surface of water and is separated by the oil separating trap. At the same time, the concentrations of pollutants in wastewater is reduced to a value where it is possible to perform physical and chemical treatment in the radial settling basins and floators. Physicochemical treatment is intended to remove fine and colloidal particles of petroleum products and mechanical impurities from the wastewater. The coagulant (aluminiumsulfate) is added to the wastewater. It produces and strengthens aggregates of particles of the colloidal system. These adhering aggregates of contaminants are removed in the floators when air bubbles and wastewater are separated into phases. The wastewater, treated by physicochemical method, is supplied to the biological treatment facilities for further treatment.

The biological treatment facilities include three parts: (1) aerotanks, where wastewater is continuously mixed with an activated sludge and aerated until oxygen saturates the air; (2) radial sedimentation tanks are intended to separate the sludge mixture into clarified water and activated sludge; and (3) the bioproducts are intended for post-treatment of wastewater of the second system.



Figure 5. The block diagram of wastewater treatment processes at PPCP.

The operation principle of the biological wastewater treatment plants is based on the oxidation of organic pollutants due to activity of microorganisms in active silt under intensive aeration. Active sludge adsorbs and oxygenates a significant part of the contaminants. Organic substances in wastewater (organic acids, alcohols, proteins, carbohydrates, etc.) feed microorganisms in an active sludge. The microorganisms obtain the nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium necessary for life from various compounds: nitrogen from ammonia, nitrates, and amino acids; and phosphorus and potassium from mineral salts. One part of pollutants is oxidized by microorganisms. After that, it is used in biosynthesis processes (formation of the active sludge biomass). The other part is converted into other oxidation products: water, carbon dioxide, nitrate-sulfate ions, etc. [100].

2.6. Final Discharge of Treated Wastewater

There is a different approach to the final disposal of treated wastewater at all three Kazakhstani plants.

AR sends effluent after the biological treatment through a channel to the existing natural evaporation pond, located 3 km from the plant. The channel starts at the plant, runs along the southeastern border of the city and ends in an unprotected evaporation pond. The area of the pond is 10 km². It is located 1.5 km southeast of the city boundary and 10 km from the Caspian Sea.

In PKOP, the wastewater after treatment and mixing with drinking water is discharged into the Akdalinsky evaporation pond, located 96 km from the plant through the buffer channels. Buffer channels are open reservoirs formed by excavation of the soil, which is covered with reinforced concrete with waterproofing. This pond is connected with the Arys River, the main water source for agriculture fields in the south part of Kazakhstan.

PPCP uses a pipeline to deliver effluents to Sarymsak pond. This storage area, originally a natural salt lake, is used for receiving, storing, mineralizing and unloading biologically treated wastewater from PPCP. There are no water intakes, recreation and bathing areas, or agriculture near its location. The pond is located 14 km to the northwest of the plant and covers an area of 606.1 ha. There are two villages around the pond: Berezovka village in 2.5 km to the north and Michurino village in 8 km to the northwest. The main water source in Kazakhstan—Irtysh River—is located 9 km to the west from the pond.

3. Results and Discussion

The data employed include gathered documentation and lab results from three oil refinery companies. Enterprises were denoted as "X", "Y" and "Z", to protect their confidence and use available data only for scientific purposes. Data from Refinery "X" were used as an example to show a system of wastewater management at Kazakhstani enterprises.

Discharge limits for each oil refinery were established separately between the plant and the government. This allows the factory to determine the quality parameters of wastewater (Table 2). When the permissible concentrations of pollutants in discharging wastewater were established, calculation approach was based on the following two facts: (1) projected and actual purposes of the recipient—reception and accumulation of wastewater from the plant—which means that pond is not used as a source of water for agricultural and domestic purposes; and (2) it is possible to discharge polluted wastewater with existing concentrations of different contaminants, if those concentrations do not exceed the permissible values in the pond. The reason for the already high concentrations of pollutants in the recipient is a result of a time difference between the start of contaminated water discharge by the factories and start of the work of treatment units.

Parameter	Units	Refinery X	Refinery Y	Refinery Z
Ammonia (NH ₄ ⁺)	mg/L	55.18	8.0	4.53
Total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH)	mg/L	3.02	8.0	2.03
Biochemical consumption of Oxygen (BOD)	mgO ₂ /L	17.82	16.6	11.6
Nitrates (NO ₃ ^{$-$})	mg/L	19.2	7.8	8.96
Nitrites (NO ₂ ^{$-$})	mg/L	7.7	0.5	-
Sulfates (SO ₄ ²⁻)	mg/L	643.05	500.0	471.1
Phenol's index	mg/L	0.25	0.05	0.182
Chlorides (Cl^{-})	mg/L	169.8	350.0	678.8
Suspended solids	mg/L	20.98	25.75	6.05
Surfactants	mg/L	0.52	2.80	1.27
Phosphates (PO_4^{3-})	mg/L	1.05	2.0	6.89
Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)	mg/L	Existing concentration	6000	-

 Table 2. Maximally permitted concentrations of different parameters in effluent of three Kazakhstan oil refineries [100–102].

"-": not controlled.

Table 3 presents the characteristics of wastewater effluents discharged from Refinery X during the period between 2014 and 2017. Measurements were provided twice a day, every day and analyzed in the lab of the factory. Factory discharges the wastewater with the ammonia concentration approximately 50 mg/L, while the normal concentration of ammonia for municipal effluents is equal to no more than 2.0 mg/L. The same situation is found for TPH. The concentration of TPH in effluents is about 1.2 mg/L, when the limit for the concentration in treated municipal wastewater is 0.1 mg/L.

The concentration of BOD is about 10.6 mgO₂/L, when allowed concentration for safe water is no more $3.0 \text{ mgO}_2/L$.

Parameter	Units	Range	Median	Mean	Std. Deviation
Chlorides (Cl ⁻)	mg/L	49.80-135.04	70.61	82.48	26.47
Nitrites (NO ₂ $^{-}$)	mg/L	0.08 - 4.37	0.43	0.10	1.27
Sulfates (SO_4^{2-})	mg/L	238.32-588.73	469.50	449.04	90.98
Nitrates (NO_3^-)	mg/L	1.77-16.41	13.23	12.49	3.96
Ammonia (NH ₄ ⁺)	mg/L	38.56-54.34	52.36	49.26	5.97
Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH)	mg/L	0.68 - 2.15	1.23	1.30	0.40
Phenol's index	mg/L	0.01-0.03	0.02	0.02	0.01
Suspended solids	mg/L	4.40-9.10	7.69	7.29	1.35
Ŝurfactants	mg/L	0.20 - 0.45	0.36	0.34	0.08
Biochemical oxygen demand (BOD)	mgO_2/L	8.51-13.12	10.56	10.60	1.48

Table 3. Concentrations of different parameters in effluent of Refinery X.

As a result, enterprises cause significant damage to the environment. This is reflected in an infiltration of pollutants into the groundwater. According Kazakhstani Sanitary and epidemiological requirements for water sources, groundwater could be used for non-centralized drinking water supply; this is especially relevant because about half the rural population uses decentralized water sources and about 40% of population live in rural areas in Kazakhstan [103,104]. Thus, the government established this standard for groundwater quality in observation wells to eliminate risk of groundwater pollution and prevent public health hazards. Concentrations of hazardous material are established the same way as for drinking water [105]. Some chemical parameters are exceeded in the observed wells' samples around the wastewater receiver pond of Refinery X (Table 4). This situation leads to potential threat of human health. In total, 35 samples from 9 wells were collected and analyzed between 2015 and 2016, during both the rainy and the dry season.

Table 4. Descriptive statistics of groundwater quality * from observed wells around the water facility storage area of Refinery X.

Parameter	Units	KZ, WHO Standards [10,105]	Range	Mean	Std. Deviation
Chlorides (Cl ⁻)	mg/L	350.0	15.00-16,000.00	2201.33	4344.54
Sulfates (SO ₄ ²⁻)	mg/L	500.0	152.71-9400.00	1366.97	2720.60
Total Petroleum Hydrocarbons (TPH)	mg/L	0.1	0.11-0.75	0.33	0.18
Total Hardness (TH)	mmol/L	7.0	3.65-377.50	41.86	92.19
Sodium (Na ⁺)	mg/L	200.0	10.00-7900.00	1159.43	2099.72
Potassium	mg/L	12.0	0.00-34.00	3.30	7.49
Total dissolved solids (TDS)	mg/L	1000	1041.00-36,392.00	5458.37	9903.54
Nitrites (NO ₂ $^{-}$)	mg/L	3.0	0.00 - 14.50	0.62	2.45
Nitrates (NO ₃ $^{-}$)	mg/L	45.0	0.30-21.00	3.96	5.30
Ammonia (NH4 ⁺)	mg/L	2.0	0.00-10.91	1.83	3.11
Carbonates (CO_3^{2-})	mg/L	-	0.00-72.60	19.05	14.89
Hydrocarbonates (HCO ₃ ⁻)	mg/L	-	44.50-709.43	362.28	154.32
Calcium (Ca ²⁺)	mg/L	-	8.60-2700.00	126.19	455.10
Magnesium (Mg ²⁺)	mg/L	-	28.00-3600.00	436.19	891.50
Surfactants	mg/L	0.5	0.00 - 1.44	0.36	0.36
pH	pH units	6–9	7.88-9.00	8.55	0.33
Free carbon dioxide (CO ₂)	mg/L	-	0.00-19.16	1.34	3.75
Phenol's index	mg/L	0.25	0.00-0.12	0.01	0.02
Phosphates (PO_4^{3-})	mg/L	3.5	0.01-0.19	0.03	0.03

"-": not controlled; *: standards for drinking water when groundwater can be used for drinking purposes.

High concentrations of TPH, TDS, TH, chlorides, sulfates, sodium and potassium were detected in the observed wells around the water storage facilities. There were high concentrations of TPH and TDS in all wells, which exceeded KZ- and WHO-recommended limits for these substances. Some studies show that consumption of water with TPH may lead to carcinogenic disease by the reason of inherent toxicity [30,106,107]. The TH in the groundwater samples varied between 3.65 and 377.50 mmol/L. Based on the Todd classification, all groundwater samples could be classified as very hard [108]. The Cl⁻ concentrations were between 15.0 and 16,000 mg/L, with most groundwater samples exceeding WHO's 350 mg/L permissible limit. In addition, SO_4^{2-} concentrations exceeded the limit by 19 times. There is a possible health-related concerns regarding K⁺ and Na⁺ content in the groundwater because concentrations in wells was over permissible WHO and KZ limits. Finally, randomly exceeding concentrations of surfactants, NO_2^{-} , NO_3^{-} , and NH_4^+ were identified. Consumers normally would reject this type of contaminated water for drinking purpose in accordance of WHO recommendations [10].

More attention has to be paid to the fact that none of the factories provide control of heavy metal and toxic hydrocarbons in their effluents and monitoring wells.

4. Summary

Industrial effluents are potentially very harmful. They can reach groundwater and create serious damage to public health through consumption of polluted water. To be a part of global society, huge water users must follow sustainable management of water and sanitation [109]. Industry faces the challenge of rational use water by efficient wastewater treatment management.

This review shows that there are two ways to modify situation: (1) introducing efficient and innovative water use and treatment techniques; and (2) improving legislation.

Since the 1980s, some surveys and investigations have tried to find the relationship between legislation and industrial emissions to the air and water. A clear correlation between these parameters has been found. In Japan, in 1980, the impact of legislation for improvement effluent water quality was described [110]. Industry supplied their wastewater to municipal sewerage system. Government obligated the industry to install pretreatment facilities for prevention of low-quality water. Spot inspections, administrative fees and toughening of legislation led to discharge water with restricted requirements. Hamer [111] discussed the wrong opinion to respect and allow pollution of receiving water. He examined interactions among Swiss, Dutch and British legislations and industry and environment. Swiss legislation aimed to stop water pollution by 1982. For this purpose, they established strict quality parameters for discharged water by federal law. Netherlands also provided governmental authority on the sphere of water pollution and followed "polluter pays" principle. The aim of Surface Water Pollution Act was accepted to eliminate contamination. Discharge fees were provided and grew progressively every year. It led industry to use the best treatment technology to remove all pollutants from wastewater. In Great Britain, over years of long discussions, government adopted Control of Pollution Act. The enactment of this law was gradual. Economic troubles, administrative obstacles and unfair enterprises impeded the process of changes. Nevertheless, Britain reached necessary discharge quality parameters. Compared with historical experience, current EU has produced tougher legislation. This was proven by Wake [30]. She stated a reduction of total discharge in Europe for the last 40 years as well as declining rate of discharged chemicals, while the number of refineries that improved their treatment systems grew rapidly (from 23% to 91%) for 30 years. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) firstly in 1985 proposed special guideline for petroleum refining industry [112]. This standard stated one common rules for all enterprises and proposed new technologies, including pretreatment and advanced treatment, to achieve necessary limitations of pollutants. This document is revised constantly.

There also are some published examples of violence over effluent quality by refining enterprises. Osin et al. [113] showed that oil industry in Nigeria did not follow governmental standard of effluent quality. Whereas the law proposed and adopted Environmental Guidelines and Standards for the Petroleum Industry in Nigeria, it was not implemented. Exceedances of almost all key indicators were discovered. Bandyopadhyay reviewed the efficiency of law in India [114]. Constant violations of national standards were reported. The author also noted that the law did not cover all toxic pollutants

showed that petroleum wastewater exceeded the standard limit in Oman [115]. WHO's documents state that developing countries, including Kazakhstan, do not have appropriate legislation for wastewater treatment [10]. This has been confirmed by several investigations [116,117]. It is very important to note that GDWQ values for chemicals from industrial activities does not differ from the significance in drinking water. In addition, WHO declares that it is necessary to reduce water pollution [10]. Nevertheless, enterprises in Kazakhstan increase the amount of contaminants in wastewater. However, the WHO is only an advisory organization. It suggests governments adhere to its recommendations and cannot control them. At the same time, the Council of the European Communities produces and controls the suitable legislation on water use. For example, the EU Directive Concerning Urban Wastewater Treatment does not provide separate standards for the content of pollutants in treated wastewater for enterprises in EU. Rules and standards are established for everyone. In contrast, the modern Kazakhstani legislation gives the right for industry to set their parameters for MPD much higher than those recommended by WHO.

It is significant that the standards for technical water quality are stronger than for drinking water. For instance, the amount of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) must be absent for process water. In contrast, the maximum concentration of the parameter in drinking water is 0.1 mg/L. The amount of total dissolved solids (TDS) is equal to 500 mg/L, whereas the standard for drinking water is 1000 mg/L. The total hardness (TH) value is 11.6 mg/L, whereas the standard for drinking water is 14 mg/L [118]. The refineries care about the quality of incoming water, but they do not care about the quality of discharges, as shown clearly with the example of Refinery X in Tables 2 and 3. This is the violence of water balance and there is no agreement on sustainable resources use [119]. The enterprises must supply water to the environment at the same quality as they have obtained it.

The ineffectiveness of the existing administrative regulation was confirmed by the widespread violation of sanitary standards. The estimation by environmental authorities for each plant is negotiated separately between the factory and the government. Thus, the industry has received a legal permit for environmental pollution.

5. Conclusions

Water contamination by the industry is the result of a non-sustainable approach. According Katko and Hukka [120], a structured approach based on sustained institutional framework leads to high quality water service production through efficient water service infrastructure. We conclude that:

- (a) Enforcement of legislation allowed developed countries to eliminate risks for environment and public health. It was the first step towards sustainable water use. Pressure of stringent law and high fees stimulated industry to implement innovative and high-efficient techniques of water use.
- (b) The literature review shows that developing countries are on the way to minimizing potential damage to the society and nature. The practice of sustainable water use and care about saving water sources inspired conventional industrial society to improve the current situation.
- (c) There is insufficient driving force represented by suitable law in Kazakhstan to enhance an efficiency of wastewater treatment at oil refinery enterprises in Kazakhstan. Low penalties and disadvantages of current legislation allows the situation to remain unchanged.
- (d) The authors of this paper consider that toughening of the legislation as well as the ensuing use of new technologies in wastewater treatment systems is the only effective way to prevent potential damage to the public health of people who use groundwater as drinking water.

Author Contributions: I.R. together with K.T. and M.P. planned the whole study, and on his own collected and analyzed the data, produced initial results and wrote the first draft of the paper. The other authors equally contributed by commenting on the first draft of the paper. K.T. supervised the process of writing paper.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments: The authors appreciate the work of Ann Kull from the Academic Support Centre, Lund University, for assisting in editing the text and Zhayna Isa for assisting in collecting the data. The first author was funded by Bolashak International Scholarship Program of Kazakhstan.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References and Notes

- Kazakhstan's Second National Communication to the Conference of the Parties of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. 2009. Available online: https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/ natc/kaznc2e.pdf (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 2. Kazakhstan Stock Exchange. Oil and gas industry of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 2017. Available online: http://kase.kz/files/presentations/ru/Oil_gas_november_2017.pdf (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 3. BP Statistical Review of World Energy. 2017. Available online: https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp-country/de_ch/PDF/bp-statistical-review-of-world-energy-2017-full-report.pdf (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- Walker, M.E.; Lv, Z.; Masanet, E. Industrial Steam Systems and the Energy-Water Nexus. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2013, 47, 13060–13067. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wangt, R.R.; Zimmerman, J. Hybrid Analysis of Blue Water Consumption and Water Scarcity Implications at the Global, National, and Basin Levels in an Increasingly Globalized World. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 2016, 50, 5143–5153. [CrossRef]
- National Report on the State of the Environment and on the Use of Natural Resources of the Republic of Kazakhstan. 2016. Available online: http://ecogosfond.kz/orhusskaja-konvencija/dostup-kjekologicheskoj-informacii/jekologijaly-zha-daj/r-orsha-an-ortany-zhaj-k-ji-turaly-ltty-bajandamalar/ (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- Ohe, T.; Watanabe, T.; Wakabayashi, K. Mutagens in surface waters: A review. *Mutat. Res.-Rev. Mutat.* 2004, 567, 109–149. [CrossRef]
- 8. Schmoll, O.; Howard, G.; Chilton, J.; Chorus, I. *Protecting Groundwater for Health: Managing the Quality of Drinking-Water Sources*; IWA Publishing: London, UK, 2006; Volume 1, p. 310.
- 9. WHO. Drinking Water. Available online: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs391/en/ (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 10. WHO. Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality, 4th ed.; WHO Press: Geneva, Switzerland, 2017.
- 11. WHO. *Guidlines for the Safe Use of Wastewater, Excreta and Greywater*, 3rd ed.; WHO Press: Geneva, Switzerland, 2006; Volume 1.
- The Directive Amending Directives 2000/60/EC and 2008/105/EC as Regards Priority Substances in the Field of Water Policy 2013/39/EU. 2013. Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/ LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2013:226:0001:0017:EN:PDF (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 13. The Directive Concerning Urban Wastewater Treatment 1991/271/EEC. 1991. Available online: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:31991L0271&from=EN (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- Nugumanova, L.; Yemelina, N.; Yugay, S.; Frey, M. Environmental Problems and Policies in Kazakhstan: Air Pollution, Waste and Water; IOS Working Papers; Leibniz-Institut für Ost- und Südosteuropaforschung (IOS): Regensburg, Germany, 2017.
- Order No. 110 "On Approval of the Methodology for Determining Emission Standards for the Environment".
 2012. Available online: http://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/V1200007664 (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 16. JSC NC "Kazmunaygas" Annual Report. 2016. Available online: http://www.kmg.kz/uploads/ AnnualReport2016FinalEng2.pdf (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 17. Speight, J.G. The Refinery of the Future; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2011.
- 18. Kent, J.A.; Bommaraju, T.; Barnicki, S.D. *Handbook of Industrial Chemistry and Biotechnology*, 13th ed.; Springer: Boston, MA, USA, 2017.
- Cherdabayev, B. 70th Anniversary of Atyrau Refinery. 2015. Available online: https://www.anpz.kz/ upload/medialibrary/5d5/5d5051bc33d70d11c9ed417654178380.pdf (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 20. Robinson, P.R. Hydroconversion processes and technology for clean fuel and chemical production. In *Advances in Clean Hydrocarbon Fuel Processing*; Khan, M.R., Ed.; Elsevier: Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 2011.
- Merlo, R.; Gerhardt, M.B.; Burlingham, F.; Casas, C.D.; Gill, E.; Flippin, T.H. Petroleum Refinery Stripped Sour Water Treatment Using the Activated Sludge Process. *Water Environ. Res.* 2011, 83, 2067–2078. [CrossRef]

- El-Halwagi, M.M.; El-Halwagi, A.M.; Manousiouthakis, V. Optimal-Design of Dephenolization Networks for Petroleum-Refinery Wastes. *Process Saf. Environ.* 1992, 70, 131–139.
- Alva-Argaez, A.; Kokossis, A.C.; Smith, R. The design of water-using systems in petroleum refining using a water-pinch decomposition. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2007, 128, 33–46. [CrossRef]
- Hafiz, A.A.; El-Din, H.M.; Badawi, A.M. Chemical destabilization of oil-in-water emulsion by novel polymerized diethanolamines. J. Colloid Interfaces Sci. 2005, 284, 167–175. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Zolfaghari, R.; Fakhru'l-Razi, A.; Abdullah, L.C.; Elnashaie, S.S.E.H.; Pendashteh, A. Demulsification techniques of water-in-oil and oil-in-water emulsions in petroleum industry. *Sep. Purif. Technol.* 2016, 170, 377–407. [CrossRef]
- 26. Yu, L.; Han, M.; He, F. A review of treating oily wastewater. Arab. J. Chem. 2017, 10, S1913–S1922. [CrossRef]
- Alegbeleye, O.O.; Opeolu, B.O.; Jackson, V.A. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: A Critical Review of Environmental Occurrence and Bioremediation. *Environ. Manag.* 2017, 60, 758–783. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Leusch, F.; Bartkow, M. A Short Primer on Benzene, Toluene, Ethylbenzene and Xylenes (BTEX) in the Environment and in Hydraulic Fracturing Fluids. Available online: https://environment.des.qld.gov.au/ management/coal-seam-gas/pdf/btex-report.pdf (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- Huang, J.H.; Wang, X.G.; Jin, Q.Z.; Liu, Y.F.; Wang, Y. Removal of phenol from aqueous solution by adsorption onto OTMAC-modified attapulgite. J. Environ. Manag. 2007, 84, 229–236. [CrossRef]
- 30. Wake, H. Oil refineries: A review of their ecological impacts on the aquatic environment. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* **2005**, *62*, 131–140. [CrossRef]
- Santo, C.E.; Vilar, V.J.P.; Botelho, C.M.S.; Bhatnagar, A.; Kumar, E.; Boaventura, R.A.R. Optimization of coagulation-flocculation and flotation parameters for the treatment of a petroleum refinery effluent from a Portuguese plant. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2012, *183*, 117–123. [CrossRef]
- 32. Ela, S.I.A.-E.; Nawar, S.S. Treatment of wastewater from an oil and soap factory via dissolved air flotation. *Environ. Int.* **1980**, *4*, 47–52. [CrossRef]
- 33. Moursy, A.S.; EI-Ela, S.E.A. Treatment of oily refinery wastes using a dissolved air flotation process. *Environ. Int.* **1982**, *7*, 267–270. [CrossRef]
- 34. Demirbas, E.; Kobya, M. Operating cost and treatment of metalworking fluid wastewater by chemical coagulation and electrocoagulation processes. *Process Saf. Environ.* **2017**, *105*, 79–90. [CrossRef]
- Lu, J.; Li, Y.; Yin, M.X.; Ma, X.Y.; Lin, S.L. Removing heavy metal ions with continuous aluminum electrocoagulation: A study on back mixing and utilization rate of electro-generated Al ions. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2015, 267, 86–92. [CrossRef]
- Gong, C.H.; Shen, G.; Huang, H.O.; He, P.R.; Zhang, Z.G.; Ma, B.Q. Removal and transformation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons during electrocoagulation treatment of an industrial wastewater. *Chemosphere* 2017, 168, 58–64. [CrossRef]
- Bouamra, F.; Drouiche, N.; Ahmed, D.S.; Lounici, H. Treatment of Water Loaded With Orthophosphate by Electrocoagulation. *Procedia Eng.* 2012, 33, 155–162. [CrossRef]
- 38. Zewail, T.M.; Yousef, N.S. Chromium ions (Cr⁶⁺ & Cr³⁺) removal from synthetic wastewater by electrocoagulation using vertical expanded Fe anode. *J. Electroanal. Chem.* **2014**, 735, 123–128. [CrossRef]
- Abdelwahab, O.; Amin, N.K.; El-Ashtoukhy, E.S.Z. Electrochemical removal of phenol from oil refinery wastewater. J. Hazard. Mater. 2009, 163, 711–716. [CrossRef]
- Li, X.D.; Song, J.K.; Guo, J.D.; Wang, Z.C.; Feng, Q.Y. Landfill leachate treatment using electrocoagulation. Procedia Environ. Sci. 2011, 10, 1159–1164. [CrossRef]
- 41. Lacasa, E.; Canizares, P.; Saez, C.; Fernandez, F.J.; Rodrigo, M.A. Removal of nitrates from groundwater by electrocoagulation. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2011**, *171*, 1012–1017. [CrossRef]
- Garcia-Garcia, A.; Martinez-Miranda, V.; Martinez-Cienfuegos, I.G.; Almazan-Sanchez, P.T.; Castaneda-Juarez, M.; Linares-Hernandez, I. Industrial wastewater treatment by electrocoagulationelectrooxidation processes powered by solar cells. *Fuel* 2015, 149, 46–54. [CrossRef]
- Shahriari, T.; Karbassi, A.R.; Reyhani, M. Treatment of oil refinery wastewater by electrocoagulation– flocculation (Case Study: Shazand Oil Refinery of Arak). Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2018, 2018, 13762. [CrossRef]
- Pintor, A.M.A.; Vilar, V.J.P.; Botelho, C.M.S.; Boaventura, R.A.R. Oil and grease removal from wastewaters: Sorption treatment as an alternative to state-of-the-art technologies. A critical review. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 297, 229–255. [CrossRef]

- 45. Aljuboury, D.A.; Palaniandy, P.; Aziz, H.B.A.; Feroz, S. Treatment of petroleum wastewater by conventional and new technologies—A review. *Glob. Nest J.* **2017**, *19*, 439–452.
- 46. Mallick, S.K.; Chakraborty, S. Treatment of synthetic refinery wastewater in anoxic–aerobic sequential moving bed reactors and sulphur recovery. *J. Environ. Sci. Health Part A* **2017**, *52*, 1257–1268. [CrossRef]
- Basu, S. Impact of opportunity crudes on refinery desalter and wastewater treatment performance-Part 2. *Hydrocarb. Process.* 2018, 97, 97–100.
- Dale, C.; Ekenber, M.; Wenta, R. Advanced biological treatment removes benzene, phenol from refinery wastewater. *Hydrocarb. Process.* 2018, 97, 79–80.
- Diya'uddeen, B.H.; Daud, W.M.A.W.; Aziz, A.R.A. Treatment technologies for petroleum refinery effluents: A review. Process Saf. Environ. 2011, 89, 95–105. [CrossRef]
- 50. Qin, J.J.; Oo, M.H.; Tao, G.H.; Kekre, K.A. Feasibility study on petrochemical wastewater treatment and reuse using submerged MBR. J. Membr. Sci. 2007, 293, 161–166. [CrossRef]
- Alkmim, A.R.; da Costa, P.R.; Moser, P.B.; Neta, L.S.F.; Santiago, V.M.J.; Cerqueira, A.C.; Amaral, M.C.S. Long-term evaluation of different strategies of cationic polyelectrolyte dosage to control fouling in a membrane bioreactor treating refinery effluent. *Environ. Technol.* 2016, *37*, 1026–1035. [CrossRef]
- Amaral, M.C.S.; Neta, L.S.D.; Borges, C.P.; Cerqueira, A.C.; Torres, A.P.; Florido, P.L.; Santiago, V.M.J. Treatment of refinery effluents by pilot membrane bioreactors: Pollutants removal and fouling mechanism investigation. *Desalin. Water Treat.* 2015, *56*, 583–597. [CrossRef]
- Fallah, N.; Bonakdarpour, B.; Nasernejad, B.; Moghadam, M.R.A. Long-term operation of submerged membrane bioreactor (MBR) for the treatment of synthetic wastewater containing styrene as volatile organic compound (VOC): Effect of hydraulic retention time (HRT). J. Hazard. Mater. 2010, 178, 718–724. [CrossRef]
- Munirasu, S.; Abu Haija, M.; Banat, F. Use of membrane technology for oil field and refinery produced water treatment-A review. *Process Saf. Environ.* 2016, 100, 183–202. [CrossRef]
- Alzahrani, S.; Mohammad, A.W. Challenges and trends in membrane technology implementation for produced water treatment: A review. J. Water Process Eng. 2014, 4, 107–133. [CrossRef]
- Gong, C.; Yu, S.L.; Yufei, S.G.; Gu, Z.Y.; Yang, W.Z.; Ren, L.M. A Review of Ultrafiltration and Forward Osmosis:application and modification. *IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ.* 2018, 128. [CrossRef]
- Abbasi, M.; Mirfendereski, M.; Nikbakht, M.; Golshenas, M.; Mohammadi, T. Performance study of mullite and mullite-alumina ceramic MF membranes for oily wastewaters treatment. *Desalination* 2010, 259, 169–178. [CrossRef]
- Ebrahimi, A.; Ashaghi, K.S.; Engel, L.; Willershausen, D.; Mund, P.; Bolduan, P.; Czermak, P. Characterization and application of different ceramic membranes for the oil-field produced water treatment. *Desalination* 2009, 245, 533–540. [CrossRef]
- Alzahrani, S.; Mohammad, A.W.; Hilal, N.; Abdullah, P.; Jaafar, O. Comparative study of NF and RO membranes in the treatment of produced water II: Toxicity removal efficiency. *Desalination* 2013, 315, 27–32. [CrossRef]
- Alzahrani, S.; Mohammad, A.W.; Hilal, N.; Abdullah, P.; Jaafar, O. Comparative study of NF and RO membranes in the treatment of produced water-Part I: Assessing water quality. *Desalination* 2013, 315, 18–26. [CrossRef]
- Findik, S. Treatment of petroleum refinery effluent using ultrasonic irradiation. Pol. J. Chem. Technol. 2018, 20, 20–25. [CrossRef]
- 62. Stepnowski, P.; Siedlecka, E.M.; Behrend, P.; Jastorff, B. Enhanced photo-degradation of contaminants in petroleum refinery wastewater. *Water Res.* 2002, *36*, 2167–2172. [CrossRef]
- 63. Talei, M.; Mowla, D.; Esmaeilzadeh, F. Ozonation of an effluent of oil refineries for COD and sulfide removal. *Desalin. Water Treat.* **2015**, *56*, 1648–1656. [CrossRef]
- Rueda-Marquez, J.J.; Levchuk, I.; Salcedo, I.; Acevedo-Merino, A.; Manzano, M.A. Post-treatment of refinery wastewater effluent using a combination of AOPs (H₂O₂ photolysis and catalytic wet peroxide oxidation) for possible water reuse. Comparison of low and medium pressure lamp performance. *Water Res.* 2016, *91*, 86–96. [CrossRef]
- Sponza, D.T.; Oztekin, R. Removals of PAHs and acute toxicity via sonication in a petrochemical industry wastewater. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2010, 162, 142–150. [CrossRef]

- Fu, F.L.; Wang, Q.; Tang, B. Fenton and Fenton-like reaction followed by hydroxide precipitation in the removal of Ni(II) from NiEDTA wastewater: A comparative study. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2009, 155, 769–774. [CrossRef]
- 67. Coelho, A.; Castro, A.V.; Dezotti, M.; Sant'Anna, G.L. Treatment of petroleum refinery sourwater by advanced oxidation processes. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2006**, *137*, 178–184. [CrossRef]
- Huang, D.L.; Wang, C.; Xu, P.; Zeng, G.M.; Lu, B.A.; Li, N.J.; Huang, C.; Lai, C.; Zhao, M.H.; Xu, J.J.; et al. A coupled photocatalytic-biological process for phenol degradation in the Phanerochaete chrysosporium-oxalate-Fe₃O₄ system. *Int. Biodeterior. Biodegrad.* 2015, *97*, 115–123. [CrossRef]
- Mohadesi, M.; Shokri, A. Evaluation of Fenton and photo-Fenton processes for the removal of p-chloronitrobenzene in aqueous environment using Box-Behnken design method. *Desalin. Water Treat.* 2017, *81*, 199–208. [CrossRef]
- Bustillo-Lecompte, C.F.; Kakar, D.; Mehrvar, M. Photochemical treatment of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes (BTEX) in aqueous solutions using advanced oxidation processes: Towards a cleaner production in the petroleum refining and petrochemical industries. *J. Clean. Prod.* 2018, *186*, 609–617. [CrossRef]
- Heidari, B.; Soleimani, M.; Mirghaffari, N. The use of steel slags in the heterogeneous Fenton process for decreasing the chemical oxygen demand of oil refinery wastewater. *Water Sci. Technol.* 2018, 78, 1159–1167. [CrossRef]
- Estrada-Arriaga, E.B.; Zepeda-Aviles, J.A.; Garcia-Sanchez, L. Post-treatment of real oil refinery effluent with high concentrations of phenols using photo-ferrioxalate and Fenton's reactions with membrane process step. *Chem. Eng. J.* 2016, 285, 508–516. [CrossRef]
- 73. Vymazal, J. Constructed wetlands for treatment of industrial wastewaters: A review. *Ecol. Eng.* **2014**, *73*, 724–751. [CrossRef]
- Hawkins, W.B.; Rodgers, J.H.; Gillespie, W.B.; Dunn, A.W.; Dorn, P.B.; Cano, M.L. Design and construction of wetlands for aqueous transfers and transformations of selected metals. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 1997, 36, 238–248. [CrossRef]
- Huddleston, G.M.; Gillespie, W.B.; Rodgers, J.H. Using constructed wetlands to treat biochemical oxygen demand and ammonia associated with a refinery effluent. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* 2000, 45, 188–193. [CrossRef]
- Moore, B.J.; Ross, S.D.; Gibson, D.; Callow, L. Constructed wetlands for treatment of dissolved phase hydrocarbons in cold climates. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Wetlands Remediation, Salt Lake City, UT, USA, 16–17 November 1999; pp. 333–340.
- Wallace, S.D. On-site remediation of petroleum contact wastes using subsurface-flow wetlands. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Wetlands Remediation, Salt Lake City, UT, USA, 16–17 November 1999; pp. 125–132.
- Aslam, M.M.; Malik, M.; Baig, M.; Qazi, I.A.; Iqbal, J. Treatment performances of compost-based and gravel-based vertical flow wetlands operated identically for refinery wastewater treatment in Pakistan. *Ecol. Eng.* 2007, 30, 34–42. [CrossRef]
- 79. Ji, G.D.; Sun, T.H.; Ni, J.R. Surface flow constructed wetland for heavy oil-produced water treatment. *Bioresour. Technol.* 2007, 98, 436–441. [CrossRef]
- Mustapha, H.I.; van Bruggen, H.J.J.A.; Lens, P.N.L. Vertical subsurface flow constructed wetlands for the removal of petroleum contaminants from secondary refinery effluent at the Kaduna refining plant (Kaduna, Nigeria). *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2018, 25, 30451–30462. [CrossRef]
- Yang, L.; Hu, C.C. Treatments of oil-refinery and steel-mill wastewaters by mesocosm constructed wetland systems. Water Sci. Technol. 2005, 51, 157–164. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wu, S.B.; Wallace, S.; Brix, H.; Kuschk, P.; Kirui, W.K.; Masi, F.; Dong, R.J. Treatment of industrial effluents in constructed wetlands: Challenges, operational strategies and overall performance. *Environ. Pollut.* 2015, 201, 107–120. [CrossRef]
- Mustapha, H.I.; van Bruggen, J.J.A.; Lens, P.N.L. Optimization of Petroleum Refinery Wastewater Treatment by Vertical Flow Constructed Wetlands Under Tropical Conditions: Plant Species Selection and Polishing by a Horizontal Flow Constructed Wetland. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* 2018, 229. [CrossRef]
- Wang, M.; Zhang, D.Q.; Dong, J.W.; Tan, S.K. Constructed wetlands for wastewater treatment in cold climate—A review. J. Environ. Sci.-China 2017, 57, 293–311. [CrossRef]

- 85. Pombo, F.R.; Magrini, A.; Szklo, A. An analysis of water management in Brazilian petroleum refineries using rationalization techniques. *Resour. Conserv. Recycl.* **2013**, *73*, 172–179. [CrossRef]
- 86. Hansen, E.; Rodrigues, M.A.S.; Aragao, M.E.; de Aquim, P.M. Water and wastewater minimization in a petrochemical industry through mathematical programming. *J. Clean. Prod.* **2018**, *172*, 1814–1822. [CrossRef]
- 87. Mohammadnejad, S.; Bidhendi, G.R.N.; Mehrdadi, N. Water pinch analysis in oil refinery using regeneration reuse and recycling consideration. *Desalination* **2011**, *265*, 255–265. [CrossRef]
- 88. Mughees, W.; Al-Ahmad, M. Application of water pinch technology in minimization of water consumption at a refinery. *Comput. Chem. Eng.* 2015, 73, 34–42. [CrossRef]
- 89. Duyvesteijn, C.P.T.M. Water re-use in an oil refinery. Desalination 1998, 119, 357-358. [CrossRef]
- 90. Peeters, J.G.; Theodoulou, S.L. Consider membrane technologies to treat oily wastewater. *Hydrocarb. Process.* **2007**, *86*, 81–86.
- 91. Puckorius, P.R.; Loretitsch, G.A.; Tvedt, T.J. Reuse water quality for chemical plants, refineries, utilities and air conditioning. In Proceedings of the Corrosion 98, San Diego, CA, USA, 22–27 March 1998.
- 92. Iancu, P.; Plesu, V.; Lavric, V. Regeneration of internal streams as an effective tool for wastewater network optimisation. *Comput. Chem. Eng.* 2009, 33, 731–742. [CrossRef]
- 93. Wang, D.X.; Tong, F.; Aerts, P. Application of the combined ultrafiltration and reverse osmosis for refinery wastewater reuse in Sinopec Yanshan Plant. *Desalin. Water Treat.* **2011**, *25*, 133–142. [CrossRef]
- 94. El-Halwagi, M.M.; Manousiouthakis, V. Synthesis of Mass Exchange Networks. *Aich. J.* **1989**, *35*, 1233–1244. [CrossRef]
- 95. Wang, Y.P.; Smith, R. Waste-Water Minimization. Chem. Eng. Sci. 1994, 49, 981–1006. [CrossRef]
- 96. Mann, J.G.; Liu, Y.A. Industrial Water Reuse and Wastewater Mini-Mization, 1st ed.; McGraw-Hill: New York, NY, USA, 1999.
- 97. Bagajewicz, M. A review of recent design procedures for water networks in refineries and process plants. *Comput. Chem. Eng.* **2000**, *24*, 2093–2113. [CrossRef]
- Koppol, A.R.; Bagajewicz, M.J.; Dericks, B.J.; Savelski, M.J. On zero water discharge solutions in the process industry. *Adv. Environ. Res.* 2004, *8*, 151–171. [CrossRef]
- 99. Technological regulations of a complex of mechanical treatment facilities for industrial wastewater. "PPCP".
- 100. Technological regulations of the complex of biological treatment facilities for industrial effluents. "PPCP".
- 101. Technological regulations of the complex of treatment facilities. "PKOP".
- 102. Technological regulations of the complex of biological treatment facilities for industrial effluents. "AR".
- Tussupova, K.; Hjorth, P.; Berndtsson, R. Access to Drinking Water and Sanitation in Rural Kazakhstan. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 2016, 13, 1115. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 104. Tussupova, K.; Berndtsson, R.; Bramryd, T.; Beisenova, R. Investigating Willingness to Pay to Improve Water Supply Services: Application of Contingent Valuation Method. *Water* **2015**, *7*, 3024–3039. [CrossRef]
- 105. Sanitary and Epidemiological Requirements for Water Sources, Water Intake Points for Household and Drinking Purposes, Domestic and Drinking Water Supply and Places of Cultural and Domestic Water Use and Water Safety. Available online: http://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/V1500010774 (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 106. Pinedo, J.; Ibanez, R.; Lijzen, J.P.A.; Irabien, A. Assessment of soil pollution based on total petroleum hydrocarbons and individual oil substances. *J. Environ. Manag.* **2013**, *130*, 72–79. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 107. Peters, C.A.; Knightes, C.D.; Brown, D.G. Long-term composition dynamics of PAH-containing NAPLs and implications for risk assessment. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1999**, *33*, 4499–4507. [CrossRef]
- 108. Mcgauhey, P.H. Ground-Water Hydrology-Todd, Dk. Am. J. Public Health 1960, 50, 592. [CrossRef]
- 109. UNDP. Sustainable Management of Water and Sanitation. Available online: https://www.undp.org/content/ undp/en/home/sustainable-development-goals/goal-6-clean-water-and-sanitation/targets/ (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 110. Nanbo, K. Control of Industrial Wastewater in Osaka. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 1980, 52, 992–998.
- 111. Hamer, G. The impact of government legislation on industrial effluent treatment. *Conserv. Recycl.* **1985**, *8*, 25–43. [CrossRef]
- 112. EPA. Guide for the Application of Effluent Limitations Guidelines for the Petroleum Refining Industry. 1985. Available online: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/petro-refining_guidance_june-1985.pdf (accessed on 6 March 2019).
- 113. Osin, O.A.; Yu, T.Y.; Lin, S.J. Oil refinery wastewater treatment in the Niger Delta, Nigeria: Current practices, challenges, and recommendations. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 2017, 24, 22730–22740. [CrossRef]

- 114. Bandyopadhyay, A. Assessment of accidental refinery wastewater discharge: A case study. *Clean. Technol. Environ. Policy* **2010**. [CrossRef]
- 115. Aljuboury, D.A.A.; Palaniandy, P.; Aziz, H.B.; Feroz, S. Evaluation of the solar photo-Fenton process to treat the petroleum wastewater by response surface methodology (RSM). *Environ. Earth Sci.* 2016, 75. [CrossRef]
- Sadatipour, S.M.T.; Mirzaie, L.; Rezaei, A.A. An investigation on Kangan gas refinery wastewater. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. 2004, 1, 205–213. [CrossRef]
- 117. Haque, N. Exploratory analysis of fines for water pollution in Bangladesh. *Water Resour. Ind.* **2017**, *18*, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- 118. Operating instructions of water supply unit "PPCP".
- 119. Rebitzer, G.; Ekvall, T.; Frischknecht, R.; Hunkeler, D.; Norris, G.; Rydberg, T.; Schmidt, W.P.; Suh, S.; Weidema, B.P.; Pennington, D.W. Life cycle assessment Part 1: Framework, goal and scope definition, inventory analysis, and applications. *Environ. Int.* 2004, *30*, 701–720. [CrossRef]
- Katko, T.S.; Hukka, J.J. Social and economic importance of water services in the built environment: Need for more structured thinking. Proc. Econ. Financ. 2015, 21, 217–223. [CrossRef]



© 2019 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Paper II

ORIGINAL PAPER



Assessment of groundwater safety surrounding contaminated water storage sites using multivariate statistical analysis and Heckman selection model: a case study of Kazakhstan

Ivan Radelyuk 💿 · Kamshat Tussupova · Magnus Persson · Kulshat Zhapargazinova · Madeniyet Yelubay

Received: 6 November 2019/Accepted: 30 July 2020/Published online: 8 August 2020 @ The Author(s) 2020

Abstract Petrochemical enterprises in Kazakhstan discharge polluted wastewater into special recipients. Contaminants infiltrate through the soil into the groundwater, which potentially affects public health and environment safety. This paper presents the evaluation of a 7-year monitoring program from one of the factories and includes nineteen variables from nine wells during 2013-2019. Several multivariate statistical techniques were used to analyse the data: Pearson's correlation matrix, principal component analysis and cluster analysis. The analysis made it possible to specify the contribution of each contaminant to the overall pollution and to identify the most polluted sites. The results also show that concentrations of pollutants in groundwater exceeded both the World Health Organization and Kazakhstani standards

I. Radelyuk (⊠) · K. Tussupova · M. Persson Department of Water Resources Engineering, Lund University, Box 118, 22100 Lund, Sweden e-mail: ivan.radelyuk@tvrl.lth.se

I. Radelyuk · K. Tussupova Center for Middle Eastern Studies, Lund University, 22100 Lund, Sweden

I. Radelyuk · K. Zhapargazinova · M. Yelubay Department of Chemistry and Chemical Technology, Pavlodar State University, 140000 Pavlodar, Kazakhstan

K. Tussupova

Kazakh National Agrarian University, 050010 Almaty, Kazakhstan

for drinking water. For example, average exceedance for total petroleum hydrocarbons was 4 times, for total dissolved solids—5 times, for chlorides—9 times, for sodium—6 times, and total hardness was more than 6 times. It is concluded that host geology and effluents from the petrochemical industrial cluster influence the groundwater quality. Heckman two-step regression analysis was applied to assess the bias of completed analysis for each pollutant, especially to determine a contribution of toxic pollutants into total contamination. The study confirms a high loading of anthropogenic contamination to groundwater from the petrochemical industry coupled with natural geochemical processes.

Keyword Kazakhstan · Petrochemical industry · Water quality · Principal component analysis · Cluster analysis · Heckman selection model

. . .

Abbrev	iations
Alk	Alkalinity
BTEX	Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes
CA	Cluster analysis
EPA	United States Environmental Protection
	Agency
EU	European Union
GW	Groundwater
km	Kilometers
ΚZ	Kazakhstan
m	Meters

TPH	Total	petroleum	ı hyc	lrocar	bons
-----	-------	-----------	-------	--------	------

- UN United Nations
- WHO World Health Organization

Introduction

Safe drinking water is one of the sustainable development goals announced by the UN; however, in many countries, the goal remains far off. In 2015, the distribution of global groundwater use was estimated to 50% for drinking purpose and 43% for irrigation (UNESCO 2015). Historically, groundwater quality has been deteriorated by human activities, such as agricultural, industrial, and urbanization processes (WHO 2006). In Kazakhstan, groundwater withdrawal amounted to 1.078 km³ in 2016 (UN 2019). One crucial problem in the country is toxic wastewater from petrochemical factories (Radelyuk et al. 2019), a very important factor in Kazakhstani economy. The oil refinery industry is represented by three large factories, and their capacity is estimated to be 360 thousand barrels daily with an annual growth of 2.9% (BP 2018). Additionally, refineries are associated with petrochemical industry. Industrial clusters are established around core refineries. It leads to growth of production and increasing level of contamination. The problem is that the current methods of wastewater treatment in the petrochemical sector, as well as the conditions of the treatment units built during the Soviet era, do not assure a safe level of contaminants concentrations for the ecological systems. Thus, the existing discharge system has a significant negative impact on the environment and could potentially become a health issue for the population.

The groundwater is the main source for decentralized and centralized drinking water supply in rural areas in Kazakhstan, where more than half of the population live (Zhupankhan et al. 2018; Bekturganov et al. 2016). The perceived water quality has been assessed in several research and showed relative satisfaction (Tussupova et al. 2015, 2016). However, in situ water quality and potential risk for groundwater safety have not been covered within existing scientific literature. Simultaneously, petrochemical plants in Kazakhstan continue to discharge wastewater with high concentrations of different pollutants and these contaminants may reach the groundwater very easily. Despite of existing system of ecological monitoring, oil refinery cluster in Kazakhstan is ranked as one of the biggest sources of water contamination by United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE 2019). Recent studies showed that approximately 1.5% of total deaths in Kazakhstan caused by waterborne diseases related to water pollution, including industrial sources (Karatayev et al. 2017).

While contaminated sites occupy relatively small area, they belong to larger aquifers and potentially cause serious hazard (Maskooni et al. 2020). The contaminated sites are considered as a serious problem worldwide (Kovalick and Montgomery 2017). Moreover, the situation becomes worse if governments deny any environmental pollution or the contaminated sites are not investigated (Naseri Rad and Berndtsson 2019). Research-based approach can deal with the situations and helps do right decisions about remediation programs and protect population and environment from related risks (Naseri Rad et al. 2020). Thus, it is urgent to identify the main sources of groundwater pollution from petrochemical industry in Kazakhstan in order to eliminate the risks.

Multivariate statistical techniques have been widely used for assessment of surface and ground water quality (Shrestha and Kazama 2006; Naseh et al. 2018; Cloutier et al. 2008; Ghahremanzadeh et al. 2018; Noori et al. 2010; Patil et al. 2020). The natural transformations happen due to saltwater intrusion, lithological/geochemical processes, rainfall and snowmelt, eutrophication processes. The anthropogenic invasion due to urban development, industrial and agricultural activities, influence by rural settlements significantly contributes to groundwater pollution, and consequently, affects the water quality. Thus, multivariate statistical techniques are efficient tools identifying and separating the main probable sources of pollution in the context of land-use changes. Three techniques are particularly common: Pearson's correlation, Principal Component Analysis and Cluster Analysis. Correlation matrix is used to determine potential interactions between different chemicals by pairwise variables comparison. PCA is used to identify statistically the most significant parameters, which are considered as major contributors to total contamination. Finally, CA combines similar groups of obsertogether. The techniques have been vations successfully applied, e.g., Egbueri (2019) divided his study area in Nigeria into insignificantly and highly polluted sites by using CA. Awomeso et al. (2020) investigated and identified possible sources of groundwater contamination such as leachate from septic tanks, nutrients from agricultural fields and chlorine pollution. The multiple natural and anthropogenic sources of surface and groundwater pollution have been presented by Omo-Irabor et al. (2008) in Nigeria. Impact on shallow groundwater in irrigated areas has been investigated by Trabelsi and Zouari (2019) in Tunisia. Shrestha and Kazama (2007) combined sites as less polluted, medium polluted and highly polluted, based on the similarities of water quality indicators in Japan. The same was for Kazi et al. (2009) who investigated the problem of water contamination by agriculture and industry in Pakistan. Liu et al. (2003) showed influence of processes of saltwater intrusion and arsenic pollution in Taiwan. Groundwater pollution sources apportionment in a land with high density of agriculture, industry and urbanization has been investigated in southwestern China (Li et al. 2019). Hence, the multivariate statistical techniques let researchers successfully investigate certain case studies.

The aim of this paper is to analyse and interpret a dataset obtained during a 7-year (2013-2019) monitoring program of the wastewater discharge systems in one of the Kazakhstani industrial clusters. This dataset includes concentrations of substances in groundwater from nine observed wells surrounding the wastewater recipient. Kazakhstani law (Kazakhstan 2015) requires that strict standards for groundwater quality surrounding recipients are followed. If the requirements are neglected, the responsible company should take actions to eliminate the risks for the environment and people. Matrix correlation, PCA, and CA multivariate techniques were applied to (1) determine main pollutants with elevated concentrations in groundwater, (2) assess the contribution of each contaminant to temporal variations in groundwater quality and identify their potential origin, and (3) group the contamination sites affecting water quality and their potential sources by relevant similarities. The results contribute to the description of the spatial-temporal changes in

groundwater quality of the study area. Heckman selection model was used to avoid bias of the results and look at specific properties of each pollutant more carefully. Moreover, the study highlights the main sources of contamination at the different locations of the study area and is thus of interest for local key stakeholders, groundwater modelling researchers, and risk analysis managers.

Materials and methods

Study area

The industrial site of this study belongs to the special economic zone and is located in the north-eastern part of Kazakhstan. The region is located in a sharply continental zone, where mean monthly temperatures range from - 19.3 °C in January to + 21.5 °C in July, with an annual mean of 3.5 °C, absolute maximum of + 42 °C and absolute minimum of − 47 °C. Annual precipitation is around 303-352 mm, including 264 mm in liquid phase. The driest months are May, June, and July. Potential annual evaporation is around 957 mm (Heaven et al. 2007). Average relative humidity equals 82% and 45% for the coldest and the hottest period of the year, respectively. 70-85 days of the year is represented with the humidity 80% and more.

The recipient pond (Fig. 1) is based on a natural bitter-salty pond for receiving and storing biologically treated wastewater from the nearby located petrochemical industry. According to Kazakhstani legislation (Kazakhstan 2012), this pond is not a source for drinking, domestic and irrigation water. The annual volume of received wastewater amounted to 1.63-2.21 million m³ for the period 2009-2019. instead of designed 4.12 million m³. The water volume and water surface for the same period are within 3.6-6.7 million m³ maintained and 2.45-3.73 km², respectively, instead of the designed 23.5 million m³ and 5.23 km², respectively. Observation wells are located out of barrier for groundwater quality monitoring and belong to permanent control from governmental bodies. The installation procedures followed appropriate installation technique in case of required installation materials and methods and planning of the location of the monitoring system (Houlihan and Lucia 1999). The depth of the wells



Fig. 1 Study Area. Green triangles show location of wells sampled

varies between 10.1 and 24.6 m below ground level. The groundwater depth in the wells varied between 1.1 and 4.9 m.

The hydrogeological conditions of the study area have been poorly investigated during soviet and postsoviet periods. The geological cross-section is represented by four geologic-genetic layers: contemporary sediments (land cover), upper-quarternary and contemporary aeolian-deluvial deposits (clayey sand) and upper-quarternary alluvial deposits (loam and/or fine to medium-grained sands). The geological profiles of the examined wells are presented in Fig. 2. Groundwater is represented by two aquifers: shallow unconfined and confined aquifers. The upper aquifer is composed of clay-sand and mixed size sands. The bottom of the aquifer lays on the depth 8.0-24.0 m below surface level. The aquifer is mainly recharged from water infiltration from the surface. The discharge is partly due to evapotranspiration and partly due to

percolation to the underlying aquifer. Amplitude of seasonal fluctuation of groundwater table is about 0.7 m (Fig. 3). The figure shows that the GW level has peak values after the winter during the snowmelt season and after that reaches its minimal values during the summer. Interpolation using inverse distance method was used to establish GW flow direction and the bottom of the first aquifer. Figure 4 shows a contour map of the groundwater level and the elevation of the bottom of the unconfined aquifer. The second aquifer composed of medium-grained and small-grained sands. It is recharged from the head water and from the upper aquifer. The aquifer discharges to the nearest river, which is located 4 km west from the pond.

A total of 117 groundwater samples from the shallow aquifer were collected and analyzed between 2013 and 2019, from all observation wells. Sampling was made two times per year, in spring and autumn.



Fig. 2 Geological profiles of the examined wells



Fig. 3 Seasonal fluctuations of groundwater level in the nine wells

The groundwater depth was measured regularly from March to November each year. The procedures of the sampling and measurements are controlled by Kazakhstani legislation from the sufficient international standards (Houlihan and Lucia 1999). Before sampling, the groundwater in the well was evacuated several times (usually, three times) by pumping. The pumping equipment was also flushed prior to sampling

1033



Fig. 4 a Contour map of groundwater levels on the study area, b Spatial distribution of the bottom of the first aquifer

to avoid unwanted pollution. After establishing a static water level, the sampler was immersed to a depth below the water table by 0.5 m or less. Water samples

were collected in 1-l dark glass bottles. The vessels were moved into a transportable fridge for immediate delivery and analysis to the licensed factory

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer

laboratory. Extra samples were collected for the analysis of metals with acidification by HNO_3 .

Multivariate statistical techniques

Correlation analysis, principal components analysis (factor analysis), and hierarchical cluster analysis were applied to identify the multivariate relationships between different variables and samples in the study area. The dataset was normalized for elimination of the effect from differences in units (Eq. 1).

$$Z_{ij} = \frac{(x_{ij} - m_i)}{\mathrm{SD}},\tag{1}$$

where Z_{ij} are normalized values from x_{ij} , *i* is represented variables, *j* is the sample number, m_i is the mean value and SD is the standard deviation of the sample.

The relation between each pair of variables was measured by Pearson's correlation coefficient to determine the geochemical associations among different variables. Correlation coefficients greater than 0.5 were considered significant. PCA recognizes the most significant parameters from a big dataset of intercorrelated parameters and created independent variables (Eq. 2).

$$z_{ij} = a_{i1}x_{1j} + a_{i2}x_{2j} + \dots + a_{im}x_{mj}, \tag{2}$$

where z is the component score, a is the component loading, x is the measured value of variable, i is the component number, j is the sample number and m is the total number of variables. Factor analysis (FA) is a similar technique as PCA. However, PC is presented as a linear combination of parameters. FA follows PCA and takes into account unobservable, hypothetical, and latent variables. They are included in equation with the special residual term (Eq. 3).

$$z_{ij} = a_{f1}f_{1j} + a_{f2}f_{2j} + \dots + a_{fm}x_{mj} + e_{fi}, \qquad (3)$$

where z is the measured variable, a is the factor loading, f is the factor score, e is the residual term according to errors or other source of variation, i is the sample number and m is the total number of factors.

Cluster analysis was used to assemble similar groups of observed wells due to similarities between their variables. Hierarchical agglomerative CA provided Ward's linkage distance, reported as D_{link}/D_{max} , which represents the quotient between the linkage distances for each case divided by maximal linkage

distance. Produced dendrogram lets to analyse similarities easily. Ward's linkage, the Euclidean distance as similarity measurements, and Q-mode are usually used for cluster analysis for assessment of groundwater quality (Egbueri 2019; Cloutier et al. 2008; Kazi et al. 2009; Awomeso et al. 2020; Trabelsi and Zouari 2019; Amanah et al. 2019; Bouteraa et al. 2019).

Heckman selection analysis

Heckman selection analysis, to the authors' knowledge, has never been applied to assess the environmental characteristics. This type of analysis was adapted from the original work of Heckman in the economical science (Heckman 1979) and from the application this type of this method in other fields, for example in the assessment of energy production (Sun et al. 2014), urban transportation research (Kaplan et al. 2016) and estimating crash rate (Xu et al. 2017). The method in this study is used to assess unobservable variables, that potentially impact on the total contamination rate. Gadgil investigated the list of chemicals in the WHO guidelines (Gadgil 1998) and concluded that certain chemicals have no strong requirements for their concentrations in drinking water, as the exposure of exceeded concentrations for human health is not significant. The idea of this assessment is not just looking at several contaminants and their concentrations, but also to consider and evaluate other important factors such as location of the sampled value, percent of exceeding of the certain contaminant and individual characteristics of the contaminant. Selected variables were divided into two categories. First: chemicals seriously affecting health (rated as sanitary toxic due to Kazakhstani standard (Kazakhstan 2015)); second: other hazardous materials (rated as non-toxic). It is aimed to compare potential effect of toxic and non-toxic contaminants. We focused, on the one hand, on several pollutants with elevated concentrations, such as chlorides or sulfates, which are not rated as significant impact on health, but can be dangerous for other cases, for instance, for corrosion of pipes, or for irrigation properties of soil; on the other hand, on the contaminants, rated as dangerous for the health, or toxic (for example, hardness or petroleum hydrocarbons).

This model includes two-step equation, which is assumed as an advanced regression model equation:

$$Y_i = \beta_1 S_i + \beta_2 X_i + u_i, \tag{4}$$

where Y_i is considered as total contamination, S_i represents the concentration of chemicals, and X_i shows several contaminants as a set of control variables. The effect of the exceeded concentrations on the total contamination is given by the parameter β_I . Parameter *i* represents each individual observation.

Equation (4) does not consider other potentially important independent variables which can affect for final result. For example, it could be locations of the wells or individual characteristics of different contaminants such as their toxicity and exposure level in case of influence of chemicals for people's health. There could be a different input of high exceeding of non-toxic contaminant and low exceeding of toxic contaminant. Second one would be much more dangerous for health. Thus, more attention should be paid to the level of toxicity. Specific description of this equation can be written as:

$$Y_{i}^{*} = \beta_{1}S_{i} + \beta_{2}X_{i} + u_{i}$$

$$D_{i} = 1(\gamma_{1}S_{i} + \gamma_{2}Z_{i} + v_{i} > 0), \text{ and} \qquad (5)$$

$$Y_{i} = Y_{i}^{*}D_{i},$$

where $(Y_i, D_i, S_i, X_i, Z_i)$ are observed random variables and 1(.) is an indicator function. The first equation represents the total contamination of all contaminants. The second equation is the selection equation, where D_i is added as a dummy variable indicating whether value *i* represents a measurement of toxic/non-toxic pollutant. A set of variables Z_i includes additional parameter such as a well value *i*. Set of control variables Z_i must include at least one variable which is not included in X_i (Sartori 2003).

All mathematical and statistical computations were performed using Microsoft Office Excel 2016, IBM SPSS Statistics 26 software and STATA 15.0 (StataCorp LP).

Results and discussion

Groundwater quality parameters

Table 1 presents the results of measurements of groundwater quality from the wells surrounding the recipient pond. Kazakhstani and WHO standards for drinking water were used for assessing all parameters.

The concentrations of several parameters in wastewater, which are discharged into the recipient pond, are also presented in the table. Those characteristics came from the previous publication of the authors (Radelyuk et al. 2019).

As shown, all wells had exceeding concentrations of total petroleum hydrocarbons (see also Fig. 5). When the permissible concentration of TPH is 0.1 mg/ L, the concentrations of TPH varied between 0.08 and 1.20 mg/L with mean value 0.42 mg/L, which exceeded the norm 4 times. Although low concentrations of TPH in water might be considered harmless, researchers found that long-term exposure to TPH causes carcinogenic diseases (Pinedo et al. 2013; Wake 2005). Table 1 also shows that dangerous concentrations of phenols were identified in all nine wells. This pollutant had been evaluated as very toxic and was included in the list of priority pollutants by Environmental protection agency (EPA 2012). The number of disorders has been discovered by acute exposure of phenol: muscular convulsions, hypothermia, muscle weakness and tremor, collapse, coma, etc. (Nair et al. 2008). There is a limitation in the assessment of the presence of phenol in our case study. However, the limit of the concentration of simple phenol (phenol index) is 0.25 mg/L according Kazakhstani standard. The same value is established in the standard of the factory for the observed wells (Radelyuk et al. 2019). At the same time, protocols of GW quality measurements name this parameter "volatile phenols". This type of phenolic compound is considered to be limited 0.001 mg/L. Thus, there is unclear situation of what limit should be used. Measured TDS values exceeded the KZ and WHO maximum permissible levels of 1000 mg/L in most cases on average five times (Fig. 5). Further, the total hardness in the groundwater samples ranged between 2 and 390 mmol/L with mean exceeding the standard six times (Fig. 5). According the Todd classification, almost all samples might be categorized as very hard water. Hard water may cause cerebrovascular and cardiovascular diseases (Stambuk-Giljanovic and Stambuk 2005). The chloride ion presence were between 56 and 24,757 mg/L, with most samples elevated WHO's 250 mg/L recommended limit (exceeding 9 times on average) (Fig. 5). There are possible health-related concerns regarding Na⁺ content in the groundwater because the mean elevated concentrations in the wells were six times over the

Table 1 W	/ater quality para	meters for groundy	vater san	ples from	the observed	l wells. All	units are in	mg/L, excl	Uding pH (pH unit) anc	l total hardn	iess (mmol/L)	
Parameters	WHO limits* (WHO 2017)	KZ limits (Kazakhstan 2015)		W1	W2	W3	W4	W5	W6	W	W8	6M	Effluents
Hq	6.5-8.5	6-9	Range	7.2–8.8	7.5–9.0	8.0–9.1	7.9–9.3	8.5-9.5	8.7–9.5	6.9–9.1	8.3–9.1	6.9–8.7	
			Mean	8.3	8.2	8.6	8.8	× ×	0.0	8.6	8.7	8.1	
трн	01	01	Range	0.16-1.04	C.U 0.11_1.40	0.00-0.60	0.11_0.84	0.08-1-00	0.14-0.67	0.0 0.73_0.78	0.11-0.00	0.76-0.84	0.68-2.15
	10	1.0	Mean	0.44	0.41	0.29	0.39	0.40	0.41	0.51	0.45	0.52	1.23
			SD	0.25	0.38	0.14	0.24	0.33	0.17	0.19	0.28	0.18	0.40
TDS	1000	1000	Range	846-1582	4728-7727	1346-2224	643-2919	899-1450	683-1402	1244-1933	1157-1927	28,202-36,392	4-9
			Mean	1156	6307	1779	2072	1218	1046	1485	1470	31,848	7
			SD	185	952	299	561	172	203	205	298	2922	1
CI-	250	350	Range	98-211	2450-4410	150-520	56-715	160-4410	110-200	150-370	180-798	10,000–24,757	50-135
			Mean	158	3285	256	425	549	172	256	322	14,797	83
			SD	32	577	06	165	1161	24	62	150	3372	26
$\mathrm{SO_4}^{2-}$	250	500	Range	94-210	544-1300	252-520	127-1100	89–284	150-849	214-296	305-443	4126-9400	238-589
			Mean	164	974	379	670	208	298	260	351	7040	449
			SD	33	190	85	231	46	179	22	39	2086	91
Phenols**	I	0.25/0.001	Range	0.00 - 0.04	0.0-0.01	0.00 - 0.06	0.00 - 0.06	0.00-0.06	0.00 - 0.06	0.00 - 0.05	0.00-0.05	0.00-0.12	0.01 - 0.03
			Mean	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.02
			SD	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.04	0.01
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	1.5	2	Range	0.0 - 1.0	0.0 - 27.1	0.0 - 0.8	0.0 - 0.6	0.0 - 8.6	0.0-5.6	0.0-8.8	0.0 - 10.9	0.0-25.8	38.6-54.3
			Mean	0.4	2.8	0.3	0.3	0.9	0.7	1.0	1.2	5.6	49.3
			SD	0.3	7.4	0.3	0.2	2.3	1.5	2.4	2.9	7.9	6.0
NO_2^{-}	3	3	Range	0.0-0.0	0.0 - 2.0	0.0-1.1	0.0 - 0.7	0.0 - 0.4	0.0 - 0.4	0.0-0.7	0.0 - 0.0	0.0-14.5	0.1-4.4
			Mean	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	1.5	0.1
			SD	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.3	4.2	1.3
NO_3^-	50	45	Range	0.0-7.5	0.1-4.3	0.1 - 3.0	0.0 - 5.0	0.0-5.3	0.0-4.9	0.0-4.3	0.0-4.1	0.0-21.0	1.8 - 16.4
			Mean	2.3	1.7	0.9	1.5	1.8	0.9	1.3	1.5	L.L	12.5
			SD	2.9	1.2	0.9	1.6	1.9	1.4	1.6	1.6	8.1	4.0
PO_4^{3-}	I	3.5	Range	0.00-0.75	0.00 - 0.26	0.00-0.20	0.00 - 1.00	0.00-0.68	0.00-0.41	0.00-0.21	0.00-0.76	0.00-0.08	
			Mean	0.11	0.04	0.05	0.10	0.10	0.06	0.06	0.10	0.03	
			SD	0.21	0.07	0.06	0.27	0.18	0.11	0.07	0.21	0.02	
CO_{3}^{2-}	I	I	Range	0-48	0-15	0-87	5-59	6-36	13-84	0-137	0-73	0-45	
			Mean	15	9	30	32	20	31	39	26	11	
			SD	15	5	28	17	8	18	37	19	13	

Environ Geochem Health (2021) 43:1029-1050

1037

🖄 Springer

Table 1 coi	ntinued												
Parameters	WHO limits* (WHO 2017)	KZ limits (Kazakhstan 2015)		W1	W2	W3	W4	W5	W6	W7	W8	6M	Effluents
HCO ₃ ⁻	384***	I	Range	189-494	14–391	329–709	43-514	262-512	201-346	9–578	210-329	66-464	
			Mean	375	119	537	326	343	277	374	264	201	
			SD	92	126	100	110	74	42	176	37	138	
TH	I	7.0	Range	3.7-12.5	6.2-67.9	3.2-9.8	3.0 - 12.0	2.1 - 5.0	2.0-4.8	2.4-9.3	2.8-15.1	219.0-390.0	
			Mean	7.6	54.0	6.8	7.6	3.9	3.8	6.5	6.5	272.0	
			SD	2.0	15.6	1.7	2.6	0.9	0.9	1.7	3.5	55.0	
Ca^{2+}	100	I	Range	14-116	15-625	6-73	8-138	6-44	5-43	3-137	9–72	97–2844	
			Mean	39	135	21	29	14	13	27	20	497	
			SD	30	154	17	34	10	10	36	16	714	
Mg^{2+}	50	I	Range	17-92	65-680	5 - 330	31-130	14-88	12-61	25-110	21-200	382-4422	
			Mean	63	499	88	78	42	39	99	99	2697	
			SD	20	196	78	32	18	13	25	4	940	
\mathbf{K}^+	12	I	Range	0.1 - 3.0	0.0 - 6.4	0.0-5.0	0.0-0.0	0.0-5.0	0.0 - 4.0	0.0-0.0	0.0 - 4.0	0.01-42.0	
			Mean	1.5	1.7	1.4	1.6	1.5	1.4	1.8	1.6	14.3	
			SD	1.0	2.1	1.6	2.3	1.7	1.2	2.2	1.4	16.2	
Na^+	200	200	Range	140-230	605-1414	390-685	66-775	220-540	200-500	290-560	220-680	5100-9200	
			Mean	190	1136	480	545	348	296	390	412	7093	
			SD	27	272	85	181	94	LL	79	135	1377	
Surfactants	I	0.5	Range	0.1 - 0.7	0.2 - 0.6	0.1 - 0.6	0.0 - 0.4	0.0 - 0.4	0.0 - 0.8	0.3 - 0.9	0.0 - 0.4	0.3 - 1.4	0.2 - 0.5
			Mean	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.1	1.0	0.3
			SD	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1
CO_2	I	I	Range	0–37	0-22	0-29	0-15	0	0	0–23	0-2	0-32	
			Mean	5	5	4	_	0	0	2	0	7	
			SD	Π	7	6	4	0	0	9	1	12	
- non-descri	ibed												
*WHO does	s not cover all ch	temical contamina	nts in the	guidelines	t, but only th	hose, which	pose a risk	in a high l	evel (Gadgi	1 1998)			
**EPA, EU	and WHO prese	nt a range of phei	nol-deriv [®]	tives accor	rding their to	oxicity rate.	Kazakhstar	ni standard	assumes "p	henols" as j	phenolic cor	npounds, whic	h evaporate
under high t	emperature (Ang	celino and Gennar	0 1997)		1				,				·

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer

***From WHO Guidelines for drinking water quality (1984)



Fig. 5 Concentrations of some chemicals in the groundwater wells compared to WHO limits

permissible KZ limits and WHO indirect recommendation (Fig. 5). Consumption of high amount of sodium has been correlated with cardiovascular disease, such hypertension and stroke (Lucas et al. 2011). Finally, individual exceedings of surfactants were identified. Such high level of surfactants is related to several potential problems. The presence of some surfactants in connection with other contaminants may decrease the biodegradation rate of contaminant or stops the process at all. In other cases, the presence of the surfactants enhances the biodegradation rate. The desirable result is not clear without knowing the role of the surfactant participating the biodegradation process in a given remediation plan (West and Harwell 1992). Moreover, special focus should be paid to Well 9 which had extremely high values. For example, TDS had a value 37 times above the limit, chloride 99 times higher than limit, sulphate exceeded the limit 38 times, total hardness with associated cations by 56 times as well as highly elevated concentrations of ammonia. nitrites, nitrates, potassium, sodium and surfactants (Table 1). This is the reason why Fig. 5 does not include Well 9 presenting the concentrations of some chemicals comparatively with WHO recommendations.

The water containing such levels of those substances would normally be rejected by consumers. Additional epidemiological research should be provided in municipalities nearby the area of pond to assess potential connections between the high concentrations of some parameters, such as TPH, phenols, Na^+ , Cl^- , SO_4^{2-} , TDS and TH and cardiovascular and oncological diseases in the region.

Figure 6 shows temporal distribution of some chemicals. The pH values (Fig. 6a) normally were highest during the spring, while the value for W9 differs significantly and instead shows the lowest values during the same period. It could be explained by influence of recharge of snowmelt and geological characteristics of the area. The same situation can be applied for TPH. All wells show the highest concentrations of TPH during the spring (Fig. 6b). Moreover, the graphs mainly tend to raise their fluctuations and display an increasing trend. It potentially says that the pollution problem is growing in the area. Figure 6c represents the fluctuation of TDS in the groundwater. There are relatively flexible lines without significantly extremal changes.

Spatial distribution of the chemicals is presented in Fig. 7. pH values (Fig. 7a) are more than 7 for all wells, defining groundwater alkaline. According to Hem (1970) dissociation of carbonate and carbonate salts is a dominant process in nature, which leads to pH above 7. The maximal value of pH is found in well 6, and minimal value belongs to the wells 2 and 9. Piper diagram is widely used to show the dominant hydrogeochemical faces (Piper 1944). The Piper plot (Fig. 8) verifies the direct relationships between the hydrochemical regime of groundwater in the area and the pH value. Total petroleum hydrocarbons have a maximal value in the well 9 and minimal in the well 3 (Fig. 7b). There are plotted only TDS, instead of TH,



Fig. 6 Temporal variation of a pH, b TPH and c TDS

 Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Na^+ , Cl^- and SO_4^{2-} , on the figure, because they are parts of the TDS and distributed in the same manner (Fig. 7c). Thus, we can consider from the hydrogeological characteristics of this site (Fig. 4)

and spatial distribution of pH and pollutants (Fig. 7) that groundwater flow has a slope toward western direction from the pond.

1040



Fig. 6 continued

Principal component analysis

The correlation matrix (Table 3) was employed for all 117 measurements for determining the loads of the principal components (PCs) shown in Table 2. The first six PCs were selected for the following reasons as variables of dimensionality reduction: the six PCs together gave a cumulative contribution of 78.34%, which is typically regarded as being sufficiently high; the eigenvalues of these PCs are all greater than 1.0 and, according to the Kaiser criterion these PCs must be chosen (Table 2) (Kaiser 1958). The factors can be conditionally divided into two groups. First group accounts to 52.34% of the total variance and is represented by Factors 1 and 2. Usually, the parameters, belonging to those factors, characterize natural

conditions of the groundwater. Factors 3–6 contribute to 26% of the total variance and can be categorized, as anthropogenically appeared factors. The detailed interpretation of each Factor is explained below.

$PC \ l$

PC 1 explains 42.02% of the total variance (Table 2). It is characterized by high positive weight values TH, Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , TDS, Na^+ , K^+ , Cl^- , SO_4^{2-} and surfactants. As Table 3 indicates, there is a strong positive correlation between TDS and Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Na^+ , K^+ , SO_4^{2-} , Cl^- . These ions are the major contributors to the total dissolved solids. Additionally, these ions correlate with each other. These results show that the groundwater has suffered serious mineralization



Fig. 7 Spatial distribution patterns of $a\ \text{pH},\ b\ \text{TPH}$ and $c\ \text{TDS}$

1042



of the study area



process from the natural condition of the salt pond (Allen and Suchy 2001). Moreover, since TDS correlates with surfactants and surfactants correlate with the above-mentioned ions, it is clear that there is a similarity across parameters.

There also is a clear correlation between TH and subsequent ions: Ca^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Cl^- , SO_4^{2-} (Table 3). In addition, it can be seen that all these ions correlate with each other. This correlation points to the existence of non-carbonate, or constant hardness, (MeSO₄, MeCl₂, where Me—Ca, Mg), which is difficult to remove. It is clear from Table 3 that there is no correlation between carbonate ions and the hardness metals ions, which suggests a weak temporary hardness. This factor can be explained by the natural conditions of the site. In contrast, surfactants are synthetic compounds. Surfactants are produced for cleaning and washing operations (West and Harwell 1992). Their existence in groundwater is not natural.

PC 2

PC 2 explains 10.32% of the total variance (Table 2) with negative weight values of pH and CO_3^{2-} , and positive value of CO₂. It is important to note a correlation between CO₂, CO_3^{2-} and pH (Table 3), which points to alkalinity reactions in the groundwater (Eq. 6). The relationship exists between these parameters and CO₂, which potentially could be described a process of CO₂ creation or the presence of the CO₂ as an atmospheric gas in the unsaturated zone (Hem 1970). Moreover, the high concentration of chlorides in wastewater coupled with the natural salt water leads to changing pH in groundwater by decreasing pH. These processes are naturally based.

$$Alk = 2[CO_3^{2-}] + [HCO_3^{-}] + [OH^{-}] - [H^{+}].$$
(6)

PC 3

Factor 3 is characterized by a positive value of nitrite ion (Table 2) and contributes 7.68% to the total

	Natural		Anthropogenic	2		
Variable	Factor (1)	Factor (2)	Factor (3)	Factor (4)	Factor (5)	Factor (6)
pН	- 0.233	- 0.900	- 0.045	0.042	0.023	0.014
TPH	0.102	- 0.034	- 0.267	0.746	- 0.024	- 0.201
TDS	0.924	0.205	0.171	0.158	- 0.002	-0.058
Cl ⁻	0.888	0.251	0.203	0.146	- 0.086	-0.058
SO_4^{2-}	0.927	0.086	0.203	0.063	0.041	- 0.046
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	0.289	- 0.045	0.198	0.783	- 0.051	0.162
NO_2^-	0.254	- 0.059	0.797	- 0.075	- 0.173	- 0.004
NO ₃ ⁻	0.514	0.012	0.500	- 0.031	0.363	0.121
PO4 ³⁻	-0.100	0.041	0.012	- 0.039	0.027	0.886
CO3 ²⁻	- 0.140	- 0.692	-0.074	- 0.010	- 0.023	- 0.337
HCO ₃ ⁻	- 0.297	- 0.159	- 0.120	0.026	0.460	0.208
TH	0.927	0.160	0.147	0.188	0.053	- 0.033
Ca ²⁺	0.729	- 0.069	- 0.382	- 0.182	- 0.231	0.092
Mg^{2+}	0.798	0.215	0.326	0.313	0.085	- 0.050
K^+	0.807	- 0.032	- 0.375	- 0.106	0.008	0.039
Na ⁺	0.931	0.150	0.196	0.133	- 0.004	- 0.045
Surfactants	0.732	0.131	0.107	0.165	0.085	- 0.116
CO ₂	0.094	0.845	- 0.133	- 0.025	- 0.013	- 0.165
Phenol	0.196	0.078	- 0.015	- 0.077	0.873	- 0.086
Eigenvalue	7.984	1.960	1.458	1.307	1.160	1.015
% of variance	42.023	10.315	7.676	6.881	6.105	5.340
Cumulative %	42.023	52.337	60.013	66.894	73.000	78.339

 Table 2
 Factor loadings (Varimax normalized)

variance. NO_2^- does not correlate with any chemicals. The presence of the parameter could be explained as a semi-product of the natural denitrification/deammonification processes in the groundwater environment according to Hisckock et al. (1991).

PC 4

TPH and ammonia ion represent PC 4 and account for 6.89% of the total contamination (Table 2). Both chemicals have no correlation according Table 3, which shows their independence on the other variables. This level of petroleum hydrocarbons in drinking water can lead to damage of the nervous system and carcinogen and narcotic effects associated caused by some hydrocarbons (Logeshwaran et al. 2018). In addition, even a few micrograms of TPH per litre deteriorate the odour and taste of the contaminated water. The high loading of NH₄⁺ is associated with

extremally high concentrations of ammonia in discharges (Radelyuk et al. 2019). Hence, the amount of ammonia is not degraded during the saturation processes and some traces still presence in the groundwater. This factor is certainly attributed to groundwater pollution from the petrochemical industry.

PC 5

PC 5 is characterized by positive value of phenols (Table 2), which accounts for 6.11% of the whole contamination. This parameter is characterized as a very toxic pollutant. Concentrations of the phenolic compounds probably exceed the permissible level (Table 1); the exposure is evaluated as a potential risk for public health. The loading of this parameter is directly related to the specification of petrochemical wastewater.

Table 3	Pearso	n corre	elation m	atrix for	19 hydrc	chemica	al variable	s (whole	e dataset)	*_									
	Hq	HdT	TDS	CI^	$\mathrm{SO_4}^{2-}$	$\mathrm{NH_4^+}$	NO_2^-	NO ₃ -	PO_4^{3-}	$\mathrm{CO_3}^{2-}$	HCO ₃ ⁻	ΗT	Ca^{2+}	${\rm Mg}^{2+}$	\mathbf{K}^+	Na ⁺	Surfactants	CO_2	Phenol index
Hq	1	0.062	- 0.389	- 0.420	- 0.296		- 0.061	- 0.148		0.578	0.164	- 0.342	- 0.132	- 0.346	- 0.141	- 0.354	- 0.373	- 0.731	- 0.072
HAT		1	0.132	0.106	0.117	0.344	- 0.070		-0.128		-0.165	0.142		0.140	0.175	0.123	0.188		
TDS			1	179.0	0.941	0.373	0.290	0.479	-0.117	-0.235	-0.307	0.972	0.509	0.942	0.607	0.979	0.715	0.234	0.171
Cl [_]				1	0.878	0.380	0.324	0.475	-0.119	-0.251	-0.339	0.934	0.513	0.915	0.567	0.951	0.683	0.287	0.096
SO_4^{2-}					1	0.307	0.404	0.516	-0.106	-0.198	-0.282	0.914	0.520	0.847	0.667	0.926	0.734	0.130	0.222
NH4 ⁺						1	0.166	0.238		-0.089		0.419	0.131	0.499	0.101	0.373	0.300	-0.059	- 0.062
NO_2^-							1	0.464		-0.069	-0.157	0.256		0.304		0.335	0.276		-0.070
NO_3^-								1		-0.215	- 0.124	0.504	0.181	0.504	0.342	0.512	0.432		0.347
PO_4^{3-}									1	- 0.125	0.070	- 0.115	- 0.085	-0.100	-0.081	- 0.113	- 0.129		
CO_{3}^{2-}										1	0.124	- 0.238	- 0.098	- 0.237	- 0.138	-0.208	- 0.075	-0.353	-0.091
HCO ₃ ⁻											1	-0.307	-0.186	-0.271	-0.193	-0.310	-0.100	-0.112	0.063
TH												1	0.521	0.945	0.628	0.961	0.706	0.178	0.228
Ca^{2+}													-	0.299	0.713	0.558	0.391	0.080	
${\rm Mg}^{2+}$														1	0.409	0.925	0.641	0.199	0.213
\mathbf{K}^+															1	0.592	0.532	0.127	0.148
Na^+																1	0.705	0.181	0.183
Surfactants																	1	0.184	0.126
CO_2																		1	0.068
Phenol																			1
index																			
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				1 20 0	-	-			•										

*Insignificant coefficients at the 0.05 level are removed. Bold values represent significant coefficients higher than 0.5
One more significant factor belongs to the influence of phosphate-ions and is rated by 5.34% of the total variance (Table 2). It should be pointed out that the enterprise does not provide monitoring of phosphate concentration in the discharges. Nevertheless, the refining processes is associated with a vast number of washing processes, which leads to big consumption of different detergents, which contain phosphate substances. As the rocks and fertilizers are absent in the study area (Rao and Prasad 1997), we can conclude that the loading of the contaminant is an indicator of anthropogenic impact on the groundwater.



Fig. 9 Dendrogram showing clustering of sampling sites according to groundwater characteristics (Ward Linkage. Euclidean Distance)

Table 4 Selected variables characteristics*

Variable	Toxic	Non-toxic
Number of observations	324	351
	48.0%	52.0%
Number (%) of exceeded values	255 (78.7)	248 (70.7)
Dependent variables		
Toxic contaminant	1.0	0.0
% of exceeding	664 (1042)	862 (1526)

*Statistics of chosen chemicals is available from Table 1

Cluster analysis

Based on the performed CA and results above, the study area was divided into three clusters. Figure 9 shows a dendrogram of all nine sampling sites into three statistically meaningful clusters yielded by cluster analysis. Cluster 1 combines observed wells W9 and W2. These wells are labelled as highly contaminated with the highest exceeding of many chemical parameters. Figure 4a shows their similarities in the distribution of pH, which is followed by host geology. The wells are situated on the southwest site from the pond and probably approve an assumption about direction of groundwater flow. Cluster 2 is formed by wells W7, W8, W1 and W3. These wells are located on the south and west sides of the pond and characterized by twofold characteristics: firstly, significant pollution rate, including the same concentrations of the TDS and TDS related chemicals and secondly, the equal temporal distribution of pH. It means that groundwater on that site is affected by pollutant transport from the pond in the same manner. Finally, Cluster 3 is represented by wells W6, W4 and W5. All wells are located north of the pond and are characterized by lower concentrations of the pollutants compared to other wells. We may consider that groundwater flow originates from east to west, and potential hazard exists for rural inhabitants towards to west and south-west direction from the pond.

The Heckman selection model

This study uses the Heckman selection model to estimate relationships between total contamination and other characteristics, especially, significance of toxicity rate. If we adapt Eqs. (4) and (5) for our case

 Table 5
 Estimated results of the Heckman selection model (two-step) for selected chemicals

Variable	Coefficient	Std. Err	Z-statistic
Chemical	- 0.156	0.074	- 2.11
Concentration	1.576	0.260	6.07
Toxicity rate	0.789	0.245	3.22
Number of well	0.020	0.025	0.83
Rho	1.0		

according Stata manual (STATA 2013), we can represent the equations respectively as:

% of exceeding =
$$\beta_1$$
chemical + β_2 concentration
+ u_i , (7)

and we assumed that "% of exceeding" is estimated if

$$\gamma_1$$
toxicity + γ_2 number of well + γ_3 chemical γ_4
+ concentration + $v_i > 0$, (8)

where ui and vi have positive correlation ρ .

Table 4 shows the selected variables used in this analysis and their descriptive statistics. The first dependent variable (D_i) represents toxicity of the chosen chemical. The value equals 1 if the pollutant is toxic and 0 if not. The second set of dependent variables (Y_i) includes percentage of exceeding. This characteristic mathematically represents rate of contamination. Mean percentage of selected (toxic or nontoxic) exceeding was calculated. For example, if the concentration of TPH measurement was 0.25 mg/L, but standard value is no more than 0.1 mg/L, then dependent variable equals 250%. This variable includes only exceeded values. Otherwise, if the value is normal, a cell in a matrix is empty. Numbers in parentheses are standard deviations of the average values. Set of control variables (X_i) includes chosen contaminants, their concentrations and locations. According requirements (Kazakhstan 2015), TH, TPH, and Na⁺ are considered as hazardous for public health and rated with value 1.0 for the variable D_i . TDS, sulphates and chlorides are considered as nontoxic and were rated as value 0.0 for the variable D_i . We encrypted TDS, Cl⁻, SO₄²⁻, Na⁺, TH and TPH in the table of variables as "1", "2", "3", "4", "5" and "6", respectively. The contaminants are not a subject for assessment in this analysis.

Table 5 presents the estimation for this type of analysis. Rho has a positive value, which means that it is possible to estimate relationships between chosen variables and final contamination. All variables, excluding number of well (which represents location of the wells), are considered as significant. The concentration of pollutants has the greatest influence on total contamination. Positive value explains likelihood of potential hazard for people health. Obviously, the high concentrations of the pollutants lead to deterioration of health, especially during long-term exposure. In our case, 503 of 675 values exceed acceptable limits by 7-8 times averagely. The variable of toxicity rate is the second significant factor. This variable reflects to lower percentage of exceedings for toxic contaminants than for non-toxic, instead of higher number of exceeded values for toxic contaminants than non-toxic. Our hypothesize assumes that even if the concentration of the toxic contaminant exceeds the standard by just a few units, the toxic properties could be much more dangerous for human health, compared with the consumption of highly polluted water by non-toxic contaminants. The independent chemicals represent the third significant variable. Individual characteristics of chosen chemicals are explained in sub-section "Groundwater quality parameters". The location of the well is rated as not significant parameter. Nevertheless, the investigation of hydrogeological characteristics deserves attention in the future work and determines the spread of contamination.

Conclusions

This study investigated the current situation of groundwater safety for public health surrounding a contaminated site in Kazakhstan. The results show that PCAs have high loading of anthropogenic contamination to groundwater from the oil refinery industry coupled with natural geochemical processes. In addition, exceeding concentrations of hazardous substances, including TPH, phenols, TH, and TDS were identified. By means of cluster analysis we were able to combine the examined wells in three groups according to the concentrations of chemicals and their locations. Highly polluted groundwater was distributed especially in west and south-west direction from the pond. The results enable the prediction of the groundwater flow in the study area as well as the estimation of sites heavily affected by contamination. The usage of Heckman selection model, to the authors' knowledge, is the first attempt in the literature, applied to evaluation of environmental factors. According to obtained data from Heckman analysis, focus should be paid to the distribution of toxic contaminants.

For this purpose, further research considers: (1) Groundwater modelling for definite identification of groundwater flow and potentially affected rural areas; (2) Contamination transport modelling, as the industry continue polluting the environment, the assessment of present and future hazards is highly needed; (3) Development of a remediation plan, which has to be built on the qualitative studies (1) and (2).

This study might be used as a trigger to drive and engage all stakeholders into the transparent dialogue about potential consequences of non-sustainable wastewater management at oil refinery industry. The potential actions might include implementation of successful legislative standards, development of new efficient monitoring programs, stimulation the industry to innovative and water-saving treatment methods and a creation of a site contamination/remediation programs.

This research has several limitations. Firstly, the limited dataset covers only period from 2013 to 2019. Secondly, despite of the concentrations of TPH are identified, the lack of data on specific hydrocarbon type such as PAH and BTEX limited the analysis on the toxicity. Thirdly, the lack of access to hydrogeological data limited the accuracy of the ground water flow estimation. Authors of this paper recommend initiating a dialogue between industry, government, and academia for research-based decision-making in this area.

Acknowledgments Open access funding provided by Lund University. Åke och Greta Lissheds stiftelse supported this research (Reference ID: 2019-00112). The first author was funded by Bolashak International Scholarship Program of Kazakhstan.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflicts of interest The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Allen, D., & Suchy, M. (2001). Geochemical evolution of groundwater on Saturna Island, British Columbia. *Canadian Journal of Earth Sciences*, 38(7), 1059–1080. https:// doi.org/10.1139/e01-007.
- Amanah, T., Putranto, T., & Helmi, M. Application of cluster analysis and principal component analysis for assessment of groundwater quality—A study in Semarang, Central Java, Indonesia. In *IOP conference series: earth and environmental science, 2019* (Vol. 248, pp. 012063). IOP Publishing.
- Angelino, S., & Gennaro, M. C. (1997). An ion-interaction RP-HPLC method for the determination of the eleven EPA priority pollutant phenols. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 346(1), 61–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-2670(97)00124-4.
- Awomeso, J. A., Ahmad, S. M., & Taiwo, A. M. (2020). Multivariate assessment of groundwater quality in the basement rocks of Osun State, Southwest. *Nigeria*. *Environmental Earth Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12665-020-8858-z.
- Bekturganov, Z., Tussupova, K., Berndtsson, R., Sharapatova, N., Aryngazin, K., & Zhanasova, M. (2016). Water related health problems in Central Asia-a review. *Water*, 8, 6. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8060219.
- Bouteraa, O., Mebarki, A., Bouaicha, F., Nouaceur, Z., & Laignel, B. (2019). Groundwater quality assessment using multivariate analysis, geostatistical modeling, and water quality index (WQI): a case of study in the Boumerzoug-El Khroub valley of Northeast Algeria. Acta Geochimica, 38(6), 796–814. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11631-019-00329-x.
- BP (2018). BP Statistical review of world energy. https://www. bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/ corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/statistical-review/bpstats-review-2018-full-report.pdf.
- Cloutier, V., Lefebvre, R., Therrien, R., & Savard, M. M. (2008). Multivariate statistical analysis of geochemical data as indicative of the hydrogeochemical evolution of groundwater in a sedimentary rock aquifer system. *Journal* of Hydrology, 353(3–4), 294–313. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.jhydrol.2008.02.015.
- Egbueri, J. C. (2019). Evaluation and characterization of the groundwater quality and hydrogeochemistry of Ogbaru farming district in southeastern Nigeria. *Sn Applied Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-019-0853-1.
- EPA. (2012). Ambient water quality criteria for phenol. https:// www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2019-03/documents/ ambient-wqc-phenol-1980.pdf.
- Gadgil, A. (1998). Drinking water in developing countries. Annual Review of Energy and the Environment, 23, 253–286. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy.23.1. 253.
- Ghahremanzadeh, H., Noori, R., Baghvand, A., & Nasrabadi, T. (2018). Evaluating the main sources of groundwater pollution in the southern Tehran aquifer using principal component factor analysis. *Environmental Geochemistry* and Health, 40(4), 1317–1328. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10653-017-0058-8.

- Heaven, S., Banks, C. J., Pak, L. N., & Rspaev, M. K. (2007). Wastewater reuse in central Asia: Implications for the design of pond systems. *Water Science and Technology*, 55(1–2), 85–93. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2007.061.
- Heckman, J. J. (1979). Sample selection bias as a specification error. *Econometrica*, 47(1), 153–161. https://doi.org/10. 2307/1912352.
- Hem, J. D. (1970). Study and interpretation of the chemical characteristics of natural water (Vol. 1473): US Government Printing Office.
- Hiscock, K. M., Lloyd, J. W., & Lerner, D. N. (1991). Review of natural and artificial denitrification of groundwater. *Water Research*, 25(9), 1099–1111. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0043-1354(91)90203-3.
- Houlihan, M. F., & Lucia, P. C. (1999). Groundwater monitoring. In J. W. Delleur (Ed.), *The Handbook of Groundwater Engineering*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press.
- Kaiser, H. F. (1958). The varimax criterion for analytic rotation in factor-analysis. *Psychometrika*, 23(3), 187–200. https:// doi.org/10.1007/Bf02289233.
- Kaplan, S., Nielsen, T. A. S., & Prato, C. G. (2016). Walking, cycling and the urban form: A Heckman selection model of active travel mode and distance by young adolescents. *Transportation Research Part D-Transport and Environment*, 44, 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2016.02.011.
- Karatayev, M., Kapsalyamova, Z., Spankulova, L., Skakova, A., Movkebayeva, G., & Kongyrbay, A. (2017). Priorities and challenges for a sustainable management of water resources in Kazakhstan. Sustainability of Water Quality and Ecology, 9–10, 115–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.swaqe. 2017.09.002.
- Kazakhstan. (2012). Order Nº110 of the Minister of the Environment "On approval of the methodology for determining emission standards for the environment". https://adilet. zan.kz/rus/docs/V1200007664.
- Kazakhstan. (2015). Sanitary and epidemiological requirements for water sources, water intake points for household and drinking purposes, domestic and drinking water supply and places of cultural and domestic water use and water safety. https://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/V1500010774.
- Kazi, T. G., Arain, M. B., Jamali, M. K., Jalbani, N., Afridi, H. I., Sarfraz, R. A., et al. (2009). Assessment of water quality of polluted lake using multivariate statistical techniques: A case study. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 72(2), 301–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2008.02. 024.
- Kovalick, W. W., & Montgomery, R. H. (2017). Models and lessons for developing a contaminated site program: An international review. *Environmental Technology & Inno*vation, 7, 77–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2016.12.005.
- Li, Q., Zhang, H., Guo, S., Fu, K., Liao, L., Xu, Y., et al. (2019). Groundwater pollution source apportionment using principal component analysis in a multiple land-use area in southwestern China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research.* https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-019-06126-6.
- Liu, C. W., Lin, K. H., & Kuo, Y. M. (2003). Application of factor analysis in the assessment of groundwater quality in a blackfoot disease area in Taiwan. *Science of the Total Environment*, 313(1–3), 77–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0048-9697(02)00683-6.

- 1049
- Logeshwaran, P., Megharaj, M., Chadalavada, S., Bowman, M., & Naidu, R. (2018). Petroleum hydrocarbons (PH) in groundwater aquifers: An overview of environmental fate, toxicity, microbial degradation and risk-based remediation approaches. *Environmental Technology & Innovation*, 10, 175–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eti.2018.02.001.
- Lucas, L., Riddell, L., Liem, G., Whitelock, S., & Keast, R. (2011). The influence of sodium on liking and consumption of salty food. *Journal of Food Science*, 76(1), S72–S76. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01939.x.
- Maskooni, E. K., Naseri-Rad, M., Berndtsson, R., & Nakagawa, K. (2020). Use of heavy metal content and modified water quality index to assess groundwater quality in a semiarid area. Water, 12(4), 1115. https://doi.org/10.3390/ w12041115.
- Nair, C. I., Jayachandran, K., & Shashidhar, S. (2008). Biodegradation of phenol. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 7(25), 4951–4958. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJB08. 087.
- Naseh, M. R. V., Noori, R., Berndtsson, R., Adamowski, J., & Sadatipour, E. (2018). Groundwater pollution sources apportionment in the Ghaen Plain, Iran. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15, 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15010172.
- Naseri Rad, M., & Berndtsson, R. (2019). Shortcomings in current practices for decision-making process and contaminated sites remediation. *The 5th World Congress on New Technologies*, https://doi.org/10.11159/ICEPR19. 155.
- Naseri Rad, M., Berndtsson, R., Persson, K. M., & Nakagawa, K. (2020). INSIDE: An efficient guide for sustainable remediation practice in addressing contaminated soil and groundwater. *Science of the Total Environment*. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139879.
- Noori, R., Sabahi, M. S., Karbassi, A. R., Baghvand, A., & Zadeh, H. T. (2010). Multivariate statistical analysis of surface water quality based on correlations and variations in the data set. *Desalination*, 260(1–3), 129–136. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.desal.2010.04.053.
- Omo-Irabor, O. O., Olobaniyi, S. B., Oduyemli, K., & Alunna, J. (2008). Surface and groundwater water quality assessment using multivariate analytical methods: A case study of the Western Niger Delta, Nigeria. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 33(8–13), 666–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pce.2008.06.019.
- Patil, V. B. B., Pinto, S. M., Govindaraju, T., Hebbalu, V. S., Bhat, V., & Kannanur, L. N. (2020). Multivariate statistics and water quality index (WQI) approach for geochemical assessment of groundwater quality—a case study of Kanavi Halla Sub-Basin, Belagavi, India. Environmental Geochemistry and Health, 1–18.
- Pinedo, J., Ibanez, R., Lijzen, J. P. A., & Irabien, A. (2013). Assessment of soil pollution based on total petroleum hydrocarbons and individual oil substances. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 130, 72–79. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.08.048.
- Piper, A. M. (1944). A graphic procedure in the geochemical interpretation of water-analyses. *Transactions-American Geophysical Union*, 25, 914–923. https://doi.org/10.1029/ tr025i006p00914.

- Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Zhapargazinova, K., Yelubay, M., & Persson, M. (2019). Pitfalls of wastewater treatment in oil refinery enterprises in kazakhstan-a system approach. *Sustainability*. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061618.
- Rao, N. S., & Prasad, P. R. (1997). Phosphate pollution in the groundwater of lower Vamsadhara river basin, India. *Environmental Geology*, 31(1–2), 117–122. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s002540050170.
- Sartori, A. E. (2003). An estimator for some binary-outcome selection models without exclusion restrictions. *Political Analysis*, 11(2), 111–138. https://doi.org/10.1093/pan/ mpg001.
- Shrestha, S., & Kazama, F. (2006). Multivariate statistical techniques for the assessment of surface water quality of Fuji River Basin, Japan. *5th World Water Congress: Water Services Management*, 6(5), 59–67, doi:https://doi.org/10. 2166/ws.2006.802.
- Shrestha, S., & Kazama, F. (2007). Assessment of surface water quality using multivariate statistical techniques: A case study of the Fuji river basin, Japan. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 22(4), 464–475. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envsoft.2006.02.001.
- Stambuk-Giljanovic, N., & Stambuk, D. (2005). Information subsystem of total hardness (Ca + Mg) as a database for studying its influence on human health. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 29(6), 671–678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-005-6135-z.
- STATA. (2013). Heckman selection model. https://www.stata. com/manuals/rheckman.pdf.
- Sun, D. Q., Bai, J. F., Qiu, H. G., & Cai, Y. Q. (2014). Impact of government subsidies on household biogas use in rural China. *Energy Policy*, 73, 748–756. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.enpol.2014.06.009.
- Trabelsi, R., & Zouari, K. (2019). Coupled geochemical modeling and multivariate statistical analysis approach for the assessment of groundwater quality in irrigated areas: A study from North Eastern of Tunisia. Groundwater for Sustainable Development, 8, 413–427.
- Tussupova, K., Berndtsson, R., Bramryd, T., & Beisenova, R. (2015). Investigating willingness to pay to improve water supply services: Application of contingent valuation

method. Water, 7(6), 3024–3039. https://doi.org/10.3390/ w7063024.

- Tussupova, K., Hjorth, P., & Berndtsson, R. (2016). Access to Drinking Water and Sanitation in Rural Kazakhstan. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13, 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13111115.
- UN. (2019). FAO UN. Country Fact Sheet. Kazakhstan. https:// www.fao.org/nr/water/aquastat/data/cf/readPdf.html?f= KAZ-CF_eng.pdf.
- UNECE. (2019). Environmental performance review for Kazakhstan. https://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/env/ epr/epr_studies/ECE_CEP_185_Eng.pdf.
- UNESCO. (2015). Water for a sustainable world. Facts and figures. https://www.unesco.org/new/fileadmin/ MULTIMEDIA/HQ/SC/images/WWDR2015Facts_ Figures ENG web.pdf.
- Wake, H. (2005). Oil refineries: A review of their ecological impacts on the aquatic environment. *Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science*, 62(1–2), 131–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecss.2004.08.013.
- West, C. C., & Harwell, J. H. (1992). Surfactants and subsurface remediation. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 26(12), 2324–2330. https://doi.org/10.1021/es00036a002.
- WHO. (2006). Protecting groundwater for health: Managing the quality of drinking-water sources. (Vol. 1, pp. 310).
- WHO (2017). Guidelines for drinking-water quality https:// apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/254637/ 9789241549950-eng.pdf?sequence=1.
- Xu, X. C., Wong, S. C., Zhu, F., Pei, X., Huang, H. L., & Liu, Y. J. (2017). A Heckman selection model for the safety analysis of signalized intersections. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181544.
- Zhupankhan, A., Tussupova, K., & Berndtsson, R. (2018). Water in Kazakhstan, a key in Central Asian water management. Hydrological Sciences Journal-Journal Des Sciences Hydrologiques, 63(5), 752–762. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02626667.2018.1447111.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Paper III

Assessing data-scarce contaminated groundwater sites surrounding petrochemical industries

Ivan Radelyuk^{*1,2}, Mehran Naseri-Rad^{*1}, Hossein Hashemi^{1,3}, Magnus Persson¹, Ronny Berndtsson^{1,3}, Madeniyet Yelubay², and Kamshat Tussupova^{1,4}

¹Division of Water Resources Engineering, Lund University, Box 118, SE-22100 Lund, Sweden

²Department of Chemistry and Chemical Technologies, Pavlodar State University, Pavlodar 140000, Kazakhstan

³Centre for Advanced Middle Eastern Studies, Lund University, Box 201, SE-22100 Lund, Sweden

⁴Kazakh National Agrarian University, Almaty 050010, Kazakhstan

*Correspondence to: ivan.radelyuk@tvrl.lth.se and mehran.naseri_rad@tvrl.lth.se

Abstract: A common problem when studying groundwater contamination in low-income countries is that data required for a detailed risk assessment are limited. This study presents a method for assessment of the potential impact of groundwater contamination by total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH) in a datascarce region. Groundwater modeling, using the MODFLOW, was used to simulate regional scale flow pattern. Then, a semi-analytical contamination transport model was calibrated by minimization of the absolute errors between measured and modeled concentrations. The method was applied to a case study in Kazakhstan to assess the potential spreading of a TPH plume, based on historical observations. The limited data included general information about the local geology, observations of GW level in the area, and concentrations during five years of TPH in monitoring wells surrounding the source of the pollution. The results show that the plume could spread up to 2-6 km from the source, depending on estimate of the initial concentrations, until the concentration reaches permissible levels. Sensitivity analysis identified parameters of longitudinal and transverse dynamic dispersivity together with the plume of TPH spreading, as the priority subjects for future investigations. The proposed approach can be used as a tool for governmental and municipal decision makers to better plan the usage of affected groundwater sites in data-scarce regions. It can also help to decrease the negative impact of contaminated GW on human health and to better manage the industrial pollution.

Keywords: Groundwater contamination, Petrochemical industry, MODFLOW, Contamination transport, Sensitivity analysis, Kazakhstan

1. Introduction

Industrial activities are recognized as major source of pollution worldwide (Hossain 2011). Kazakhstan is a country that currently invests heavily in industrial capacity to develop the economy (UN 2019). Industrial development and economic growth, however, put pressure on environment and may jeopardize environmental safety and wellbeing of society (Li 2016). Several studies have shown that air (Assanov et al. 2021), water (Hrkal et al. 2006; Karatayev et al. 2017), and soil (Mikolasch et al. 2019; Woszczyk et al. 2018) are under pressure from industrial pollution in Kazakhstan. The current severe ecological status in many industrial regions serves as a challenge for the country to enforce environmental assessment, policy, and remediation practices (Russell et al. 2018). Up to 65% of all freshwater resources in Kazakhstan may be permanently lost due to wasteful use and polluting activities. Simultaneously, the industry consumes about 25% of all available freshwater in Kazakhstan (Karatayev et al. 2017). It is projected that the mismanagement of freshwater resources could lead to a national water deficit by 2030 (Thomas 2015).

Processes of water usage in the oil refinery industry in Kazakhstan with consequent environmental pollution have already been described by Radelyuk et al. (2019). While Kazakhstan has declared it will carry out the implementation of Best Available Techniques (BAT) and approaches towards developing

a green economy, the mechanisms for implementation of such measures still have loopholes. According to Kazakhstani law, if water in a wastewater discharge point is already polluted and water quality can not be assured as safe for any type of usage, further wastewater discharge may continue without strict limitation (Ministry of Environment 2012). The requirement for this is that the receiving water body should not be used as a source for drinking, domestic use, or irrigation purposes. Also, the impact on groundwater should be eliminated, as even a relatively small pollution discharge may affect the whole aquifer (Naseri-Rad et al. 2020; Water Code 2003). According to Locatelli et al. (2019), when groundwater has been exposed to pollution for decades, the concentration in the aquifer may have achieved quasi-steady-state conditions. In Kazakhstan, many receiving water bodies, such as lakes and ponds, have already been polluted during the Soviet period and the pollution process has been continuing ever since. Thus, industries in Kazakhstan use their legal right to discharge improperly treated wastewater into the environment.

Monitoring of groundwater quality in Kazakhstan is usually carried out by installation of observation wells surrounding the source of contamination. The concentration of contaminants should not exceed the defined limit at a regulated boundary of a sanitary zone, which is defined as being 1000 m downgradient from a contamination source (Ministry of Economy 2015). However, recent research in the experimental area of this study has shown that pollutant concentrations often exceed permissible levels outside the sanitary zone. Consequently, pollutants at some sites are likely to be spreading towards areas with substantial groundwater use (Radelyuk et al. 2021).

According to EU (EU 2002), the following investigations should be considered to analyze existing pressures and impacts of the pollution on environment and health of settlements: (1) groundwater modeling for identification of groundwater flow and potentially affected areas, and (2) contamination transport modeling, as the old industrial spills continue polluting the aquifer. These studies are a basis for further management of the affected area. Groundwater research, a key component of the procedure, is associated with long-term investigations, uncertainty, challenges for cooperation and data sharing between a wide range of stakeholders, and the use of advanced technological measures to determine the likely fate of contaminants in the subsurface (Li 2016). Karatayev et al. (2017) noted, that poor collaboration between key stakeholders (government, industry, and academia) in Kazakhstan is a major weakness for supplying decision makers with quantitative facts. Consequently, the required research faces several limitations.

Under the conditions of lacking relevant data, a holistic view is needed to evaluate the situation and to give input to decision making and actions towards improvement of the ecological status of the affected region. This research is an attempt to deal with the complexity assessing and managing groundwater pollution in a low-income country like Kazakhstan, and to obtain an insight concerning pollution spread in an efficient manner in situations where limited data are available.

The method proposed in this study uses a two-step procedure. The first step includes carrying out numerical groundwater modeling using MODFLOW to define the groundwater flow direction. In the second step, a contamination transport model is applied for general description of plume development in the aquifer. As a result, the potential fate of contaminants can be assessed under consideration of different scenarios, depending on local conditions. The suggested method is applied to a case study where groundwater contamination occurs from a petrochemical industrial cluster in Kazakhstan. The aim is, firstly: to identify the area of the aquifer that would be affected by contamination based on historical observations; and secondly, to assess the potential hazard from the spreading of the contamination in groundwater under different scenarios.

This paper consists of the following sections. The Methodology section includes three parts. Part 1 presents the general procedure of the developed method. Part 2 gives general insights about requirements for each step of the procedure. Part 3 shows, how the method was applied to a real-world case study with limited data. The Results and Discussion present results of the applied method. The

Conclusions section discusses limitations, advantages, and disadvantages of the method, and how the method can be used for real-world problems.

2. Methodology

2.1. Procedure

The procedure developed in the present study is introduced in Figure 1. Firstly, all available data should be collected and screened. Potential data sources are official reports from the government and industry. personal communication, and previous research in nearby areas (Step 1). Secondly, groundwater modeling is performed, using a basic set of information regarding local lithology, boundary conditions, and observed piezometric heads (Step 2). A regional-scale model is developed if the area of investigations is large. After calibration of the regional scale model, local scale modelling is carried out to define the direction of groundwater flow, as a starting point for contamination transport modeling. Modeling result is considered reliable if the estimated hydrogeological characteristics match the values from technical reports and available literature. Finally, contamination transport modeling is carried out to consider real and potential scenarios of contamination within the aquifer (Step 3). A steady state contamination transport model is based on the solution of partial differential equations for advectiondispersion processes. The modeling is considered successful, if the calibrated input parameters to the contamination transport modeling fit the values from the groundwater modelling and available data, including measured against modeled concentrations (McMahon et al. 2001). Then, the obtained parameters are used for estimation of spreading of the contamination plume in space, based on historical records and potential scenarios.



Figure 1. Schematic of the methodology used in this study.

2.2. General description of the developed method

2.2.1. Step 1. Data preparation

Data needed for groundwater modeling are obtained from hydrogeological field studies. Modeling of groundwater flow is reliable when geological characteristics such as the properties of the aquifer matrix, the aquifer thickness and bedrock elevations and hydrological properties such as groundwater levels, boundary characteristics, the hydraulic conductivity (HK) of the aquifer matrix, conductance, and other data if they are available (Hashemi et al. 2013; Hashemi et al. 2015). However, data from especially older studies need to be quality controlled. The collected data are used to characterize the aquifer, define boundary conditions, achieve an efficient discretization scheme, and subsequently, to build the groundwater flow model.

Contamination transport modeling requires information about advection-dispersion processes in the porous media, which depends on both properties of geological layers and the contaminant. They include: concentrations of contaminants at the monitoring points to validate the process of contaminant spread and related characteristics; starting concentrations of the pollutants, depending on the source of pollution, and recharge concentrations of the pollutants depending on the load from the source. The

required local geological characteristics for transport modelling include longitudinal dispersivity and porosity. Field studies are important and if lacking, uncertainty increases (Naseri-Rad and Berndtsson 2019).

2.2.2. Step 2. GW modeling

After all available data are gathered, a conceptual site model (CSM), which is an efficient tool for presentation and understanding of groundwater flow and transport processes (Todd and Mays 2005), is created. The CSM is a consideration of all hydrogeological processes that control the transport, migration, and any potential and real impacts of contamination in groundwater. The conceptualization includes firstly, assignment of boundary conditions, such as identification and consideration of inflows/outflows/barriers to the system, geometry, receptor(s), interactions between surface water and groundwater, etc.; and secondly, assignment of values for aquifer characteristics (McMahon et al. 2001).

The choice of a modelling approach depends on two factors: the data availability and reflection to the modeling objectives (McMahon et al. 2001). In case of model construction for investigation of groundwater pollution, one of the most popular and efficient tools for GW modeling is MODFLOW-2000, which was developed by McDonald and Harbaugh (Harbaugh et al. 2000). The CSM is represented in a quantitative framework, which is based on the principal equation of the three-dimensional groundwater flow equation for porous medium using a finite-difference method. The Groundwater Modeling System (GMS 9.0) software can be used to perform the modelling under a steady-state condition (Eqn (1)).

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(K_{xx} \frac{\partial h}{\partial x} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \left(K_{yy} \frac{\partial h}{\partial y} \right) + \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \left(K_{zz} \frac{\partial h}{\partial z} \right) \pm W = 0 \tag{1}$$

where K_{xx} , K_{yy} , and K_{zz} are hydraulic conductivity along the *x*, *y*, and *z* axis assumed to be parallel to the major axes of hydraulic conductivity (m/d); *h* is the potentiometric head (m); and *W* is volumetric flux per unit volume, representing sources and/or sinks of water. Steady state modeling is the optimal option for consideration of boundary conditions as well as simulating the general groundwater flow (Hashemi et al., 2012). Thus, steady-state conditions are assumed as the best option under data scarcity, such as lack of information about temporal changes of groundwater level, storage parameters, recharge, and discharge rates.

The next step is the calibration process, which aims to estimate and utilise all available model parameters. Manual (trial and error), automated (e.g., PEST package (Doherty et al. 1994)), and combined (manual and automated) calibration methods can be used to calibrate the model by minimizing the difference between simulated and observed groundwater levels, as those measurements are usually available and are commonly used in the calibration processes (Barnett et al., 2012). The problem with only head data being available is that this parameter on its own cannot mathematically constrain an inverse solution of the groundwater flow equation (Haitjema 2006). This problem can be solved by using other parameters for calibration, such as hydraulic conductivity, conductance, transmissivity and drain values with ranges based on reported available data. The process of calibration is considered successful when the root mean square error (RMSE) residual of head is less than a certain value relevant for local conditions (typically 1 m, as default) (Fienen et al. 2013).

If the aquifer is large with limited data and with an uneven distribution of monitoring wells, it is recommended that a number of groundwater flow models are developed at a regional to a local scale. In this case, all the available information together with the simulated regional groundwater flow direction are transferred to the local model as an initial condition. This will help establish reliable conditions for the model boundaries as well as assigning realistic hydraulic parameter values.

However, the local scale modeling calibration may encounter some problems, as the grid size changes from regional to local scale. This may contribute to increased uncertainty of defining correct pathways of contamination transport. To overcome this, while keeping the same layer data such as bottom, surface, and groundwater elevations, the boundary conditions for the local model are assigned to the specified heads (Mehl and Hill 2010). The model grid is re-discretized if needed within the decreased grids. When the groundwater model is calibrated, a particle-tracking tool for MODFLOW, named MODPATH, can be used to assign the required coordinates for contamination transport modeling via displaying the groundwater flow direction in the study area (Pollock 2012). In this way possible pathways for pollution transport can be determined.

2.2.3. Step 3. Contamination transport modeling

The transport model incorporates steady-state solution for groundwater flow as a starting point to compute how concentrations of dissolved contaminants from a plan source change over time as they are transported in groundwater by advection and dispersion. This accounts for the role of varying hydraulic conductivity and other spatially variable hydraulic parameters that accompany aquifer heterogeneity. The transport model used for this purpose is based on partial differential equations for dispersion that have been developed for homogeneous and isotropic media, where Darcy's law is valid (Ogata and Banks 1961; Ogata 1970; Bear 2013).

Generally, contaminant source concentration and mass discharge in time are not well known at most contaminated sites (Locatelli et al. 2019). According to Sauty (1980), if a tracer is continuously injected into a uniform flow field from a point source, contamination will spread as shown in Figure 2. In this case, flow is governed by Eqn. (2), where mass transport is calculated in two dimensions:

$$\frac{\partial C}{\partial t} = D_L \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial x^2} + D_T \frac{\partial^2 C}{\partial y^2} - \nu_x \frac{\partial C}{\partial x}$$
(2)

where v_x is down gradient fluid velocity, D_L is longitudinal dispersion coefficient (m²/d), D_T is transverse dispersion coefficient (m²/d), and C is solute concentration at x, and y (mg/m³).

An observation point with known concentration is assumed at location x = 0, and y = 0 with a uniform flow velocity at a rate v_x parallel to the x axis. Then, a solute is represented with a concentration C_0 at a rate Q over the aquifer thickness, b. The equation to calculate the concentration on a distance from the observation point can be found from a Green function (Bear 2013; Fried 1975) for the injection of a unit amount of a contaminant, under a steady-state condition, is expressed as:

$$C(x,y) = \frac{C_0\left(\frac{Q}{b}\right)}{4\pi(D_L D_T)^{0.5}} \exp\left(\frac{v_x x}{2D_L}\right) K_0\left(\frac{v_x^2}{4D_L}\left(\frac{x^2}{D_L} + \frac{y^2}{4D_T}\right)\right)^{0.5}$$
(3)

where K_0 is the modified Bessel function of the second kind and zero-order, $C_0\left(\frac{Q}{b}\right)$ is the rate that the contaminant is injected, and *b* is the thickness of the aquifer over which the contaminant is injected.

Some parameters (i.e., v_x , D_L , D_T , and Q) need to be addressed, prior to solving Eqn. (3). According to Darcy's law, average linear velocity, v_x , is the rate at which the flux of water across the unit cross-sectional area of pore space occurs (Fetter et al. 2018):

$$v_x = \frac{K}{p} \frac{dh}{dl} \tag{4}$$

where v_x is average linear velocity (m/d), K is hydraulic conductivity (m/d), and p = effective porosity, $\frac{dh}{dl}$ = hydraulic gradient (m/m).

Multiplying v_x by the cross-sectional area of the plume makes up the injection rate of the contaminant (Q) to the aquifer:

$$Q = v_x \cdot T \cdot b \tag{5}$$

where T is plume width and b is the thickness of the aquifer over which the contaminant is injected. The longitudinal and transverse hydrodynamic dispersion, D_L and D_T , respectively, can be calculated as:

$$D_L = \alpha_L v_x + D^* \tag{6}$$

$$D_T = \alpha_T v_x + D^* \tag{7}$$

where α_L is longitudinal dynamic dispersivity and α_T is transverse dynamic dispersivity. A value of longitudinal dispersivity may exceed 50 m for long flow fields (Gelhar 1986). The ratio between α_L and α_T can be equal from 6 to 20.

The D^* is an effective diffusion coefficient, which can be calculated as follows:

$$D^* = \omega D_d \tag{8}$$

where ω is a coefficient related to the tortuosity (Bear 2013) and D_d is the diffusion coefficient (m²/d). However, as D_d is small and ω is always less than 1, the effective diffusion coefficient, D^* is neglected.



Figure 2. Conceptual framework of the contamination transport model.

The solution of the contaminant transport problem (Eqn. (3)) in 2D may be calculated by the Plume2DSS() add-in (Renshaw 2013) in Excel. However, this add-in requires exact values of transport parameters, which are unavailable at the site. Thus, the authors developed an optimizer using Macro in Visual Basic for Application (VBA) in Excel. This Macro solves the Plume2DSS() using an optimizer with multiple iterations within the given range of transport parameters to minimize the absolute error (difference between measured and calculated concentrations at each specific point) for each measurement event.

The model is assigned by the following characteristics: the exact locations of sampling points (x, y, and dL), obtained from the groundwater model; contaminant concentrations; hydraulic gradients between any two wells; and ranges of value changes for transport parameters, i.e., T, b, K, dh, p, α_L , and α_T . The developed code then calculates the concentration at any point downstream by optimizing the calibration parameters in the given range to minimize the error. Once optimal parameters are determined, the model is validated by using these in the Plume2DSS() add-in, and subsequent comparison between C_{calculated} (a concentration, obtained without running the code) and C_{measured}. Thus, optimal transport parameters are numerically obtained via minimization of the absolute error.

As a final step, a fate and transport modelling assessment is carried out. Once all required solute transport parameters are defined, new coordinates $(x+x_i, y+y_i, \text{ and } dL_i)$ are assigned via extension of the already defined pathways (an example is shown in Figure 2 for the pathways BD and/or BC) and C_i $(x+x_i, y+y_i)$ is solved using Eqn. (3).

The proposed method was applied to the case study to illustrate its applicability in a real-world (although admittedly a complex) environmental problem. The complexity in this case study comes from the heterogeneous geology at the site and the persistent and uncertain nature of the contamination.

2.3. Study area description

The Pavlodar region is one of the largest industrial centres in Kazakhstan. Metallurgical, chemical, and petrochemical industrial activities have been causing the environmental condition of the region. The local petrochemical industry is a major actor in the economic activities and the main taxpayer in the region, which accounts for about 50% of the city budget (Neftepererabotchik 2019). As residents of the rural area near the industrial zone are using the groundwater from the shallow aquifer for their drinking and domestic purposes (Tussupova et al. 2016), an investigation was needed to assess potentially affected sites and to prevent members of the local community from drinking unsafe water. The source of potential contamination in this case study is a recipient pond "Sarymsaq" (Appendix A), where wastewater is discharged by the cluster of local petrochemical industry sites (Radelyuk et al. 2021).

The wastewater from the oil refineries is mainly characterized by petroleum hydrocarbons (Alva-Argaez et al. 2007). Even after primary mechanical treatment, it is difficult to remove hydrocarbons from the wastewater (Bruno et al. 2020). The most basic biological treatment method, activated sludge, which is used by refineries in Kazakhstan, cannot efficiently treat the wastewater for two reasons: firstly, because the petroleum hydrocarbons have a low level of biodegradability; and, secondly, because the salinity and toxicity of wastewater inhibits the efficiency of the treating biomass.

While developed countries have identified certain indicators, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), or benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylenes (BTEX), for the better estimation of toxic effects from wastewater (CONCAWE 2018; USEPA 2019), Kazakhstani oil refineries monitor only the sum of total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH), without an assessment of the constituent potentially toxic chemical compounds. The term TPH describes the range of hundreds to thousands of individual compounds. Previous research has shown that hydrocarbons, originating from the petrochemical industry, are practically ubiquitous in groundwater, are usually only biodegraded to a limited extent, and the resulting contaminant plumes may be several kilometers long (Balderacchi et al. 2013). Measured concentrations in groundwater samples show that the amount of TPH constantly exceeds the permissible limit in all monitoring wells surrounding Sarymsaq, which confirms the presence of groundwater pollution in the area (Radelyuk et al. 2021). The amount of TPH usually has maximum peaks during the spring season, which can be explained by intensive snowmelt and large infiltration of water through the soil profile.

2.3.1. Step 1. Data preparation

The following sources of information were used for this study: investigations of the hydrogeological conditions conducted during the Soviet and post-Soviet period (Kosolapov et al. 1993); and several recent field surveys, which mainly confirm the information from the previous investigations. The data, needed for contamination transport modeling, which were collected from representatives of industry, include concentrations of TPH in observation wells. There was no information available on initial concentration of TPH in the pond (as the pond has served as a discharge point for wastewater for over 30 years), recharge concentration of TPH (as it always depends on the load of pollutants from factories, which varies depending on the conditions of wastewater treatment systems and the capacity of the factory itself), and the characteristics of the pond, such as sedimentation properties, geometry of the pond, etc. Also, there were no opportunities to perform investigations and measurements to obtain

detailed data about TPH characteristics and longitudinal dispersivity, and to identify the fraction content and degradation properties of TPH. As the constraint in data availability, particularly, detailed content of TPH in this certain case study, it was decided to follow the example from the Total Petroleum Hydrocarbon Criteria Working Group and assume that TPH is not degradable (Gustafson et al. 1997). Consequently, degradation characteristics of hydrocarbons were neglected in this study.

The study area is located on the western side of the West-Siberian plate. The surface is a mildly sloping plain with elevations ranging from 132 m above mean sea level in the southeast to 105 m in the northwest. The main recharge is from the Salair-Altai mountains, which are situated in Russia, where infiltration of precipitation, melting of glaciers, and runoff in mountain rivers generate an artesian flow toward the region. Locally, the precipitation also feeds the groundwater. The piezometric levels are established at a depth of 2-51 m below the ground surface. The values of transmissivity of the aquifer vary between 22 and 133 m²/d, increasing in the eastern direction (Kosolapov et al. 1993). The groundwater is discharging into the Irtysh River to the west.

The hydrogeological cross-section is mainly represented by three formations (Appendix A). The formation of Upper-Ouaternary deposits of the first supra flood plain terrace (aQ_{III}), which is distributed along Irtysh River, 4-5 km wide. The water-bearing sediments consist of quartz-feldspar sands. The top layer is composed of sandy loam and loam, the bottom layer is composed of gravel and pebbles. The thickness of the formation is up to 20 m. The groundwater in the aquifer has a free surface. The aquifer complex in Upper-Miocene Lower-Middle-Pliocene deposits of the Pavlodar suite (N1-2pv) is distributed over the entire region. The thickness varies from 2-7 m in the northern and northwestern parts of the study area, and increase in a southeasterly direction to 80 m. These sediments are characterized by uneven distribution and the occurrence of sand among the clays. Water-bearing sediments in these aquifers consist of quartz-feldspar and micaceous sands. The sands are coarsegrained with gravel and pebbles in the south, and a fine-grained, sometimes clayey texture, in the north. Groundwater is mostly confined and occurs at a depth of 2-28 m to the surface. The formation of the Kulunda formation (N₂kln) is partly included in the Pavlodar formation. The thickness varies between 5 and 26 m. The water-bearing layer is characterized by alluvial sand, mixed with gravel and pebbles, with clavey and loamy lenses. The Pavlodar formation covers the Tavolzhan formation (N_1 ty). This layer (N₁tv) consists mostly of clay that constitutes a bottom for the upper formation. Thus, the sediments above N₁tv formation is the subject of this study. As the formation is complex and there is only one piezometric measurement available at each well location, we only considered one layer for the modelling procedure.

2.3.2. Step 2. Groundwater modeling

The study area of this research was discretized into a 3D finite-difference model grid as a one-layer unconfined aquifer. The grid size was assumed 500 m under consideration of the large size of the territory as well as the location and the size of the potential contaminant sinks and sources. The ground surface elevation was obtained from the DEM-file from the Advanced Land Observing Satellite (ALOS) project (Advanced Land Observing Satellite (ALOS) Project). Initial head and bottom elevations of the aquifer were generated by inverse distance weighted interpolation of measured values. The groundwater levels in the observation wells around the pond were entered into the model by knowing the exact location of 18 observation wells. However, the resolution of the chosen DEM was 30×30 m, which may affect the accuracy of the calculated levels. The eastern boundary was assigned as a general head boundary, as it crosses a chain of lakes. The conductance and transmissivity values were taken from the technical reports (Panichkin et al. 2008; Kosolapov et al.1993). Irtysh River was assigned as a drain on the western boundary of the model with assigned conductance. This was calculated using:

$$C = \frac{k}{t} l w \tag{9}$$

where k is hydraulic conductivity of riverbed material, l is length of reach, t is thickness of riverbed, and w is width of the river. The initial hydraulic conductivity values were assigned according to the existing data, and subsequently, they were calibrated during the modeling process. The southern boundary is close to the Balkyldak pond, which was the recipient of wastewater from a local chemical plant. Currently, the pond is surrounded by a concrete wall, deepened into the ground, as the pond received 10 to 15 t of mercury through wastewater from a local chemical plant up to 1990 (Ullrich et al. 2007). Hence, this boundary was defined as a no-flow boundary.

The potential recharge for shallow aquifers is normally estimated as the difference between total precipitation and evapotranspiration (Sathe and Mahanta 2019). However, the result might have a negative value, as the reported values for annual precipitation are about 303–352 mm, and for annual evaporation is around 957 mm (Heaven et al. 2007).

A steady-state condition is assumed for the model, as there is relatively negligible exploitation of groundwater resources, and there are no significant trends in observed heads during a long-term period, despite seasonal fluctuations (Radelyuk et al. 2021). The average head value was used to assign the initial head for the steady state modeling.

After calibration of the model for a regional scale assessment, the model grid was re-discretized, and the size of the grids was changed from 500 m to 100 m for local scale modeling. This modeling, firstly, gives an opportunity for a detailed estimation of particle tracking, and secondly, for insertion of an extra layer for the receiving pond, as a general-head boundary that defines lake-aquifer interactions (Mylopoulos et al. 2007). The local model was aimed to be used for following contamination transport identification. Thus, it is important to focus on a certain area, where the contaminant spread is to be estimated. Hence, a new grid was constructed, and the new model was re-run and re-calibrated.

2.3.3. Step 3. Contamination transport modeling

Pathway 1 and 2 (P1 and P2) originated from the monitoring wells W1 and W3, respectively, where coordinates *x*, and *y*, and measured concentrations of TPH were established as initial conditions ($x_0=0$, $y_0=0$, and C_0) for the contamination modeling. The W2 and W4 (for Pathways 1 and 2, respectively) are located at the boundary of the sanitary zone, where the concentration of TPH should not exceed a regulatory limit of 100 µg/L for drinking and domestic purposes according to Kazakhstani legislation (Ministry of Economy 2015). Coordinates for W2 and W4 (x, y, and dL) and measured concentrations of TPH (C) were assigned as having accurate values, while parameters T, b, p, K, α_L , α_T , and dh were given a range for the studied aquifer for running the solver coupled with the VBA code to obtain $C_{modeled}$ with a minimized error. The obtained values of transport parameters are defined as being *calibrated*. After that, the average values of the *calibrated* parameters, which are associated to the geological characteristics (b, p, K, dh) and T, as the parameter of quasi-steady conditions of the contamination, were assigned for all measurement events; and the solver was re-run to re-calibrate the model by comparison between $C_{modeled}$ and $C_{measured}$. These averages, defined as *unified*, were used for the following contaminant fate and transport modeling assessment.

The conceptual fate transport model for P1 and P2, on the examples of lines BD and BC, respectively, is presented in Figure 2. The directions towards the nearest agricultural fields were chosen, as the nearest consumers of groundwater. The results for P1 are expected having a wave structure as the distance for them was calculated along the example of the direction BD in Figure 2. This means that *y*-coordinates were moved in the negative direction, which caused higher concentrations with the following cross-section and y=0, and subsequently heading away from the source of the pollution. The direction BC in Figure 2 indicates P2 with a straightforward direction from the source of pollution. The distance was modeled until the concentration of TPH reached a concentration that complied with the regulatory limit. The distance (dL_i), and related dh_i steps were assumed based on the groundwater model.

The final step was to look at the sensitivity of the parameters. The idea of this analysis is to identify the most critical parameters for that influence the calibration of the contaminant fate and transport model. The parameters K, T, b, p, dh, α_L , and α_T were assessed, as input parameters for solving Eqn. (3). The assessment was performed by individually varying only one parameter at the time within its range of possible values.

Parameter uncertainty is always a major concern. But the purpose of this study was to provide a tool that gives a general picture of contamination transport by illustrating the patterns of change in contaminant concentration in space with the following assessment for potential fate for the environment and local inhabitants. Calibration, validation, and sensitivity analysis of the model were done to the extent when available data allowed for this, while a detailed discussion about this procedure including uncertainty analysis is beyond the scope of this study (McMahon et al. 2001).

3. Results and Discussion

3.1. Groundwater modelling

The hydraulic conductivity, conductance of boundaries, and drainage characteristics of the river were calibrated using PEST and PEST Pilot points after the initial forward run of MODFLOW (Fig. 3a). The simulated hydraulic heads were compared to observed heads (Appendix B). The RMSE was equal to 0.7 m and the R² coefficient equal to 0.96, which indicate good performance of the model.



Figure 3. Regional (a) and local (b) scale groundwater model.

The results of the calibration reflect the lithology of the study area (Appendix C). The higher hydraulic conductivity values (5.5 m/d) occur in sediments adjacent to the Irtysh River and in Upper-Quaternary deposits (aQ_{III}), as they consist mainly of well sorted quartz-feldspar rich sands and gravels. The decrease of hydraulic conductivity (5.5-0.8 m/d) from the northwest to the southeast is explained by the local topography, as the groundwater is deeper, and extent of covered (confined) conditions of the aquifer is larger. The conductance of the drain (river) (50 m²/d) and transmissivity of the boundaries (125 m²/d) were approximately equal to the accessible data (from technical reports) after calibration, which confirms an acceptable estimation of groundwater flow.

After calibration and adjustment of the regional model, local scale modeling using MODFLOW and MODPATH was performed. Figure 3b shows the simulated water level contours for the steady-state conditions. This suggests that the direction of groundwater flow and contaminant transport would be in a westerly direction with some displacement towards the southwest. Wells 1 and 2 (W1 and W2) and Wells 3 and 4 (W3 and W4) could be used for contamination transport modeling, as they are in the downstream direction from the source. Particle tracking showed the potential transport of contaminants towards agricultural fields, where groundwater is used for irrigation (4.5 km from the pond) and nearby rural areas (Michurino and Pavlodarskoe villages, 8 km from the pond). However, MODPATH considers only porosity and not longitudinal dispersivity. The RMSE of the local model was equal to 0.6 m and the R² coefficient equal to 0.68, which show a good fit of the model (Appendix D).

3.2. Contamination transport modeling

After calibration of the groundwater model, two pathways, located downstream from the source of pollution, were chosen for the contamination transport modeling. Figure 4 and Appendix E show the results of the calibration of the transport parameters. The R^2 coefficient was equal to 0.9 that indicates the good performance of the model. The calculated means of the differences between groundwater levels (*dh*) by MODFLOW were equal to 0.1 m and match the contamination transport model results. However, *dh* is one of the most uncertain parameters in this case study, as the number of measurements of groundwater level is low.

The assumptions are considered credible if Q (from Eqn. (5)) is similar in both models. In the present case, the average flow rate was calculated to be 50 m³/d and the same value resulted from the contamination transport model. The large plume width (T) is explained by the width of the Sarymsaq pond, which is equal to 1.5 km. Hence, according to dispersion, T might be larger than 1500 m. The longitudinal dispersivity depends on the scale of spread of contamination and was close to values found in literature. However, both parameters had high range of potential values, caused by a large scale of calculations. Further studies on a smaller scale may give more accurate results. The calibrated values of aquifer thickness were equal to 10 m, which is confirmed by local lithology (Appendix A). The range for hydraulic conductivity and porosity was extracted from literature and was given as 0.8-8 m/d and 0.22-0.3, respectively. The unified values were equal to 5.6 m/d and 0.28, for hydraulic conductivity and porosity.



Figure 4. Results of transport contamination model using unified values of the parameters.

Figure 5 presents the potential results of the contamination transport, based on measured concentrations in the monitoring wells, and unified transport geological parameters for individual cases and historical scenarios. The distance (dL_i) step was assumed as the square root of x+100 and y+20 m from the observation points. The dh_i was estimated as 0.01 m for each dL_i step, based on the groundwater model. Obviously, the plume width correlates with the starting concentrations. The potential maximum distribution during the spring season in 2019 and 2018 was equal to 6 and 3 km for Pathways 1 and 2, respectively. The starting concentrations (C_0) showed maximum historical values in those years. The same situation was found for the autumn periods when the potential maximum spreading of the contamination was 4.5 and 2.6 km for Pathways 1 and 2, respectively. The calculated distance is higher during the spring seasons than in autumn. Lower values of the calculated plume fit the lower concentrations with a resulting shorter distance from the origin of pollution. However, even for these cases, the distance was relatively large, almost 1.2 km from the source of the contamination.



Figure 5. Modeled contamination depending on distance from a) W1 and b) W3.

The final step of the application is the analysis of the sensitivity of aquifer parameters. The ranges for K. T. b. and p were changed several times in an equal manner: they were decreased by 25 % and 50 % and increased by 25 % and 50 %. For the investigation of the relationships between dh and dL_i , the range for dh was considered between 0.01 and 0.1 m. The C_0 was assumed to be 500 µg/L for all scenarios. To assess the potential spread of plume, depending on the initial load of the TPH, the range for C_{θ} was considered between 50 and 1000 µg/L. After establishing new values, dL_i was calculated to the extent, when the concentration of TPH is within permissible levels. The results are presented in Figure 6. While all parameters show relevant changes in the resulting dL_i within the range of change, longitudinal and transverse dynamic dispersivity together with plume width were considered as the most sensitive parameters in this study. This is explained by the fact that these parameters might be changed over time depending on contamination characteristics, while parameters describing geological characteristics are constant. The increase of dh causes significant increase in the distance of plume spreading, as it is related to the enhanced linear velocity, and consequently, enhanced injection rate of the contaminant. The parameters may vary significantly depending on the scale and characteristics of contaminants. If the C_{θ} is equal to 1000 µg/L, the contamination can spread up to 5 km for Pathway 1 and 2.5 km for Pathway 2. The highest rate of the spreading belongs to the area near the source of pollution, e.g., the growth of the starting concentrations from 100 to 150 μ g/L causes extension of the plume spread corresponding to 0.25 km (from 1.30 to 1.55 km) for Pathway 2, while the following dL_i was changed for 120-50 m for each 50 µg/L. Thus, future data acquisition for the most sensitive parameters is required to better control the situation of the groundwater contamination in the region.



Figure 6. Sensitivity analysis for a) Pathway 1 and b) Pathway 2.

4. Conclusions

The management and remediation of groundwater contamination in developing countries is often hampered by lack of data. In this case, it is possible to assess the potential contamination from a holistic viewpoint with some general results, which can be beneficial for guiding future investigations. The method presented in this study has several advantages and is proposed as an example for cases where detailed site-specific data are not available. Basic information about the local hydrogeology and concentrations of pollutants at observation points can be used to estimate the further spreading of pollution. When calculated errors from contamination transport modeling and subsequently calibrated parameters, related to local conditions characteristics (i.e., T, b, K, and dh), match or confirm the results of the calibrated MODFLOW model and available literature data, the model can be considered to be reliable. At the same time, incorrect identification of important parameters, such as initial coordinates, increases the risks of incorrect modeling. Also, the lack of knowledge about contaminant characteristics affects the study. The processes of volatilization and degradation, which are not considered in this study, decrease the amount of petroleum compounds in space and time. However, some petroleum compounds may not be degradable, which cause risks even at low concentrations. This study showed that the risks for inhabitants in the potentially affected rural area of Kazakhstan can be avoided, as the plume has not reached the villages considered to be within the risk zone. However, agricultural areas at a distance of 2-6 km downstream the source of pollution could be affected by contaminated groundwater. Thus, the recommendation is to avoid usage of groundwater from the shallow aquifer for irrigation purposes in this area. The authors suggest performing additional investigations to determine the extent to which the TPH plume has spread from the contamination source, based on the general results, and especially the results of the sensitivity analysis. This study has also shown the need for local industries to pre-treat wastewater properly before discharging to ponds to decrease the potential fate and spreading of the pollution to the subsurface.

Finally, this study highlights the necessity of integrating key stakeholders in the government-scienceindustry collaboration. The joint effect of governmental activities, scientific approach, and industrial activity can contribute to the reduction of negative societal impact of pollution release.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Ivan Radelyuk: Conceptualization, Methodology, Formal analysis, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Data Curation, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - Review & Editing. Mehran Naseri-Rad: Conceptualization, Methodology, Software, Formal analysis, Writing - Original Draft, Writing - Review & Editing. Hossein Hashemi: Conceptualization, Methodology, Resources, Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Magnus Persson: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Nature Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Magnus Persson: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Conceptualization, Writing - Review & Editing. Nature Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Magnus Persson: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Magnus Persson: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Magnus Persson: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing - Review & Editing. Magnus Persson: Conceptualization, Writing - Review & Editing.

Acknowledgments The authors appreciate the support of Zhanerke Bolatova in collecting data and Ehsan Kamali Maskooni for productive discussions. Open access funding provided by Lund University. Åke och Greta Lisshed Foundation supported this research (Reference ID: 2019-00112). The first author was funded by Bolashaq International Scholarship Program of Kazakhstan.

Conflict of interest. The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

5. References

- Advanced Land Observing Satellite (ALOS) Project. https://www.eorc.jaxa.jp/ALOS/en/dataset/dataset_index.htm. Accessed 10 September 2020.
- Alva-Argaez, A., Kokossis, A. C., & Smith, R. (2007). The design of water-using systems in petroleum refining using a water-pinch decomposition. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 128(1), 33-46, doi:10.1016/j.cej.2006.10.001.
- Assanov, D., Zapasnyi, V., & Kerimray, A. (2021) Air Quality and Industrial Emissions in the Cities of Kazakhstan. *Atmosphere*, 12, 314, doi:10.3390/atmos12030314
- Balderacchi, M., Benoit, P., Cambier, P., Eklo, O. M., Gargini, A., Gemitzi, A., et al. (2013). Groundwater pollution and quality monitoring approaches at the European level. *Critical reviews* in environmental science and technology, 43(4), 323-408, doi:10.1080/10643389.2011.604259.
- Barnett, B., Townley, L. R., Post, V., Evans, R. E., Hunt, R. J., Peeters, L., Richardson, S., Werner, A. D., Knapton, A., & Boronkay, A. (2012) Australian groundwater modelling guidelines. Waterlines report, National Water Commission, Canberra
- Bear, J. (2013). Dynamics of fluids in porous media: Courier Corporation.
- Bruno, P., Campo, R., Giustra, M. G., De Marchis, M., & Di Bella, G. (2020). Bench scale continuous coagulation-flocculation of saline industrial wastewater contaminated by hydrocarbons. *Journal of Water Process Engineering*, *34*, doi:10.1016/j.jwpe.2020.101156.
- CONCAWE (2018). 2013 survey of effluent quality and water use at European refineries. report no. 12/18. Brussels.
- Doherty, J., Brebber, L., & Whyte, P. (1994). PEST: Model-independent parameter estimation. *Watermark Computing, Corinda, Australia, 122*, 336.

- EU (2002). Common Implementation Strategy For Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC). Guidance document no. 3: Analysis of Pressures and Impacts. Communication and Information Resource Centre Administration Brussels
- Fetter, C., Boving, T., & Kreamer, D. (2018). Contaminant Hydrogeology. Waveland Press, Inc.
- Fienen, M. N., D'Oria, M., Doherty, J. E., & Hunt, R. J. (2013). Approaches in highly parameterized inversion: bgaPEST, a Bayesian geostatistical approach implementation with PEST: documentation and instructions. US Geological Survey.
- Fried, J. J. (1975). Groundwater pollution: Elsevier.
- Gelhar, L. W. (1986) Stochastic subsurface hydrology from theory to applications. *Water Resources Research*, 22(9S), 135S-145S, doi.org:10.1029/WR022i09Sp0135S.
- Gustafson, J. B., Tell, J. G., & Orem, D. (1997). Selection of representative TPH fractions based on fate and transport considerations (Vol. 3): Amherst Scientific Publishers.
- Haitjema, H. (2006). The role of hand calculations in ground water flow modeling. *Ground Water*, 44(6), 786-791, doi:10.1111/j.1745-6584.2006.00189.x.
- Harbaugh, A. W., Banta, E. R., Hill, M. C., & McDonald, M. G. (2000). Modflow-2000, the US geological survey modular ground-water model-user guide to modularization concepts and the ground-water flow process. *Open-file Report. U. S. Geological Survey*(92), 134, doi:10.3133/ofr200092.
- Hashemi, H., Berndtsson, R., & Kompani-Zare, M. (2012). Steady-state unconfined aquifer simulation of the Gareh-Bygone plain, Iran. The Open Hydrology Journal, 6(1). doi:10.2174/1874378101206010058
- Hashemi, H., Berndtsson, R., Kompani-Zare, M., & Persson, M. (2013). Natural vs. artificial groundwater recharge, quantification through inverse modeling. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 17(2), 637-650, doi:10.5194/hess-17-637-2013.
- Hashemi, H., Uvo, C.B., & Berndtsson, R., (2015). Coupled modeling approach to assess climate change impacts on groundwater recharge and adaptation in arid areas. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 19(10), doi:10.5194/hess-19-4165-2015.
- Heaven, S., Banks, C. J., Pak, L. N., & Rspaev, M. K. (2007). Wastewater reuse in central Asia: Implications for the design of pond systems. *Water Science and Technology*, 55(1–2), 85–93. doi:10.2166/wst.2007.061.
- Hossain, M. S. (2011). Panel estimation for CO2 emissions, energy consumption, economic growth, trade openness and urbanization of newly industrialized countries. *Energy Policy*, 39(11), 6991-6999, doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2011.07.042.
- Hrkal, Z., Gadalia, A., & Rigaudiere, P. (2006). Will the river Irtysh survive the year 2030? Impact of long-term unsuitable land use and water management of the upper stretch of the river catchment (North Kazakhstan). *Environmental Geology*, 50(5), 717-723, doi:10.1007/s00254-006-0244-y.
- Karatayev, M., Kapsalyamova, Z., Spankulova, L., Skakova, A., Movkebayeva, G., & Kongyrbay, A. (2017). Priorities and challenges for a sustainable management of water resources in Kazakhstan. *Sustainability of Water Quality and Ecology*, 9-10, 115-135, doi:10.1016/j.swaqe.2017.09.002.
- Kosolapov, Y., Shaimerdenov, N., Adaskevich, N., Konev, Y., & Sultanov, M. (1993). Report №16613 on the results of detailed groundwater search for water supply to settlements of Krasnokutsk and Ekibastuz districts and irrigation lands in Pavlodar, Uspensky, Shcherbaktinsky and Lebyazhinsky districts of Pavlodar region for 1988-1993.
- Li, P. Y. (2016). Groundwater Quality in Western China: Challenges and Paths Forward for Groundwater Quality Research in Western China. *Exposure and Health*, 8(3), 305-310, doi:10.1007/s12403-016-0210-1.
- Locatelli, L., Binning, P. J., Sanchez-Vila, X., Sondergaard, G. L., Rosenberg, L., & Bjerg, P. L. (2019). A simple contaminant fate and transport modelling tool for management and risk assessment of groundwater pollution from contaminated sites. *Journal of Contaminant Hydrology*, 221, 35-49, doi:10.1016/j.jconhyd.2018.11.002.
- McMahon, A., Carey, M., Heathcote, J., & Erskine, A. (2001). Guidance on the assessment and interrogation of subsurface analytical contaminant fate and transport models, National Groundwater and Contaminated Land Centre report NC/99/38/1.

- Mehl, S., & Hill, M. C. (2010). Grid-size dependence of Cauchy boundary conditions used to simulate stream-aquifer interactions. Advances in Water Resources, 33(4), 430-442, doi:10.1016/j.advwatres.2010.01.008.
- Mikolasch, A., Donath, M., Reinhard, A., Herzer, C., Zayadan, B., Urich, T., et al. (2019). Diversity and degradative capabilities of bacteria and fungi isolated from oil-contaminated and hydrocarbon-polluted soils in Kazakhstan. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 103(17), 7261-7274, doi:10.1007/s00253-019-10032-9.
- Ministry of Economy (2015). Kazakhstan. Sanitary and Epidemiological Requirements for Water Sources, water intake points for household and drinking purposes, domestic and drinking water supply and places of cultural and domestic water use and water safety. (in Russian). http://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/V1500010774. Accessed 15 January 2021.
- Ministry of Environment (2012). Kazakhstan. Order №110 of the Minister of the Environment "On approval of the methodology for determining emission standards for the environment". (in Russian). http://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/V1200007664. Accessed 15 January 2021.
- Mylopoulos, N., Mylopoulos, Y., Veranis, N., & Tolikas, D. (2007). Groundwater modeling and management in a complex lake-aquifer system. *Water Resources Management*, 21(2), 469-494, doi:10.1007/s11269-006-9025-3.
- Naseri-Rad, M., & Berndtsson, R. (2019). Shortcomings in Current Practices for Decision-Making Process and Contaminated Sites Remediation. *The 5th World Congress on New Technologies*, doi:10.11159/ICEPR19.155.
- Naseri-Rad, M., Berndtsson, R., Persson, K. M., & Nakagawa, K. (2020). INSIDE: An Efficient Guide for Sustainable Remediation Practice in Addressing Contaminated Soil and Groundwater. *Science of the Total Environment*, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139879.
- Neftepererabotchik (2019). There is crude oil, there is fuel too (In Russian). <u>https://www.pnhz.kz/upload/iblock/c7d/Neftepererabotchik-3_4.pdf</u>. Accessed 08 December 2020.
- Ogata, A. (1970). *Theory of dispersion in a granular medium*: US Government Printing Office. doi: 10.3133/pp411I.
- Ogata, A., & Banks, R. (1961). A solution of the differential equation of longitudinal dispersion in porous media: fluid movement in earth materials: US Government Printing Office. doi:10.3133/pp411A.
- Panichkin, V. Y., Miroshnichenko, O. L., Ilyushchenko, M. A., Tanton, T., & Randall, P. M. (2008). Groundwater Modeling of Mercury Pollution at a Former Mercury Cell Chloralkali Facility in Pavlodar City, Kazakhstan. Paper presented at the Sixth International Conference on Remediation of Chlorinated and Recalcitrant Compounds, (Monterey, CA; May 2008),
- Pollock, D. W. (2012). User guide for MODPATH version 6: a particle tracking model for MODFLOW: US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey. doi:10.3133/ofr20161086
- Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Persson, M., Zhapargazinova, K., & Yelubay, M. (2021). Assessment of groundwater safety surrounding contaminated water storage sites using multivariate statistical analysis and Heckman selection model: a case study of Kazakhstan. *Environmental Geochemistry* and Health, doi:10.1007/s10653-020-00685-1.
- Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Zhapargazinova, K., Yelubay, M., & Persson, M. (2019). Pitfalls of Wastewater Treatment in Oil Refinery Enterprises in Kazakhstan-A System Approach. *Sustainability*, 11(6), doi:10.3390/su11061618.
- Renshaw, C. (2013). http://www.dartmouth.edu/~renshaw/gwtools/functions/plume2dss.html. Accessed 18 November 2020.
- Russell, A., Ghalaieny, M., Gazdiyeva, B., Zhumabayeva, S., Kurmanbayeva, A., Akhmetov, K. K., et al. (2018). A Spatial Survey of Environmental Indicators for Kazakhstan: An Examination of Current Conditions and Future Needs. *International Journal of Environmental Research*, 12(5), 735-748, doi:10.1007/s41742-018-0134-7.
- Sathe, S. S., & Mahanta, C. (2019). Groundwater flow and arsenic contamination transport modeling for a multi aquifer terrain: Assessment and mitigation strategies. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 231, 166-181, doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.08.057.
- Sauty, J. P. (1980). An Analysis of Hydrodispersive Transfer in Aquifers. *Water Resources Research*, *16*(1), 145-158, doi:10.1029/WR016i001p00145.

- Thomas, M. (2015). Social, environmental and economic sustainability of Kazakhstan: a long-term perspective. *Central Asian Survey*, *34*(4), 456-483, doi:10.1080/02634937.2015.1119552.
- Todd, D. K., & Mays, L. W. (2005). Groundwater hydrology edition. Welly Inte.
- Tussupova, K., Hjorth, P., & Berndtsson, R. (2016). Access to Drinking Water and Sanitation in Rural Kazakhstan. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 13(11), doi:10.3390/ijerph13111115.
- Ullrich, S. M., Ilyushchenko, M. A., Tanton, T. W., & Uskov, G. A. (2007). Mercury contamination in the vicinity of a derelict chlor-alkali plant - Part II: Contamination of the aquatic and terrestrial food chain and potential risks to the local population. *Science of the Total Environment*, 381(1-3), 290-306, doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2007.02.020.
- UN (2019). World Economic Situation and Prospects.
- USEPA (2019). Detailed Study of the Petroleum Refining Category 2019 Report. Washington, D.C.
- Water Code (2003). Kazakhstan. Water Code. Article 120. Peculiarities of protection of groundwater. (in Russian). https://online.zakon.kz/document/?doc_id=1042116#pos=2335;-45. Accessed 15 January 2021.
- Woszczyk, M., Spychalski, W., & Boluspaeva, L. (2018). Trace metal (Cd, Cu, Pb, Zn) fractionation in urban-industrial soils of Ust-Kamenogorsk (Oskemen), Kazakhstan-implications for the assessment of environmental quality. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 190(6), doi:10.1007/s10661-018-6733-0.

Appendix A. Location and lithology (Kosolapov et al. 1993) of the study area in Kazakhstan.



	I-I
	- 7 g g - 112
	IV-IV
HI-2PY H.t. OQN H2KEN OQ. ČN	- formations
	- soil types (sand, clay, loam, sandy loam)
	- groundwater level

№	Well ID	Observed Head, m	Simulated Head, m	Residual Head, m
1	1944	112.5	111.6	0.91
2	1947	110.7	109.6	1.11
3	1924	106.2	107.6	-1.35
4	1923	106.3	106.9	-0.58
5	316	106.7	106.8	-0.14
6	405	106.7	106.9	-0.16
7	1929	107.7	106.9	0.79
8	1925	107.7	106.9	0.82
9	1945	117.8	116.5	1.28
10	1	106.7	106.9	-0.22
11	2	106.5	106.9	-0.40
12	3	107.3	107.0	0.32
13	4	106.4	106.9	-0.50
14	5	107.7	107.7	-0.02
15	6	108.3	108.5	-0.19
16	7	107.7	108.5	-0.78
17	8	109.2	108.6	0.64
18	9	107.7	107.7	-0.03

Appendix B. Scatter plot of modelled versus observed head. Regional scale.





Appendix C. Calibrated HK values.

N₂	Well	Observed	Simulated	Residual
	ID	Head, m	Head, m	Head, m
1	316	106.7	107.4	-0.71
2	1925	107.7	107.5	0.25
3	1	106.7	107.5	-0.79
4	2	106.5	107.5	-0.98
5	3	107.3	107.5	-0.21
6	4	106.4	107.5	-1.07
7	5	107.7	107.9	-0.15
8	6	108.3	108.4	-0.06
9	7	107.7	108.4	-0.68
10	8	109.2	108.4	0.76
11	9	107.7	107.9	-0.23

Appendix D. Difference between calculated and observed head. Local scale.



T, m b, m
Kate (m/d)
1979.9
3447.9
1522.4
4640.1
3699.5
936.9
2421.0
1793.8
2588.5
1728.1
5249.5
1777.5 5 61 0.78
571.8 5.01 0.20
1086.2
921.4
753.2
1301.9
719.9
1317.1
86.4
1793.7
929.2
356.1
1351.2

ion
at
ibi
Sal
ы
ų,
19
ğ
ğ
ų
ti.
na
Ξ
ıta
<u>5</u>
Ť
bo
nus
tra
of
\mathbf{ts}
sul
ï
ed
ΞĒ
C
r-i
X
di
en
Q

Paper IV

Journal of Cleaner Production xxx (xxxx) 126987



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Cleaner Production

journal homepage: http://ees.elsevier.com



Oil Refinery and Water Pollution in the Context of Sustainable Development: Developing and Developed countries

Ivan Radelyuk^{a,b,*}, Kamshat Tussupova^{a,c}, Jiří Jaromír Klemeš^d, Kenneth M. Persson^a

^a Department of Water Resources Engineering, Lund University, Box 118, SE-22100, Lund, Sweden

^b Department of Chemistry and Chemical Technology, Pavlodar State University, Pavlodar, 140000, Kazakhstan

^c Kazakh National Agrarian University, Almaty, 050010, Kazakhstan

^d Sustainable Process Integration Laboratory (SPIL), NETME CENTRE, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Brno University of Technology – VUT Brno, Technická 2896/2, 616 69, Brno, Czech Republic

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 16 December 2020 Received in revised form 19 March 2021 Accepted 31 March 2021 Available online xxx Handling editor: Cecilia Maria Villas Bôas de Almeida

Keywords

Oil refinery Water pollution Sustainable water use DPSIR Policy Circular economy Best available techniques Environmental impact assessment

1. Introduction

ABSTRACT

This paper is an attempt to evaluate the impact of the oil refinery industry on water resources worldwide from the point of view of sustainable development (SD). The local laws, reports from the industry and environmental agencies, conditions of the final disposal system were analysed. Key aspects, such as existing approaches for treatment systems, quality of treated wastewater, and ways to assure the safety of them were compared. The comparison between industrialised (represented by the USA and EU) and developing countries (Kazakhstan used as an example) shows that several obstacles, such as loopholes in legislation, historical contamination, and miscommunicating between stakeholders, exist, despite the formal promotion of the SD concept. That policy should be implemented based on the relevant scientific investigation through the possibility of integrating the respective technological development, an adequate system of environmental impact assessment, and fair operational monitoring.

© 2021

Sustainable Development (SD) has become an ideology, which builds a modern world. The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development calls all people, from individuals to crucial stakeholders, businesspersons and international organisations, to take actions for solving the current challenges formulated in Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (UN 2015). One of the common definitions of Sustainable Development is "Enhancing quality of life and thus allowing people to live in a healthy environment and improve social, economic and environmental conditions for present and future generations" (Ortiz et al., 2009). From a certain point of view, "Sustainable" means "Responsible". Any current suggestion, decision, or action on any level should be based on the concept, which supports not only immediate benefits but to ensure equal rights of all types of benefits, including well-being and a healthy environment, for future generations.

E-mail address: ivan.radelyuk@tvrl.lth.se (I. Radelyuk)

Relationships between SD and industry have been complicated. It can be clearly presented within related Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). When one of the elements does not work, it affects the success of the other goals. An example is presented in Fig. 1. Any type of industry is related to several SDGs (Appendix A). SDGs 8, 9, 12 and 13 are directly connected with the industrial processes. The processes should be innovative to achieve rational and efficient resource use (SDGs 8, 9, 12) and eliminate impact on the environment through sufficient treatment systems, which lead to the deceleration of climate change (SDG 13). The SDG 6 "Clean Water and Sanitation" requires: (i) to eliminate potential hazards of disposal of effluents; (ii) to adopt water-saving techniques to reduce the consumption of fresh water to address water scarcity (Jia et al., 2020); and, (iii) protect water-related ecosystems, including rivers, lakes and aquifers. The SDG 14 "Life below Water" specifically focuses on the consequences of any kind of pollution for the aquatic world. Environment (water, soil and air) impacts the health of people, which belongs to SDGs 3 and 11. If the industry neglects principles of responsibility during the production process, it might lead to the crash of the "sustainability" system: deteriorated ecosystems and unhealthy people, locally or globally. The Agenda considers the involvement of all countries and their cooperation (SDG 17).

^{*} Corresponding author. Department of Water Resources Engineering, Lund University, Box 118, SE-22100, Lund, Sweden.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126987 0959-6526/© 2021.



Fig. 1. SDGs related to the industry (Source: the authors).

UN has encouraged parliaments and lawmakers to implement SDGs as national ideas via suitable law-making, scientific and innovative technological approach, and suitable control (UNDP 2016).

The concept of "Sustainable water use" (SWU) brings several SDGs related to the water together. The SWU aims to assure three pillars of sustainability: social, environmental, and economical. Sustainable water use in the industrial context covers several factors of three dimensions of SD and their interactions, as shown in Fig. 2. Economic factors are represented by the processes inside the industry. The industry uses technologies to treat supplied and processed water and to utilise it in a safe manner. These technologies are associated with respective cost (Baleta et al., 2019). Environmental factors consider water quality in water sources and wastewater recipients. Interactions between economic and environmental factors are characterised by attempts to decrease the impact of industrial activities on water bodies and make water viable for following consumers by the usage of efficient technologies. Social factors are represented by ensuring public safety (e.g., health) and mainly regulated by the government. The governmental and civic authorities should ensure the availability of safe water by appropriate legislative and environmental tools (Hjorth and Madani 2014). Economic and social factors should be met by establishing the idea of equal rights for different water users. Appropriate legislation ensures the responsibility of the industry to apply related efficient and water-saving technologies.

Implementation of the SWU is important for two reasons. First, water consumption by industry ranges between 10% and 57% of total water consumption in different countries (Voulvoulis 2018). Second, industrial activities are recognised as one of the major sources of water pollution worldwide and can be quantified by environmental footprints (Čuček et al., 2012). The developing countries face challenges towards the implementation of the SWU. This type of countries is characterised by applying efforts to diversify the economy from just exporting resources to build advanced technological infrastructure. This process



Fig. 2. The framework of Sustainable water use in industry (Source: the authors).

includes accelerated industrialisation and growth of already existed manufacturing capacity, which increase the pressure on water resources in both an increase in water consumption and the needs for a decrease in water pollution (Naseri-Rad et al., 2020).

This research aims to compare strategies and efficiency of the implementation of the SWU system in industry between developed (represented by the EU and the USA) and developing (Kazakhstan used as an example) countries. Specific type of industry - the oil refinery sector was chosen as a case study. According to the BP Statistical Review, the USA and EU hold the maximal capacity of oil refining units worldwide (BP, 2019). The western world has a reputation as drivers and promoters of sustainable development. SDG 8.4 clearly states that the developed countries are aimed to lead and transfer their experience in "global resource efficiency in consumption and production and endeavour to decouple economic growth from environmental degradation". According to a UN "World Economic Situation and Prospects 2019" book, Kazakhstan has been rated as a fuel-exporting country with transitional from developing to the developed economy (UN 2019). According to the Environmental Performance Review for Kazakhstan (UNECE 2019), the oil refinery cluster in Kazakhstan is one of the biggest sources of water contamination. Thus, the authors are interested in looking at how refinery companies deal with Sustainable Water Use. This paper discusses the engagement of all key stakeholders, such as government, industry, and academy, into a dialogue towards SD.

While the previous publication aimed to investigate the experience of the legislation of different countries and applied wastewater treatment techniques (Radelyuk et al., 2019); this paper mostly focuses on the interrelations and synergies between the oil refinery industry and water pollution with the focus on the problems of potential fate on affected water bodies in the context of SD.

2. Methodology

The DPSIR (Drivers-Pressures-State-Impact-Response) framework has been proposed by a Guidance document from the EU to analyse the existing pressures and their impacts on water resources (EU 2002). Accordingly, this study implements the DPSIR concept, as is shown in Fig. 3. Principles of the SWU have become the drivers to meet socio-environmental awareness and to decrease the *pressure* on water resources. The hypothesis is that *pressure* is caused by improper wastewater treatment. The resulting *state* or indicator of the *pressure* (which is usually measurable, according to the DPSIR approach) can show high concentrations of the contaminants in the wastewater, and consequently, in the recipient. The *impact* may differ, including deteriorated or destroyed ecosystems, unsafe drinking water, or the waste of water in the regions where water scarcity exists. The measures are taken to improve the *state*, and the *response* has to address the identified pressures.

The structure of the performed assessment is presented in Fig. 4. The authors aimed to analyse available "first-hand" information about the *state* and the *impact* of governmental bodies. This information included legislative documents, such as laws, orders, reports, and standards; documents and reports from responsible authorities, such as En-



Fig. 3. The DPSIR framework for this study (Source: the authors).



Fig. 4. Searching methodology: a conceptual framework (Source: the authors).

vironmental Protection Agencies and oil refinery operators, and statistical datasets. The limitations for consideration of the state and impact information as relevant were 1) existing effluents conditions, including a description of the contaminants and their concentrations, and 2) description of characteristics of wastewater recipients. Also, the authors aimed to identify the pros and cons of the applied response for the establishing of current criteria. An extended literature review was carried out, despite the analysis of official information. The authors also attempted to overview the relevant experience of the SWU implementation (as drivers) in relevant scientific publications. The above criteria were used for consideration of the relevance of the reviewed literature. Highly cited papers in peer-reviewed journals were examined with the following "snowball sampling" review using the Scopus database. A combination of keywords (refinery AND (effluents OR wastewater OR waste AND water)) resulted in 1148 publications. 36 publications were chosen as sound examples of the respective research-supported solutions for decision-makers toward the SWU in the oil refinery sector. Consideration did not include the publications about treatment methods, as the previous publication from the authors already investigated the issue.

This paper consists of the Results, Discussion, and Conclusions sections. The Results section consists of three sub-sections, where the findings for the USA, the EU, and Kazakhstan are presented. The structure of the sub-section is as following:

- Description of historical background in legislative standards and oil refinery industry.
- (ii) Description of current industry conditions with particular attention on wastewater treatment units.
- (iii) Description of wastewater characteristics.
- (iv) Description of wastewater recipients and potential consequences for the environment.

3. Resulting observations

The authors identified strategies from three selected regions, which have a goal to achieve a sustainable and safe environment via establishing the criteria for maximum allowable concentrations of contaminants in wastewater. The USA applies the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES), the EU uses the system of Whole Effluent Assessment (WEA), and Kazakhstan uses the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). The authors firstly investigated those approaches in each region – which actions are considered under the decision-making systems; and secondly, discussed their strengths and weaknesses (Fig. 5).

3.1. The USA observation

The history of regulatory relationships between the USA Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and oil refinery effluents systems started in 1974 with the promulgation of effluent limitations guidelines and standards (ELGs). This document was applied to establish pretreatment standards for existing and new sources of pollution with the permissible concentrations of few pollutants, such as ammonia, oil and grease, biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), phenolic compounds, sulfides and chromium in the effluents (USEPA 1974). The guidelines had been constantly revised, with the final document accepted in 1985. This resulted in more strict criteria for treatment standards and application of innovative Best Available Technologies Economically Achievable (BAT) (USEPA 1985). The permanent monitoring of available enhancements in technological and scientific progress enabled to enhance the efficiency of the law through the following amendments.

Implementation of BAT became one of the leading factors, which makes this guideline efficient to protect the environment towards the elimination of the discharge of all pollutants (in the USA) (U.S.Code). The principle of BAT is to find the most efficient and cheapest way to meet the requirements for local ecosphere safety by reduction or elimination of pollution. The idea of implementation of BAT is to invest in the prevention of contamination instead of pollution and consequent remediation actions.

One more of the special characteristics of the guidelines is using "in-plant" and "end-of-pipe" technologies. "In-plant" system controls the amount of pollutants in processing water after each technological unit through preliminary treatment methods, such as separation of stormwater and processed water; sour water strippers; or through re-using water, e.g. for using lightly contaminated water in water cooling towers. This approach reduces the burden on the final (or "end-of-pipe") treatment system and enhances the efficiency of it. "End-of-pipe" technology assumes deep wastewater treatment and aims to eliminate or significantly reduce the concentration of pollutants in final effluents. Advanced treatment techniques for the oil refinery industry were described in detail in the previous publication from the authors (Radelyuk et al., 2019). They can include, e.g.:



Fig. 5. Conceptual framework of performed observations (Source: the authors).
- Combination of different pretreatment units (electrocoagulation-flocculation, dissolved air flotation (DAF), oil traps, etc.)
- Enhanced common secondary treatment methods (e.g. activated sludge coupled with oxidation ponds, trickling filters, moving bed biofilm reactors (MBBR), etc.).
- (iii) Polishing approached (wetlands, advanced oxidation processes, membrane technologies).

Under the regulation of principles of BAT and "end-of-pipe" and "in-plant" technologies, the EPA establishes production-based mass limitations for the pollutants included in the ELG. The main source of pollution is the desalination unit of the refinery, coupled with the atmospheric distillation unit. Crude oil contains a high level of sulfur, salts and metals. The desalination unit removes a major amount of salts by emulsifiers and generates 3-10 vol% on a crude charge into wastewater flow (Alva-Argaez et al., 2007). A significant amount of sulfides, ammonia, phenols, oil, chlorides and mercaptans comes after the distillation process. These chemicals are included in the list of priority pollutants for the refinery industry with the main focus on crude oil, or it is called "petroleum hydrocarbons". While thousands of hydrocarbons exist, only very a few of them are investigated in detail (WHO 2008). Hydrocarbons are assumed as toxic substances, while the hazard level ranges between different groups of them. There is no unified way for associated terminology of the hydrocarbons related to industrial wastewater discharges yet. Depending on the focus contaminants, phase conditions, type of analysis, etc., the petroleum hydrocarbons in different regions are called TPH (total petroleum hydrocarbons), Oil in Water (OiW), or Oil and Grease.

The EPA regularly conducts a study of wastewater discharges from petroleum refineries to assess the situation in the sector. The evaluation includes 1) study visits, 2)questionnaire of the petroleum refineries to request information about their water use processes, crude processed, production rates, unit operations, wastewater characteristics, pollution prevention, and wastewater management, treatment, and discharge, and 3) data extraction from the national systems of Discharge Monitoring Report (DMR) and Toxics Release Inventory (TRI).

Recent reviews of 2011 and 2014 concluded that the regulations should be changed due to new information, such as reported discharges of toxic compounds, such as dioxin and dioxin-like compounds, polycyclic aromatic compounds (PACs) and increase of refineries reporting metals discharges, instead of only chromium included in the current guideline (USEPA 2019).

The system of establishing the requirements for each case of pollution, titled National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES), includes several investigations (USEPA 2010). Firstly, limitations are based on the capabilities of the technologies available to control those discharges. Industrial processes and raw materials, facility size, geographical location, and age of facility and equipment are considered. Secondly, water quality-based effluent limitations are calculated. The conditions of the water body, which receives the discharges, are assessed for background contamination. Parameter-Specific Approach, Whole Effluent Toxicity (WET) Approach, and Bioassessment Approach are used in this step. Parameter-specific involves a site-specific assessment of the proposed discharge and its potential effect on the receiving water. The WET test is used to establish the frameworks of permits. This test measures the exposure of the contamination to the conditions of living of the selected organisms, which serve as "indicators" of their ability to live with the level of the contamination. The criteria approach is used to assess the overall biological integrity of an aquatic community. The idea is to finally establish the level to the extent when nature can utilise the hazard in its own functions.

The authors used the latest study report (USEPA 2019) as a basement for the following investigation. This report has presented information about 143 refineries in the USA. The authors focused on the category of refineries, which discharge their effluents directly into the environment to evaluate the consequent potential effect.

Table 1 shows that only 20 of 143 refineries send their pre-treated effluents into the municipal wastewater collection systems. Twelve refineries are defined as unknown and excluded from consideration. Two refineries (Evanston Refinery and Sinclair Refinery) are defined with the "Zero Discharge" status. It means they achieved the possibility of near-zero liquid discharge through the full water reuse (Koppol et al., 2004), which seems to be an ideal case for the elimination of risks.

90 refineries with direct discharges, coupled with nine refineries with both types of discharges, are subjects of investigation for this study (Table 2). Wastewater treatment of more than half of refineries is characterised by "Biological treatment". It means that they commonly use primary and secondary oil/water separation units, coupled with one of the types of biological treatment techniques. The type of biological treatment varies widely, from the basic activated sludge to advanced, such as MBBR, membrane bioreactor (MBR), ADVENT integral biological system, etc. Refineries, categorised as "Current BAT technologies" (23 of 99), use an extra unit after a step of biological treatment to achieve the final requirements of the NPDES. Generally (16 of 23), it is a filtration implementation whenever the other refineries use settling ponds, extra aeration, and chemical oxidation. Five refineries use the most advanced wastewater treatment techniques and implemented more than one extra unit for polishing. Ion exchange, selenium reduction plant, and Filtration and Polishing identify those technologies as "Beyond BAT technologies".

The EPA identified 26 primary pollutants for monitoring in the refinery effluents. The reasons for the inclusion of the chosen substances were their presence in the untreated refining process wastewater and their rate of toxicity. Appendix B presents annual mean concentrations and estimated loadings of contaminants included in the list of pollutants. The EPA has tried to estimate the amount of the pollutants of interest in the discharges as average concentrations and their annual loading. The criteria for inclusion was the refineries, which directly discharge the treated wastewater into the surface water. That estimation has a limitation of data availability. For example, only three refineries provided data about BTEX (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene) in their wastewater, or there is no reported data for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs).

While the reported amounts of pollutants seem to be a significant contribution to water pollution, the averaged and simplified estimation does not show a detailed picture. The authors investigated the charac-

ible I	able	1		
--------	------	---	--	--

Т

JS	refineries	bv	discharge	status	(USEPA	2019).
					(

Discharge Status	Number of Refineries
Direct	90
Indirect	30
Direct & Indirect	9
Zero Discharge	2
Unknown	12
Total	143

Table 2

Categorisation by treatment methodology (USEPA 2019).

Categorisation by treatment approaches	Number of refineries
Biological treatment	56
Current BAT technologies	23
Beyond BAT technologies	5
Treatment other than Biological Treatment	7
No data/No information available	8
Total	99

teristics of the refineries wastewater at Top-20 refineries by their operating capacity, which practice direct discharges. Appendix C represents the searching methodology used by the authors. The authors used available DMR and TRI data from the online Water Pollutant Loading Tool. The data of monitoring for the year 2019 were used to assess the available data for the whole year in detail.

Appendix D contains the results of the investigation. All refineries are categorised under the control of effluent limits, 5 of 20 refineries use "Current BAT Technologies" for wastewater treatment, 12 of 20 use "Biological Treatment" techniques, and 3 of them use "other than Biological Treatment techniques". All refineries discharge their effluents into the surface water, which are categorised with having flow, such as channels, bayou, rivers. 19 of 20 recipients contain the Endangered Species Act (ESA)-listed aquatic species - organisms, which live in the water and are characterised under the protection as vanishing. Half of those water bodies are used for different purposes, such as recreational use (9 of 20) and aquatic life use (11 of 20). 12 of 20 of those water bodies are listed for impairments by the EPA according to the Clean Water Act (USEPA 2015). It means that water quality has been already deteriorated by natural or anthropogenic factors. If the water body is already polluted, non-strict requirements can be applied for the belonged sources of the pollution. The substances, which cause the reason for impairment, include mostly organic matters, e.g. polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), pesticides, dioxins; the "total toxics", including mercury; pathogens; nutrients; and oil and grease. These substances occur in water through anthropogenic invasion.

The next step was to look at the concentrations of substances, using the Pollutant Loading and Effluent Charts tools of DMR. These tools present data, which have been collected from regular monitoring. Appendix E shows the extracted data from the Pollutant Loading Report of USEPA about monitoring status for the Top-20 Refineries in 2019. There is a twofold opportunity to look at the existing data. Firstly, the report is formed for the whole year. According to the NPDES, the refineries get a license to discharge a certain amount of pollutants based on their designed flow. No one refinery have shown exceeding the permissible loading into the aquatic system per year. Secondly, the monitoring system works constantly, and if the violation is identified, the system indicates it. In this case, it is interesting to note that Garvville Refinery, BP Whiting Refinery, Corpus Christi East Refinery and Wood River Refinery perform the monitoring for not only the pollutants of interest but they have extended the list of contaminants significantly. The updated list includes, for example, derivatives of phenolic compounds, toxic metals, per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances, etc. Those substances match with the substances, which caused impairments for local water bodies. Simultaneously, those refineries provide advanced wastewater treatment systems, including the usage of BAT Technologies. The exceedance of permissible limits, at least once per year, have been identified in 5 of 20 refineries. The amount of total suspended solids (2 refineries), oil and grease (2 refineries), sulphide (2 refineries), total organic carbon (2 refineries), BOD and ammonia has been exceeded (Appendix F). For example, The Philadelphia Refinery discharged 0.12 t sulphides more than has been planned in October 2019. The Deer Park Refinery loaded 0.95 and 4.69 t of oil and grease and total organic carbon, more than has been planned in October and November 2019. The Valero - Corpus Christi East Refinery sent 1.9 t more ammonia into the drainage ditch in November 2019.

3.2. The EU observation

The EU also aimed to solve the potential problems with the gaps in legislation. The shifting to the control of hazardous pollutants started in the 1970s, with the first implementation of the BAT in the 1990s (CONCAWE, 2012). The recent understanding of the fact that water resources have limited capacity, despite a general improvement of water quality, has driven the European Commission to revise constantly the crucial law documents, such as Directives (e.g. the Urban Waste

Water Treatment Directive, the Drinking Water Directive, the Water Framework Directive (WFD), seriously (Werner and Collins 2012). The milestone in the European environmental legislation: The Water Framework Directive, aimed to achieve "good status for surface and groundwater", which means to avoid the deterioration of the quality and quantity of water bodies and related ecosystems (EU 2000). While the implementation of the Directive has safeguarded the water resources, there are still opportunities to improve the system by dealing with existent gaps and disadvantages of the current version of the legislation (Tsani et al., 2020). Those opportunities include, for example, improvement of the monitoring systems, more complex assessment of the status of water bodies, support of solution-oriented management, etc. (Brack et al., 2017).

The EU also promotes a preventive approach for industrial emissions to reduce and eliminate any pollution. Directive on industrial emission (EU 2010) requires the following key steps for implementation to achieve the goal: (i) the integrated approach states avoiding the transfer of pollutants from one environmental medium to another; (ii) the responsibility should be assigned to any operator who generates emissions; (iii) holding permission for the emissions means that the set of best available technologies (BAT) appropriate techniques must be applied to protect the environment. This approach ensures that the quality of the emissions is not allowed to elevate critical concentrations, dangerous for the people and the environment.

The petrochemical industry in Europe is the main water-using industry within the manufacturing sector (Willet et al., 2019). Environmental issues caused by the oil refinery sector in Europe are managed by Concawe (an abbreviation of "CONservation of Clean Air and Water in Europe") - the organisation, which combines most oil companies operating in Europe. Their mission is to act in line with the concerns over environmental issues through the conductance of research programs to support cost-effective and safe decisions for the sector. Instead of the focus on the allowable concentrations of separated chemicals, the EU practices Whole Effluent Assessment (WEA) to test the response of local ecosystems to the mix of the discharged contaminants coupled with the operational monitoring of the status of the water bodies (CONCAWE 2012). The WEA approach is a tool, which aims to support the WFD in achieving the global aim of "good ecological status" for all European waters; and also to support in identification of BAT for the refinery industry under the Integrated Pollution Prevention & Control Directive (IPPC) for controlling pollution. The strategy of the assessment is based on the historical background, where the characteristics of receiving waters and effluents are already known for decades. Particular attention is paid to WET tests with the focus on the persistence, bioaccumulation or toxicity (PBT) properties of effluents or effluent constituents. The tests are carried out on living species, such as microorganisms, invertebrates and fish, to assess acute and chronic toxicity (CONCAWE 2004a). However, only 28 of 64 refineries reported their use of WEA with the most common method of short-term toxicity assessment, instead of the assessment of persistence and bioaccumulation (CONCAWE 2012). The Concawe perform both types of assessment of the influence of refinery effluents: they regularly carry out the surveys of effluent quality and water use at the refineries and, simultaneously, they analyse the application of the WEA by the refineries and produce their recommendations based on the results of the investigations.

The most recent report from the Concawe has been dated June 2020 (CONCAWE 2020a). 98 refineries have been called to share their statistics about water use issues, including the information of water consumption, discharge and related water quality data. 72 refineries provided the whole report, and results have been compared with the previous reports. The main appropriate outcomes from the report for this study are an assessment of the effluent discharge volume and the refinery effluent quality, coupled with the related trends. Most refineries clean their wastewater by themselves, and only a few of them (8.8%) send the wastewater to centralised urban treatment systems. More than half of the wastewater volume (51%) has been exposed to a three-stage wastewater treatment plant. 17% of wastewater has been treated by limited treatment techniques, such as physical and/or chemical only. That type of wastewater mostly belongs to lightly contaminated (e.g. rainwater water runoff).

The content of pollutants in the effluents from refineries in Europe shows a stable decrease since the 1970s (CONCAWE 2004b). The studies showed that there was significant damage to aquatic ecosystems by toxic substances, such as ammonia, sulfides, phenols and PAHs (Wake 2005). After the implementation of strict requirements and the stop of disposal of polluted effluents, there was hope for recovery.

Throughout the control of wastewater quality, the main focus is on hydrocarbons and related derivatives. Appendix G shows a summary of the reported values of the monitored contaminants. A detailed explanation of how much TPH/OiW, BTEX, phenols and PAHs have been discharged annually in different variations is presented. The amount of total TPH in effluents decreased from 44,000 t/y to 257 t/y during the period between 1969 and 2016. The reported mean annual concentration of TPH varied between 0.5 mg/L and 16 mg/L among the refineries, with an average concentration of 1.4 mg/L for all refineries. The same trend sounded for the phenol index with the descend from 179 t/ y (0.41 g/t throughput in relative discharge) in the year 1993 to 29.6 t/ y (0.058 g/t throughput in relative discharge) in 2016. However, there is a light increase comparatively with 2013. Also, the average annual concentration of phenols ranged between 0 and 0.62 mg/L among different enterprises, with an average concentration of 0.08 mg/L (Fig. 6). The analysis of the presence of PAHs and BTEX in wastewater has been started relatively recently, and the data only for 2010-2016 have been presented in the report. The effect of loading of these chemicals is unclear because the cumulative sum has shown safe concentrations, while the concentrations of the separated hydrocarbons, such as anthracene and fluoranthene, exceeded the recommended values (CON-CAWE 2018). The concentrations are relatively the same for the reports 2013 and 2016. The content of total nitrogen and phosphorus, as the potential sources of hazard for living microorganisms, has shown reasonable values. Fig. 6 shows the variations of concentrations of mentioned chemicals in the discharges at EU refineries. Most of the

reported sites (around 70%) show the values below mean concentrations, while around 5–10% significantly higher than average.

3.3. Kazakhstan observation

The water sector in Kazakhstan faces severe problems. Climate change would affect the quality of water resources, coupled with the decline of their quantity (Salnikov et al., 2015). According to Karatayev et al. (2017), poor water infrastructure and water pollution are the main current weakness and challenges, while water-saving potential in Kazakhstan is ranked as one of the major opportunities in the water sector. Even when it seems that the representatives of the government are satisfied by the water legislation, the nongovernmental organisations, together with academia, define the problems in the water management sector. For example, the limited access to existing data for researchers, despite the ratified Aarhus Convention.

Multiple barriers, such as the perception of the industry of pricing and technological changes, exist in the oil refinery sector in Kazakhstan. Currently, the price of water is very low for the industry, as well as the penalties for the violation of the current version of the law. Kazakhstan deals with the implementation of suitable legislation. The government of Kazakhstan applies efforts to improve the situation through policy strengthening. A new ecological code has been announced for adoption. The law claims the implementation of BAT, increased penalties and investment of industry for environment protection (PrimeMinister 2019). The implementation of the law aims the transition to sustainable development and a "green economy", with a focus not only on resource efficiency and waste prevention but on human well-being and ecosystem resilience as well (EEA 2015).

JSC NC "KazMunayGas" (KMG) is the national company in Kazakhstan, which operates all three refineries on the territory of Kazakhstan. The recent sustainability report claims to achieve and lead the initiatives of sustainable development, including the goals related to water-saving and efficiency (JSCNC"KazMunayGas", 2020). The company confirms its commitment to efforts to deal with the efficient use of water and taking responsibility to reduce and minimise environmental impact. The report has listed the following issues as a top prior-



Fig. 6. The amount of key pollutants in the discharges from the refineries in the EU (CONCAWE 2020a).

The procedure of giving permission for emissions into the environment in Kazakhstan is regulated by the procedure of Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). This assessment considers the type of industry, the conditions of the effluents and recipients. The maximum permissible discharges (MPDs) are calculated based on the above characteristics under the methodology from an Order of Ministry of Environmental Protection of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2012). The MPDs are calculated for any recipient separately by the following formula:

$$C_{MPD} = C_0 + (C_{TLV} - C_0) \times k \qquad (1)$$

Where C_{MPD} is a calculated and established concentrations of the pollutants in wastewater; C_0 is a background concentration of the pollutant in the recipient; C_{TLV} is a threshold limit value, which is established by law about sanitary and epidemiological requirements for water sources; and k is a coefficient, which characterises total assimilating, evaporating, filtering capacity of the recipient. Therefore, if the wastewater recipient is a closed type water body, which is not used for any purposes, such as a source of drinking, irrigation, recreation, or domestic water; the MPDs are equal to the actual discharge of pollutants after treatment facilities, or

$$C_{MPD} = C_0$$
(2)

The historical background of water use in the oil refinery industry and related issues was described by Radelyuk et al. (2019). The loopholes in legislation let the refineries use already polluted storage sites as the recipients of effluents. The reason why the storage sites have been polluted is that refinery, and other industries sent their improperly treated or untreated wastewater into the recipients during the soviet and post-soviet era. The concentrations of the pollutants in discharges have been established based on the background concentrations of the chemicals in the recipients (Table 3). Not strict requirements have been applied for the quality of the effluent. Even those insufficient requirements have been violated by the industry, which has been discovered when unexpected commissions take place (KapitalKZ 2019). While the formal criteria are followed by the enterprises, the hazard for the environment and health of people still exists. A recent study (Radelyuk et al., 2020) shows that there is a direct impact on groundwater surrounding one of the recipients (Appendix H), where the average exceedance for total petroleum hydrocarbons was four times on the distance 1 km from the source of contamination. The direct discharge without any treatment for the first three years of the refinery work caused the source of contamination in the soviet period. The study

Table 3

Maximally permitted concentrations of different parameters in the effluents of three Kazakhstan oil refineries (Radelyuk et al., 2019).

Parameter	Units	Refinery X	Refinery Y	Refinery Z
Ammonia (NH4 +)	mg/L	55.18	8.0	4.53
Total petroleum hydrocarbons (TPH)	mg/L	3.02	8.0	2.03
Biochemical consumption of	mgO ₂ /L	17.82	16.6	11.6
Oxygen (BOD)				
Nitrates (NO ₃ ⁻)	mg/L	19.2	7.8	8.96
Nitrites (NO ₂ ⁻)	mg/L	7.7	0.5	-
Sulphates (SO ₄ ²⁻)	mg/L	643.05	500.0	471.1
Phenol's index	mg/L	0.25	0.05	0.182
Chlorides (Cl ⁻)	mg/L	169.8	350.0	678.8
Suspended solids	mg/L	20.98	25.75	6.05
Surfactants	mg/L	0.52	2.80	1.27
Phosphates (PO4 3-)	mg/L	1.05	2.0	6.89
Total Dissolved Solids (TDS)	mg/L	-	6000	-

"-"- not controlled.

shows that natural processes, coupled with anthropogenic deteriorate groundwater quality. The recipient pond is considered as the receiver for a higher amount of wastewater in future due to industrialisation of the region, whereas the quality of them cannot be assured safe. The recent investigations by the authors showed that a distance of contamination plume of petroleum hydrocarbons could spread out on a distance of 2-6 km depending on the initial concentrations until the concentration reaches the safe limit. It could affect the water quality using for irrigation (Radelyuk et al., 2021). Due to the drawbacks of the Kazakhstani management system, such as lack of data, lack of transparency, poor engagement of stakeholders into the collaborative work with academia, etc., there is still difficult to evaluate real conditions of the potential hazards. KMG plans to maintain the renovated equipment with advanced treatment techniques coupled with the program of recultivation of the recipient of Atyrau Refinery. However, the whole process would take place until 2023. The situation with the PKOP refinery, which is a part of the KMG group, seems better, as they use the long buffer channel with waterproofing bottom to send their effluents, firstly, to the evaporation pond, and after that to the local water body.

4. Discussion

This section analyses the results by, firstly, comparison between policies in different countries; secondly, comparison of differences in treatment and discharge techniques; and, thirdly, comparison of ways and progress towards the SWU in the sector, weaknesses and strengths on the local level, and possible ways to overcome obstacles towards the SWU. Table 4 summarises the results of the performed observations coupled with sound examples from a literature review.

This study identified that effective policy is an efficient *response* to achieve sustainable water use in the oil refinery sector in Kazakhstan. The best option to assure safe water is efficient water and wastewater management of water users, instead of post-factum attempts to clean already polluted sources (Fawell 2015). The effective management of industrial water use includes appropriate technology standards coupled with sufficient operational monitoring, which aims to prevent contamination. Thus, the *response* includes implementation of 1) the concept of circular economy (CE) (via 1a) water reuse and 1b) Best Available Techniques (BAT)); 2) Improved methodology for Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), aiming to toughen the requirements for wastewater quality and characteristics of their recipients; and 3) Improved system of environmental monitoring.

4.1. Circular economy

Circular economy (CE) is a concept, which has relatively begun to be promoted in the western world and widely but slowly spreading through the other nations (Schroeder et al., 2019). The core of the concept is the transition from "linear model" of "linear economy" ("take-make-consume and dispose of") when the resources are transformed into the final product, which is consumed and subsequently wasted; to circular form, or even 10 Rs - "reduction and reuse, recycling and composting, and energy recovery" approach (Fan et al., 2020) when the waste, generated during the manufacturing process, are subject to 10Rs, and all resources are re-used again as much as possible (Smol et al., 2020).

The industry is the place where the concepts of the SWU and CE meet and interconnect with each other (Fan et al., 2019). The "win-win-win" (economic-social-environmental) potential of the circular economy contributes to all three dimensions of SD (Korhonen et al., 2018). The application of both is important on any level, from small-sized companies to international consortiums (Lewandowski 2016) through shared research, demonstration projects, and policy cooperation (Baas and Baas 2005). Schroeder et al. (2019) have identified relationships between CE and SDGs and have highlighted that one of the strongest relationships and synergies are between CE practices and water-related goals, among others. Concerns about environmental pol-

 Table 4

 Main outcomes from the performed observations with sound examples from an extended literature review.

Principle	USA	EU	Kazakhstan	Determining publications	Application of the principle	Improvement of the principle and usage as a tool for transition to the SWU
Circular Economy	•"In plant" and "End-of- pipe" approaches	•Priority of the strategies and promotion on the federal level	•Formal promotion and willingness to improve the situation (PrimeMinister 2019; JSCNC"KazMunayGas", 2020)	Water rationalization: Description (Wang and Smith 1994);	Application of Water Source Diagram (WSD) method (de Souza et al., 2009);	Constant water auditing to improve water conservation (Barrington et al., 2013);
	•BAT (USEPA 2015)	•BAT (EU 2014, 2020)		Review of conceptual and mathematical models (Bagajewicz 2000);	Proposed synthesis of water allocation and mass exchange network (Karthick et al., 2010);	Aiming zero liquid discharge and respective improvements of existing opyimization techniques (Maheshwari et al., 2019);
				Focus on multicomponent content of wastewater reused (Savelski and Bagajewicz 2003)	Proposal for use in Iranian refineries, considering different conditions of reused wastewater (Mohammadnejad et al. 2011, 2012);	Reuse of municipal wastewater at refineries (Johnson 2019)
				Environmental footprint: (Čuček	Prospects for water rationalization practices in Brazilian refineries (Pombo et al., 2013)	
Environmental Impact Assessment	•NPDES with Assessment of the recipients	•Whole effluents assessment (CONCAWE 2012)	•Legislative loopholes (Kazakhstan 2012)	et al., 2012) Assessment of pioneering toxicity testing of the effluents (Chapman et al., 1994);	Characterization of oil refinery effluents, specifically PAHs, PCBs, metals, and TOC in sediments and biota in the receiving river in the US (Hall and Burton 2005);	Discussion of the efficiency of conventional toxicity tests in the context of the new European water-related directives (Comber et al., 2015):
	•Whole effluents assessment (USEPA 2020)			Investigation of impact of efflunts on aquatic species (Bleckmann et al., 1995)	Assessment of nuclear abnormalities in fishes affected by oil refinery effluents (Cavas and Ergene-Gozukara 2005);	Investigation of behaviors of naphthenic acids (Wang et al., 2015) and their derivatives (Wang et al., 2019):
					Examining the main and interaction effects among components in the effluents (Parvez et al., 2008); Comparison the combination of persistency, bioaccumulation, and toxicity tests to an approach using only toxicity tests (Leonards et al., 2011);	Discussion of efficiency of toxicity testing on certain parameters (Daflon et al., 2017)
			7		Genotoxicity tests of effect of refinery effluents in India <i>in vitro</i> (Gupta et al., 2015) and <i>in vivo</i> in plant, animal and bacterial systems (Gupta and Ahmad 2012)	
Operational monitoring	•USEPA permanent monitoring and control	•Directives on industrial emission and integrated pollution prevention and control	 Limited indicators for monitoring 	Identification of contaminants and their levels in the effluents and the recipients (Burks 1982; Snider and Manning 1982; Wake 2005)	Warning to monitor quality of the effluents and the reciving bodies after investigation of affected rivers (Vallieres et al., 2007; Hoshina et al., 2008), groundwater (Ripper and Fruchtenicht 1989; Hayat et al., 2002), sediments and living species in marine environment (Pettersen et al., 1997; Ruiz-Fernandez et al., 2016; Hara and Marin- Morales 2017)	Recommendations to revise parameters for monitoring after accidental discharge (Bandyopadhyay 2011);

Principle	USA	EU	Kazakhstan	Determining publications	Application of the principle		Improvement of the principle and usage as a tool for transition to the SWU
	•Extended list of contaminants (USEPA 2019)	•CONCAWE control and guidance (CONCAWE 2018)	•Lacking permanent control (Radelyuk et al., 2019)			0	Development of remediation practices for monitored pollutants (Janbandhu and Fulekar 2011)

lution and resource conservation are met in the concept of CE the same as for sustainable water use. According to (Bocken et al., 2014), technological aspects are the key element in achieving SD and CE. The importance of wastewater reuse has been highly emphasised in the context of CE. Achieving sufficient water quality is impossible without appropriate treatment approaches, which is the core of the BAT approach (Voulvoulis 2018).

First schemes of water use rationalization were proposed in publications from the early 2000s (e.g., Bagajewicz 2000). This concept received considerable attention and began to be improved and incorporated into the water management systems in oil refineries worldwide (e.g., Pombo et al., 2013). Currently, a combination of water and environmental awareness addresses the aims of the SWU. For example, water auditing can be used to identify both the current weaknesses of site water management and the potential for technical and behavioural improvements, including through aligning corporate strategy with water management goals (e.g., Maheshwari et al., 2019).

In comparison with developed countries, refineries in Kazakhstan do not aim to re-use water. Achieving sufficient re-use water quality is impossible without appropriate treatment techniques, which is the core of the BAT approach. The principle of BAT is to find the most efficient and cheapest way to meet the requirements for safe or re-used water. While the industrial processes and content of generated WW are the same for refineries in the USA/EU and Kazakhstan, the significant difference between developed countries and Kazakhstan is the usage of the "in-plant control" principle and BAT. The basic biological treatment method (activated sludge), which is used by refineries in Kazakhstan, cannot efficiently treat for two reasons: firstly, the petroleum hydrocarbons are heavily degradable, and secondly, salinity and toxicity of wastewater inhibit the efficiency of biomass. It means that there are requirements not only for finally treated effluents but for the quality of generated WW after each technological unit either. It leads to additional preliminary treatment, which reduces the burden on the final (or "end-of-pipe") treatment system and enhances the efficiency of it. As the generated wastewater consists mainly of salty unprocessed heavy oil-water emulsions, and even after primary mechanical treatment, there is a challenge to remove hydrocarbons from wastewater (Bruno et al., 2020). The basic biological treatment method (activated sludge), which is used by refineries in Kazakhstan, cannot efficiently treat for two reasons: firstly, the petroleum hydrocarbons are heavily degradable, and secondly, salinity and toxicity of wastewater inhibit the efficiency of biomass. Refineries in other countries solve this issue by using advanced techniques on each step of treatment: pre-, secondary, and post- (or polishing) treatment

The implementation of BAT became one of the leading factors towards the transition to a circular economy (Pinasseau et al., 2018). However, even developed countries have not met the requirements for their technical capacity to meet the criteria of CE practices yet (IWA 2016). It should also be all the time be kept in mind that a circular economy is a tool, but the ultimate target is to minimise environmental footprints (Čuček et al., 2012). This becomes even more evident when the world is going through the COVID-19 pandemic (Klemeš et al., 2020a) and with the rising challenges providing an opportunity for a substantial innovation step (Klemeš et al., 2020b).

4.2. Environmental impact assessment

While there is a unified formal aim for all – to sustain the safe water system and eliminate the impact of wastes, there is no universal way to achieve and evaluate this goal. There are two general approaches – 1) to achieve safe concentrations for the ecosystem preliminary. And here is a potential bias depending on the decision-makers – how to calculate "safe concentrations" for a certain site. 2) to set the common rules for every player on the market.

There are different approaches in Kazakhstan and the EU/USA to make the process of implementation of the EIA efficient and transparent. Related decisions are taken by respective policy standards in both cases. However, both the USA and EU base their decisions and develop their strategies on the scientific approach (Zijp et al., 2016). The design of policy implementation for EIA in the EU has been based on the relevant scientific investigation through the possibility of integrating the respective technological development, well designed, clearly explained and regularly evaluated (Voulvoulis et al., 2017).

Toxicity testing (e.g., Chapman et al., 1994; Bleckmann et al., 1995) is historically acknowledged as the most efficient way to evaluate the safety of the effluents. There is a common practice when the results of investigations become publicly available and transparent. As examples can serve the detailed assessment of the effluents from refineries on aquatic ecosystems with a specific focus on PAHs, PCBs, metals, etc. (e.g., Gupta and Ahmad 2012). The process of effluents assessment continuously updated based on already existed knowledge, for example, assessment of new potentially bioaccumulative substances (PBS) (e.g., Comber et al., 2015), derivatives of naphthenic acids (e.g., Wang et al., 2019), or application of the toxicity tests to evaluate the efficiency of new treatment techniques specifically chosen for certain parameters (Daflon et al., 2017).

The current scheme of Environmental Impact Assessment in Kazakhstan is weakened by the respective legislative loophole. A Kazakhstani methodology (Equations (1) and (2)) is used to assess the environmental status of final effluent-water. There is a potential bias that maximum admissible concentrations have been set not in accordance with principles of sustainability and have used gaps in the legislation, which lets to discharge inappropriately treated wastewater. The whole methodology might be affected and represent the wrong score from the first step, which leads to environmental pollution. In contrast, the unconditional requirements for effluents safety assessment, such as a detailed investigation of effluents characteristics using, e.g., Parameter-Specific Approach, Whole Effluent Toxicity (WET) Approach, or Bioassessment Approach toxicity tests, have shown the high efficiency in the developed countries. The current conditions of discharges in the USA and the EU have shown a positive trend, as requirements for them are established based on reliable techniques of the EIA.

Also, that is a very unusual practice when the wastewater releases into the ponds with the affection on groundwater, like in the Kazakhstani case. And even if it is formally eligible, the unexpected commissions and complaints from the local habitats on the perception of groundwater quality shed light on the disadvantage of those pitfalls. In contrast, the EU directly forbids the transfer of pollutants from one environmental media to another. This ban has contributed to environmental improvements and promote both the governments and the industries to follow the SWU.

However, there is not full confidence in the "safety" of treated wastewater for two reasons. Firstly, the fate of hydrocarbons has not yet fully explored. For example, the recent study of PAHs degradation shows that the products of degradation are hazardous (CONCAWE 2020b). Secondly, several refineries still show high concentrations of contaminants, permanently or accidently, which requires additional investigations.

4.3. Operational monitoring

Overview of the improvements resulted in the identification of separated compounds supported with the future establishing criteria for effluents assessment since the early 1980s (e.g., Snider and Manning 1982). Identification of new substances in the effluents supported in the identification of hazardous substances, fractions and establishing their permissible levels. Wake (2005) published a substantial review of trends identified positive trends in Europe, concerned about already polluted sites. The potential fate for the environment and ecosystems from real case studies has been studied and presented for affected river and fish there (e.g., Hoshina et al., 2008), on groundwater (e.g., Ripper and Fruchtenicht 1989), on sediments and living species in a marine environment (e.g., Hara and Marin-Morales 2017). All these findings highlighted the necessity for adequate operational monitoring for both effluents and receiving water bodies. Operational monitoring is important as it helps to define the parameters needed to be revised as a result of the activities of the oil refineries (Bandyopadhyay 2011); or to develop respective remediation practices for monitored pollutants (Janbandhu and Fulekar 2011).

While the developed countries identified certain indicators, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), naphthenic acids, PFAS, or benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylene (BTEX), for better estimation of the toxic effect of their existence in wastewater; Kazakhstani oil refineries monitor only the sum of TPH, without detailed investigation of the resulted effect on the environment. Still, mentioned petroleum compounds are not degradable, which might cause risks even at low concentrations. Continuous update of the list of substances for operational control during the wastewater treatment and environmental monitoring in developed countries ensures environmental safety and follows the sustainable development principles positively affecting the monitoring system. E.g., US EPA carries out permanent control of the quality of wastewater and recipients to detect any accidental or other exceedance of permissible values for contaminants. In the EU, any operator of pollution monitors their emissions under the directives on industrial emission and integrated pollution prevention and control.

5. Conclusions

Delivery of SDGs requires a healthy and productive environment. The situation when the industry causes risks for the environment and public safety violates the principles of equitability and bearability of the SWU in Kazakhstan. This work was to compare the strategies of the implementation of the SWU system in the oil refinery industry between developed and developing countries. While the oil refinery industry discharges the effluents into the environment worldwide, the examples of chosen countries show that there are different approaches to ensure or not their safety. In order to achieve the SWU, the system of industrial water and wastewater management should rely on legislative and normative standards. The defined criteria should be implemented to ensure equitable access of different water users and viable mechanisms to achieve water safety are 1) implementation of the concept of Circular Economy (CE), via the implementation of Best Available Techniques (BAT) and water reuse, 2) an adequate and fair system of Environmental Impact Assessment, and 3) an adequate scheme of operational monitoring for wastewater quality. The considered principles should follow the requirement to control the amount of contamination inside the technological processes before final discharge.

It was found that the current "status quo" in Kazakhstan includes formal approval for polluting activities by the industry. The system is seriously weakened not only by gaps in legislation, rather by the not sufficient development of appropriate environmental tools (such as operational monitoring and preliminary and permanent environmental assessment). The performed investigations showed that decision-makers in Kazakhstan do not follow scientifically approved techniques and mechanisms to prevent pollution, which guarantees a good-status of receiving water bodies, comparatively with developed countries. The current trend in well-developed countries is a transition towards a "closed-loop" system. Comparatively, refineries in countries like Kazakhstan still need to implement the aim to re-use water, which does not reflect a risk of water scarcity in the region. Also, the current wastewater treatment scheme does not use efficient advanced techniques on each step, including pre-, secondary, and post- (or polishing) treatment. Thus, it is highly emphasised to improve the wastewater treatment systems via the implementation of the BAT.

Multiple barriers, such as the perception of the industry of pricing and technological changes, slow down the process of implementing the suggested *responses* in the oil refineries in Kazakhstan. The primary action should be the changing of the policy, which has not been updated for years.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Ivan Radelyuk: Conceptualization, Methodology, Investigation, Formal analysis, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Kamshat Tussupova: Conceptualization, Methodology, Supervision, Formal analysis, Writing – review & editing. Jiří Jaromír Klemeš: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. Kenneth M. Persson: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

Open access funding provided by Lund University. The first author was funded by Bolashaq International Scholarship Program of Kazakhstan. The authors also acknowledged the funding and support by the EU project Sustainable Process Integration Laboratory – SPIL, funded as project No. CZ.02.1.01/0.0/0.0/15_003/0000456, by Czech Republic Operational Programme Research and Development, Education, Priority 1: Strengthening capacity for quality research.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.126987.

References

- Alva-Argaez, A., Kokossis, A.C., Smith, R., 2007. The design of water-using systems in petroleum refining using a water-pinch decomposition. Chem. Eng. J. 128 (1), 33–46. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2006.10.001.
- Baas, L.W., Baas, L., 2005. Cleaner Production and Industrial Ecology: Dynamic Aspects of the Introduction and Dissemination of New Concepts in Industrial Practice. Eburon Uitgeveri BV.
- Bagajewicz, M., 2000. A review of recent design procedures for water networks in refineries and process plants. Comput. Chem. Eng. 24 (9-10), 2093-2113. doi:10.1016/s0098-1354(00)00579-2.

- Baleta, J., Mikulćić, H., Klemeš, J.J., Urbaniec, K., Duić, N., 2019. Integration of energy, water and environmental systems for a sustainable development. J. Clean. Prod. 215, 1424–1436. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.01.035.
- Bandyopadhyay, A., 2011. Assessment of accidental refinery wastewater discharge: a case study. Clean Technol. Environ. Policy 13 (2), 331–345. doi:10.1007/ s10098-010-0297-1.
- Barrington, D.J., Prior, A., Ho, G., 2013. The role of water auditing in achieving water conservation in the process industry. J. Clean. Prod. 52, 356–361. doi:10.1016/ j.jclepro.2013.03.032
- Bleckmann, C.A., Rabe, B., Edgmon, S.J., Fillingame, D., 1995. Aquatic toxicity variability for freshwater and saltwater species in refinery waste-water effluent. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 14 (7), 1219–1223. doi:10.1002/ett.55c0140714.
- Bocken, N.M.P., Short, S.W., Rana, P., Evans, S., 2014. A literature and practice review to develop sustainable business model archetypes. J. Clean. Prod. 65, 42–56. doi:10.1016/j.jdepro.2013.11.039
- Bp, 2019. BP Statistical Review of World Energy. https://www.bp.com/content/dam/ bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/statistical-review/bpstats-review-2019-full-peort.pdf Accessed 14 December 2020.
- Brack, W., Dulio, V., Ågerstrand, M., Allan, I., Altenburger, R., Brinkmann, M., et al., 2017. Towards the review of the European Union Water Framework Directive: recommendations for more efficient assessment and management of chemical contamination in European surface water resources. Sci. Total Environ. 576, 720–737. doi:10.1016/j.sictiotenv.2016.10.104.
- Bruno, P., Campo, R., Giustra, M.G., De Marchis, M., Di Bella, G., 2020. Bench scale continuous coagulation flocculation of saline industrial wastewater contaminated by hydrocarbons. J. Water Process Eng. 34. doi:10.1016/j.jwpc.2020.101156.
- Burks, S.L., 1982. Review of pollutants in petroleum refinery wastewaters and effect upon aquatic organisms. Environ. Int. 7 (4), 271–283. doi:10.1016/0160-4120(82)90117-9.
- Cavas, T., Ergene-Gozukara, S., 2005. Induction of micronuclei and nuclear abnormalities in Oreochromis niloticus following exposure to petroleum refinery and chromium processing plant effluents. Aquat. Toxicol. 74 (3), 264–271. doi:10.1016/ j.aquatox.2005.06.001.
- Chapman, P.M., Paine, M.D., Moran, T., Kierstead, T., 1994. Refinery water (intake and effluent) quality - update of 1970s with 1990s toxicity testing. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 13 (6), 897–909. doi:10.1002/etc.5502103608.
- Comber, M.H.I., Girling, A., den Haan, K.H., Whale, G., 2015. Oil refinery experience with the assessment of refinery effluents and receiving waters using biologically based methods. Integrated Environ. Assess. Manag. 11 (4), 653–665. doi:10.1002/ ieam.1639.
- CONCAWE, 2004a. In: Concawe Review. Whole Effluent Assessment (WEA) A New Approach to Assessment and Control of Water Quality, 13 Brussels, Belgium.
- CONCAWE, 2004b. Trends in Oil Discharged with Aqueous Effluents from Oil Refineries in Europe: 2000 Survey. Report No. 4/04.
- CONCAWE, 2012. Assessment of Refinery Effluents and Receiving Waters Using Biologically-Based Effect Methods. Brussels, Belgium. CONCAWE, 2018. 2013 Evroy of Effluent Quality and Water Use at European Refineries.
- CONCAWE, 2010. 2015 Survey of Effluent Quality and Water Use at European Refineries. Report No. 12/18. Brussels, Belgium. CONCAWE, 2020a. 2016 Survey of Effluent Quality and Water Use at European Refineries.
- Report No. 10/20. Brussels, Belgium.
- Assessment of PAHs. Brussels, Belgium. Čuček, L., Klemeš, J.J., Kravania, Z., 2012. A Review of Footprint analysis tools for
- Cucce, E., Reines, J.J., Ravaija, Z., 2012. A review of Poolphilt analysis tools for monitoring impacts on sustainability. J. Clean. Prod. 34, 9–20. doi:10.1016/ j.jclepro.2012.02.036.
- Daflon, S.D.A., Guerra, I.L., Reynier, M.V., Cerqueira, A.C., Botta, C.R., Campos, J.C., 2017. Toxicity identification and evaluation (TIE) of a petroleum refinery wastewater. J. Environ. Sci. Health - Part A Toxic/Hazard. Subst. Environ. Eng. 52 (9), 842-848. doi:10.1080/10934529.2017.1312186.
- de Souza, A.A.U., Forgiarini, E., Brandao, H.L., Xavier, M.F., Pessoa, F.L.P., Souza, S.M.A.G.U., 2009. Application of Water Source Diagram (WSD) method for the reduction of water consumption in petroleum refineries. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 53 (3), 149–154. doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2008.11.002.
- EEA European briefings. Green economy Accessed 14 December 2020 http://www.eea. europa.eu/soer/2015/europe/green-economy2015 EU, 2000. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23
- EU, 2000. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 Establishing a Framework for Community Action in the Field of Water Policy.
- EU, 2002. Common implementation strategy for water framework directive (2000/60/EC). In: Guidance Document No. 3: Analysis of Pressures and Impacts. Communication and Information Resource Centre Administration Brussels.
- EU, 2010. Directive 2010/75/EU of the European parliament and of the council. Off. J. Eur. Union I. 334, 17–119.
- EU, 2014. Towards a Circular Economy: A Zero Waste Programme for Europe. COM, p. 398 2014.
 FUL 2020. European Parliamentary Research Service. Water Reuse. Setting Minimum
- EU, 2020. European Parliamentary Research Service. Water Reuse. Setting Minimum Requirements, Brussels, Belgium.
- Fan, Y.V., Lee, C.T., Lim, J.S., Klemes, J.J., Le, P.T.K., 2019. Cross-disciplinary approaches towards smart, resilient and sustainable circular economy. J. Clean. Prod. 232, 1482–1491. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.05.266.
- Fan, Y.V., Jiang, P., Klemeš, J.J., Liew, P.Y., Lee, C.T., 2020. Integrated regional waste management to minimise the environmental footprints in circular economy transition. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 105292, doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2020.105592.
- Fawell, J., 2015. Emerging contaminants, source water quality and the role of standards. Water Pract. Technol. 10 (3), 432–437. doi:10.2166/wpt.2015.046.
- Gupta, A.K., Ahmad, I., Ahmad, M., 2015. Genotoxicity of refinery waste assessed by some DNA damage tests. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 114, 250–256. doi:10.1016/ i.ecoenv.2014.03.032.

- Gupta, A.K., Ahmad, M., 2012. Assessment of cytotoxic and genotoxic potential of refinery waste effluent using plant, animal and bacterial systems. J. Hazard Mater. 201, 92–99. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.11.044.
- Hall, L.W., Burton, D.T., 2005. An integrated case study for evaluating the impacts of an oil refinery effluent on aquatic biota in the Delaware River: introduction, study approach, and objectives. Human Ecol. Risk Assess. 11 (4), 647–656. doi:10.1080/ 10807/030591008710.
- Hara, R.V., Marin-Morales, M.A., 2017. In vitro and in vivo investigation of the genotoxic potential of waters from rivers under the influence of a petroleum refinery (São Paulo State-Brazil). Chemosphere 174, 321–330. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.01.142.
- Hayat, S., Ahmad, I., Azam, Z.M., Ahmad, A., Inam, A., Samiullah, 2002. Effect of long-term application of oil refinery wastewater on soil health with special reference to microbiological characteristics. Bioresour. Technol. 84 (2), 159–163. doi:10.1016/ S0960-8524(02)00027-5.
- Hjorth, P., Madani, K., 2014. Sustainability monitoring and assessment: new challenges require new thinking. J. Water Resour. Plann. Manag. 140 (2), 133–135. doi:10.1061/ (Asce)Wr.1943-5452.0000411.
- Hoshina, M.M., de Angelis, D.D., Marin-Morales, M.A., 2008. Induction of micronucleus and nuclear alterations in fish (Oreochromis niloticus) by a petroleum. Mutat. Res. Genet. Toxicol. Environ. Mutagen 656 (1–2), 44–48. doi:10.1016/ j.mrgentox.2008.07.004.
- IWA, 2016. Water Utility Pathways in a Circular Economy. London.
- Janbandhu, A., Fulekar, M.H., 2011. Biodegradation of phenanthrene using adapted microbial consortium isolated from petrochemical contaminated environment. J. Hazard Mater. 187 (1-3), 333-340. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2011.01.034.
- Johnson, N., 2019, Aligning business drivers to create win-win water reuse partnerships between refineries and municipalities. In: 2019 Spring Meeting and 15th Global Congress on Process Safety. AIChE.
- JSCNC^{*}KazMunayGas, 2020. JSC NC "KazMunayGas". Sustainability Report 2019. Striving for Progress. http://www.kmg.kz/uploads/reports/KMG_OUR_2019_EN_v1_022.pdf Accessed 14 December 2020.
- KapitalKZ Atyrau Refinery was fined 31 million tenge (in Russian) https://kapital.kz/ economic/77458/anpz-oshtrafovan-na-31-mln-tenge.html2019 Accessed 14 December 2020
- Karatayev, M., Kapsalyamova, Z., Spankulova, L., Skakova, A., Movkebayeva, G., Kongyrbay, A., 2017. Priorities and challenges for a sustainable management of water resources in Kazakhstan. Sustain. Water Qual. Ecol. 9–10, 115–135. doi:10.1016/ i.swaae.2017.09.002.
- Karthick, R., Kumaraprasad, G., Sruti, B., 2010. Hybrid optimisation approach for water allocation and mass exchange network. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 54 (11), 783–792. doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2009.12.008.
- Kazakhstan, 2012. Order №110 of the Minister of the Environment "On approval of the methodology for determining emission standards for the environment. (in Russian), Accessed 14 December 2020, adilter.zan.kz/rus/docs/V1200007664.
- Klemeš, J.J., Van Fan, Y., Tan, R.R., Jiang, P., 2020a. Minimising the present and future plastic waste, energy and environmental footprints related to COVID-19. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 127, doi:10.1016/j.tser.2020.109883.
- Klemeš, J.J., Fan, Y.Y., Jiang, P., 2020b. COVID-19 pandemic facilitating energy transition opportunities. Int. J. Energy Res.. doi:10.1002/er.6007.
- Koppol, A.R., Bagajewicz, M.J., Dericks, B.J., Savelski, M.J., 2004. On zero water discharge solutions in the process industry. Adv. Environ. Res. 8 (2), 151–171. doi:10.1016/ S1093-0191(02)0013-2.
- Korhonen, J., Honkasalo, A., Seppala, J., 2018. Circular economy: the concept and its limitations. Ecol. Econ. 143, 37–46. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2017.06.041.
- Leonards, P.E.G., Postma, J.F., Comber, M., Whale, G., Stalter, G., 2011. Impact of biodegradation on the potential bioaccumulation and toxicity of refinery effluents. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 30 (10), 2175–2183. doi:10.1002/etc.628.
- Lewandowski, M., 2016. Designing the business models for circular economy-towards the conceptual framework. Sustainability 8 (1). doi:10.3390/su8010043.
- Maheshwari, A., Prasad, V., Gudi, R.D., Biswas, P., 2019. Systems engineering based advanced optimization for sustainable water management in refineries. J. Clean. Prod. 224, 661–676. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.164.
- Mohammadnejad, S., Ataei, A., Bidhendi, G.R.N., Mehrdadi, N., Ebadati, F., Lotfi, F., 2012. Water pinch analysis for water and wastewater minimization in Tehran oil refinery considering three contaminants. Environ. Monit. Assess. 184 (5), 2709–2728. doi:10.1007/s10661-011-2146-z.
- Mohammadnejad, S., Bidhendi, G.R.N., Mehrdadi, N., 2011. Water pinch analysis in oil refinery using regeneration reuse and recycling consideration. Desalination 265 (1–3), 2555–265. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2010.07.059.
- Naseri-Rad, M, Berndtsson, R, Persson, K, M, Nakagawa, K, 2020. INSIDE: An efficient guide for sustainable remediation practice in addressing contaminated soil and groundwater. Science of the Total Environment. doi:10.1016/ i.scitotenv.2020.139879.
- Ortiz, O., Castells, F., Sonnemann, G., 2009. Sustainability in the construction industry: a review of recent developments based on LCA. Construct. Build. Mater. 23 (1), 28–39. doi:10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2007.11.012.
- Parvez, S., Venkataraman, C., Mukherji, S., 2008. Toxicity assessment of organic contaminants: evaluation of mixture effects in model industrial mixtures using 2(n) full factorial design. Chemosphere 73 (7), 1049–1055. doi:10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2008.07.078.
- Pettersen, H., Naf, C., Broman, D., 1997. Impact of PAH outlets from an oil refinery on the receiving water area - sediment rap fluxes and multivariate statistical analysis. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 34 (2), 85–95. doi:10.1016/S0025-326x(96)00065-3.
- Pinasseau, A., Zerger, B., Roth, J., Canova, M., Roudier, S., 2018. Best available techniques (BAT) reference document for waste treatment industrial emissions directive 2010/ 75/EU (integrated pollution prevention and control). Eur. Commiss. Indus Emiss. Direct. 75. doi:10.2760/407967.

- Pombo, F.R., Magrini, A., Szklo, A., 2013. An analysis of water management in Brazilian petroleum refineries using rationalization techniques. Resour. Conserv. Recycl. 73, 172–179. doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2013.02.004.
- PrimeMinister https://primeminister.kz/ru/news/novyy-ekologicheskiy-kodeksrazrabotan-s-uchetom-opyta-stran-oesr-eksperty2019 (in Russian). Accessed 14 December 2020
- Radelyuk, I., Naseri-Rad, M., Hashemi, H., Persson, M., Berndtsson, R., Yelubay, M., et al., 2021. Assessing data-scarce contaminated groundwater sites surrounding petrochemical industries. Environ. Earth Sci. Submitted for publication.
- Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Persson, M., Zhapargazinova, K., Yelubay, M., 2020. Assessment of groundwater safety surrounding contaminated water storage sites using multivariate statistical analysis and Heckman selection model: a case study of Kazakhstan. Environ. Geochem. Health. doi:10.1007/s10653-020-00685-1.
- Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Zhapargazinova, K., Yelubay, M., Persson, M., 2019. Pitfalls of wastewater treatment in oil refinery enterprises in Kazakhstan-A system Approach. Sustainability 11 (6). doi:10.3390/su11061618.
- Ripper, P., Fruchtenicht, H., 1989. Removal of the groundwater pollution below an abandoned waste oil refinery. Water Sci. Technol. 21 (12), 1841–1844. doi:10.2166/ wst.1989.0183.
- Ruiz-Fernandez, A.C., Portela, J.M.B., Sericano, J.L., Sanchez-Cabeza, J.A., Espinosa, L.F., Cardoso-Mohedano, J.G., et al., 2016. Coexisting sea-based and land-based sources of contamination by PAHs in the continental shelf sediments of Coatzacoalcos River discharge area (Gulf of Mexico). Chemosphere 144, 591–598. doi:10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2015.08.081.
- Salnikov, V., Turulina, G., Polyakova, S., Petrova, Y., Skakova, A., 2015. Climate change in Kazakhstan during the past 70 years. Quat. Int. 358, 77–82. doi:10.1016/ j.quaint.2014.09.008.
- Savelski, M., Bagajewicz, M., 2003. On the necessary conditions of optimality of water utilization systems in process plants with multiple contaminants. Chem. Eng. Sci. 58 (23–24), 5349–5362. doi:10.1016/j.cs.2003.09.004.
- Schroeder, P., Anggraeni, K., Weber, U., 2019. The relevance of circular economy practices to the sustainable development goals. J. Ind. Ecol. 23 (1), 77–95. doi:10.1111/ jiec.12732.
- Smol, M., Adam, C., Preisner, M., 2020. Circular economy model framework in the European water and wastewater sector. J. Mater. Cycles Waste Manag. 22 (3), 682–697. doi:10.1007/s10163-019-00060-z.
- Snider, E., Manning, F., 1982. A survey of pollutant emission levels in wastewaters and residuals from the petroleum refining industry. Environ. Int. 7 (4), 237–258. doi:10.1016/0160-4120(82)90114-3.
- Tsani, S., Koundouri, P., Akinsete, E., 2020. Resource management and sustainable development: a review of the European water policies in accordance with the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals. Environ. Sci. Pol. 114, 570–579. doi:10.1016/j.envsci.2020.09.008.
- U.S Code clean water act (CWA) section 301(b), 33 U.S. Code § 1311 Effluent limit. https: //www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/33/1311Accessed 14 December 2020
- UN, 2015. Transforming Our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingourworld Accessed 14 December 2020.
- UN, 2019. World Economic Situation and Prospects.
- UNDP, 2016. Parliaments and the Sustainable Development Goals. A Self-Assessment Toolkit. ICA. Inter-Parliamentary Union, France.
- UNECE Environmental performance review for Kazakhstan https://unece.org/ environment-policy/publications/3rd-environmental-performance-reviewkazakhstan.2019 Accessed 18 August 2020
- USEPA, 1974. Development Document for Effluent Limitations Guidelines and New Source Performance Standards for the Petroleum Refining Point Source Category. Washington, D.C., USA.
- USEPA, 1985. Guide for the Application of Effluent Limitations Guidelines for the Petroleum Refining Industry. Washington, D.C., USA.
- USEPA, 2010. NPDES Permit Writers' Manual Washington., USA.
- USEPA, 2015. Information Concerning 2016 Clean Water Act Sections 303(d), 305(b) and 314 Integrated Reporting and Listing Decisions. Washington, D.C. USA.
- USEPA, 2019. Detailed Study of the Petroleum Refining Category 2019 Report. Washington, D.C..
- USEPA USEPA national pollutant discharge elimination system (NPDES) https://www. epa.gov/npdes/npdes-permit-basics2020 Accessed 16 September, 2020 Vallieres, G., Munktitrick, K.R., MacLatchy, D.L., 2007. Assessing fish community structure
- Vaineres, G., Muinkittner, K.R., MacLateny, J.L., 2007. Assessing insi community structure in relation to water quality in a small estuarine stream receiving oil refinery effluent. Water Qual. Res. J. Can. 42 (2), 72–81. doi:10.2166/wqrj.2007.010.
- Voulvoulis, N., 2018. Water reuse from a circular economy perspective and potential risks from an unregulated approach. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sci. Health 2, 32–45. doi:10.1016/j.costb.2018.01.005.
- Voulvoulis, N., Arpon, K.D., Giakounis, T., 2017. The EU Water Framework Directive: from great expectations to problems with implementation. Sci. Total Environ. 575, 358–366. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.09.228.
- Wake, H., 2005. Oil refineries: a review of their ecological impacts on the aquatic environment. Estuar. Coast Shelf Sci. 62 (1-2), 131-140. doi:10.1016/ j.ecss.2004.08.013.
- Wang, B.L., Cui, H.Y., Liu, H., Wan, Y., 2019. Derivatization for nontargeted screening of acids in oilfield refinery wastewater: identification and behaviors of recalcitrant chlorinated naphthenic acids. Environ. Sci. Technol. 53 (2), 1022–1030. doi:10.1021/ acs.est.8b05310.
- Wang, B.L., Wan, Y., Gao, Y.X., Zheng, G.M., Yang, M., Wu, S., et al., 2015. Occurrences and behaviors of naphthenic acids in a petroleum refinery wastewater treatment plant. Environ. Sci. Technol. 49 (9), 5796–5804. doi:10.1021/cs505809g.
- Wang, Y.P., Smith, R., 1994. Wastewater minimisation. Chem. Eng. Sci. 49 (7), 981–1006. doi:10.1016/0009-2509(94)80006-5.Werner, B., Collins, R., 2012. Towards Efficient Use of Water Resources in Europe.
- Werner, B., Collins, R., 2012. Towards Efficient Use of Water Resources in Europe. 1. Office for Official Publications of the European Union, Luxembourg, pp. 1–74. doi:10.2800/95096.

- WHO, 2008. Petroleum Products in Drinking-Water: Background Document for Development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality.
- Willet, J., Wetser, K., Vreeburg, J., Rijnaarts, H.H.M., 2019. Review of methods to assess sustainability of industrial water use. Water Resour. Indus. 21. doi:10.1016/ j.wri.2019.100110.
- Zijp, M.C., Posthuma, L., Wintersen, A., Devilee, J., Swartjes, F.A., 2016. Definition and use of Solution-focused Sustainability Assessment: a novel approach to generate, explore and decide on sustainable solutions for wicked problems. Environ. Int. 91, 319–331. doi:10.1016/j.envint.2016.03.006.

12

Appendix A. SDGs related to industry.

SDG	Targets	Indicators
SDG3 "Good Health and Well-Being"	3.9 By 2030, substantially reduce the number of deaths and illnesses from hazardous chemicals and air, water and soil pollution and contamination	3.9.2 Mortality rate attributed to unsafe water, unsafe sanitation and lack of hygiene (exposure to unsafe Water, Sanitation and Hygiene for All (WASH) services) 3.9.3 Mortality rate attributed to unintentional poisoning.
SDG6	6.3 By 2030, improve water quality by reducing pollution, eliminating dumping and minimizing release of hazardous chemicals and materials, halving the proportion of untreated wastewater and substantially increasing recycling and safe reuse globally 6.4 By 2030 substantially increase water-use	6.3.1 Proportion of wastewater safely treated6.3.2 Proportion of bodies of water with good ambient water quality.6.4.1 Change in water-use efficiency over
"Clean Water and Sanitation"	efficiency across all sectors and ensure sustainable withdrawals and supply of freshwater to address water scarcity and substantially reduce the number of people suffering from water scarcity	6.4.2 Level of water stress: freshwater withdrawal as a proportion of available freshwater resources
	6.6 By 2020, protect and restore water-related ecosystems, including mountains, forests, wetlands, rivers, aquifers and lakes	6.6.1 Change in the extent of water-related ecosystems over time
	8.1 Sustain per capita economic growth in accordance with national circumstances and, in particular, at least 7 per cent gross domestic product growth per annum in the least developed countries	8.1.1 Annual growth rate of real GDP per capita
SDG8 "Decent work and economic	8.2 Achieve higher levels of economic productivity through diversification, technological upgrading and innovation, including through a focus on high-value added and labour-intensive sectors	8.2.1 Annual growth rate of real GDP per employed person
growth"	8.4 Improve progressively, through 2030, global resource efficiency in consumption and production and endeavour to decouple economic growth from environmental degradation, in accordance with the 10-year framework of programmes on sustainable consumption and production, with developed countries taking the lead	8.4.1 Material footprint, material footprint per capita, and material footprint per GDP 8.4.2 Domestic material consumption, domestic material consumption per capita, and domestic material consumption per GDP
SDG9 "Industry,	9.4 By 2030, upgrade infrastructure and retrofit industries to make them sustainable, with increased resource-use efficiency and greater adoption of clean and environmentally sound technologies and industrial processes, with all countries taking action in accordance with their respective capabilities.	9.4.1 CO2 emission per unit of value added.
SDG9 "Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure"	9.5 Enhance scientific research, upgrade the technological capabilities of industrial sectors in all countries, in particular developing countries, including, by 2030, encouraging innovation and substantially increasing the number of research and development workers per 1 million people and public and private research and development spending	9.5.1 Research and development expenditure as a proportion of GDP9.5.2 Researchers (in full-time equivalent) per million inhabitants

SDG11 "Sustainable Cities and Communities"	11.6 By 2030, reduce the adverse per capita environmental impact of cities, including by paying special attention to air quality and municipal and other waste management.	11.6.2 Annual mean levels of fine particulate matter (e.g. PM2.5 and PM10) in cities (population weighted)
SDG12 "Responsible Consumption and Production"	 12.2 By 2030, achieve the sustainable management and efficient use of natural resources. 12.5 By 2030, substantially reduce waste generation through prevention, reduction, recycling and reuse 	12.2.1 Material footprint, material footprint per capita, and material footprint per GDP 12.2.2 Domestic material consumption, domestic material consumption per capita, and domestic material consumption per GDP 12.5.1 National recycling rate, tons of material recycled
	12.6 Encourage companies, especially large and transnational companies, to adopt sustainable practices and to integrate sustainability information into their reporting cycle.	12.6.1 Number of companies publishing sustainability reports
SDG13 "Climate Action"	13.2 Integrate climate change measures into national policies, strategies and planning.	13.2.1 Number of countries that have communicated the establishment or operationalization of an integrated policy/strategy/plan which increases their ability to adapt to the adverse impacts of climate change, and foster climate resilience and low greenhouse gas emissions development in a manner that does not threaten food production (including a national adaptation plan, nationally determined contribution, national communication, biennial update report or other)
SDG14 "Life below Water"	14.1 By 2025, prevent and significantly reduce marine pollution of all kinds, in particular from land-based activities, including marine debris and nutrient pollution	14.1.1 Index of coastal eutrophication and floating plastic debris density
SDG17 "Partnership for the Goals"	17.14 Enhance policy coherence for sustainable development	17.14.1 Number of countries with mechanisms in place to enhance policy coherence of sustainable development

Appendix B. Mean concentrations and estimated loadings of contaminants in the directly discharged treated wastewater (USEPA 2019)

Pollutant	Average Pollutant Concentrations (mg/L*)	Estimated Loading (t/y**)
Ammonia as N	3.50	1,846.1
Arsenic	0.0179	9.4
BOD ₅ (biochemical oxygen demand)	8.49	4,477.0
BTEX	0.000192	0.1
Cadmium	0	0
Chromium	0.00245	1.3
COD (chemical oxygen demand)	76.1	4,0142.9
Copper	0.00333	1.8

Cyanide	0.0122	6.4
Lead	0.000982	0.5
Mercury	0.0000860	0.04
Nickel	0.00547	2.9
Nitrate-Nitrite	No Data	No Data
Nitrogen, Total	16.9	8,890.4
Oil & Grease	2.16	1,138.5
РАН	No Data	No Data
Phenol	0.00894	4.7
Phosphorus	0.954	503.5
Selenium	0.0536	28.3
Sulfide	0.0296	15.6
TDS (total dissolved solids)	1440	762,035,2
TKN (total Kjeldahl nitrogen)	6.78	3,574.3
TOC (total organic carbon)	11.2	5,896.7
TSS (total suspended solids)	12.9	6,803.9
Uranium-238	No Data	No Data
Zinc	0.0261	13.8

Appendix C

Searching methodology:

- 1. Use the list of Refineries in the Appendix A and B from the Detailed Study of the Petroleum Refining Category September 2019 Report, EPA, Washington D.C. (USEPA 2019);
- 2. Selection criteria: **Discharge status**: "Direct" or "Direct and Indirect"; **2018 EIA Refinery Atmospheric Crude Distillation Capacity (barrels per calendar day)**: Top-20 refineries;
- Search an individual case for each refinery (<u>https://echo.epa.gov/trends/loading-tool/water-pollution-search</u>) by using NDPES ID for Facility ID;
- 4. Select Reporting Year 2019 in the created Pollutant Loading Report (DMR);
- 5. Download all data for **Top Pollutants by Pounds** and for **Top Pollutants by Toxic-Weighted Pounds** (**TWPE**);
- 6. Observe the recipient characteristics from Receiving Water Information tab;
- 7. Follow the link to create **Detailed Facility Report**;
- 8. In the tab Environmental conditions observe characteristics of Water body designated use.

Discharges to a county or watershed with ESA- listed aquatic species	Yes	Yes	Y es	Yes	Yes	°N0	Yes	Yes
Facility pollutant(s) potentially contributing to impairment	Chromium; Chromium, Hexavalent; Cyanide	None found				Arumonia as N: BOD, 5-404, 20 deg C; Benzlal antirecne; Benzene; Benzare; Nirogen; Phosphorus	Berrzofalpyrene: Meruny: Oili and grease	
Cause(s) for Impairment	TOTAL TOXICS	DIOXINS, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS (PCBS)				NLTREINT, ORGANIC ENRCHMENTOXY GEN DEPLETION: PERTERDES, POLY CHLORINATED BIPHENYLS (PCBS), TOXIC ORGANICS	CAUSE DINKOOW, MERCIFY, OIL AND GREASE, PATHOGENS, PERTCIDES, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS (PCBS), TOXIC ORGANICS	
Listed for Impairment	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No
Shellfish use	No	No	No	No	No	°z	°z	°Z.
Aquatic Life use	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No
Recreational use	Yes	Yes	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	No
Exceptional use	No	No	No	No	No	°Z	N0	No
Water Body Name	ALLIGATOR BAYOU (CANAL D), MAIN OUT	TEXAS CITY SHIP CH:HURRICANE CANAL Dickinson Bayou	HOUSTON SHIP CHANNEL/SAN JACINTO R1 Goose Creek- Frontal Galveston Bay	Mississippi River Dutch Bayou - Mississippi Bayou	Mississippi River Manchac Point	Indian Marais Caicasieu River- Prien Lake	LAKE MICHIGAN Calumet River Fronta Lake Michigan	UNNAMED ARM OF THE NECHES RIVER TIDAL
WWT Categories	Biological Treatment	Current BAT Technology	Current BAT Technology (Chemical oxidation)	Current BAT Technology (Effluent settling pond)	Biological Treatment	Biological Treatment	Current BAT Technology	Treatment Other than Biological Treatment (second oil/separation unti)
Operating company	Motiva enterprises - Divested to Saudi Aramco	Marathon Petroleum Corporation	Ex xonMobil	Marathon Petroleum Corporation	ExxonMobil	Citgo Petroleum Corporation	BP	Ex xonMobil
NPDES ID(s)	TX0005835	TX0003522	TX0006271	LA0045683	LA0005584	LA(005941	IN0.0001.08	TX0118737
Refinery capacity (barrels per calendar day)	603 00 0	571 000	5 60 50 0	556000	502500	418000	413.500	3 65 64 4
Refinery Name	Motiva - Port Arthur Refinery	Marathon - Galveston Bay Refinery	Baytown Refinery	Garyville Refinery	Baton Rouge Refinery	Citgo - Lake Charles Refinery	BP Whiting Refinery	Beaumont Refinery

Appendix D. Characteristics of recipients of treated refinery wastewater

Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
		Chromium; Chromium, Hexavalent; Cyanide; Lead; Mercury		Arsenic: Barium; Canimum; Chromium; Chromium; Hexavalem; Coliform, Hexavalem; Coliform, feag general; Copper; Jon; Lead; Manganese; Marcury; Nickel; Selenium; Silver; Vanadium; Zinc	Mercury	Chromium; Chromium, Hexavalent, Iron; Solids, total suspended; Zinc		Chromium; Chromium, Hexavalent; Copper; Entercoccci: group D, MF trans, M-E, EIA	Coliform, total MF, immed, m-endo med 35 C; Enterosocci: group D, MF trans, M- E, EIA
		TOTAL TOXICS		MERCURY, METALS (OTHER THAN MERCURY, PATOGENS, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS (PCBS)	MERCURY, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS (PCBS), TOXIC ORGANICS, TURBIDITY	METALS (OTHER THAN MERCURY), SEDIMENT		DIOXINS, MERCURY, PATHOGENS, PESTICDES, POLYCHLORUNTED BIPHENYLS (PCBS), TOTAL TOXICS	PATHOGENS
No	No	Yes	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
No	No	No	Ŷ	ŶŹ	No	Ŷ	Ŷ	No	No
No	No	Yes	°Z	Yes	Yes	Yes	0N	Yes	No
No	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes
No	No	No	No	°Z	No	No	No	No	No
Bayou Casotte	City of Philadebhia- Schuylkill River	JCDD #7 MAIN OUTFALL CANAL Salt Bayou	CITY OF CORPUS CHRISTI STORM WATER Tule Lake	Mississippi River Burrough's Banch-Cahokia Creek	Spring Lake- Mississippi River	Chadwick Creek- Big Sandy River	UNNAMED DRAINAGE DITCH Tule Lake	Patrick Bayou Vince Bayou- Buffalo Bayou	Pacific Ocean Manhattan Beach- Frontal Santa Monica Bay
Biological Treatment	Biological Treatment	Biological Treatment	Current BAT Technology	Biological Treatment	Biological Treatment	Biological Treatment	Treatment Other than Biological Treatment (only Oil/water Separation)	Biological Treatment	Biological Treatment
Chevron Corporation	Philadelphia Energy Solutions Refining and Marketing LLC	Valero Energy Corporation	Flint Hills Resources	Phillips 66	Flint Hills Resources	Marathon Petroleum Corporation	Valero Energy Corporation	Shell Oil Products US and Pemex	Corporation
MS0001481	PA0011533; PA0012629	TX0005991	TX0006599	IL0000205	MN0000418	KY0000388; KY0070718	TX0006904	TX0004871; TX0004863	CA000337
352000	335000	335 00 0	3 19 00 0	3 14 000	3 10000	277000	275 000	275000	269000
Pascagoula Refinery	Philadelphia Refinery	Valero - Port Arthur Refinery	Flint Hills - Corpus Christi East Refinery	Wood River Refinery	Pine Bend Refinery	Catlettsburg Refinery	Valero - Corpus Christi East Refinery	Deer Park R efinery	Chevron - El Segundo Refinery

Yes	°2
Indeno[1,2,3- cd]pyrene; Naphthalene	1.2.5.16.10 orchinates 2. Medry Inaphtatence. 2. Authracene: BOD, 5. Benzlajamtacene: Benzlajamtacene: Benzlajayrene: Chenixel oxygen dennat (COD): CDS): Chrystene: Fluorauhene: Fluorauhene: Phorandurene: Phenol.
DIOXINS, PATHOGENS, PESTICIDES, POLYCHLORINATED BIPHENYLS (PCBS)	ENRICIMENTOXYGEN ENRICIMENTOXYGEN PELETION PERTERENS POLYCHLORIATED BIRHIPYUS (FCES) FIMPERATURE, TOXIC ORGANICS
Yes	Yes
°Z	Ž
Yes	Yes
°Z	Yes
No	°2
Vince Bayou- Buffalo Bayou	Bryon Verdine- Calcasien River
Treatment Other than Biological Treatment (only Oil/water Separation)	Biological Treatment
LyondellBasell	Phillips 66
TX0003247	LA0003026; LA0104469
263776	260000
Ly ondellBasell - Houston Refinery	Philips - Lake Charles Refinery

Appendix E. Data from the Pollutant Loading Report of USEPA about monitoring status for Top-20 Refineries. DMR

	CHEVRON EL SEGUNDO	REFINERY	FUNT HILLS RESOLACES D	NE BEND	WOOD RIVER REFINERY				
Polutant Name	Total Pounds (Ibs/vr) Max Allowable L	Load (lbs/vr)	Total Pounds (lbs/vr) Max Allowable L	oad (lbs/vr)	Total Pounds (ibs/vr) M	ax Allowable Load (lbs/vr)			
Total Organic Carbon	Common (compared How	(19739.61489	3/1902.76			
Solids, total suspended	254018.65	780735	37831.185	494162.55	224860	1743			
Oil and grease			0	174647.025	152963.6685	683624.01			
BOD, 5-day, 20 C	92084.5	975645	24733.485	507039.75	187985	881			
Nitrogen, nitrate dissolved			71172.21447		371627.3484				
Ammonia as N	36964.05	532170	4918.029795	564987.15	11320	1186			
Phosphorus			10314.4339		13778.8	43			
Zinc	34.63908987				1168.936932				
Sulfide			0	3702.195	1083.9	11			
Total phenols	82.8444	69204	0	4024.125	455.51	12			
Copper	3.129885058				47,29802616				
Chromium, Hexavalent			30.8259	515.088	144.81				
Chromium	102.72	7624.3		6680 0475	175.75	13			
Chemical oxygen demand (COD)	1521051.8	6813090	886230.072	4861947.825	1801560	151993			
Chloroform	3 937154497								
Total Residual Chlorine	41 59784378				1114 75328	1732 2563			
Chiorida	41.33704575		2404126-662		2508584 752	1102.2000			
Culture			2404120.002		2000004.703				
Palida Jakal diseahand			771710.379		53717044				
Solids, total dissolved	101 0001000		25076897.52		2242 2222				
Selenium	161.9801593		2827.33873		3243.293222				
Manganese					23412.52295				
Arsenic	14.07528692				74.32546968				
Vanadium					564.1978835				
Mercury			0.032098218	0.08720052	0.20453				
Nickel	14.54299732				2229.76409				
Iron					18209.74007				
Cyanide					1577.539001	4			
Boron					15067.79976				
Barium					6216.31201				
Sodium			3452859.702						
Bicarbonate ion- (as HCO3)			2632325.3						
Magnesium			559576.0337		1				
Potassium			178828 3695						
Total Kieldahi Nitronen			77339 32792						
Perfunctionate			0.251319871						
Definition by and a sid			0.165940719						
Perhabitine and Dark in a second			0.100340/18						
Periluoroociariesultonamide			0.103494407						
Persuorovalenci acid			0.090870666						
Pertuoroputane Sulfonate			0.067440724						
PFOA			0.036980768						
Tridecafluoroheptanoic acid			0.033081711						
Methyl tert-butyl ether	3.143408293								
						1			
	PORT ARTHUR REFI	NERY	PHILADELPHIA REFIN	ERY	CATLETTSBURG REFIN	ERY			
Pollutant Name	Total Pounds (lbs/vr) Max Allowab	le Load (Ibs/vr)	Total Pounds (lbs/vr) Max Allowable	e Load (Ibs/vr)	Total Pounds (lbs/vr) Max Allowable	Load (lbs/vr)			
otal Organic Carbon	1324860.686	6660269.108	3788.942844	23006.76633	48327.34878	2828463.277			
Solids, total suspended	1916681.887		91473.47835	423765	762815.3733	1712215			
Di and grease	561175.6965	2231413.822	41055.5	163196.5661	92816.83693	1031384.538			
OD 5-day 20 C	404548	2546605	103322	792050	75092	2072835			
immonia as N	8495.65	697150	6006 677529	229950	3924.44	736205			
fine .	0400.05	037 150	0000.077.02.5	***300	1 255509595	100200			
ana. Sulfida	1454.22	11424.5	1904.66	prov.	1247.00	10050			
sunde	1454.23	11424.5	1804.66	5621	1347.96	10950			
otal phenois	411.9771429	27343.71429	126.945	2628	233.505	7665			
Jopper	221.11	1149.75							
Chromium, Hexavalent	0	2591.5	0	255.5	100.198	751.9			
Chromium	0	22739.5	0	3102.5	80.764	8760			
Chemical oxygen demand (COD)	4608490	16458580	427716	3530645	637985	14134260			
Senzene, ethylbenzene, toluene, xylene combination			0	1724.869012					
ead	293.41	8030	0	1087.924374					
lenzene			0	1724.869012					
lexachiorobenzene			1.196275679						
"henol			0	8624.345058					
laphthalene			0	19663.50673					
otal Residual Chlorine					0	78,75774925			
Solids, total dissolved			21576995.46	55195645	-				
luorida			29226	2265.00					
nan an	12.11	22.25	20220	236520					
teroary	13.14	23.36							
nor			3386.911569		13268.14349				
rorycnionnased biphenyls			0.002489435						
Jyanide	0	408.8							
					1				
	PASCAGOULA RE	FINERY	BP AMOCO WHIT	ING REFINERY					

Pollutant Name	Total Pounds (lbs/yr)	al Pounds (ibs/yr) Max Allowable Load (ibs/yr) Total Pounds (ibs/yr)			
Total Organic Carbon	748820.2971	3209374.966	374493.7313	991448.2348	
Solids, total suspended	209278	1848725	92732.5	1330790	
Oil and grease	33283.86605	2068216.414	55369.6525	1542792-934	
BOD, 5-day, 20 C	229658	2111525		1518765	
Nitrogen, nitrate dissolved			144930		
Ammonia as N	12885	73876		375950	
Phosphorus			11612.25298	56240.6848	
Sulfide	637.1	11315	693.4	8431.5	
Total phenois	53.63	8760		7420.45	
Copper	3.88	897.9			
Chromium, Hexavalent	0	908.85		733.65	
Chromium	0	10220			
Chemical oxygen demand (COD)	1967803	15262110	1768864	11067895	
Total Residual Chlorine				7300	
Chloride			10236216		
Sulfate			6864810		
Solids, total dissolved			31870983		
Strontium			19979		
Fluoride			17841		
Selenium			4905.5		
Manganese			724.31		
Arsenic			136.55		
Vanadium			92.35	4500	
Mercury			0.092858823	0.385329062	
Chromium				8723.5	
Nickel	39.68	2190			

Appendix E. DMR

	CITGO PETROLE	UM CORP	GARY	VILLE REFINERY		BATON ROUGE R	REFINERY			
Polutant Name	Total Pounds (Ibs/yr) Max Al	lowable Load (Ibs/yr	Total Pounds M	ax Allowable Load (bs/yr)	Total Pounds	a (Ibs/yr) Mao	« Allowable Load (Ibs/yr)			
Solids total suspended	310355 3549	4340677.886	32364.1284	398350.583		676614	673296.2324			
Oil and grease	1108.839596	561996.1903	120990.686	475745.1749		0	1014113.87			
BOD, 5-day, 20 C	197796.0095	1995911.939	104627	1204865		217027.5	2596610			
Ntrogen, nitrate dissolved	929558.8	052200	10285	690100		222846.7	1149020			
Phosphorus	73538.5	255500	13303	003120		25104.7	1143040			
Zinc						1023.723913				
Sulfide	546	7482.5	577	6095.5		2225.7	12702			
Total phenols	336.2	13213	271.4	7774.5		942.4	17191.5			
Chomium Hexavalent	0	1095	146	1022		03.01043179	2080 5			
Chromium	0	11935.5	401.5	12775		ō	24126.5			
Chemical oxygen demand (COD)			1336760	8371275		4244803	17817475			
2,4-Dinitrophenol			18.25	131.4						
Renzene ethylbenzene toluene wiene combination	51 33927327	138 6049494	9 46778424	286 9954959		0	95 69437605			
Lead	10.53397616	27.72098989	5.73990992	57.39909919		49.9108849	19.13887521			
Benzene	5.655081937	27.72098989	3.40538778	64.69909919		0	19.13887521			
Hexachlorobenzene			3.65	21.9						
Acenaphthene			3.65	3.65						
Chrysene			3.65	3.65						
Carbon tetrachloride			3.65	14.6						
Pyrene Recm(h)fluoracthene			3.65	3.65						
Phenol			3.65	3.65						
m-Dichlorobenzene			3.65	14.6						
Hexachloroethane			3.65	21.9						
Diethyl phthalate		070.40	3.65	3.65						
Anthracene	0	270.13	3.65	3.65						
Acenaphthylene			3.65	3.65						
p-Dichlorobenzene			3.65	14.6						
UI(2-etnynexyl) phthalate			3.65	10.95						
Naphthalene			3.65	244.55						
Fluorene			3.65	3.65						
o-Dichlorobenzene			3.65	21.9						
Hexachlorobutadiene			3.65	14.6						
Dimetryl prinalate			3.65	3.65						
Benzolalovrene	0	278.13	3.65	3.65						
2,4-Dimethylphenol			3.65	3.65						
Phenanthrene			3.65	3.65						
1.2 A Trichlorohamana			3.65	3.65						
1.1.2-Trichloroethane			0	3.65						
1,3-Dichloropropene			0	21.9						
4,6-Dinitro o cresol			0	7.3						
1,1-Dichloroethane			0	3.65						
1.2-Dichloropropane			0	21.9						
Chloromethane			0	10.95						
Trichloroethylene			0	3.65						
Methylene chloride			0	3.65						
Tetrachioroethylene			0	7.3						
1,1-Dichloroethylene			ō	3.65						
1,1,1-Trichloroethane			0	3.65						
o-Nitrophenol			0	7.3						
Virvl chloride			0	10.95						
Ethylbenzene			0	14.6						
1,2-Dichloroethane			0	18.25						
p-Ntrophenol			0	18.25						
Toluene			0	3.65						
Total Residual Chlorine	59.58656613		0	10.40						
			-							
	BEAUMON	REFINERY	FLINT F	ILLS RESOURCES, LP - E/	AST PLANT	SHELL OIL COM	PANY DEER PARK REFINER	Y LYONDELLBASEL	HOUSTON REFINERY	Phillips -Lake
Pollutant Name	Total Pounds (lbs/yr)	Max Allowable Load (b	s/yr Total Pour	nds (Ibs/yr) Max Allowable Lo	ad (Ibs/yr)	Total Pounds (lbs/y	r) Max Allowable Load (lbs/yr)	Total Pounds (Ibs/yr) M	ax Allowable Load (lbs/yr)	Total Pounds (lbs/yr) Ma
Total Organic Carbon						603427.0	361 3292611	414 144278.7112	995302.5916	71435.24247
Oil and grease	473758.6026 45874 64057	546500	9457	5472.612326	46556.4336	2 116813.3	901 711816 7	316 137140 0401	3930830.783 289542 5721	399456
BOD, 5-day, 20 C	166545.771	1020138	5.099			2961	1.7 514	650 134127.3982	832434.8948	142507.1
Nitrogen, nitrate dissolved						87128.886	546			231852.2
Ammonia as N	20682.74615			0	5329	U 359	12.3 182	500		71213.3
Zinc				798423587		13506.330	511	5267 230444	9229 169486	10092.3
Sulfide	2025.119506			0	693.	5 679	.63 3	650		
Total phenols	553.8700795	11334.8	3443	24.4	160	6 170.0	004 52	560		
Copper Characteristics University of the		1075.40			00.00	637.5002	186 121	5.45		
Chromium	0	127516	8873	0	985	5 53.2	382 48	180		
Chemical oxygen demand (COD)	1212916.619	7651013	1.239	92169.19608	842386.105	1		894524.312	6243469.115	1911078
Aluminum										
PAH	40.030/7070	40407	r					5026.558362		
Derivativ	10.03847859	19127.	0001					-		
	000T 10T	III DECINEDY			,	EXXONMOBIL REFI	INING & SUPPLY BAYTOWN	1		
	PURT ARTHUR C	NL R.CHINEKY	G	NEVEO TON BAT REFINERS		REFINERY,	SPRI ISTITI, IA //DZU	+		
Pollutant Name	Total Pounds (Ibs/yr) Max	Allowable Load (lbs/yr)	Total Pounds	(Ibs/yr) Max Allowable Load(lbs/yr)	Total Pounds (lbs/yr) I	Max Allowable Load (lbs/yr)			
Total Organic Carbon	1643609.23	5211083.31	7 13	1715.789	764897.789	2448731.05	8 19033683.2	4		
Solidas, total suspended	569430	2176065.31	3 172	16.20778	153358.3149	200716	8 540893			
BOD, 5-day, 20 C	208600.7877	6485394.2 2288139.67	3 30	9592.194	+++0157.5806 4366130	894161.868 57140	o 13111317.6 9 284995	50		
Nitrogen, nitrate dissolved			1			162063	7	1		
Ammonia as N	50890	754067.997	2 405	03.76504	2324320	10245	2 73000	0		
2inc Sulfide	502 4	12440 4000		2520.146	95995	22205.49997	/ n 2228/			
Total phenois	126.6	17210.4082	đ	0	744	766.3	2 77263	2		
Copper						79.98893093	3			
Chromium, Hexavalent	0	1421.5215	4 479	.7611587	30121.89353	0	365	0		
Chemical courses demand (COD)	18	47283.0349	8	0	877.3	(J 1900			
Aluminum	401 2021	13030430.3	26	3.311724						

 Philips -Lake Charles Refinery

 unds (bc/ry) Max Alovable Load (fbs/r)

 71435 24247
 480042.1

 369456
 17133

 39618
 1600860.1

 1442507.1
 30632

 21455.2
 71213.3

 1878
 11878

1911078

1713326

221274

Page 2

268.311724

Appendix E. Data from the Pollutant Loading Report of USEPA about monitoring status for Top-20 Refineries. TWPE

	Phillips - Lake Charles Refinery		LYONDELLBASEL - HOUSTON REFIN	ERY	SHELL OIL COMPANY DEER PARK RI	FINERY
Pollutant Name Sunde	Total I WPE (IDS-eQV) Max Allowable TWPE 1083.6	(IDS-6Q/yf) 44597.858	Total TWPE (Ibs-eq/yr) Max Allowable TWPE (Ibs-ec	\$¥0	Total TWPE (Ibs-eq/yr) Max Allowable TWPE (Ibs-	sqiyi)
Ammonia as N	79.046763	1318.56234				
Chromium	11.5381	910	7.336411677	729.6763183		
Chromium, Hexavalent Zinn	104.0196	534.3015	62.71333063	550.0796566 369 1667794		390.915
Copper	2005.136071					
Hexachlorobenzene		11525 5125				8459.92182
Chrysene	1299.9392	11330.0420				24240.334
Benz[a]anthracene	0	3517.3809	0	21659.775		7057.1655
Benzo(b)fluoranthene Benzo(kti)uoranthene						7385.994 7050.267
Anthracene						584.073
Fluoranthene						336.384
Fluorene Hexachlorobutarliene						160.965
Carbon tetrachloride						64.532
Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate						269.1875
Hexachloroethane Pyrene	3.9384					39.42
p-Dichlorobenzene	0.0004					10.9865
2,4-Dinitrophenol						6.030301297
Acenaphthene Benzene			22 67757161	244 3015452		6.8985
Phenol	51.76570472		22.07.01	244.3013432		11.007
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene						14.235
o-Dichlorobenzene Dibuevi obthalate						8.03
Nirobenzene						2.8105
m-Dichlorobenzene						3.2485
Naphthalene 2.4.Dimethylohonol			0	180.9641076		2.2995
Acenaphthylene						1.936421053
Dimethyl phthalate						0.649270588
Diethyl phthalate						0.5823867
1,1,2-Trichloroethane						6.57
p-Nitrophenol						3.674491921
Chlorobenzene 1 1-Dichloroethane	0.058354709	0.010340367				0.460564543
trans-1,2-Dichloroethylene	0.000004700	0.010240300				0.020145611
Trichloroethylene						2.19
Chloroethane Vioul chloride						3.458668062
Methylene chloride						0.421458864
Chloromethane						4.811990318
Chloroform 1 3-Dichloropropene						0.455167167
1,2-Dichloropropane						47.951
Toluene			7.309444044			1.520074182
1,1-Dichloroethylene 1,1,1-Trichloroethane						78.913
Ethylberizene			0.358809345	35.78289847		0.474281
Total Residual Chlorine	0	89.61854265				
Mercury	230.4158706					21 525
Xylene	20300001		7.182455225			21.000
o-Chlorophenol						16.2425
Phenanthrene 1 2-Dichloroethane	21.112					66.6855
2,4-Dichlorophenol						36.792
2,6-Dinitrotoluene						293.095
Acrylonitrile 4 5 Dinitro-o-cresol						2278.5125 81 395
Chrysene						7130.7495
2,4-Dinitrotoluene						518.738
Indenoi 1.2.3-cdiovrene			966.0/34/4/	61889.72479 554835.9538		
Dibenz[a,h]anthracene			0	556826.559		
2-Methylnaphthalene	39.4212					
	CHEVRON EL SEGUNDO REFINERY		FLINT HILLS RESOURCES PINE BEND LLC		CONOCOPHILLIPS CO, ROXANA	
Pollutant Name	Total TWPE (Ibs-eq/yr) Max Allowable TWPE(Ibs-eq/	yr)	Total TWPE (Ibs-eq/yr) Max Allowable TWPE(Ibs-eq	(yr)	rotal TWPE (Ibs-eq:yr) Max Allowable TWPE (Ibs-e	p/yr)
Suffide Ammonia as N	41 0300955	14308	0	10366.146	3034.92	32704
Chromium	7.1904	533.701	0	467.603325	12.3025	970.9
Chromium, Hexavalent	0	949.365	15.721209	262.69488	73.8531	558.45
Cyanide Zion	1 385563595				46 75747729	4861.8
Copper	1.949918391				29.4666703	
Hexachlorobenzene	0	2843.6712				
Tetrachloroethylene	0.10360751	2035.24				
Chloroform	0.008182938					
Toluene Total Residual Oblasion	0.001244528				557 3765309	966 1291725
Selenium	181.4177784		3166.619378		3632.488409	800.1201730
Arsenic	48.84124562				257.9093798	
Chloride			58.53525786		61.07858529	
Vanadium					157.9754074	
Mercury	0.780868422		3.530803951	9.592068165	22.4983	9636
Nickel	1.454299732				222.976409	
Polychionnated bipnenyls Iron	0	2.056002411			101.9745444	
Boron					125.6905635	
Barlum			101 2010201		12.37516788	
Potassium			484.3316521 188.2403889			
Chlorodibromomethane	0.04217847	-				
Dichlorobromomethane	0.036035732					
Xylene	0.008050476					
Methyl tert-butyl ether	0.000265491 Page	1				
Beryllum Hentachlor enovide	0	229.95				
1,2-Diphenythydrazine	0	3164.915				
Heptachlor	0	2801.99988				
N-Nitrosodi-n-propylamine 2.4.6-Trichlorophenol	0	2782.395				
Acrylonitrile	0	1491.39				
Bis(2-chloroethyl) ether	0	313.389				
Endrin	0	2371.478				
3,3-Dichlorobenzidine	0	1078.575				
Aldrin	0	1626.4473				
Benzidne	0	1336.946455				
Endosultan	0	1826.095				
Thallum	0	37969.125				

Appendix E. TWPE					-			
	PHILADELPHIA REFI	NERY	CATLETTSBURG	3 REFINERY				
Polutant Name	Total TWPE (bs-eq/yr) Max Allow	vable TWPE (lbs-eqlyr) Tot	al TWPE (ibs-eq/yr) Max Allow	vable TWPE (lbs-eq/yr)	-			
Ammonia as N	6.667412058	255.2445	4.3561284	817.1875	55			
Chromium Chromium Unumulant	0	217.175	5.65348	613	12			
Zinc	0	130.305	0.050220343	303.40	50			
Hexachlorobenzene	2330.010065	2425 050507						
Benzene	0	2436.950597 51.74607035						
Phenol	0	172.4869012						
Naphthalene Total Residual Chlorine	0	196.6350673	0	39.3788746	53			
Fluoride	846.78	7095.6			-			
Polychlorinated biphenyls Iron	84.7244371		74 20160252					
ildii	10.30070475		14.3010332		_			
	GARYVILLE REFINE	RY	BATON ROUGE R	EFINERY	BEAUMONT REFIN	ERY	FLINT HILLS RESOURCES	S. LP - EAST PLANT
Pollutant Name	Total TWPE (Ibs-eqlyr) Max Allowabl	e TWPE (Ibs-eq/yr) Total	TWPE (ibs-eqlyr) Max Allow	able TWPE (ibs-eq/yr)	otal TWPE (lbs-eq/yr) Max All	owable TWPE (lbs-eq/yr)	Total TWPE (Ibs-eq/yr) Max Allo	owable TWPE (lbs-eq/yr)
Ammonia as N	21.51735	17067.4	6.358376	1275.4122	22.95784822		0	1941. 59.151
Chromium	28.105	894.25	0	1688.855	0	892.6182112	0	68.98
Chromium, Hexavalent Zinc	74.46	521.22	40 94895652	1061.055	0	650.3361253	0 271935943	45.2344
Copper			39.255499					
Hexachlorobenzene Recrolatorono	7109.178	42655.068						
Chrysene	113.1865	113,1865						
Benz[a]anthracene	112.0185	112.0185						
Benzo(b)fluoranthene Benzolkifluoranthene	111.909	111.909						
Acrylonittle	24.8565	24.8565						
Lead	12.85739822	128.5739822	111.8003822	42.87108047				
Fluoranthene	9.2/1 4.672	9.2/1 4.672						
Fluorene	2.555	2.555						
Hexachlorobutadiene Carbon tetrachloride	2.2995	9.198						
Phenanthrene	1.0585	4.304						
Di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate	0.9125	2.7375						
Hexachiotoethane Pyrace	0.657	3.942						
p-Dichlorobenzene	0.2555	1.022						
2,4-Dinitrophenol	0.148529589	1.069413038						
Benzene	0.1095	1.940972976	0	0.574166256	0.301154358	573.8259929		
Phenol	0.073	0.073						
1,2,4-Trichlorobenzene	0.073	0.438						
Dibutyl phthalate	0.0365	0.0365						
Ntrobenzene	0.0365	2.4455						
m-Dichlorobenzene Nachthalana	0.0365	0.146						
2,4-Dimethylphenol	0.034341535	0.034341535						
Acenaphthylene	0.030736842	0.030736842						
Dimetry prinalate	0.012023529	0.012023529						
Tetrachloroethylene	0	1.679						
1,1,2-Trichloroethane	0	0.1095						
Chlorobenzene	0	0.042843213						
4,6-Dinitro-o-cresol	0	0.73						
1,1-Dichloroethane trans.1.2.Dichloroeth/me	0	0.001874709						
Trichloroethylene	0	0.0365						
Chloroethane	0	0.034919477						
1.2-Dichloroethane	0	0.1825						
Methylene chloride	0	0.003697008						
Chloromethane	0	0.058582809						
1,3-Dichloropropene	0	12.264						
1,2-Dichloropropane	0	0.657						
o-Nitrophenol	0	0.020541543						
1,1-Dichloroethylene	ő	1.7155						
1,1,1-Trichloroethane	0	0.017153877						
sarywardene	0	0.020620913			1			
	PASCAGOULA REI	FINERY	BP AMOCO WHI	TING REFINERY	PORT ARTHUR REF	INERY	CITGO PETROLEU	MCORP
Ponutant Name Sulfide	Iotai IWPE (Ibs-eq)yr) Max A	IO WADIE TWPE (Ibs-eq/yr)	10tai IWPE (lbs-eq/yr) Max 1941 52	Allowable TWPE (Ibs-eq)/1	1) 10tai iWPE (lbs-eq/yr) Max Allowa 4071 844	DIE I W/PE (Ibs-eq/yr) To 31080 D	tai nv PE (lbs-eq/yr) Max Allow 1528 8	vable I WPE (lbs-eq/yr)
Ammonia as N	14.30235	31682 82.00236	1941.52	417.30	45 9.4312815	773.8365	50.05101	1058.2518
Chromium	0	715.4	0	610.6	45 0	1591.765	0	835.485
Ovenide	0	463.5135	0	374.16	0	1321.665	U	558.45
Copper	2.41724	559.3917			137.75153	716.29425		
Benzo(a)pyrene Benzfalanthranene							0	27996.5658 8535,8097
Lead					657.2384	17987.2	23.59610659	62.09501735
Benzene							0.169652458	0.831629697
Selenium			5494 16	36			29.79526307	
Fluoride			535.23					
Arsenic			473.8285					
Manganese			249.229607 74.60393					
Vanadum			25.858	121	60			
Mercury Strontium			10.21447053	42.3861968	1445.4	2569.6		
Nickel	3.968	219	0.442007033		_			
				EX	XONMOBIL REFINING & SUPPLY BAY	TOWN REFINERY,		
Poliutant Name	PORT ARTHUR OL REFI Total TWPE (bs-eg/r) May Allowable	NEKY TWPE (Ibs-eg/yr) Total TV	GALVESTON BAY RE	HINERY De TWPE (ibs-eg/yr) Tot	BAY IOWN, TX 7752 al TWPE (bs-eg)yr) Max Allowahi	e TWPE (bs-eg)(r)		
Sulfide	1406.72	34858.49384	0	1649.2	22176	903856.8		
Ammonia as N	56.4879	837.0154769	44.9591792	2579.9952	113.72172	810.3		
Chromium, Hexavalent	1.26	724.9759856	244.678191	61.411 40862.1657	0	1330.35		
Zinc			113.07784	3839.8	888.2199989			
Aluminium Nitrogen pitrate dissolved			16.09870344		121.0100267			
Connor					49.83310397			

Page 2

Appendix F. The identified exceedance of permssible limits

Name Outfall O anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y	Discharge Dischar Iccurred? Reports es Yes es Yes es Yes es Yes	ge Discharge d? Estimated? No No	Detection Limit? No No Yes	Measurement Type Concentration (mg/L) Concentration (mg/L)	Daily Lin Value Va 7.7 12.2	nit C Iwe (70 70	haily Flow Nu MGD) o 1.49 0.62	mber f Days 31 25	Period Load (lb/yr) 2968.336723	Load Over Num Limit Ex 0	ber of eedances 0
Name Outfall C anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y	locurred? Reports es Yes es Yes es Yes es Yes	nd? Estimated? No No No	Limit? No No Yes	Measurement Type Concentration (mg/L) Concentration (mg/L)	Value Va 7.7 12.2	lue (70 70	MGD) 0 1.49 0.62	f Days 31 25	(lb/yr) 2968.336723	Limit Ex	eedances 0
anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes es Yes es Yes es Yes	No No	No No Yes	Concentration (mg/L) Concentration (mg/L)	7.7	70 70	1.49 0.62	31	2968.336723	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes es Yes es Yes	No No	No Yes	Concentration (mg/L)	12.2	70	0.62	25			
anic Carbon 4 Y anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes es Yes	No	Yes					4.5	1767.600148	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes			Concentration (mg/L)	2.5	70	0.21	31	135.8299294	0	0
		No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	10.5	70	0.82	30	2155.752428	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	13.9	70	1.68	31	6041.715259	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	17.7	70	1.72	30	7622.500221	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	13.7	70	0.45	31	1595.031456	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	10.9	70	0.89	31	2509.878371	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	9.4	70	3.54	30	8331.570009	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	24.9	70	1.56	31	10049.86243	0	0
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	118	70	0.85	30	25408.33407	10335.59	1
anic Carbon 4 Y	es Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	5.4	70	1.14	31	1592.702943	0	0
nitoring Period–Level Lo Carbon (00680) from (ads for Total Org Dutfall 004	anic									
	panic Carbon 4 Y panic Carbon 4 Y panic Carbon 4 Y panic Carbon 4 Y panic Carbon 4 Y ponitoring Period–Level Lo Carbon (00680) from (0	anic Carbon 4 Yes Yes anic Carbon 4 Yes Yes onlitoring Period-Level Loads for Total Org Carbon (00680) from Outfall 004	Jpaic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No paic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No paint Carbon 4 Yes Yes No paint Carbon 4 Yes Yes No Carbon (00680) from Outfall 004 Versite No	μρίς Chráno 4 Yis Yis No No partic Chráno 4 Yis Yis No No chráno (Nobělo) from Outráll OCTUBATIO Carbon (Nobělo) from Outráll OCTUBATIO K K	Jain Carbon 4 Yes Yes No Deconstration (mg/s) Main Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) Main Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) pric Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) pric Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) pric Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) pric Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) pric Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) carbon (JOSBAD) from Outfall IOOS Carbon (JOSBAD) from Outfall IOOS Concentration (mg/s) No	Jank Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Conventration (mpd) 10.3 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Conventration (mpd) 9.4 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Conventration (mpd) 3.4 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Conventration (mpd) 3.4 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Conventration (mpd) 3.4 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Conventration (mpd) 3.8 carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Conventration (mpd) 3.8 carbon 0.600 Short Total Organic Carbon (MOSA) from Outfall IOO4 Yes No Conventration (mpd) 5.4	Area Yes No No Construction (mpL) 10.9 70 mic Caluen 4 Yes Yes No No Construction (mpL) 1.9 70 mic Caluen 4 Yes Yes No No Construction (mpL) 2.4 70 mic Caluen 4 Yes Yes No No Construction (mpL) 2.4 70 mic Caluen 4 Yes Yes No No Construction (mpL) 2.4 70 mic Caluen 4 Yes Yes No No Construction (mpL) 2.4 70 mic Caluen 4 Yes Yes No No Construction (mpL) 3.8 70 chiftoring Period-Level Loads for Total Organic Caluen (10560) from Outfall Old Yes Yes	April Carbon 4 Yes Yes No Concentration Impl() 10.9 70 0.89 main Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration Impl() 9.4 70 1.54 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration Impl() 2.4 70 1.54 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration Impl() 2.4 70 1.54 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration Impl() 2.4 70 1.54 mic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration Impl() 2.4 70 1.54 A Yes Yes No No Concentration Impl() 5.4 70 1.44 Carbon (JOSBAD from Outfall) Ves No Concentration Impl() 5.4 70 1.44	apic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/L) 10.9 70 0.89 11 apic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/L) 9.4 70 1.54 12 pic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/L) 2.4 70 1.54 12 pic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/L) 2.4 70 1.54 13 pic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No Concentration (mg/L) 5.4 70 1.54 31 onliciting Period-Level Loads for Total Organic Carbon (00508) form Outfall 00.4	apic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/t) 10.9 70 0.80 11 2009.7217.0 pinc Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/t) 9.4 70 15.4 30 8113.17000 pinc Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/t) 24.9 70 1.54 31 10.042424 pinc Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/t) 24.9 70 1.54 31 10.042424 pinc Carbon 4 Yes Yes No Concentration (mg/t) 5.4 70 1.54 31 1927.702941 pinc Carbon 4 Yes Yes No Concentration (mg/t) 5.4 70 1.54 31 1927.702941 pinc Carbon (JOSOB) from OutfallOVA	apic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) 10.9 70 0.89 11 250.87837. 0 partic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) 9.4 70 1.54 30 811.5000 0 partic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) 24.9 70 1.56 11 1090.8624 0 partic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) 110 70 1.56 11 1090.8624 0 partic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) 110 70 1.56 11 1090.8624 0 partic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) 110 70 1.56 11 1090.8624 0 partic Carbon 4 Yes Yes No No Concentration (mg/s) 110 70 1.56 11 1092.70394 10 partic Carbon (100.891) from Outfall OVG



Facility Loading Calculations

Facility Loading Calculations LA0003026 - PHILUPS 66 LAKE CHARLES REFINERY, WESTLAKE, LA 70669 2019 Monitoring Period-Level Loads for 00530 from Outfall SUM

Monitoring	Pollutant	Outfall	Discharge	Discharge	Discharge	Below	Measurement Type	Average	Limit	Number	Monitoring	Load Over	Number of	
Period Date	Name		Occurred?	Reported?	Estimated?	Detection		Daily	Value	of Days	Period Load	Limit	Exceedances	
						Limit?		Value			(lb/yr)			
01/31/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	176.8707	2102.494	31	12090) (0	0
02/28/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	253.9683	2102.494	28	15680) (0	0
03/31/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	454.4218	2102.494	31	31062	2 (0	0
04/30/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	824.0363	2102.494	30	54510) (0	0
05/31/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	943.3107	2102.494	31	64480) (0	1
06/30/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	500.2268	2147.392	30	33090) (0	0
07/31/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	532.8798	2147.392	31	3642	5 1	0	C
08/31/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	404.9887	2147.392	31	2768	3 1	0	C
09/30/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	167.3469	2147.392	30	11070) (0	0
10/31/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	141.4966	2147.392	31	967	2 (0	0
11/30/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	418.5941	2147.392	30	27690) (0	C
12/31/2019	Solids, total s	SUM	Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	673.0159	2147.392	31	46004		0	C





Facility Loading Calculations
PA0011533 - PHILA ENERGY SOL REF/ PES, PHILADELPHIA, PA 19145-5208 2019
Monitoring Period-Level Loads for 00745 from Outfall 015

						Below		Average A		Average		Monitoring		
Monitoring	Pollutant		Discharge	Discharge	Discharge	Detection		Daily	Limit	Daily Flow 1	lumber	Period Load		
Period Date	Name	Outfall	Occurred?	Reported?	Estimated?	Limit?	Measurement Type	Value	Value	(MGD)	of Days	(Ib/yr)	Load Over	Limit
01/31/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.798186	3.492063	7.53		31 5	4.56	0
02/28/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	0.612245	3.492063	6.75		28	37.8	0
03/31/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	No	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0	3.492063	7.14		31	0	0
04/30/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	No	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0	3.492063	6.34		30	0	0
05/31/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	No	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0	3.492063	6.84		31	0	0
06/30/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	No	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0	3.492063	7.06		30	0	0
07/31/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	No	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0	3.492063	7.05		31	0	0
08/31/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	No	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0	3.492063	4.63		31	0	0
09/30/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	1.952381	3.492063	3.78		30 12	9.15	0
10/31/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	7.315193	3.492063	3.91		31 50	0.03	261.33
11/30/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	1.378685	3.492063	3.23		30	91.2	0
12/31/2019	Sulfide		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	1.310658	3.492063	3.72		31 8	9.59	0

Monitorin g Period	Pollutant	Discharge	Discharge	Discharge	Below Detection	Measurement	Average Daily	Limit	Average Daily Flow Number		Monitoring Period Load	Load Over Nu	umber of	
Date	Name	Outfall Occurred?	Reported?	Estimated?	Limit?	Type	Value	Value	(MGD) of Days		(Ib/yr)	Limit	Exceedances	
01/31/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.671202	14.19501	17.8	31	45.88	0	0	ð
02/28/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.263039	14.19501	7.1	28	16.24	0	0	ð
03/31/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.417234	14.19501	7.9	31	28.52	0	0	0
04/30/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.430839	14.19501	9.5	30	28.5	0	0	ð
05/31/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	10.61224	14.19501	11.8	31	725.4	0	3	3
06/30/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.548753	14.19501	14.6	30	36.3	0	0	0
07/31/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	4.875283	14.19501	16.6	31	333.25	0	3	3
08/31/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.485261	14.19501	12.6	31	33.17	0	0	ð
09/30/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	1.192744	14.19501	26.4	30	78.9	0	(ð
10/31/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.9161	14.19501	16.2	31	62.62	0	0	0
11/30/201 S	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.544218	14.19501	13.3	30	36	0	0	ð
12/31/201 5	ulfide	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	0.430839	14.19501	9.4	31	29.45	0	(ð

2019 Monitoring Period-Level Loads for Sulfide (00745) from Outfall 001



Facility Load	ing Calo	ulation	5														
PA0011533	PHILA	ENERG	Y SOL REF/ PES, PHI	LADELPHIA, PA 19145-	5208 2019								- 1	Monitorin			
Monitoring	Period-I	evel Lo	oads for 00556 from	outfall 015			Below		Average		Average			g Period			
Monitoring				Discharge	Discharge	Discharge	Detection		Daily	Limit	Daily Flow	Number		_oad	Load Over M	Number of	
Period Date	Pollut	ant Na	me Outfall	Occurred?	Reported?	Estimated?	Limit?	Measurement Type	Value	Value	(MGD)	of Days	- (lb/yr)	Limit	Exceedances	
01/31/2019	Oil	and	grease	15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	61.22449	200.4535	7.53		31	4185		0	0
02/28/2019	Oil	and	grease	15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	174.1497	200.4535	6.75		28	10752		0	1
03/31/2019	Oil	and	grease	15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	56.00907	200.4535	7.14		31	3828.5		0	0
04/30/2019	Oil	and	grease	15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	44.6712	200.4535	6.34		30	2955		0	0
05/31/2019	OII	and	grease	15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	41 95011	200.4535	6.84		31	2867.5		0	0
07/31/2019	01	and	grease	15 Yer	Ver	No	Ver	Quantity (kg/day)	21 97279	200 4525	7.06		20	7115		-	
08/31/2019	OI	and	grease	15 Yes	Vez	No	Ves	Guantity (kg/day)	40,200222	200.4535	7.00			1101 5		0	
09/30/2019	OI	and	grease	13 165	TES	NO	165	Quantity (kg/uay)	48.29932	200.4555	7.03		51	5301.5		-	
10/31/2019	Oil	and	grease	15 165	res	NO	res	Quantity (kg/day)	24./1655	200.4535	4.63		31	1689.5		U	0
11/30/2019	Oil	and	grease	15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	28.34467	200.4535	3.78		30	1875		0	0
12/31/2019	Oil an	d great	e	15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	53.06122	200.4535	3.91		31	3627		0	0
				15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	28.11791	200.4535	3.23		30	1860		0	0
				15 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Quantity (kg/day)	29.2517	200.4535	3.72		31	1999.5		0	0
	20	110	Monitori	na Period_		de for Oi	and an	0360									





Facility Loading Calculations TX0004871 - SHELL OIL COMPANY DEER PARK REFINERY, DEER PARK, TX 77536 2019 Monitoring Period-Level Loads for 00556 from Outfall 008

womtonn																
						Below		Average			lverage		Monitoring			
g Period	Pollutant		Discharge	Discharge	Discharge	Detection		Daily	Limit		Daily Flow Number		Period Load	Load Over I	Number of	
Date	Name	Outfall	Occurred?	Reported?	Estimated?	Limit?	Measurement Type	Value	Value	(MGD) of Days		(lb/yr)	Limit	Exceedances	
01/31/201 0	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	3.06	31	1979.236114		0	0
02/28/201 0	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	2.74	28	1600.748415		0	0
03/31/201 0	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	2.21	31	1429.448304		0	0
04/30/201 C	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	2.62	30	1639.974263		0	0
05/31/201 C	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	11.56	31	7477.114208		0	0
06/30/201 C	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	6.57	30	4112.454544		0	0
07/31/201 C	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	2.5	31	1617.022969		0	0
08/31/201 C	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	3.12	31	2018.044665		0	0
09/30/201 C	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	10.5	30	6572.415938		0	0
10/31/201 C	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	No	Concentration (mg/L)	1	6.8	15	4.48	31	19472.57868	2086.348		1
11/30/201 C	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	1.95	30	1220.591531		0	0
12/31/201 0	il and gre		8 Yes	Yes	No	Yes	Concentration (mg/L)		2.5	15	1.36	31	879.660495		0	0

2019 Monitoring Period–Level Loads for Oil and grease (00556) from Outfall 008



Facility Loading Calculations PA0011533 - PHILA ENERGY SOL REF/ PES, PHILADELPHIA, PA 19145-5208 2019 Monitoring Period-Level Loads for 00530 from Outfall 015

						Below		Average		Average		Monit	oring			
Monitoring			Discharge	Discharge	Discharge	Detection		Daily	Limit	Daily Flow	lumber	Period	i Load Load C	ver Number	of	
Period Date	Pollutant Name	Outfall	Occurred?	Reported?	Estimated?	Limit?	Measurement Type Value		Value	(MGD)	of Days	(lb/yr) L	mit	Exceedances	
01/31/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	76.19048	526.5306	7.5	3	31	5208	a	5	0
02/28/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	66.21315	526.5306	6.7	5	28	4088	a	5	0
03/31/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	55.3288	526.5306	7.1	4	31	3782	a	5	0
04/30/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	48.07256	526.5306	6.3	4	30	3180	a	5	0
05/31/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	71.65533	526.5306	6.8	4	31	4898	a	2	0
06/30/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	45.35147	526.5306	7.0	6	30	3000	a	5	0
07/31/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	81.17914	526.5306	7.0	5	31	5549	a	2	0
08/31/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	399.093	526.5306	4.6	3	31	27280	a	5	1
09/30/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	49.43311	526.5306	3.5	8	30	3270	a	2	0
10/31/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	56.68934	526.5306	3.9	1	31	3875	a	2	0
11/30/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	145.5782	526.5306	3.3	3	30	9630	a	2	0
12/31/2019	Solids, total suspende		15 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	115.1927	526.5306	3.3	2	31	7874	a		0

											Monitoring	Conta	ins
Monitoring	Pollutant		Discharge	Discharge	Discharge	Measurement	Average		Average Daily	Number	Period Load	Load Over Potent	ial Number of
Period Date	Name o	Dutfall	Occurred?	Reported?	Estimated?	Type	Daily Value	Limit Value	Flow (MGD)	of Days	(Ib/yr)	Limit Outlie	ers? Exceedances
01/31/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day	0.04535147	126.0770975	1.24	3	1 3.1	0 No	
12/28/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day	0.09070295	126.0770975	1.24	2	8 5.6	0 No	
3/31/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day) 2.13151927	126.0770975	1.241	3	1 145.7	0 No	
04/30/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day	0.04535147	126.0770975	1.26	3	0 3	0 No	
05/31/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day	0.27210884	126.0770975	1.21	3	1 18.6	0 No	
06/30/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day) 7.16553288	126.0770975	1.24	3	0 474	0 No	
07/31/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day) 3.44671202	126.0770975	1.125	3	1 235.6	0 No	
08/31/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day) 0.13605442	126.0770975	1.16	3	1 9.3	0 No	
09/30/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day	0.27210884	126.0770975	1.78	3	0 18	0 No	
10/31/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day	8.02721088	126.0770975	1.09	3	1 548.7	0 No	
1/30/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day) 189.251701	126.0770975	1.5	3	0 12519	4179 Yes	
12/31/2019	Ammonia as	1	L Yes	Yes	No	Quantity (kg/day) 76.1451247	126.0770975	1.639	3	1 5204.9	0 Yes	

2019 Monitoring Period-Level Loads for Ammonia as N (00610) from Outfall 001

Facility Loading Calculations TX0006904 - VALERO CORPUS CHRISTI REFINERY EAST PLANT, CORPUS CHRISTI, TX 78407 2019 Monitoring Period-Level Loads for 00610 from Outfall 001



Facility Loading Calculations TX0006904 - VALERC CORPUS CHRISTI REFINERY EAST PLANT, CORPUS CHRISTI, TX 78407 2019 Monitoring Period-Level Loads for 00310 from Outfall 001

Monitoring Period Date 01/31/2019 02/28/2019 03/31/2019 05/31/2019 06/30/2019 06/30/2019 08/31/2019	Pollutant Name Outfall BOD, 5-day, 20 d BOD, 5-day, 20 d	Discharge Occurred? 1 Yes 1 Yes 1 Yes 1 Yes 1 Yes 1 Yes 1 Yes 1 Yes	Discharge Reported? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes	Discharge Estimated? No No No No No No No	Below Detection Limit? No No No No No No No	Measurement Type Quantity (kg/day) Quantity (kg/day) Quantity (kg/day) Quantity (kg/day) Quantity (kg/day) Quantity (kg/day) Quantity (kg/day)	Average Daily Value 5.804989 4.535147 9.977324 4.988662 6.802721 11.33787 10.43084 8.163265	Limit Value 189.5692 189.5692 189.5692 189.5692 189.5693 189.5693 189.5693	Average Daily Flow (MGD) 1.24 1.24 1.24 1.24 1.24 1.22 1.22 1.22	Number of Days L L L L	Monitoring Period Load (lb/yr) 1 3963 8 28 1 68 0 33 1 46 0 75 1 71 1 55	Load Over P Limit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Number of Exceedances	0 0 0 0 0 0 0
07/31/2019 08/31/2019	BOD, 5-day, 20 d BOD, 5-day, 20 d	1 Yes 1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day) Quantity (kg/day)	10.43084	189.5692	1.12	5 3	1 71	: 0 3 0		0
09/30/2019	BOD, 5-day, 20 d	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	10.88435	189.5692	1.7	8 3	0 72	0		0
10/31/2019 11/30/2019	BOD, 5-day, 20 d BOD, 5-day, 20 d	1 Yes 1 Yes	Yes	No No	No No	Quantity (kg/day) Quantity (kg/day)	107.9365 119.7732	189.5692 189.5692	1.0	5 3	1 737 0 792	: 0 8 0		1
12/31/2019	BOD, 5-day, 20 d	1 Yes	Yes	No	No	Quantity (kg/day)	70.29478	189.5692	1.63) :	1 480	. 0		0

2019 Monitoring Period–Level Loads for BOD, 5–day, 20 deg. C (00310) from Outfall 001



Analyte	Number of Sites (Reported)	Average Annual Concentration (mg/L)	Industry Total Effluent Load (t)
Organics	-		
Oil in Water (OiW) or Total			
Petroleum Hydrocarbons	54	1.42	257.1
(TPH)			
Phenol Index	44	0.084	29.6
Total Benzene, Toluene,			
Ethylbenzene and Xylene	61	0.023	6.6
(BTEX)			
Total Polyaromatic	28	0.0004	0.04
Hydrocarbons (PAHs)	20	0.0004	0.04
General parameters			
Total Nitrogen	51	8.57	1,855.8
Total Phosphorus	52	0.78	157.9
Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD)	54	14.7	2,396.6
Chemical Oxygen Demand (COD)	64	64.0	16,150.9
Total Organic Carbon (TOC)	39	13.1	1,499.6
Total Suspended solids (TSS)	62	15.1	4,098.4
Metals			
Cadmium	48	0.003	0.62
Lead	47	0.006	1.12
Mercury	45	0.004	0.39
Nickel	47	0.012	2.87
Vanadium	27	0.05	8.09

Appendix G. Statistics of wastewater quality of European refineries. (CONCAWE 2020)

Appendix H Groundwater quality around the receiver of refineries' wastewater compared to WHO limits (Radelyuk et al. 2020)



CONCAWE (2020). 2016 survey of effluent quality and water use at European refineries. report no. 10/20. Brussels.

Radelyuk, I., Tussupova, K., Persson, M., Zhapargazinova, K., & Yelubay, M. (2020). Assessment of groundwater safety surrounding contaminated water storage sites using multivariate statistical

analysis and Heckman selection model: a case study of Kazakhstan. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, doi:10.1007/s10653-020-00685-1. USEPA (2019). Detailed Study of the Petroleum Refining Category – 2019 Report. Washington, D.C. .



Lund University Faculty of Engineering Department of Building and Environmental Technology Water Resources Engineering ISBN 978-91-7895-851-1 ISSN 1101-9824 CODEN: LUTVDG/TVVR-1089 (2021)

